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Highlights

Financial highlights

Group revenue

2022

2021 £878.4m

2020 3R]

Adjusted prort/ioss) befare tax®”

2022

2021 £25.6m

2020 . £{3.4)m

A redd net Jasn
eveiuslee or 12asin obligat.ors)

2022 EEILLRLY :

2021 £54.6m

Statutory diluted EPS*
2021 1.5p

2022

2020 (10.7p)

Qydor hook

2020 £2.6bn

Cn continuing activities.,

Net debt {inclusive af lease ohligations)

2022

2021 £162.3m

2020 £152.2m

Sey 0red protioen) BEYoie tar

2022

2021

2020

EBITDA to cash conversion ™'

2022

2021

2020

Marraabiged diluted EPSS

2022

2021 18.2p

2020 . (2.3p)

Accident frequency rate

2022

2021

2020

On centinuing achvines, stated before exceptional costs and amorusation of acquisition intangibles

“** Being EBITDA dividec by cash inflow from operating acuvitics of continuing operations
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Strategic highlights

_ Strong financial results with Increases
in both revenues and operating margins

Successful award of new Residential
Living Accommodation Project
(RPAL) contract with the Ministry

of Defence (MaD)

._ Acquisition of IRT Surveys Limited is an
important part of the Group's retrafit
solution and will enable Mears ta
conduct stock analysis modelling for
carbon reduction work and help to
unlock the Group's ability to deliver
carban retrofit work, which has been
identified as a significant market

_ Excellent working capital
managemeant, maintaining a daily

ESG highlights

_. 100% of contracts delivered a
minimum of one lacal community
project, generating £88m in
ecanomic and sacial value

_. Plans to eliminate our Scope 1and 2
carbon footprint by 2030

_ Mears has recelved a Royal Society for
the Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA)
Order of Distinction (20 consecutive
Gold Awards ) Health and Safety
Award for working hard to ensure
our colleagues and customers
get home safely to their families
at the end of every working day

Recognised as one of the UK's Best
Large Companies to Work. For the
third year running

. Retaining a warkforce that is
motivated and feels valued is critical,
The Directors ensured that those at
the lower end of the pay scale
received higher proportional increases
and also ensured that Mears’ front line
care workers are now all paid more
than the real Living Wage rate. The
Group made further improvements
during the period to holiday and sick
pay entitlemenis

Reconcillations between the statutory
figures and the alternative performance
measures are detailed on pages 52 and
53 of the Financial review. The Financial
review also provides detailed analysis
of the financial impact from the
discontinued operations.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Our business at a glance

OUR PURPOSE

Working together to help people and communities
thrive. This is the guiding principle that defines our
brand and drives our activities. It is what makes
Mears distinctive and is the starting point for all

CUR VISION

To be the leading provider
of housing services and
solutions to the affordable
housing market in the UK.

of our activities.

OUR VALUES

and communities, putting

We value our customers We value teamwork,
supporting each other,
sharing ideas and never

excluding others.

their needs at the heart
of everything we do,

/i

WHAT WE DO

Mears has a single-minded focus on
the housing market and delivering
services to the residents of these
homes, We operate within the
affardable housing sector, which

is an area that will see continued
investment given the significant
housing shorlage and the rising
number of people who are regarded
as statutorily homeless. We are also
a key player in the Net Zerc agenda.
As the largest provider to the social
housing secter, we are already

out mare

delivering Net Zero housing solutions
with our partners. Qur Red Thread is
in our DNA and it helps us achieve
mere as individuals, as a team,

and as a company.

OUR CUSTOMERS

We work predominantly with Central Government and Locaf
Government, in the delivery of housing services. Th ve
typically through lang-term contracts. We equally consider

the residents of the hoemes that we manage and maintain

to be our customers. and we take pride in the high levels

of customer satisfaction that we achieve.

We value personal . .
P We value innovation,

being inventive in our

responsibility, setting
consistently high
stundurds for our work
and halding ourselves
accountable for
acnieving them.

action without fear
nr ciscruminatian

QUR SERVICES

We provide housing solutions. Increasingly we operate
an intelligent approach to maintenance, using technology
to improve our custamers’ experience and to cperate
proventative maintenance programmaes that reduce levels
of emergency repairs. We provide property and tenancy
management, whilst often providing other weltare services
to the tenants. Our particular focus is on providing
sustainable alternatives to homelessness, helping

reduce the rising prablems created by the housing
shartage in the LK

LONG-FERM DRIVERS

The shortage of housing in the UK has made investment
in housing both a political and an economic priority. There
is now & greater focus ontenant engagement and satety.
UK carbon reduction targets wili also mean that significant
further investment in housing is needed, including the
replacement of gas boilers. We are atready seeing rising
investrent in our markets and a greater attention to the
quality of delivery. Demographic change is aiso a Key
long-term driver. given the growing and ageing population
of the UK, This will create opportunity for more specialist
housing. where our broad range of services can be
effectively combined through a single partner.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

approach and empowering
people to take reasonable



WHERE WE OPERATE

We operate across all four countries
of the UK through a range of local
branches. A sample of recent contract
activities is given below

UK-wide MoD contract extended
for B years plus 2 years, valued at
over £250m over 5 years

North Lanarkshire Short-listed
on a new tender estimated ta
he worth £1.4hn over 12 years
We are the cufrent incumbent

South Cambridgeshire
District Council
cantract retained.
Contract tength five
years, value £39m

Mui lhwesh Miniuiry
of Justice contract
extension for two years,

London Borough of
worth £10m

Havering successful
bid. Centract iength
10 years, worth £58m

Tower Hamlets contract
renewal for five years,
plus an extension option
of & further five years,
value £75m

Sacial Hoiising Decarhnnisation
Fund winning bids with
Livin, Crawley Homes

and Milton Keynes Council

PARTNERSHIP FOR THE LONG TERM
WATH NORYTM LANARKSHIRE COURNOE
We are pleased to have been shortlisted
in respect of the re-tender of the Narth
Lanarkshire Future Integrated Housing
Service contract, estimated at £1.4bn over
12 years. The anticinated commencement
date for the new contract is January 2024.

Mears already delivers an all-encompassing
service carried out in partnership with North
Lanarkshire Council, to fully maintain and
repair every praperty within the Council’s
portfolio of 36,700 properties.

If successful, the new contract will
significantly grow our work volume across
the Authority. Mears currently delivers an
all-encompassing service in partnership
with North Lanarkshire, to fully maintain and
repair every property within the Council’'s
portfolic of 36,700 tenanted properties

and over 1,000 public buildings.

Narth Lanarkshire Council and Mears
are joint partners in the LLP, ensuring we
have cantinued investment In the North
Lanarkshire community for the long term.

The two organisations are truly integrated,
with a shared commitment to deliver
excellent services to residents, whilst
bringing community and training benefits

to the North Lararkshire community in a
sustainable way. Contract key performance
ind cators (KPIs) have been increased

from 90% to 95% as part of this commitment.

On average Mears completes over 83,000
internal and external repairs annually,

365 days a year by core, out of hours and
emergency teams. Mears provides electrical
services including occupied and void
rewires, domestic ventilation and electrical
systems testing (Electrical Installation
Condition Report (EICR}). On average

120 electrical safety tests are carried

out per week.

Mears delivers capital works which

include major structural works, kitchen and
bathrooms, decorating services, blacksmith
services, groundworks and more. Mears
also covers services such as fencing,
decommissioning, adaptations and wet
rooms for vulnerable tenants. Mears
provides electrical checks, plumbing,
plastering, decoratien and joinery.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

2022 accreditations

AN ORGANISATION THAT PROMOTES AN ORGANISATION THAT

A SAFE WORKING ENVIRONMENT ENGAGES WITH CUSTOMERS

V } Royal Society for the ‘ Tpas Contractor

Prevention of Accidents ! n ' accreditation
! !
R&®SPA Health and safety is paramourt o ow ' Mears Fas cortinuously held the
business In 202Z Mears Group wias tpas ' ¢

e wiesT o-
ferme that

ReSEA Oigor of Destine. on

TR 2TNSe il

ratenally

Jwarded the
atongsi .

[ I

AN ORGANISATION THAT ACTIVELY
PROMOQTES SUPPORT TO ARMED A GREAT EMPLOYER
FORCES VETERANS

Armed Forces
) Covenant — Gold Award

Best Companies

Mears was ramedin 2023 as ore of the
top large busiresses o work forin the
UK's Bes: I arge Coirpames 10 Waork

Mears has sigried up 10 The Arned Forces

AZMED FORCEE Covenanl to deranstrate our Commitmeant -~ N j
COVENANT -,OJ?\.L)H[ 1o x,-ier anstrate our <o Eo1 ol 3051 o nanas feongr das
——— W anshre ihas these whao serve or who businesses that take workplace
LS 2 2 E
have sor e ved forces ar
iave served inthe armed forces ard ENGIQETIONT SETILUSIY I 3R 10
tre o fa - 1 fanrly

suilo atrppie e wi kioTee.
Cur hsting in

manainad

AN ORGANISATION THAT A DIVERSE AND INCLUSIVE BUSINESS
CHAMPIONS SOCIAL MOBILITY AN ORGANISATION THAT DELIVERS QUALITY

Social Mobility E Customer Service
e Excellence
eyj WMears aims to put cusioners at
gi‘d n the heart of SIS e O
Ugﬁ Therlass
ACL 0 LALyg

driv ng LJsto

0TS W 00655 1L G
arc it Srowcases progre

mcoility.

nt from ail backgro
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MEASURING OUR VALUE A SOCIALLY RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

FTSE 4 Good

Mears Graup is placed i the top 9% of
the UK's most socally responsible

FTSE4Good,

MSCI Sustainalytics and MSCI

I .
WOHNR SUSTAINALYTICS  pcars as been makimng canlinuous BUsineases e b1 SE2G00d e,
IMproven ents year on year across the FTS E4Good which racognises exceflent ESG practices.
t-ree significart erviranmental, sccal and )
governance (ESG) assessment platforms.
FTSE4Gaod Sustamalyiics and MSCL
These platforms enable us la momtor
olr ESZ sk ratrgs

LHOdaY D193LVYHLS

COLLEAGUES RECEIVE DELIVERING EXCELLENT

EEST IN CLASS TRAINING CUSTOMER SERVICE

SONYNHIALD JLVHOLHO0D

ICS TrainingMark

ServiceMark ICS ServiceMark

© The Institute of Customer Service's {ICS) Mears aims to put customrers a: the heart

:f:: Eisﬁ:n;l;ér;ﬁi " TramingMark e o 1 :ﬁ;‘ s, thing we ¢ N sh g
I £ gMark demonstrates that our *.80 Customer Service of cverything we do. The 105 ServiceMark
Customer Excellence Trainmg (Making helps arganisatiors wnderstand how
a Positwe Differance) programes meat effecive then customer service strategy
nazional standards for customer service, 15 ana identifies areas lor improven ent

as irdeperdently recognisec by the ICS,

SAMIWILIVES TYIONY NI

BACKING OUR GIVING BACK TO CELEBRATING
ESSENTIAL WORKERS OUR COMMUNITIES OUR DIVERSITY

SOCIAL
VALUE

ST
RN T,
3 “
o 5,

EW Inclusive 1
Culture

Social Value
e Management

ICS —
Service with

~,
.

TR CERTIFICATE H+ H

#atee Respect mesmemaees - Certification Pledge
Mesrs s proul The Social Value Management We are proud o have signed the
naw 'Service w

. Certificate (SVMC) 15 a multi-level CWorddusive Culture Pledge, Tris
camizating the ab av d for arganis ME& W0 cdemonsirates our comimitmesnt to
hehaviour experienced by essentizl gain hest practice proce developing an inclusive cultuie.
weorkars 1 castomer-facitg roles value Ir 2022 we were plessed to TS sBPo0TIE Gur amiicrs for oo
become the only company ir the oy Fe s anc lrclusian pohoy
IFousing sector 1o be awarded the
Loval 7 certifcate wihrych rozuses

MOGIIYHEOAN: 4E20T0HIAHYHS

Zormpelerantatizn
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Chairman’s letter

o
A

P

INTRODUCTION

This is my fourth and final letter to you
as Chairman of Mears. Having assumed
the role in January 2019, | have decided
not to seek re-election at the 2023 AGM
and will therefore stand down from

the Beard at that time.

This period has seen both significant change
for the Group and a reaffirmation of the
positive qualities which have for many years
made Mears a force for good.

Cwver the course of the last five years,
Mears’ cantract estate has been significantly
improved. Within the housing business,
there has been consicerable g-owth inthe
provision of accommodation and support
services and the Group is now a8 UK leader
in that aclivity, reflecting the considerable
efforts which have been made to develop
effective, successful, and profitable
relationships with Central Government
departments. In parallel, the financial
performance and business mix of the
housing business has been improved.

The Group has alsc progressively exited
other activities, namely domiciliary care,
property data management, and
housebuilding. Taken together, these
initiatives have transformed the Group's
financial positicn: cash generation has
returned and debt has heen eliminated

Mears is positioned to grow its core housing
activities. In 2022, this was epitomised by 115
success ir winning the MoD RLAP contract,
in retaining its long-standing relationship with
the London Borough of Tower Hamlets and
in bheirg shortlisted for the North Lanarkshire
Future Integrated Housing Service contract.
Over the last five years, Mears has seen s
average contract size grow, in terms of both
annual revenues and contract length.

S}

KIERAN MURPHY
CHAIRMAN

Taken togetner, these developments leave
Mears in a much stranger position for the
future with far greater visibility of revenue
and profit than hitherta.

Althe same time, the cultural strengths

of Mears continue 10 be reinforced. Itis
integral to how Mears does business that

it places great emphasis on the welfare

of and development opportunities for

its staff, that 1t provides its services in a8
manner which is sensitive to the needs

and lives of its customers and that it

adds value to the commurities in which

it operates. In the last few years, we have
created a new Customer Scrutiny Board
which works alangside the Group to oversee
and help to impraove our service standards.
We have reinforced the role of the Employee
Director with the creation of @ new deputy
director post with a strong focus on disability
and neurodiversity, become one of the

UK’s Best Large Companies to Work For

and continued our excellent record

in promoting effective heattn and

safety for cur staff and contractors.

In 2022, Mears was declared Employer

of the Year by the Chartered Irstitute of
Housing. Qur efforts to create equality of
oppeortunity for our workforce can be seen in
improving gender pay gap data, an increase
inthe proportion of women in seniar roles
and in our efforts to try to ensure that our
local waorkforces better reflect the ethnic
mixes of the communities they serve. And
we have continued to promote and measure
the social value which we create through
amyrad of small scnemes up and down

the country While we szek to be the leading
provider of housing services and solutions
to the affordable rousing market in the UK,

we do so by working to help staff, customers,

and communities thrive.

RESULTS
20232 was, for the first time in thrae years,
broadly unaffected by the Covid-19
restrictions which have created so much
cconomic and social damage over recent
years. Our results also demonstrate the
benefit which has been gained both from our
strategic changes and from our continuous
focus on operating improvements acress our
activities. Revenue from continuing activities
reached £259.6m, a record for the Group
and an increase of 9% over 2021, while
adjusted profit before tax was £35.2m,

an increase of 37% over that achieved

in 2021. Narmalised diluted earnings

per share rose by 35% to 24.51p.

Cash generation was once again very strong.
The adjusted year end net cash balance
reached £100.1m and average net cash
throughout the year was £42.9m, both
numbers some £40m higher than in 2027,
This is the result of a third consecutive

year of 100% conversion of profits

to cash, a tremendous achieavement

by thre management team and staff

across the Group.

This performance was delivered against

a backdrop of very different inflation levels
and expectations from those of the last
decade. Many of our contracts provide for
annual price adjustments referenced to a
cost index, although these de not necessarily
provide full protection as to either timing

ar aro.nt. We have worked hard to ensure
that our procurement processes limit the
conseguences of higher levels of inflatio.
However, consistent with our focus on staff
welfare, we have improved the terms and
conditions for staff and implemented a pay
increase which was delivered
disprapaortionately to those at lower pay
levels. Nevertheless, we have expetienced
and continue to experience labour shortages
and we are constantly reflecting on how we
can best attract and retain good necple.

Both financially and operationally, the most
significant contracts for the Group are those
under which we provide accommaodation andg
support for asylum seekers in the North-East
of England, Scotland, and Northern ireland.
The number of service users continued to
growin 2022 and these higher numbers are
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likely to persist in 2023. The continued use
of temparary hotel accommaodation, while
inevitable, is not the preferred solution and
we are working hard 1o increase the number
of residential preperties which we can use.
The development of these contracts has
imposed very considerable pressures on
the operating -eams who run them, and

the Board 15 grateful for their continuing
efforts and success.

The Group commenced the new RLAP
contract for the Ministry of Defence which
has mobilised very smoothly. We look
forward to continuing our successful
partnership with the MoD for many years to
come. We successfully rebid work for repairs
for the London Barough of Tower Hamlets
and won a new contract with the Lendon
Borough of Havering. Most importantly, the
Group was shortlisted for the new integrated
housing service contract with North
Lanarkshire Council and discussions will
continue with that client to ensure that if
selected, we are ready to commence work,
as intended, next January. This contract is
worth £1.8bn over 12 years and, if successful,
would deliver significant growth for Mears

in 2024 and future years.

DIVIDEMD

Against the background of the Group’s
considerable success in 2022, the Board
has decided ta propose a final dividend of
7.25p per share, bringing the total for the
year to 10.50p, anincrease of 31% on 2021
Qur policy remains to pragressively grow the
dividend, keeping cover at between 2 times
and 2.5 times normalised earnings,

Consistent with the Group's capital allocation
strateqy, underpinned by tremendous
operating cash generation and a strong
balance sheet, the Board has approved the
launch of a £20m share buyback programme.

STRATEGY

Following a period of strategic reonentation,
the Group is now unequivocally focused

on being the leader in the UK in provid.ng
high quality housing services to the public
sector. That focus distinguishes us from many
of our peers who operate broader
businesses. it is slso leading some Local
Authorities and Housing Associations to
discuss with us ways in which we can support
their housing repair operations. We will seek
to grow our business where we believe that
there are opportunities to work in partnership
with these providers in a cost effective and
value-creating way.

We focus on innovation and customer
satisfaction as key determinants of
successful performance and delivery
for clients. We continue to investin our
in-house IT operations delivery system,

which now permits tenants to report the
need for repairs and monitor thelr progress
completely onfine. Our commitment to
innovation was illustrated by the acquisition
earler this year of IRT Surveys Limited. While
financially this was a relatively small deal, it
brought into the Group the capability to
deliver new data-led sclutions for clients by
assessing the energy performance of
housing portfolios, aptimising budgets,

and providing solutions for the most efficient
and cost effective way to complete retrofits.
This capability will be crucial to our success
in delivering cost effective decarbonisation
soluticns for clients as the public sector
embarks on what will be a multi-year
programme of work to contribule to the
achievement of the nation’s Net Zero 1argets.

ESG

Mears pubhshed its ESG Strategic Approach
2022-2030 earlier this year. This document
sets out clear targets in each of the areas of
environmental, social, and governance and
the Board regularly reviews progress against
these targets. Mears has also created a
small ESG Board with several independent
members whose function is to support and
chailenge the Group in the achievement of its
ESG objectives. We are proud of the efforts
which the Group has made cver many years
in demonstrating the positive impact which
our activities can have on our workforce,

our chients, and our caommunities and our
ESG strategy is consistent with that deeply
embedded cultural appreoach to how

we work,

BOARD DEVELOPMENTS

Toward the end of 2022, the term of our
Employee Director, Claire Gibbard,
concluded. The Board is grateful to Claire for
her contribution and especially her success
in devising and creating the new Employee
Forum, a mechanism to allow individuals from
across the Group to meel and collectively
discuss and make recommendations. As
described in the Report of the Nominations
Committee, the Group ran a process to select
Claire's successor and we were pleased to
announce the appeintment of Hema Nar with
effect from 1 January 2023. Hema has
worked for the Group since 2020 as a bid
manager within the business development
function.

Also at the end of 2022, Alan Long, who
Joined Mears 17 years ago and served as an
Executive Director for 9 years, stepped down
from the Board. Alan has been critical in
developing the Group's werkforce initiatives,
its social value work, and its governance
endeavours as well as playing a key role

in winning new business and in promoting
and overseeing effective operational
improvement. | would like to take this
opportunity an behalf of the Beard to thank
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This period has seen both significant change for the
Group and a reaffirmation of the positive qualities which
have for many years made Mears a force for good.

Alan for all he achieved with Mears in his time
with us and to wish him well far the future.

Lucas Critchley joined the Board as an
Executive Director at the start of 2023, Lucas
is the Group COO and will succeed David
Miles as Group CEO later this year. Lucas
joined the business as a graduate In 2004
and has worked across both the operations
and business support functions,

Finally, as noted above, | have decided to
step down from the Board with effect from
the 2023 AGM. Chris Loughlin, the current
Senior Independent Director, will succeed
me as Chairman.

DAVID MILES

In December 2022, Mears announcead that
David Miles would step down as CEO during
2023 to be succeeded by Lucas Critchley.
David has worked for the Group for almost
27 years, 12 of those as CEQ. When he joined
Mears, the business had just & branches,

23 employees and a turnover of some £12m,
Since that time, and under his stewardship
first as COO and then CEQ, the Group has
grawn to its current size with some 75
branches, over 5,000 employees and
turnover approaching £1bn. Much of the
credit for this successful growth must go to
David, who has been central to the Group’s
development throughout that period.

As impeortantly, David has been the driving
force behind the cuiture which underpins

all that Mears does, combining the need to
generate profit and to deliver a return to our
owners with the need to provide value to all
our stakeholders, staff, clients, service users,
and the communities in which we operate. In
2023 and for the future, it will be essential for
companies to show that they can and

do create sociai value as well as profits in
delivering their services. David's focus on
this area over many years has been prescient
and paved the way for Mears to be
recognised as the most trusted private
provider working with the public sector.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank
David for his unique service over so many
years and for all the value which he has
created and baquealhs to us.

CONCLUSION

Mears is a very successful Group and
punches above its weight in many respects,
It has along and successful future ahead

of it as a leader in providing housing services
to the public sector It will cantinue to be
seen as a Group that shows how the pursuit
of profit for awners can and should be
combined with the creation of value for

all other stakeholders. In this respect,

it is a madel for athers 1o follow.
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A Q&A with our Chief Executive Officer

Mears has outperformed City
cxpectations in 2022 —- why is
tnat and what is the outlook?

This comes from having a business
bullt on sol'd foundations: a simple,
straightforward strategy focused on housing
in the UK, and a market which continues

to present us with growth opportunities,

We have high levels of workforce
engagement which in turn lead to good
levels of custamer service. We have a very
disciplined approach to how we run the
business, with 8 desire to do business
responsibly and a resilient and low risk
approach to financial management.

Whilst challenges come and go, such as
Covid-18 and inflation, our focus has ensured
we have pragressed well In 2022 and | am
very confidentin the outlook for the ‘uture.

DAVID MILES
CHIEF EXECUTIVE QFFICER

Media coverage of problems in the

asylum system nas probably never
been greater than in 2022 Surely this
must have created challenges for Mears?

Itis true 10 say that the large number
of asylum seekers in the system has
created significant pressures on our staff
ang of course we have nol been immune

10 sone of the negativity \n the media.
However, once again our staff have stepped
up ta support people in the most difficult of
circumstances. You will see in this Annual
Report a small fraction of the ways that our
staff have provided extra support to asylum
seekers in local communities. Our role is

to find people decent housing In local
communities and to help signpost people
to services that can help them. Cf course,

I am delighted with the strong
performance of the Group, and

these are a terrific set of financial
results. Our market-leading position,
based on a clear strategy and resilient
operating platform, has underpinned
this performance, and positions the
Group for further sustainable growth

in the medium term.

il

there is a shortage of hausing in the UK

and with the higher numbers of both asylum
seekers and refugees, this challenge has not
been easy. However, we are seeing more
Local Authorities agree 10 allow asylum
seekers to be housed in their area and we
are lacking at crestive ways to ncrease

the amount of housing available, including
potentially purchasing some housing with
the helo of private investors. | am sure 2023
will also see high demand on our services
and | know our staff will also play their part
ir ensuring that pecple are sLpported as
hest as we can.

ﬂ I have seen that Mears has extended

its relationstip with the Ministry of
Justice (MaJ). This sounds as if it might
bring particular risks?

We have been part of a pllot project
with the MoJ te provide housing on
a temporary basis to low risk grisoners
leaving the service, who might otherwise
have become homeless. This is a significart
problem across the UK, resulting in very
nigh fevels of recffending. The pilot has
been seen as very successful gy the MeJ
and i am pleased to say that this pilot has
been successful and that we have seen
thal contract exterded.

We work very closely with the Mg and
local support services on Lhis programme
and while of course there are risks, the
benefits have significantly outweighed
the risks against all outcome areas.

This is another example of Mears working in
service areas which can have huge long-term
benefits to individuals and communities.
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The Directors have recognised the challenge at this
time of retaining and recruiting skilled labour and

nave endeavoured to balance the pressures being

felt by the Group’s emplovees, with what is affordable
to the business. Retaining a workforce that is motivated
and feels valued is critical.

What progress have you made in your

strategic objective to be seen as the
most socially responsible large private
company working in the public sector?

g Mears delivered £1,200 of social

value and £15,700 of ecanomic value
te communities per employee across the UK
in 2022, The Mears Foundation mare than
doubled its cash contribution to local causes
and the Group match-fund money raised
by staff for the Foundation. Qur ESG report
gives a great summary of the work that we
have done In a year when communities
have rezlly needad our help. We nave also
launched Charters setting out exactly what
being socially responsible means at Mears,
with clear targets which we will report on
an annual basis.

| am also pleased to report that we have
improved our position as one of the UK's
Best Large Companies to Work For and
have taken action to improve a wide range
of benefits for staff. This hasincluded
increasing care worker pay levels ahead

of inflation, improving sick pay and holidays
for front line operatives and introducing
better family friendly and flexible benefits,

You have announced a number of
changes at Board ievel, including
yourself. Should we be concerned?

Mears manages change in a structured
way, with a long-term focus on
succession planning. That's why l announced
my own decisicn Lo step down from the Board
by the end of 2023 so long in advance and
have ensured there is an effective transition
plan to the new Chief Executive Officer

The same can be said for Alan Long, who is
also stepping off the Board but continuing to
play a vital rale for the Group, and working to
ensure that the transition is done the right

way. The Chairman is also moving on as
we progress to the next stage of Mears’
development. In cach of these three cases
an internal successor has been planned for,
which shows the success of our approach.

ﬂ | see Mears has chosen to continue
having an Employee Director on the
Board. Why Js that?

We take our commitment to staff very
seriously and as such itis important that
their views are heard at the most senior place
in the Company. We also have a variety of
roles belogw the Board that support the
Empicyee Director. A Deputy Employee
Director focuses on improving conditions for
people with disabilities. We have introduced
a Group-wide Employee Forum, to ensure
views across the Group are represented.

COur most recent appointment is for a trade
representative to be appainted to focus
specfically on the issues faced by our front
line staff and ensure that their views are
properly communicated.

We note that Housing Associations

have had their rent increases capped
at 7% and Councils cannot increase Council
Tax by more than 5%. Is this likely to reduce
spending on Mears’ services?

In terms of our work with Local
Authorities and Housing Associations,
much of our work comes from ring fenced
repairs funds. Indeed, our clients are facing
the challenges from tougher regulatory
standards and from greater awareness of
issues relating to damp and mould. Added
10 that is the challenge to make all social
homes a minimum of Energy Performance
Certificate [FPC) Band C interms of energy
efficiency by 2030. As such we don't see

a risk in spend levels being reduced but
there may be different prioritisations.
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hithe last Annual Report, you talked
alot about carbon reductionin the
housing stock. What progress has been made?

We have made significant progress in
being able to help clients assess the
waork that needs to be done, access grant
funding, and carry out the necessary works.
Through the first wave of Social Housing
Decarbonisation Funding (SHDF), we
secured grant funding for three clients and
this work is now being implemented.
We have also helped clients with 10
submissions for over £100m of work as a parl
of SHDF Wave 2. The results of this wilf be
known in spring 2023. We have also
purchased a small company called IRT, which
helps with the front end of this work
In 8ssessing what works should be done
and the funding fevels that can be accessed.

ﬂ The cash position of Mears has
improved significantly. What do
you intend to do with this cash?

We are obviously pleased to have
delivered so well in efiminating debt
and indeed building & positive cash position.
We have always been an crganisation that
manages ¢ash well and this continues to be
a core strength of the business. We plan to
use this cash in a number of ways. Firstly, 1o
use some cash in partnership with external
private investrnent, 1o secure property for
use primarily on the asylum contract.

This to ensure we deliver to operational
commitments and to generate positive
financial outcomes. Secondly, to explore the
opportunity for further small acquisitions, like
IRT in 2022. Thirdly, to maintain a progressive
dividend policy and consider other routes
for providing a return to our shareholiders
We will continue to monutar the position
closely and to listen to shareholder feedback
on the options that are available to us.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Chief Executive Officer’s review

2022 was a tremendous year for the
Group. The strong operational and financial
performance is further evidence that the
strategic actions of recent years and cur
resilient cperating platform are delivering
positive results and have positioned the
Group well for the future. Mears' market
leadership and long track record for quality
and operating excellence ensure that we
are seen as a trusted partner to Local and
Central Government as they seek to address
their challenges.

The Group delivered strong revenue growth,
up 9% to £959.6m. underpinned by the
increased volumes experienced within the
Asylum Accommodation and Support
Contract (AASC). Except for the AASC,
revenues have been relatively consistent
across the remaining contract estate,

with a small reductionin our traditional
repair activities.

Adjusted profit before tax for the year was
£35.2m (2021 £25.6m), benefitting from bath
higher revenues and strengthening operating
margins, reflecting the positive steps taken
by the Group cver the previous two years.
Some actions resulted in a reduction in
revenues but they improved profitability. The
business has seen the quality of its secured
forward order book improve in terms of both
pricing and longevity, and the Directors will
continue to be disciplined when bidding

for new work. Whilst the business has
expenenced some inflationary and other
supply chain pressures, the senior
managemeant team has taken steps

to absorb the impact. This is coverad

in greater detail below

The AASC was secured in 2019. The Group
anucipated annual revenues of around
£120m; the contract has seen revenue of
more than double this onginal expectation,
with higher service user volumes. This was
due to the impact of the pandemic and
situations where residential dispersal
accommodation has 1ot been available.
The Group is working with the Home Zffice
1o accommodate these higher volumes in
suitable accommedetion. A significant focus
15 being directed towards sourcing @ higher
valume of residential properties that can
support bath the short-term and longer-term
requirements, Whilst the use of temporary
Notel accommadation i the AASC 1s nat
preferred. we have placed and will always
continue to place the wellbeing and safety
of tre service user 3t the forefront o our
delivery. The Group expects these elevated
service user numbers to be present across
2023 Y would like to place on record my
thanks to the Mears operational teams which
have done an incredible job in supporting
such large numbers of vulnerahle people

n the mast challanging circumstances.
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2022 202 2020
£m £m £m
Revenue 959.6 378.4 8058
Operating profit before tax measures:
Operating profit/{loss)’' y M3 244 Eﬂ
Adjusted operating profit/(loss) M5 337 . 6.6
(post IFRS 16)° !
Adjusted operating profit/{loss) 3641 2986 0.6 '
{pre IFRS 16)2 L
Md operating margin (pre IFRS 16} 3.8% 3.4% 01%
Profit before tax measures B
Statutory profit/{loss) before tax 34.9 ) 16.3 ) (15?2)
rmusted profit/(loss) before tax? 35.2 256 3.4 I

1 Operating prohtdloss)includes share of profit In associates
2 Adjusted measurcs are cefined In the Atternative Performance Measures section of the Financial review

A key operational highlight saw a successful
autcome for the Group on the re-tender of
the RLAP with the MoD. Under this contract,
Mears provides a wide range of
accommaodation and property services to
service persenne! and their families across
the UK. Services include property search,
selecton, and leasing, refocation sarvices,
tenancy management, responsive repairs,
and maintenance. Mears had been
successfully providing similar services since
2016 ynder the predecessor Subslilute
Service Accommodation contract. The new
contract 1s for a period of up to seven years
and has an annual vaiue of around £50m.
The new contract mebilised in April 2022
and has started well with both operaticnal

and financial metrics showing good progress.

On a similar note, the Group was delighted
to successfully retain its responsive repsirs
contract with the London Borough of Tower
Hamlets, with a total value of £75m over the
initial five-year term (with an option to extend
for further 5 years). Under the contract Mears

will provide a full range of responsive repairs,

voids, and planned waorks services in around
11,500 properties Strong customer service
and customer satisfaction scores were
fundamental in retaining this material
contract. This award builds on a relationship
between Mears and the Council that
stretches back over 15 years.

| am pleased with the progress made over
recent years to improve the quality of the
Group’s forward order book. Since the start
of the pandemic, the Group has taken robust
action to prune its operations and to ensure
resources are directed lowards those
contractual relationships which can provide
high levels of customer service and

sustainable financial returns, which are
reflective of the investment of ime and
resources, Whilst the Group had previously
taken steps to exit a small number of
cantracts, some of those demobilisations
cancluded dunng 2022, This appreach has
resulted in some loss of revenue, However,
the pricrity for the Board has been to drive
an improvement to operating margins and
improve the quality of the contract portfolio.

The increased focus on operaiing marging
has extended into the bid rocom where the
Group remains highly selective. The Group
was pleased to secure a new 10-year
contract with the London Borough of i
Havering, delivering repairs and maintenance
to around 12,000 homes with an estimated
annual value of £5m. This new contract
mobilisation went well, which was an
excellent achievement given the curremt
backdrop of supply chain pressures and skill
shortages and reflects the strength of the
Mears operatling model.

Over the course of the past two years, the
Group has seen a high number of existing
contracts coming up for re-bid. Positively
through this pericd, the Group has enjoyed
several contract extensions (Orbit, Livin,
and MoJ) and a number of retentions
[RLAP. Tower Hamlets, Redbridge, and Sauth
Cambridgeshire). Whilst | am pleased with
the contract retention rate, it1s mevitahle
that a busy per od of re-bids will result

in some loss of work. Consequently, in
September 2022, the Group bid farewell

to its work with Welwyn Hatfield Boraugh
Council, with an annual value of circa £15m,
after more than 20 years™ service.
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SUPPLY CHAIN AND

P AHONARY DRESS GRS

Given the challenging economic backdrop
and the volatility experienced during 2022,
a key concern from all our stakeholders

is how the Group has managed current
inflationary headwinds, labour shortages,
ond Chiallenges willibn the Supply Ciain.

Posttively, most of our custamer contracts
include an entitlement to an annual price
adjustment which Is typically benchmarked
agalnst a costindex, Whilst this provides the
Group significant protection, the Group 1s not
immune to cost pressures, and there may
be disparity in the lavel and timing of

the increases received. The increases
experienced in the cost of energy have
added a significant headwind in respect of
the AASC where the Group provides light
and heating in respect of the circa 6 000
dispersed residential properties. The Group
has benefitted from the short-term support
provided by Government, but energy costs
remain a significant uncertainty in respect
af that single contract.

Our procurement proceduras have meant
that we have not experienced significan:
problems with material supply. Where lead
times have lengthenad, we manage and
plan for this in our operationsa} celivery. The
Mears modet has always been to prioritise
the investment in, and retention of, our cwn
staff, with lesser rellance on subcontracted
and other short-term labour. However, the
Group 1s dependent upon a network of
specialist small and medium-sized enterprise
{SME) subcontractors, and we recognise the
difficulties they will be experiencing within
their own workforce and supply chains.

Where client spending is funded through

social rents, the introduction of the social
housing rent cap may encourage clients

ORDER BOOK AND PIPEUINE

to look for cost reductions, rotwithstanding
the fact that much of the Group’s activities
are backed by legislation and can be
considered non-discretionary. Some areas
of planned capital spend, and initiatives
such as decarbonisalion, could be subject
to cost cutting; however, this is only a
relatively stmall parl ol lhe Group's revenues,

The Directors have recognised the ongoing
challenge of retaiming and recruiting skilled
labour and have endeavoured to balance
the pressures being felt by the Grouo’s
employees with what is affordable to the
business. Retaining a workforce that is
motivated and feels valued is critical.

The Group made further improvements
rluring the peried to holiday ana sick pay
entitlements and other terms and conditions,
and the 2027 pay review applied a flat
increase of £2,000 per annum per employee,
which ensured that those at the lower end of
the pay scale received higher proportionat
increases. The Directors awarded an
enhanced increase to its front line care
workers, who are now all paid more than

the real Living Wage rate, The Directors

will continue to monitor workfarce pay,
recognising the impertance of being reactive
to the ¢ost of living pressures being felt by
many of our Mears colleagues. The Board
recognises that labour shortages are proving
a constraint on our ability to pursue certain
new opportunities and we continue Lo invest
and innovata to attract the best talent.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

Maars conducts over 3,000 surveys per
month and has an independently chaired
Customer Scrutiny Board that reports
both to the Board and externally on our
performance. Key developments are tried
and tested with this Board, which has
customer representation across our

core Housing services.

In 2022, overall customer satisfaction was
88% (2021: 86%) and we are pleased to see
low levels of complaints across the Group.
We seek to resolve complaints efficiently
and quickly, with learnings, where
appropriate, being transferred into revised
cperational practices. We continue to
enhance the ability for tenants to interact
with us digitally while recognising that for
many tenants more traditional routes are still
preferred. In 2022, we developed and
launched a mobile customer app which
provides residents with more chaoice and
convenience, allowing us to create a more
personal service.

DECARBONISATION

2022 has seen Mears create a leading
end-to-end decarbonisation service

ta support our clients with the huge
challenge of improving social housing stock.
Sacial housing landlords need to achieve

a minimum EPC rating of C for their stock

by 2030. This starts with the ability to help
measure existing carbon efficiency, enabling
us to design s programme to cost effectively
dehver improvements and then to measure
success. The success of this work was seen
first by us working with three clients on the
SHDF. All three bids were successful, and
tne resulting work is now being implemented.

SHDF Wave 2 bids invclve Mears working
with clients to submit bids which, if
successiul, might result in over £100m of
wark aver the next two years. Further waves
of SHDF funding will follow in 2023 and for
the foreseeable future. Cur ability to support
clients was extended by the acquisition of
IRT Surveys Limited (IRT'). IRT technology
can model the clients’ housing stock and
make clear racommendations on what
precise work should be delivered ard the
grant funding available. | am delighted in the
pasitive impact IRT has already made and we
expectlo see significant opportunity in 2023,

The order book stands at £2 9bn (31 December 2021 £2.4bn), enhanced by a number of contract extensions. The Group secured contracts
in 2022 valued at over £165m with a win rate {by value) of 30%. The key crders secured are detailed below.

Base
Extension Arnnual contract New:
Base term aption value value Retention’
Contracts awarded in 2022 {years) {years] £m em Extension
Tower Hamlets Homes 5 5 15 75 Retention
South Cambridgeshire District Council 5 - 7 35 Retention
London Boreugh of Havering 10 - 5 50 New

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Over the course of the last two years, the
Group has seen a high number of existing
contracts approaching re-bid. Pasiively, we
are naw through this peried, and the Board
is pleased with its contract relention rate.
Looking forward, in the caming 12-months,
there are few rebids meaning much of the
business development focus can be directed
towards supporting the Group’s organic
growih ambitions.

We are seeing an increase in the tevels of bid
activity after two vears of reduced volume
following the pandemic. The Group's current
bid pipeline for contracts to be awarded in
2023 is currently standing at approximately
£750m. The bid pipeline comprises contracts
which meet the Group's key bildding criteria
such as size, quality, and margin opportunity.
This reported pipeline excludes the large
contract gppartunity with North Lanarkshire
Housing and Corporate Maintenance and
Investment Services contract estimated to
generate more than £1.5bn of revenues over
12 years — to provide reactive maintenance,
compliance, servicing as well as programmes
of works 1o the Authority's approximately
37,000 homes and «¢.1,200 other buiidings.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND COMPLIANCE
Building on the success of achieving its
20th consecutive RCSPA Gold Award,

ihe health and safety function continues
to perform exceptionally well, with no farm
of regulstory impravement/enfoicement
notices, or invoices for Health and Safety
Executive (HSE) fees for intervention,
bemng served.

In terms of developing risk, the Group has
maintained its focus on the fast-moving
area of building safety and is making good
progress with its drive to implement robust
management systems designed to ensure
compliance with the Building Safety Acy 2022
and the associated secondary legislation
which s currently being enacted. However,
despite the advances made, this item will
remain a key area of focus and scrutiny for
the Board moving forward.
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Mental health and welibeing is also an
area which has received enhanced scrutiny.
The Mantal Health and Wellbeing Steering
Committee, consisting of key stakeholders
across all the Group’s operations, has a
mandate to drive oversight and provide
internal challenge to the business's
relevant palicies and strategic approach
The Group has also increased the range
of support services available to its staff
and their families, via its Employee
Assistance Programme.

The Information Secunty team is now well
established and making excellent progress
with the ongoing implementatian of
gnhanced security controls and employee
awareness intiatives, which has enabled the
business to secura high level, incependent
secunty accreditations for its key strategic
contracts. Moving forward, the team

is focused on deliverng the same
validation programme to all areas

of the Groug's operations.

WORKFORCZE

Mears has invested in our workferce for
many yvears and, for the third year running,
we have heen listed in the Top 25 of the
UK's Best Large Companies to Woark For,
Each year we have also moved higher up
the league table, illustrating the angoing
improvement, This has been further
endorsed by Mears being named in 2022 as
the Emplayer of the Year by the Chartered
Institute of Housing, an organisation in
which almost all our clients have members

This fong-term staff investment in our
Workforce, is proving particularly impartant
at a time where employee resource has
become critical for many organisations. While
we have not been immune o the pressures,
our approach has helped mitigate some of
this risk. This commitment starts at Board
level, through our ongoing appointment

of an Erployee Director, now with an
employes forum added to widen the circle
of engagement with staif at all levels.

We have also added a Deputly Employee
Director with a focus on making Mears

a better place to work for peaple with
disabilites and a Trades representative lead.

We recognise that it has been a difficult

year financially for many peaple, which is
why, once again, we have focused on the
giving the highest percentage rises to the
lowest paid. We have also improved holidays,
sick pay, and other family friendly benefits
across the Group. | am very proud of the
multiple investments that we have made here
and the impact they have on recruitment,
retention and employee commitment.

I have been pleased with our progress
an Eguality, Dwversity, and Inclusion and,
as detziled above, the support given

by our ded'cated Mantal Health Steering
Group, designed to help people who
need it through what cantinues to be

a challenging time far many peaple.

Es5G

Adopted by the Board and published in May
2022, our ESG Strategic Approach 2022-
2030 sets out our current record in these
areas and our ambitious targets and plans.,
Details can be found on the ESG microsite
on the mearsgroup.co.uk website

In 2022 the Group delivered £16,900 per
employee of ecenomic and social vatue

In local communities, as measured by the
Social Value Portal. The Mears Foundation
supported 70 community projects in the year,
including work 1o promote digital inclusion
and improve the welfare of asylum seekers,

Mears has an independently chaired ESG
Board that reports to the main Mears Board.
The role of the ESG Board, which has three
Independent Directors, 1s to both support
and challenge the development of our ESG
work. This is fundamental to qur strateqy,
which is founded on the goal to be seen

as the most responsible large private
organisation warking with the public sector.
Again, we set this goal with business
development and sustainability in mind.
Demaonstrating a responsible approach

10 business mitigates key reputation risks
with our clients and enables us (¢ respond
well to tenders, for which ESG responses
are becoming ncreasingly importan:

We have consulted on and launched
Charters throughout the UK, in which we
have clearly set out how we will do business
responsibly and we will transparently report
each year as to how we have done agaimnst
each of these commitments.

We have pubhshed our clear plan on how
weintend to get to Nel Z2ro cabon
emissions by 2030,
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STRATEGY
The strengthening trading performance 1s evidence that the strategic actions of recent years and Mears' resilient operating platform and
market leadership are delivering results and position the Group well for sustainable growth over the medium term. Our strategy, as & housing

business working with the public sector, is founded on four principles:

Key principle

To he recognised as the most trusted large private provider working with the pubtic sector
__ We have commented in the ESG section of this document ¢n the positive progress made in 2022, In 2022 the Group delivered

£16.900 per employee Af eranami: and seclal yvalue in local communitics.
- Our suttess with gaining contract extensions and success on rebids demonstrates the trust clients place with us.

To have the highest levels of customer service in the affordable housing sector where we operate

__ We have achieved real consistency in our customer satisfaction scores through the year, where we continue to target excellence
rather than just satisfactory feedback. Our scores increased overall versus 2021

— We aie ieceiviny dil ncreasing number of requests from Lecal Government and Housiﬁg Associations, which currently operate a
largely internal repairs workforce, for assistance in resolving the problems that have increased for them in the iast two years. We will
apply a selective approach as to where we can help, without over-stretching our own resources, Our position as the go-to provider
is underpinned by our reputation that we have built over many years.

To embrace innovation that drives positive change such as digital and carbon reduction
__ We have made positive progress in winning carbon reduction work and our enhanced capability will lead to us securing additional

wark in 2023 and beyond.

We are investing in the further development of cur in-house core operating system Mears Contract Management (MCM} to suppert

aur core housing activities. We continue with the development of customer applications thal enhance service and fower cost, as
demonstrated by the fact that it is now possible for tenants to fully report and see progress on their repair digitally.
__ We have made our first bolt on acguisition, IRT, which adds to cur innovative carbon offer.

To maintain and grow a resilient business with long-term partnerships, a strong balance sheet and cash position, along with a committed,

engaged workforce

__ Our cash position is now very strong with an averaye dalfy net cash of £42.9m.
__ We have secured new work with a contract value of £165m and have continued to develop new partnerships such as with the MoJ,

where we see significant cpportunity for growth.
__ We are now bidding on the largest housing conlract that we have ever bid, for North Lanarkshire, which has a £150m annual contract

value, for a potential 17 years

... We still see too many tenders where price is the dominating factor, but we will continue to follow our long-standing commitment
to quality and we will not extend relationships where price focus becomes more important than quality and fong-term value.

__ Qur focus will be on driving the longer-term larger partnerships that we have with Central Government and on sustainable partnerships
with Local Government that both deliver service quality and enable us to maintain & strong balance sheet, Arrangements that do not

meet these criteria will be exited.

DIVIDEND AND CAPITAL ALLOCATION
Qur capital allocation priorities are
unchanged. We aim to maintain a strong
balance sheet with an average daily net
cash balance and consistent with this,
the Boasd’s pricrities will be to:

__ Retain low levels of underlying net cash.

_ Modest levels of maintenance capex and
digitisation spend.
Small-scale property purchases on MoJ
and AASC, if absalutely required.

_ Progressive ordinary dividends; cover
reducing towards 2x.
Selective, small-scale acquisitions 1o
enhance product capabilities.,

_ Returns of surplus cash to shareholders
kept under review.

In 2022, we have deployed all aspects of our
capital allocation pohicy:

. We delivered strong free cash flows,
reporting an average daily net cash
of £42.9m.

_ We have invested to support arganic
growth with development of our IT
systems costing £1.1m during FY 2022,
and a further £8.1m incurred on property,
plant and equipment additions

__ The Group has, to date, completed
property acquisitions of £5.2m to support
the chaltenging AASC impacts on our
service users fram temporary solutions
to dispersed residential accommeodation.

__ The Board is recommending a final
dividend of 7.25p per share, resulting
in a total dividend for the year of 10.50p
par share, an increase of over 30%
on 2021

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

__ We completed the acquisition of IRT
to enhance the Group's offering
fucused on addressing fuel poverty,
decarbonisation, and energy efficiency.

__ The Board has agreed that it intends to
adopt a recurring programme of share
huy backs. The Board has approved an
initial buy back of up to £20m of shares,
recognising that this may take around
18 months to complete.

The full year ordinary dividend of 10.50p
per share represents dividend cover

of 2.33x. Our strong balance sheet,
confidence in the outlook and good cash
generation mean we intend to reduce
dividend cover progressively lowards 2x
over the coming years. Regarding potential
further share buybacks, we will review our
financial position and capital requiremenis
ofl a regular basis and return surplus capital
to shareholders as appropriate.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Case studies

Investing in intelligent
carbon capabilities

in 2022 Mears acquired IRT, which
operates in the carbon reduction space.
There are significant opportunities in
the structurally growling fleld of carbon
reduction which are complementary

to the services already provided by
Mears. The requirement to decarbonise
an ageing housing stock, especially in
affordable housing, is accelerating

in the current environment given the
significant increases in energy costs,
and the agenda to meet the Government’s
targets of achieving net zero by 2050.

The technology from IRT was used to win
three contracts under the SHDF earlier this
year, highlighting that this is a tested formula
for successful future bids with our clients.

KEY BENEFITS

.. The DREam scftware, a proprietary
technology platform, enables Mears to
develop mteligent retrofit plans for our
clients, which means we can reduce the
energy bills of vulnerable clients much
more quickly.

— By intreducing this data-led solution, we
have strengthened our carbon reduction
offer with in-house expertise and capacity
on stock modelling and thermal imaging.

. The DREam software helps enable
our clients to access funding to ge:
works done

Read more

ABOUTIRT

Headguartered in Dundee, and formed
around 20 years ago, IRT provides a range
of data-led services focLsed on diiving
energy efficiency, decarbonisation, and
broader asset management activities.

IRT has developed DReam over several
years; the platform aims to simplify and
accelerate the retrofit journey by assessing
energy performance of housing portfolios,
optimise budgets, and provide
recommendations on the most efficient
way to complete fit outs, with a focus

on the affordable housing sector.

IRT is well known i1 the sector, with in excess
of 30 Registered Provider clients spanning
the UK, and has surveyed more than
250.000 domestic properties. IRT will
continue 1o service existing IRT clients,

In addition, IRT has an active sales pipeline
underpinring its growth forecast, which will
be enhanced further upon joining the Group.

Having the innovative IRT platform is a vital
part of our retrofit solution and will enable
us to conduct stock analysis modeliing

for carbon reduction wark, enabling
opportunities to be progressed quickly, and
to help identify and access grant funding
support gvailable. The acquisition has
provided Mears with new skills and
capabilities in this area, bringing new
expertise in-house, supporting pre-sales
activity and helping to uniock the Group's
abllity to deliver carbon retrofit work, which
is 1dentified to be a significant market,

_ IRT DREam 15 an automated
energy auditing platform.

. The platform uses algorithms to

% impartially optimise budgets and

! accelerate the retrofit Journey on
behalf of clients within the social
housing sector.

. IRT provide a range of additional
services to the seciar, primarily
focused arcund energy services,
heat loss surveys, and broader
asset management actvities
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Social impact
for our asylum
service users

Mears works to provide housing and support to asylum seekers
who enter the UK and are housed I Scotland, Northern Ireland,
the North-East, and Yorkshlre and Humber.

Coming to the UK from all parts of the
world can be a daunting time. With Mears’
commitment ¢ secial value from each
employee, we ask our teams to look at how
they can give back their ime and talent to
our service users. The Mears Fourdation
also provides grants for projects that

will provide social impact and help
communities to integrate,

In January 2022, Mears Housing
Management joined the Thrive Under 5
network in Drumchapel, Glasgow. Thrive
Under 5 (TUS} is a pilot project funded
by the Scottish Government.

Through a whole systems approach to
tackling child poverty, the programme aims
to enable a healthy weight in children under
the age of five. Through our place on the
network, we worked alongside asylum
seekers residing in Mears accommodation
and the wider community within Glasgow
to design and publish a culturally diverse
cookbook. This cookbook aims 10 be a way
for new Scots to integrate, sharing their
culture with their new neighbours through
foed. It aims to encourage the wider
community to try dishes frorm acress the
world and develop healthier cooking habits
in the kitchen through & cooking from
scratch appreoach.

Just some examples of cur community
projects can be seen here:

— Working with a mesque in Glasgow’s
West End to provide evering meals for
40 service users. The families were
delighted with the home cooked
food and the warm welcame and
hospitality they received from the
elders and congregation,
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__ Working with the City of Glasgow College
to host employability and budgeting
sessions for our service users, including
those with positive decisions.

__ Service users in hotel accommodation
have been taught basic music, composing
and recording a single which was
performed in the local community.

__ Partnering with a commumty church that
provides community lunches 52 weeks a
year; our service users recelved a meal
and the opportunity to meet different
people, and receive one-to-one support.

__ "Grow and Grain Project™ funding for
3 paid employee two days a week (o
support 50 service users 1o help on
allotments and community gardens to
improve mental heaith and to create
a local community pantry.

__ Partnering with a major Northern football
club to provide foothall sessions to
service users once a week so they
can meet new friends and neighbours.

SLNIWIIVES
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These are Just some of the activities we
crganise throughout the year to support our
service users and we couldr't do this without
our fantastic teams on the ground, who work
tirelessly to support vulierable graups,
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Case studies continued

Reducing reoffending rates
for the Ministry of Justice

To demonstrate the life-changing nature
of the contract, we will leave |t to a service
user to describe the impact of the service:

In prison, my mental health was at

its iowest, fecling that | could possibly
Be out on the stréet. Than days before
my release, my probation officer told
me about the CAS 3 project. | was

so relieved that someone was willing
to give me a roof over my head and

a chance of getting back on my feet.

t used this as a positive, a breakt from
the old life 1 had, from the people

that might have influenced me into
committing crime.

This accommodation has given me
security, a second chance at life, time
to recover, to think positively about my
future and that | can overcome things
and move on. Without CAS 3 | wouid
have possibly been homeless or worse;
I don’t want to even think about it!

FEMALE CAS 3 RESIDENT
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Mears continues to build on our
contract award from the Mal to run
the CAS 3 praject. This is ane part
of a wider £80m project to reduce
recffending, through the provision
of temporary accommaodation.

In 2022 the contract in the North-
West was extended for a further
two years and we have recently
been awarded a new contract

for the North-East.

CAS 3 accommodates and provide
services to people on probation — this
means adult offenders of all genders
who are 18 or above who have been
released as homeless from prison
following a custodial sentence.
Residenis are accommaodated for

_p o 84 days in Mears managed
craperties and will recerve support
and assistance to enable a successful
rove on to tha rpermanent horme,

In 2022, Mears has supported 1,382
people. Of those leaving the service,
47% have accessed settled
accommodation rather than
returning to homelessness

or temporary accommodation,

Mears currently delivers services
intwe of four pilot areas. We have
big on eighnt of the 10 areas “or the
national rollout of the scheme, with
an aggregate gnnual contract value
of more thar £20m. We hope te gat
the apportun’ty tc work in mare
regions to reduce the risk of
homelessness for this service

user group
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Mears wins Tower

Hamlets repair contract

At the start of this procurement process we consuited
with our residents to help us understand what they
wanted to see from the repairs and maintenance
service they receive. | am confident that the new
contract with Mears delivers what our residents

asked for and they will see an improved service
delivered in a more flexible way. We have a iong
history of working with Mears and are confident that
this new contract will help us to deliver great services,

ANN OTESANYA
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWER HAMLETS HOMES
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Mears was delighted to have won
new housing services contract with o
Tower Hamlets Homes in 2022,

This was a deserved reward for the

local team which has delivered thls service

for the last 10 years, demonstrating our
commitment to long-term partnerships.

The new contract began in July 2022

for aninitial five years with the option to
extend it for up to an additional five years.

It covers the day-to-day responsive repairs
and emergency repairs in both residents’
homes and communal areas, vold propeorties
and out of hours call handling.

The new contract responds to customer
needs by increacing the availability of
appointments and introduces extended
working hours until 8pm Monday—Friday
and between Sam and 4pm on Saturday.
Tower Hamlets Homes will monitor the
repalrs contract against a set of strict
perfarmance targets to ensure Mears
continues to deliver and improve the
service provided to residents.

AMIWILTLS TFIONTYRI
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As part of the new contract, Mears

has made a commitment to appoint 10
Level 2 apprentices and provide two
graduale placements to people wha live
in the local community. The Company

has also committed to the creation of new
community gardens as well as supporting
the angoing maintenance of these spaces.
Additionally, Mears will support the
redecoration and maintenance of some
community buildings used and managed
by tenants and residents’ assaciations,

MOILYWUEOINT HIGTOHIBTHS
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Market drivers

HOUSING MARKET
Affordable ousing cantinues o be an attractive sector for the longer term, given the UK housing shortage, cecarbonisation contracts, long
social housing waiting lists, cycles of outsourcing, policy changes encouraging more social house building, and troader resilience of demand,

POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC LANDSCAPE

.. The Government is focusing on achieving Opportupities
Net Zero with a particular focus on housing .. Retrofitting and future proofing existing housing stock
. The provisions from the Social Housing .. The Procurement White Paper will hopefully see a more transparent and fair bidding process which
White Paper will be implemented with takes nto account sogial value with more impact
an Increased focus on tenants __ Cost of living considerations will be a positive way to engage with our tenants and to show best
. There are expected changes tc the practice 1n light of the White Paper changes

procurement framework in 2023

__ We face a national skills gap for new
Net Zero works
Inflationary pressures affect our
revenue and impact our works

—. We acknowledge the cap on social rents
below inflation and the need to support
tenants through the cost of living crisis

Meaarg response
— We will cantinue to deliver a market-feading service as a pure-play specialist in housing solutions
— We are winning more work with Central Government, with contracts to provide housing provision
far thrao Govornmeont dopartmente alongside throo euccoseful bide te tho SHOF
Wla Banee Anvustopod sor claar cartan affar faroor clinpte incliiding fonding modnle Moare hae
already won contracts to aid our chents’ carbon journey and has bid for 10 more in the second wave
—- Thraugh our Customer Scruuny Board, we have gone further than we believe legislation will require
10 ensure tenants have a say in how our service runs
- We have remodelled our apprenticeship approach to bring through the next generation of skills,
whilst crentina technical nasitians for thase who hiove reticed or fleahle working 10 cnahte thermn
to continuc working without a longcr term commitment
-— We have continued to focus pay Increases on the lower paid, with care workers seeing increases
of over 10% in the vear to 1 January 2023
__ Our accredited training centre in Rotherham means we are in a position 1o upskiil our workforce to
new Net Zero working. We have already obtained the required Publicly Available Spocificatian (PAS)
accreditations to support this work

Risks

— Arelance gn plecemeal Government funding
far Net Zero, which could orevent our clients
delivering Net Zero plans whilst maintaining
stockin a strategic way
Cap on social rents below inflation
will sce some pressures on clients®
capital expenditure

RISING LEVELS OF HOMELESSNESS, ASYLUM CLAIMS AND HOUSING NEED FOR THE MOST VULNERABLE

The UK Is experlencing the highest influx Oppettunities
of refugees and economic migrants in — Innovative and rapid solutions needed, given the likely continued slow growth an new build
recent history, all of whom have a right provision. This is especially true for our asylum service
to be housed — Homelessness still growing, with Councils looking for solutions which innovate and support.
—. Government has agreed to spread the housing  _ A growth in the market for housing and support for vulnerable individuals
of migrants to all local authority areas —_ Towork with new Local Authorities to house the most vulnerable, whilst easing pressure
__ Councils lack funding to provide their on these who have always laken asylum seekers in

statutory homelessness duties

_ The Scotland Housing to 2040 plan
adopted by the Scottish Government
envisages a role for private providers
In meetlng housing targets

fAoars” roepones
Woe have awnird winnina snloations far mare hinmelessneas solifions ond afferdable naomes sien
AS ALr nartnershin with the | ondnn Raranah of Waltham Farest whirh we hone will see further
anpartnities a0 the caming venra

— We have become the leading provider of cost effective homelessness solutions

_. In 2023 we have further broadened our footprint to areas of specific need following our successful
bid to the Ministry of Justice

__ Cur Housing Associations Plexus and Gmega is one of the largest Private Registered Social
Landlards inthe UK

— We arc working well with the Home Office to continue housing supply in the face of
incraasead migration

Risks

... Associated reputational risks through working
with the most vulnerable
A rental market which is seeing high rent
levels and less avaitabrity due to Government
changes for landlords

- The cost ot lving means more people are

likely to need sogial housing

(o)

)
vl
R DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGE

— The UK’s over-85 population will grow from Oppartunities

1.6 million in 2020 to 21 millien in 2030, __ More specialist hous'ng ‘s needed to limit escalating cost to the NHS and soc’al care
and 3.7 milllen by 2050 .. A grawth in the market and concept of retrement 'iving

— Along-term funding settlement for social _ The next generation of over BSs will have many aff'uent and igh ncome members wno womn't qua:ify
care has not been forthcomlng for state funded care and wil also want 1o pay a oremidm for the best possible residential care

— Ofthe UK's care homes, an estimated 70%
are now aged 20 years or older. Conversion
homes and even 1990s purpose-built homes
are becoming increasingly outdated

Mcars® response
We continde 1o provide excellent service our 21 $necialist housing solutions such as extra rare anc
supported [ving We will look to sustainably exoand this wok 10 2023

Risks
socia care tunding has again been pushed
back to deal with t1e cost of hving crisis
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PACE OF TECHNOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT

— There are rising Government and customer Opportunities

expectations that services will be easier ... To usetechnology to improve customer communication, service, and lower cost

to navigate through technology — The growing reguirement for using technology 1o enhance housing services plays to one
__ Technology is playing an increasing role of our key strengths

in all aspects of service management

Mears’ response

— Qur acguisition of IRT places us at the forefront of carbon reduction and allows us to provide all
clients with a full understanding of what warks are needed to their housing stock, as well as what
grant funding can be accessed

— We have market-leading technology to reduce long-term costs and enable us to integrate
our services, We will start to implement more solutions that reduce repairs risk, e.g. mould
and damp detection.

—— Woe are making use of self-service technology in support of changing expectations such as MCM Live
and chatbots

— There is a greater use of customer insight and development of bespoke consultation tooks with our
Voice of Customer programmae

.. We introduced a customer app to further enhance our services

3
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Risks

— The cunlinued need luinvesl
in technological innovation

. Growing importance of cyber security,
espedially givan the sansilivity oT much
of our work

__ Energy bills are riging acrass the haard Cppariuritics

— Poorly insulated homes will pay more energy  __ To engage with our workforce to ensure we are helping where we can

— Government funding relies on match-funding . Our leadership in decarbonisation of social housing and new in-house capabilities mean we can help
from Local Authorities and is emerging our clients secure available carbon funding
in waves

__ Inflationary pressures will mean more Mears' response
uncertainty going into 2023 _ we havelproduced aur own Net Zero plan, which will be published in early 2023

_. Qur employees ate tacing a cost

__ We have an excellent workforce engagement approach that gives us the best possible chance of
of living crisis

recruiting new peopte as well as retaining our staff. While there are inflationary pressures, our major
contracts have built-in uplift mechanisms that limit these impacts significantly

__ We have already mitigated the single biggest energy risk to our managed properties within the
agyium garvico

Risks

— Luas ol sl

__ Anincreased urgency to decarbonise our
own managed housing stock to reduce
sreiyy bills

RISING CUSTOMER EXPECTATIONS

— Thare are rising resident expactations Oppartunities

_ The Government's focus on ‘leveliing up’ - Customer's guality, communication, and speed expectations continue 1o increase, which provides
and a commitment to the renewal of opportunities tor organisations, such as Mears, that can quickly adapt to this
democracy so people’s volees can be heard __ Those organisations that are effective in working with tenants to co-design solutions a-e likely

— A ncw Muture Homes Standard will be Lu L suctessful
considered in the coming years ... Increasing health and safety demands, post Granfell, wili positively impact on quatity requirements

ntenders
Hisks _.. Growing need to suppert local communities through secial and economic investment

Risk of delays given political change

Mears' responss

.— We now have a sote focus on heusing, having divested unprofitable, non-housing related businesses

. We are benchmarking well against the best across all relevant industries

— We continue Lo facus our Custamer Experience on going above and heyond new regulatary standards

_.. We continue to demanstrate our approach to outsourcing proactively

- We are working to continucusly improve tenant engagement, highlighted by our accreditation from
Tpas and winning the Inside Housing Award for Outstanding Tenant Engagement - Contractor. in 2021

.~ We are continuing to support better communities in which service users live, with a focus on
developing skills tor the next generation and bringing people back into the workplace

__ Qur commitment to social value and tenant enqaqgement througn Your Voice and cur Customer
scrutiny Board

. Qur social value work remains at the heart of our business and is bolstered by the work of the

Mears Foundatian
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Our value creation model

OUR PURPOSE
Working together to help people and communities thrive. This is the guiding principle that defines our brand
and drives our activities. It is what makes Mears distinctive and is the starting paint for all of our activities.

OUR VISION
Te be the leading provider of housing services and solutions to the affordable housing market in the UK.

Key resources and relationships What we do and how

QUTSTANDING PARTNERSHIPS
Firmly rooted in Lacal Government and Housing Associations. we are ‘/\:: al AllThr_;;\
also an important partner for Central Government, Qur end service - S
users are the reciptents of housing services and extra care living.

A RESPONSIBLE APPROACH

Creating social value is a key part of our business strategy. as this enables
us 1o be seen as a trusted partner by our clients, and is an essential part of
building stronger refationships. Our new ESG strategy sets out how we will
continue on our socially responsible journey,

: Find out more
see pages 3010 43 (ESG section of the Strategic report)

EXCEPTIONAL PEQGPLE

Proud to be number 19 in the UK's Best Large Companies to Work For.,

We rccognise our staff as our greatest assct. Mears employces are skilled
in delivering an excellent service whilst showing a strong customer
service ethos and an empathy for our service users.

MARKET-LEADING TECHNOLOGY REVENUE GENERATION
Our performance is built on a bedrock of first-class IT platforms, giving Mears’ revenue is generated from payments from

market-leading capability and driving inmovation and resicent engagement. Government and Lacal Authority and Housing
Assowtatlo clents i respee b nf 1S Boosing serviees

Whilst the end service users are at the contre of our
SUPFLY CHAIN PARTNERS Lusiness model, they do not pay for the service
We choose suppliers who share our values and meet our standards. directly. These payments are made under long-term
We work ctosely with suppliers to develop innovative services and contracts {average seven years).
integrate them into our care systems.

STARIF MARGINS AND GOON CASH CONVFRSION
FINANCIAL STRATEGY Woe have a long-standing record of stable profit
We are funded from a combination of shareholder funds and retained margins on contracts {once mobilised) and converting
profits. Cur underlying business has good forward visibility, stable profit into cash, utilising strong financial management
margins, strong cash conversion, and imited capital requirements. combined with good relationships with clients and
Accordingly, free cash flow can predominantly be used to invest further the supply chain.
in the business, to mainiain low levels of cash and to provide returns
to capital providers.

INNOQVATION

The challenge of defivering service improvements at lower cost requires
innovative thinking and the use of technology. We create and lead best
practice in our markets.
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Selflessness

We value ocur customers
and communities, putting
their needs at the heart of
everything we do.

Teamwork

We value teamwork,
supporting each other,
sharing ideas and never
excluding others.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

T,
O

Responsibility Innovation

We value personal responsibility, We value innovation, being
setling consistently high
standards for pur work and empowering people to take

inventive in our approach and

holding ourselves accountable reasonable action without fear

far achieving them. or discrimination.

The value we share

SHAREHOLDERS

The Group follows a progressive dividend policy.,
The Board is recommending a full year dividend
of 10.50p per share. an increase of over 30%

on 2021, The Board reviews the Group's financial
position and capital requiremertis on a regular
Basis and will return surplus capital to
shareholders as appropriate.

GOVERNMENT ‘ S
In 2022 we paid an aggregate sum in direct and
indirect taxes of £177m. In addition, through the
services we pravide to the public sector, we are
delivering significant cost savings and better
value to Central Government. Lacal Authorities
and the NHS.

CUSTOMERS

We maintain homes throughout ibe UK,
undertaking around 5,000 repairs per day.
Mears has extended its activities to provide
solutions to resolve the challenges of
homelessness, asyium housing, and MoD
and MoJ accommaodation,

COMMUNITIES

Al the heart of Mears lies a strong sense of
responsibility towards improving people’s lives.
We create opporiunities and enable peopie

to davelop new skills within some of the most
disadvantaged and marginalised communities
in the UK, Every branch of Mears makes a social

value pledge, which focuses on specific activities

1o improve its local community in at feast one of
our secial value priorities.

EMPLOYEES
Mears is committed to training. We have an

extensive apprenticeship programme and provitde

a number of alternative training solutions for
upskilling employees and for the professicnal
development of Mears managers. We are proud
to be rated as one of the Best Large Companies
to Work For.
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Our strategy

Delivery today, not tomorrow

Our vision is to be the leading provider to the resilient and growing affordable
housing market in the UK — a provider that operates with a strong sense of social
conscious, tackling issues that matter to people and communities.

Against this vision, we have four strategic prionties:

s
W

9

What we achieved
——. Secured new contracts with existing

TO BE RECOGNISED AS THE MOST TRUSTED LARGE PRIVATE
PROVIDER WORKING WITH THE PUBLIC SECTOR

2023 priorities
. Launch cur new Net Zero plan with clear

How we measure success
Extending services with existing clients.

Government departments, including
the MoD anc the Mo, .

. Consulted across England and launched
a charter as to how we will operate

roadmaps towards goal achievement.
Continue to operate to the highest
ethical standards.

Focus on large integrated contacts.

Retaining contracts at sustainable pricing.
Winning work with new clients who share
our values.

Being seen as a trusted, responsible and

ethically, following on from our
Scottish Charter,

_ Launched our first ever ESG Strategic
Approach alongside a new independent
ESG Board to monitor our progress.
Over £88m of delivered social and local
economic value in 2022,

The Mears Foundation more than
doubled grant funding to community
projects versus 2021,

We are bidding for 8 contract with
North Lanarkshire Council to become

a sirategic partner on a brcad programme
;

of work, centred around housing.

Given the strength of overall proposition,
we see opportunity to improve our
previous one in three bid win rate.

_. More opportunity to cross-sell our
broader housing services, such as carbon
reduction, through more effective client
development planning, growing the
number of services per client.

ethical provider to Central Government.
i ... Meeung our obligations to decarbonise
our operations.

{ Link 1o KPIs

00860D

Risks

T WAy

©@

What we achieved

— Recognised for the quality of cur service
and customer engagement, through
several national awards.

— Ourindependent Customer Scrutiny
Board has published its second report
an our performance

.- 88% of our customers regard our
service as satisfactory or nigher.

Risks

inflationary pressures will mean price will continue to drive decisions on some contracts.

TO HAVE THE HIGHEST LEVELS OF CUSTOMER SERVICE IN
THE AFFORDABLE HOUSING SECTOR WHERE WE OPERATE

2023 priorities

.- Manage the challenges associated
with high demancs, especizlly fram
e AASC

— Rising customer expectation requiring ever more individual responses,
Shortages in some areas of the labour market, although this position

is exnocted to improve in 2023,

22
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How we measure success
Service user and client feedback.

i Link to KPIs
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KPI
o CUSTOMER SATISFACTION e REVENUE GROWTH [CONTINUING ACTIVITIES) "
3
xa
o CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS o ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN {CONTINUING ACTIVITIES) 3
m
e EMPLOYEE TURNOVER o AVERAGE DAILY NET DEBT [EXCLUDING LEASE OBLIGATIONS) i
3]
o NEW CONTRACT SUCCESS o GROWTH IN NORMALISED DILUTED EPS a
-
o
é ORDER BOOK w ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE ::
@ TO EMBRACE INNOVATION THAT DRIVES POSITIVE
CHANGE SUCH AS DIGITAL AND CARBON REDUCTION g
B
— A
i i3
What we achieved 2023 priorities | How we measure success ]
. Acguisition of IRT — a data management —.. Establish Mears as leaders in i Levels of new work won ﬁ
company which enables us ta produce carbon reduclion in social housing. ‘;
carbon reduction plans for our clients __ Continue to improve the ways our Link to KPIs o
at scale. customers can interact with us. g
.. Won three contracts from the SHDF — Secure as much carbon work as o e o o o ;Z
and have bid for a further 10 in the we can, helping clients access =
second wave of this fund. grant funding available. f}
_. The continued improvements tc core I
systems, which enable our customers
to interact in real time with us and to
report and track their work requests.

Risks Link to UN SDGs

il
_. There remains seme uncertainty as to how fast Central Government funding will p— z
flow through to enable housing landlords to meet their carbon reduction targets, o z
—N\/\O o
>
-
L
-y
»
o
b
TO MAINTAIN AND GROW A RESILIENT BUSINESS WITH LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIPS, A STRONG =
BALANCE SHEET AND CASH POSITION, ALONG WITH A COMMITTED, ENGAGED WORKFORCE %
0
What we achieved 2023 priorities How we measure success
Achieved a positive cash position i __ Continue to tmprove margins but — Statf retention level.
and increased margin in line with ensuring we deliver great value far money | _. Benchmarking versus other organisations.
strategic expectations. for clients. b— Margin Improvements.
. Secured long-term contracts with __ Maintain our UK's Best Companies position. ;| — A happier, healthier and more engaged
bot existing and new clients. __ Continue to increase the diversity of our workforce based on Best Companies
_ Improved all employees’ terms and warkforce at all levels. survey results and mental heaith and
conditions including family friendly . Maintain focus on employee engagement - wellbeing working group policies.
policies and a cost of living payment. and helping tackle the challenges of
_.. Improved cur position as one of the wellbeing and mental health. Link to KPIs

UK's Best Large Companies to Work For

... Provided a wide range of tools to assist - o o a o

with mental health and wellbeing.

NOILYWRHEOAN] HAUNOHIEYHS

Risks Link to UN SDGs
Inflationary pressures in some areas.

_ Cap on social rents below inflation. This should be limited 1o 2023 as we see inflation fall.

_ The importance of diversity and inclusion alongside a difficult national recruitment
shortage means we will have to work hard to achieve our diversity aims.
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Key performance indicators

Non-financial
€) cUSTOMER SATISFACTION RESULTS FROM THE YEAR
{n order for customers to recemmend us, we must deliver excellent [o)
88%

service, The Group completed circa 1.7 million repairs in 2022 and
quently postin around i arks ardars and
encourage tenants to provide feedback so we can deliver further
service improvements, 2022

2021

2020

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

1 - 8 per 1000

2022

&) CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS

Incidents resulting from poor esultin a complaint per

thousand job ommitted to deaking with ail complaints
on anindiv

20

2020 §

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

’ %
gnised the chealienge at this time of retaining 24 (o]

skilled labour and have endeavoured to balance the pressures being

felt by the Group’s employees with what is affordable to the business.

Retaining a workforce thatis m ated and feels valuved is critical. 2022
We recognise the impartance in attracting and retaining skilied staff,

and at a time when competition for skitted labour is high it has never 2021
peen maore important. The staff churn figure is calculated as the total

number of legvers dusing the yoar as a proportion ot the 2020 [
average headcount.

Business development

o.NEw CONTRACT SUCCESS RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

¢ Cohtract success 1§ measured by the total revenues secured as a 340/

: proportion of the total value of tenders supmitted. The average (o]

- dontract length is around six years. It order to achieve our organic
growth forecasts, it is important that we secure around one in three,

"y vatue, Whitst the Groug met its new-bitt conversion target, the

© totad value of contracts tenideredin 2022 was jower than anticipated,
The Directors expect bid activity to be higher in 2023, underpinned

by the new North Lanarkshire tender which is valued at £1.4bn over
12 years. However, given the outcome of this single large tender is
Binary, the target for 2023 excludes this bid,

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

© orper BOOK
Qur order book provides us good visibility of those revenues secured £ 2 9 b n
-

for future periods. It is helpful that we have long-term contracts that
allow us to plan with confidence, in the knowledge that we have
significant revenues already contracted. It is also positive for all

our stakehalders, providing stabitity to our supply chain, funders

As detailed above, the Group is at an advanced stage of re-bidding 20 wbri

the North Lanarkshire tender which is valued at £1.5bn over 12 years. )
The arcer book target for 2823 assumes that the Group is successful 2020 £2.6bn

in securing this new contract opportunity. ‘

© and, most importanby, for recruiting and maotivating our worktotce. - “

2022 TARGET
o)
86%
@ Outperfarmance

2023 TARGET

88%

2022 TARGET
21%
@ Underperformance

2023 TARGRT

1.5

2022 TARGET
o)
22%
@ linderperformance

2023 TARGET

23%

2022 TARGET

33%
/\L\‘ Qutperformance

2023 TARGLT

33%

2022 TARGET

£2.1bn

s
{1} Matperfarmance
[

2023 TARGET

£4.0bn
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Financial performance

@ REVENUE GROWTH (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES} RESULTS FROM THE YEAR 2022 TARGET
Our KPl target relates to total revenue although it is important to also : [a] - o,
+9% 5%

identify the split between organic growth and growth that has been
delivered through acawisitions, We Relieve that eraanic arowth gives @ Qutperformance
a better indication of busin performance, being an aggregation )
of success in new contract bidding and contract retantien, The Board 2022
ariginally anticipated a reduction in revenues in 2022 which dig

fiot occur. 35 activity within the Group's AASC remained at 2021
slevated lovels.

LHCddH DID3LYHLS

2023 TARGET

-5%

8%)

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN RESULTS FROM THE YEAR 2022 TARGET

(CONTINUING ACTIVITIES) + 3 . 8 % +3 . 8 %

Cperating margin is the KPl used to measure and understand
the profitability of our activities. The operating proth measure @ Ontrack
e exceplional costs and the amortisation of acquisition ) :

mtamjlbles The measure is stated an a pre-IFRS 16 basis, being 2022 2022 TARGET

the me thatis utilised within the business and understood by

our investors and bankers. The Dtrpctolﬁ e pleased to defiver 2021 +3 9%
Ll

asglidi \n%prav nentin o € in 2022, anincrease
2020 §0.1%
5

FONTMNEIANDD JLYHOSEOD

AVERAGE DAILY NET DEBT RESULTS FROM THE YEAR 2022 TARGET

{EXCLUDING LEASE OBLIGATIONS) H
Good working capital management remains a cornerstone of the £43 m n et Ca s h £ n I I

business. Mears has always fostered a strong 'cash culture', whereby @ Qutperfarmance
the Group's front Ene operations understand that invoicing and cash i

o ; ) ‘ 2022 pLER]

coliechion g‘él’i’:' mmns»mally linkad, and that a works order is not‘ 2023 TARGET
complete until cash is coliected in fult. This culture has underpinned

strong cash performance over many years. The Group has delivered 2021 £0m £50 m

strong cash generatien with EBITDA 0 operating cash conversion of

more than 100%. Whilst it is pleasing to report o strong cash position 2020
within the period end balance sheet, of much greater significance is

the daiiy cash performance over the 265.day period. The Board is

delighted to repost such strong parformance.

net cash

e GROWTH IN NORMALISED DILUTED EPS RESULTS FROM THE YEAR 2022 TARGET
Normalised watiings are stated before exceptional costs snd exclude 24 5 1 9 5 p

the amortisation of acquisition intangitles together with an - p .

adjustment 1@ reflect a full tax ¢charge. The Group has delivered @ Qutperformance
strong earnings growth, underpinned by an increase in both N

SANAWALVLS TYIDNY NI

revenues and aperating margins. Whilst the Board expects this 2022 2023 TARGET
strong performance to increase into 2023, the increase in the w
corporation tax rate. combined with an increase in the number of 2021 23 2 p T
shares following the maturity of the Save As You Earn (SAYE) scheme. hd i
means that EPS will result in soma dowhward pressure in 2023, 2020 m
X
3
- - -
[
™
=
Health and safety -
o
10 ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE RESULTS FROM THE YEAR 2022 TARGET §
%

|

The heaith, safety and wellbeing of cur employees Is our 0 2 5 0 Z Z
. " L ]
-

primary consideration in the way we do business, Health, safety K
and environmental risks are fully embedded in the governance L . Underperformance
structures of the Group. Providing our employees with a safe :

Bl

working environment remains paramount, Qur accident frequency 2022 2023 TARGET
rate is calculated as the number of reportable incidents

{by both employees, service users and third parties) divided 2021 0 24
by the number of hours worked, multiplied by 100,000. Whilst the .

result for 2022 showed an increase in accident frequency, we 2020 0.15

consider this performance 1o still be strong,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 2 5



STRATEGIC REPORT

Stakeholder engagement

Listening to our stakeholders

Strategic Report Stakeholder engagement is central to our strategy. We are focused on dellvering positive outcomes for all our stakeholders.

Stakeholder
Clients

How we engage

H

Regular contract
specific meetings
Hringing clients
together to solve
sector wide issues
Voice of Customer
programme to get
regutar perception
audil of our service

Business model

Cuslomer service
leadership

Long-term partnerships
that deliver value

for money

ESG commitment

Key issues

- Improving national

housing stack
ESG agenda

.. NetZero
__ Growth of sector

requlation

—. Government-led

housing solutions
such as homelessness,
parole, asytum

Outcomes

Seen as the leading
specialist housing
provider to Central and
Local Government
Partner of choice for
longer-term large
integrated contracts
Thought leaders

on legislative
development

Good governance and
financial sustainability

Residents and
customers

Voice of Client
feedback programme

- Customer

Scrutiny Board

- Lucdl gveins

High levels of customer
focus and engagement
Co-production of
service improvement
YIUJiditings

Addod focus on gasial
value to benefit local
communities

__ Rising expectations

of customer service

_. Increased powers

of Ombudsman
dnd Reyulalu
Widotprood
understanding of
poor housing stock
and its effects

High levels of customer
satisfaction
Good contract retention

. Ernployee Forum

Employee Director

See page 66 {roles

and responsibililies,
employee director's
listed)

- Appolnting a Deputy

Employee Director
focusing on supporting
dizabled and
neurcdivergent staft
Wwe nave appointed

a trade represcntative
to specifically focus
on issues raised by
front line staff

. Best Companies

feedback survey
Cxtensive internal
communication
programme
Workforce
development and
succession planning

Focus on making Mears
a great place to work
Extensive investment in
people, e.g accredited
training provider and
national apprenticeship
programme

Local recruitment

to support lacal
communitics

.. Cost of living

— Colleague engagement

now seen as key across
all sectors

— Developing new skills

e.g to address carbon
reduction reguirements

. High levels of

worktorce satistaction
Ability to successfully
resource work
Increasing diversity

Communities

Independent ESG Beard
Local social value plans
for each community
where we waork
Partnership working
with clients and other
stakcholders

Social value embedded
into every contract
Social value embedded
into workforce appraisal
mechanisms at all
levels from Hoard
downwards
Independent scrutiny

ol hatlottstoe

.. Cost of living crisis

-~ ‘Levelling up’ agenda

Securing and
retaining contracts

—- Improving workforce

satisfaction

26
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Section 172 statement

Our duty

Statement by the directors in performance
of their statutory duties in accordance with
Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006.

The Board of Directors of Mears Group PLC
consider, both individuaily and together, that
they have acled in the way they consider,

in good faith, would be maost Ikely to
promote the success of the Company for
the benefit of its members as a whole

in the decisions aken during the year
ended 31 December 2022,

The Board recoghises 4 wide ranyge of
stakeholder interests and seeks to create

a culture whereby decisions are made with
constderation to the wider impact upon the
organisation as well as financial performance
and strategic objectives. The Company’s
Directors recognise their legal duties under
Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006,

to actin the way that 's most likely to promote
the success of the Company for the benefit
of its members as a whole whilst also having
regard for the interesls ot employees, the
success of their relationships with suppliers
and customers, and the impact of our
cperations on the community and the
envircnment, whilst maintaining a reputation
for high standards of business conduct.

Non-Executive Directors and
senior managerment recelve training

an Directors’ duties to ensure
awareness of the Board's responsibilities

Stakeholder engagement
activities recorded, and detail
included in Board papers

\

Customer Scrutiny Board,
independently chaired and working
alongside PLC Board

The Group’s cuiture ensures that
there is proper consideration of the
potential impacts of decisions

v

t

Significant focus given
to workforce engagement
and customer service
during Board discussion

Board information

-

Board strategic decision

Social Value report reviewed
and approved by Board

Mears Foundation, a charitable
trust with an independent
chair, provides regular
updates to the PL.C Board

f

5.172 factors considered in the
Board’s discussions on strategy
and in setting the five-year plan

éoérd Qeéision

v

Engagement and dialoque
with stakeholders

Mears Group PLC Annual Repert and Accounts 2022

¥

Follow-up actions
with Board oversight
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Section 172 statement continued

Section 172 index

Section 172 factor

The likely consequences of any
decision in the long term

The interests of the Group’s employees

The success of our relationships
with suppliers and customers

The impact of our operations on the
community and the environment

Acting for the benefit of our members

28

Annual Report disclosures

— Company purpose and vision page 2

— Qurvalue creation model page 20

— Perfarmance revicw page 24 and 25
Perfarmance review page 24 and 25
Listening to our stakeholdeors page 26
Diversity and inclusion page 34
Social mobility page 33

Responsible payment practices page 36
Modern slavery page 35

Justalnablilily pages 410 43

Non-financial information statement page 6t

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
pages 38 to 41

ESG pages 3010 37

Anti-bribery and corruption page 61

Whistiebiowing page &1

Modern slavery page 61

Risk management pages 44 t¢ 51

Internal controls page 78 to 79

Listening to our stakeholders page 26
Shareholder engagement page G2
Annual General Meeting page 70
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Examples of decisions taken by the Board and how stakeholder views and inputs, as well as
other 5.172 considerations, have been considered in its decision making are set out below:

Section 172 in action

PROMOTING THE SUCCESS

I TME DOPAPAMY Stakeholder

- ion ro
The Board recognises a wide range of Key decision Board considerations group
stakeholder interests and seeks (o create Acquisition of IRT Surveys . Acquiring IR | is an important part of c2
a culture wharcby decisions are made wilh The Group completed the Group's retrofit sofution and will
consideration to the wider impact upon the the acquisition of iRT anable Mears to conduct steck analysis
organisation as well as financial porformance Surveys Limited (IRT). modclling for carbon reduction work
and strategi joctives, The Company’s - ] o .
Jhd trategic ODJ?CWO ) .p ¥ . _ The acquisition will provide Mears with E
Dircetors recognise their legal dutics under The Board considered ) L A
S I ) o new skifls and capabilities in this area,
Seclivn 1721 ol the Companies AL 2006 Lo huw Uie acyuisitiun was L o

; ; ; . e bringing new expertise in-house
actin the way thaot 15 most likely 10 promote aligned to delivering the - - :
the success of the Company for the benefit Group's strategic plan, __IRT is well known and respected in c2

of its members as a whole whilst also having
reqard for the interests of emplovees, the
success of their relationships with supnliers
and customers, the impact of our operations
on the community and the environment,
wlilsLmainlaining g reputalion fur higl,

how it would breaden the
services that the Group
provides to its clients and
contribute to long-term
shareholder value.

the sector, with over 30 Registered
Providers. IRT will continue to service
existing clients and has an active sales
pipeline, which has been enhanced
further upon joining the Group

1

ly0d3d 21931vyls

IONUYNHIACGE SiVHOLHG D

T T Al s Dosee o 1 s sis Tl __ This dealis completely aligned with
' ’ our strategic plan, utihsing iInnovation
: _Of the rﬁatters Set aut and technology to drive positive change
Stalweholder engagement is central to in Soction 172 of the in the sphere of carbon reduction
oul shialeyy. Oul key slakeholder yiroups Ak reluled risks arrd __ This augments the Group’s climate
die deldilet) vl paye 89, The Bodtd sppu Lunites dand change response with our ambition
s mmcllfui that it i'S. not always possible the impact on wider to be carban neutrsl by 2030
Lu provide d pusilive suleume Ton all slakehulders, Lhe Board
stakeholders and the Board sometimes approved the acquisiion — The Beard considered how the I
has to make decisions based on competing of IRT. The acquisitions acquisition wouid be received by
priorities of stakeholders. is performing in line shareholders and would impact on
with expectations. the long-term financial performance
Climate change _ Qur customers have told us that they c2 =
Stak:‘hnldnr groups Climate change is at expect Us to protect and improve the ?
:U”"“L”"ly the centre ot many environment and that our response to P
Lustamers Board considerations climate change is important to them. o
l?obl funders and its decision making Public sectar procurement requires @
;ﬁff"ﬁiq’” throughout the year. bidders to have clear zero carbon plans @
- [T e T
lavestors sustainabllity reloted __ The Board considers updates in respect c1

Service users

discussions take plece at
all Board meetings and
the sustainability matters
are discussed at every
Board mecting.

The Board scrutinised

of environmental performance and the
Company's activity to achieve its Net
Zera Transition Plan commitments at
every Board meeting. The Board also
considered a dedicated Net Zero
Transition Plan update during the year

the Company’s plans __ Qur people are passionate about making E

ta deliver its Net Zero
cammitments within
the requircd time frame.

After due consideration
of the matters set out
in Section 172 of the
Act, related risks and
opportunities and

thc impact on wider
stakeholders, tho
Board supported the
carbon plan which
will now hecome a
dynamic document.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

a positive impact on the communities and
the environment where we live and work,
including delivery of our Met Zere
Transition Plan commitments. This is
supported by the new Remuneration
Policy that ensures sustainability-based
performance measures are built into

the Group's remuneration palicies

_ Investors demand that our external 1

commitments stand up to scrutiny
when benchmarked against our
peers and that our approach to
achieving Net Zero is credible
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ESG

Change for good

Achieving Net Zero is a key commitment
within our ESG Strategic Approach which
prioritises where we can have the greatest
impact and supports a culture that fully
integrates sustainabifity and purpose beyond
profit. Our ambition is tc become the mosi
socially responsible business working in the
public sector by 2025. We will achieve this
threugh three key ESG strands:

Healthy Planet — achieving Net Zero across
Scope 1and 2 emissions by 2030, and Scope
3 emissions by 2045, raising environmental
standards and being a lead partner to
support the decarbenisation of our nation’s
social housing stock

Improving tives — helping vuinerable people
in the communities we serve, engaging our
supply chain and treating everyane fairly

and equally

Good Governance — creating value through
greal partnerships, sustainable procurement
and innovation

By everyone working together
and delivering our ESG
ambitions, we will maintain
strong business credentials and
demonstrate our commitment
to always doing the right thing.

30

Priorities for thc ycar ahcad

CUR MATERIALITY REVIEW

Through an online survey, we consulted our internal stakeholders to identify the matters
that are important to them and asked them to rank a number of specific ESG and
sustainabelity topics on a relative basis, We also assessed these topics on the
incremental impact that they can have on our business.

We acknewledge that:

~ while all items shown are important, some have greater urgency, in terms

of focus, to our business than others

we will use the results to nelp inform our approach and development plans

_. the key materiality topics used were sourced from relevant ESG frameworks
and sector insights

_ as anticipated, we know that as our journey continues pricrities will change.
2022 ras seen a focus on cost af living for our own colieagues and customers

Fairness &
inciusion

Data secv;_zrity

& privacy Health & safety

H'gh interest

Risks, ethics
. & corporate
governance

Raising social
value

Altracting &

Human rights retalntag taient

Health & wellbeing

Buslaitable
procurement

Stakehelder interest (importance)

Partnerships

investment
& funding

nlerest

Low priority Business impact: Priority to Mears Group PLC High priority

KEY
Environment
Social
Governance
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Healthy Planet

Improving Lives

Good Governance

IN 2022

Developed

sur detalled plan to reduce our business
carbon which will enable us 10 reach Net
Zero across Scope 1and 2 emissions by
2030, and Scope 3 emissions by 2045,

Lead partner

We have bhecome a lead partner to
support the decarbonisation of our
nation’s social housing stock and are
expecting further opportunities in
Wave 2 of the SHNDF

Acquired

IRT, which enables Mears tc develop
intelligent retrofit plans for our clients
swiftly, which means we can reduce
the energy bills of viinerable clients
much more guickly.

IN 2021

.. 96.63% waste diversion from landfill

— Zero pollution incidents

... Zero environmental
legisiation breaches

__ Three Social Housing
Decarbonisation projects secured
with our client

IN 2022

19.63%

The mean gender pay gap has
decreased from 21.09% in 2021
10 19.63% in 2022,

57%

of departments now have access
to a Mental Health First Aider.

Enhanced

We have reviewed and enhanced
support services availabte through
our Employee Assistance Programme,

Improved

We were pleased lg entance our
benefits package to include improved
maternity and paternity pay, increased
salaries for our care workers and
apprentices and increased pay

And holiday provisian.

iN 2021

__ 92% of colleagues shared Equality,
Diversity, and Inclusion (EDI) data

— 100% of managers trained in EDI

— Gender pay gap of 22%

__ Employee turnover of 21.5%

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

IN 2022

Certified

We have maintalned an information
security management system (ISMS)
that is certified to {50 27001,

Evolved

Qur governance structure has evolved
to include ESG scrutiny through our
expert-led Customer Scrutiny Board
and internal governance structures,

Actioned

Cur information and Security Board has
ensured that all Information Security
incidents were investigated, and areas
of improvement identified and actioned.

IN 2021

__ Strong balance sheet, with good
cash conversion and low debt

— Long-term, low risk contract
portfolio for essential services

— Zero human rights breaches

. Over 1,000 residents are part of
our online engagement network

— Award winning Customer
Scrutiny Board

— Newly reformed ESG Advisory Board
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STRATEGIC REPORT

ESG strands

Our aim is 1o become a carbon neutral organisation, whilst helping \
clients create safe and sustainable places that will have long-lasting

benefits for their communities.

Topic Our goals

Qur plan

Achieve Net Zera carbon emissions
on Scope1and 2 by 2030 acioss
our operations

Achieve Net Zero carbon emissions
on Scope 3 by 2045 acress our
supply chain

We have created a Net Zero Transition Plan using
science-nased targets

Continue disclosing our emissions, and publicly report
on progress against our targets

Transition to electric vehicle fleet by 2030

- Continue to work with and support supply chain to achieve

Net Zero carben

. Create an internal plan for reducing carbon across our offices

and buildings, creating awareness and understanding with
all calleagues

By 2025 we will aim t¢ be a sector-leading
provider of carhon reducticn solutions
n the socia! housing sector

Achieve and maintain all relevant accreditations to demonstrate
competency and compliance

Help our clients deliver and measure their carbon emissions

ard retrofit salutions

Embed a resident-first approach to the decarbonisation of homes
(Data > Define > Design > Deliver > Declare)

Use asset data to help access the limited financial resources
currently available AND leverage funding as it becomes available
Transition our werkforgce as a whale to ensure understanding

and capabiity

Achieve waste diversion from landfill

of minimum 98% on all waste by 2025
— Achieve a Zero Waslte Index score

of 1.2°C by 2030, from 2021 baseline

of 2.53"C

Increase colleague awareness and introduce measures to redice
waste across all sites.

Reduce carbon through the protection of natural resources by
reviewing our waste processes

. Avold waste by improving the reuse of ‘waste materials’

Partner with charities to reuse and recycle furniture and white
goods, inCreasing the percentage recycled yearly

Monitor and adopt new technologies as they become available
Work in partnership with our National Waste partner to embed
improvements o achieve Zerg Waste Index score

. Cunlinuglly evolve our approach to
maintain zero pollutian incidents and
zero environmenital legislation breaches

Maintain 150 14001 (Environmental Managemant

System) certificat:on

Work with ciients and communities to clear potlutants from the
environments we work in, e.g., litter, plastics, etc

Continue activity to raise environmental awareness within

aur workfarze

. Maintain robust policies and procedures to ensure environmenial

compliance and adherence with legislation
Monitor and adopt new technologies as they become available

Work with clients and local communities to improve green and
open spaces

If necessary, Invest in carbon offsetting to balance residual
emissicns by 2030

32
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Improving Lives

Link to SDGs:

v 8

e

i

From a solid baseline, our aim is to create an environment that is ‘fair for

10325

-
4
-

all’, which enables customers, colleagues and communities to thrive by
improved; social impact, health, safety and wellbeing, employee value

proposition, and fairness and inclusion.

Topic

Our goals

Our plan

Raising
social value

Continually evolve our approach to ensure
that by 2025:

we will be regarded as a social value
leader across the public sector,
continually evolving our approach

all contracts will be delivering a yearly
social value plan, with year on year
growth in colleague participation,
impact and £ value

Mears Foundation will have grown
grant giving to over £200k per annum

Develop sccial return on investment (SROI) reporting to focus more
on gualitative outcomes and personal impact

Build oan engagement with supply chain

Year on year increase in use of volunteering hours

Lobbying Government for a mare transparent and consistent
measure of soctal value

Improving -
health &
Safety

Continually evolve our approach

to maintain our high standards for
creating a safe working environment
for everyone

Accident frequency -ate of below 0.25

. Win the RoSPA Industry Secter Award

by 2030, which recognises best heallh
and safety performance in sector

. Mantain all 1ISQ accreditations

Retain RoSPA Gold Award

. Maintain a team of professionally qualified Safety, Health,

and Environment (SHE) managers to suppeort the business,
Maintain robust policies and procedures 2 ensure health
and safety compliance

Conduct regular audits and inspections across the business
to monitor compliance

Attracting
& retaining
talent

Continually evolve a cohesive stratlegy
far attracting and retaining the best talent,
enabling cur colleagues to thrive.

By 2025 we will aim to achieve:

Employer of Choice recagnition

. Al colleagues, grade 6 and above,

have a clear successor identified
Year on year reduction {excluding
exceptions) in the number of
vacancies being advertised
Employee turnover of 18%

0% of all apprentices secure work
at Mears or another organisation,

on ccemoletion of their aperenticeship

_ Develop a competitive Employee Value Proposition, including

standard and flexible benefits

Delver an enhanced approach to talent management

Promote internally and externally the Mears Brand and Employee
Value Propositon

Year on year improvement, in percentage terms, In the correlation
between the workforce and local communities served

. Strengthen the Vioice of the Colleague forum, chaired by Employee

Director, to enable even bigger employee voice
Maintain approach to ensuring all employees are paid the real
Living Wage or above

. Maintain governance ‘o ensure no inappropriate zero

hours contracts

Promote Mears’ flexible working offer linked to wellbeing to support
attraction and retention

All employess, grade & and above, have a clear

successor identificd

. Excluding exceptions, year on year reduction in the number

of vacancies being advertised (vacancy levels)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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ESG strands continued

Improving Lives

Topic Our goals Qur plan \

Continually evolve a Board-driven — Maximising current recruitment processes to ensure they

strategy tnat ensures fairness and are bias free and encourage job opportunities for all

b inclusion for all colleagues, . Publish first ethnicity gap report, with 88% of colleagues sharing
EDI data

Achieve leading Gold standard fairness and inclusien accreditation
insight-led approach to ensuring our workforce reflects our

focal communities

Promoting
fairness

& inclusion
By 2030 we will aim to achieve:

_— 35% of leadership positions
(grade 5 or above) fillad by women Review employee life cycle processes to embed fairness and
12% Group representation of Black, inclusion principles throughout
Asian and other ethnicities ~ Eradicate under-representation and pay disparity in all job roles
-- Gender pay gap of 19% .- All colleagues across the business to receive fairness and
— Year on year improvement in Voice inclusion training

of the Colleague survey results . Achieve Disability Confident employer status

for farness and inclusion practice EDI‘consclidation’ training for managers — periodic

and awareness {every three years)

. Contractual requirerment for suppliers to provide evidence of how
they are addressing EDI

Boosting Continually evolve a Board-driven . Mental Health First Aider in 100% of contracts and departments

wellbeing strategy, the iImportance . Talored and enhanced Employee Assistance Programme
health & of which is reqularly communicated ... Access for all employee to voluntary health services
Weilbeing to workforce, that ensures the heatth and programmes

and wellbeing of our celleaguas. — Enhance support for vulnerable colleagues

Enhance flexible benefits package and contractual terms

10 support access 1o opportanities

__ Maintain focus on employee engagement and help tackle the
challenges of wellbeing and mental health

Fairness &

inclusion

mu“
.

MEARY

As part ot our 2025 Strateqy, we promised
we would develop an approach to fairness
and inclusion which would contribute to
creating a workforce where no one feels
left behind.

This means we needed to look at all aspects
related 1o working at Mears, whether this

Is how we attract, recruit, onboard, train,
develop, retain, and offboard our people.

Qur aim is to improve fairness and inclusion
across the organisation. By having the right
strateqy, we can ensure that we are an
altractive place to come and work, 1o stay
and progress, and that we continue 1o be
an employer where anyone can thrive,
regardiess of their background.

A full breakdown of what we have done
can be seen in the strategy.

SOMF (IF THF ACTIONS WF Wil |

BE TAKING IN THE STRATEGY:

. We will use apprenticeships to introduce
more diversity at entry levels — to nurture
and build our future tatent pipeline

We will conduct outreach and recruitment
at job fairs and other events hosted

by various arganisations supportive of
diverse communities, incluging disability
adwocacy groups

We will implement a formal mentoring
programme, including reverse mentoring,
focusing on our areas of under-
representation to understand the
challenges and nuriure talent

We will promote and continually

develop Mears' flexible working offer

— an announcement about this will be
coming soon

We will support the creation of employee
network groups iIncluding LGBTGA+,
Disability, Black Asian and other ethnicities

. We will ensure that effective story telling

is utilised more to share personal
experiences and tc demgenstrate
example of success through fairness
and inclusion initiatives

We will develnp an internal leartershin
progranune Lo give personal and
professional growth to employees

We will expand our pay gap reporting

to include ethnicity and we will eradicate
pay disparity in all job roles

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



Link to SDGs:

Good Governance Rk, WX

Through robust governance and identifying risks and opportunities,
the Mears Executive Board works to the highest level of transparency
and good governance. Our aim is to take this approach throughout our
business to ensure that ethical behaviour, transparency, and openness
form the heart of our culture at every level.

lHOdIH DIDILVHLS

3]
Topic Our goals Qur plan %
o
RES;(S, e?hics, To be regardgd a‘s a responsible and By 2025: ;zz
trusted organisation, demonstrated b
& governance through strong ethics, transparency, _ Ensure year on year compliance with anti-corruption governance m
and good risk management. Continue zero telerance to anti-competitive behaviour 3
—— Year on year compliance and good praclice to financial §
reporting and tax obligations §
. Review and align our targets to TCFD and UN SDGs B
. Promote Executive Board and senicr management responsibilities g
for governance and risk approach m
__ Continue independent audit and risk assessment annually with
transparent action and reporting
__ Provide a confidential whistleblowing channel to encourage
colleagues to speak out
. Optinto open carbon reporting (CDP}
—_ Continue disciplined approach to bidding and capital allocation s
lo maintain strong balance sheet §
. Develop and implement a Climate Change Plan by end of 2024 g
Protecting Maintain cur approach to ensure we have . Continue 1o conduct business and deliver service in a way il
no human rights breaches or issues. that respects and censiders numan rights w
human __ All suppliers fully compliant with Group policy by 2024 ;
Rights — Uphold our standards and compliance on modern slavery, g
human trafficking and child/forced labour Egn
__ Regularly meniter labour and payroll Fl
_. Peliver a package of initistives that raise awarenass ;}1
with employees
__ Gain greater understanding of the supply chain practices
and procedures of our key suppliers
information Continuslly evolve a robust strategy to .. Embed a consistent process to identify and assess privacy risks —
. ensure we deliver the highest standard, 100% compliance across all business areas
Secu”ty & have no security breaches and are fully . AllInformation secunty incidents are investigated and areas
governance General Data Protection Regulation of improvemant are identified and aciioned
{GDPR) compliant. __ Deliver a package of initiatives that ensure awareness and

understanding across the business
~ Maintain an ISMS that s certified to ISO 27001
__ Obtain and maintain industry certifications
__ ldentify and manage cyber risks
. Deliver secure information systems to the Group

MOILYWHQOIN] H3UTOHIUYHS
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STRATEGIC REPORT

ESG strands continued

Good Governance

Topic Qur goals

Qur plan

Define cur strategy to sustalnabie
procurement during 2023 and thereafter
deliver and evolve our approach to
maintain our high standards

Sustainable
procuremernt

All suppliers signed up to our Supplier Commitments.

Measure and monitor arnually

All core suppliers have successful environmental audit

results by 2025

Alltimber preducts sourced from certifled forests by 2030
90% of ail sourced products are from sustainable sources by
20273 Maintain respensible approach to Prompt Payment Code
Continue to work with externally accredited organisations on
attributing value to sustainable procurement

Our Top 10 suppliers engaged in collaborative ESG plan

Partnerships EEEEEE

._ Be regarded as ‘partners for purpose’
bullding strong and lasting relationships
with clients, investors, and funders,
hotding curselves to account
through scrutiny

... Be regarded as service leaders, for
all areas of cur business, across the
public sector

Provide secure investment and funding

. Continue with Your Voice and Customer Scrutiny Board —

independent framewo-k for customer engagement

- Continue with ESG Advisory Board — independent advisers

that constructively challenge

Consider ESG factors across ail assets in which we invest by 2025
Partner with governments, businesses, academia, and
communities to ensure best practice and mobilise action for
sustainable development

Positively influence policy and current practice Local and Central
Government through our Thought Leader programme — continue
to lead the way

Maintain or improve, year on year, contract tenure lengths

Mears Scottish Responsible

Business Charter

Mears wants to be the best possible partner _
for the Scottish Government, local Councils,

improving the £SG and economic
wellbeing of the area in

which

people who live or work in any of our
branches, and communities we operate
in. Following wide consultation, we have
developed our responsible business
recommendations based on the feedback
from our partners and stakeholders
across Seotland.

The Charter is a values-led partnership
hetween Government and business
based on boosting productivity and
competitiveness through faimess,
eguzlity, and sustainable employment.

OUR CHARTER COMMITMENTS INCLUDE:

- pavying the Scottish Living Wage,
and include fair work principles
in our cperations

— having resident and tenant representation
8s part of our scrutiny arrangements and

service design

36

Mears operates

paying small businesses on time
making it simple, straightforward and
easy for local SMEs, social enterprises,
and supported businesses to access
supply chain opportunities

making firm and achievable commitrments
to support Scotland’s target of Net Zero
emissions by 2045

having a social responsibility to pass

on skills to local communities

being transparent in our financial and
business reporting

warking harder o address EDI and
submitting to an Independent audit of all
palicies and procedures to enable tair
access for all Having a balanced Board

Mears Group PLC Annua! Report and Accounts 2022



"ESG in 2022

3 ESG accreditations 269004 tonnes
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Priorities for the year ahead -
“

=

... Begin work on our long-term plan te transition to Net __ Begin to create a Net Zero culture in all policies and practice r-‘:
Zero, including work on plans to transition our fleet .. Continue ta enhance cur ESG Board and test the resilience E4

_ Continue to enhance cur expertise through investment of our new Net Zerg governance structure g
-

1

inthe Net Zero team

__ We aim to increase our social value by supporting a
wider scope for the Mears Foundation grant giving and
enabling our colleagues to give back to their communities

OUR AWARDS
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=
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

We are committed to the recommendations

of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD), providing our stakeholders
with transparent information on ciimate related

risks and oppartunities relevant to our business.

In ine with our strategic and operational focus
on ESG we have been aligning our processes
with the recommendations of the TCFD and wall
continue to develop our policies, pracesses,
and disclosures in line with the TCFD
recommendations. We have considered our
‘comply or explain’ obligations unger the UK's
Financial Conduct Authority Listing Rules and
have detailed In the table below the TCFD
recommended disclosures with which we fully
or partially comply.

We are fully compliant with nine out of the
eleven recommendations for the year ended
31 December 2022,

GOVERNANCE

Disclosure 1: Describe
the Board’s oversight
of climate-related risks
and cpportunities.

The Board is focused cn ensuring that Mears
lives by its values. The Board is accountable

for the long-term success of the Group, setting

a framework of effective controls which enables
risks, including climate related risks and
opportunities, to be assessed and managed.
Responsibility for ESG is embedded into our
corporate governance and owned by the
Beard, receiving inputs from the Audit and
Compliance Committees,

The Group's carbon plan, 'Our Pathway
to Netl Zerg', was completed during 2022
but now becomes a living document as
our thinking develops further.

The Audit and Compliance Committees
review the principal risks twice a year, of
which climate change and environmental
responsibility is seen as an emerging risk,

The Company complies with Disclosure 1.

Disclosure 2: Describe
management’s role in
assessing and managing
climate-related risks

and opportunities.

Qur executive management leads and
provides strateqic direction to the Group
and carries ultimate responsibility for

management of the Group's activities,
ESG, and financial performance

Qur Net Zero Steering Group ensure that

climate related risks and opportunities
are appropriately assessec and manage?

38

Board
Uktimate responsibility for both risk management and £5G matters,
inclucling those risks and opportunities relating to climate change

Audit and Comptliance Committees

arid cgnfleming thit thie principal 1
appropriately addressed ¥ 5

%

_ Reviews the prindipal risks tWice a yésr,

(.

— Respaonsible for —
ensuring the Group's
ESG strategy is
appropriate and that e
plans are in place and
clesely monitored

— Adviges the Audit and
Risk Committee on _
ESG related risks
and oppertunities,
including climate
related issues s

to climate

- Réquhéible for epsui'l'ng the éffactive T 3
an
&
&

respohsiblity is séen-as an emerging 1is

The Executive Directors are responsible for the
delivery of the Group's ESG programme,

including ‘Our Pathway to Net Zero'

Senior management team members are individually
responsible for reviewing, confirming, and mitigating
risks in their owrn areas, Inctuding those relating

The Executive Directors cansider climate related
issues when ¢considering business epportunities
given the impact climate targets will have on
huliding fabric

Many climate risks sit well-beyond the business

planning time herizon

— Principal representative group responsible for ensuring the
actions for the Net Zero strategy are delivered in practice

__ Representatives from this group are responsible for
delivering specific actions supporting the Group's phased
approach to achieving Net Zero

— Undertakes annual GHG measurement, legislative
reporting, and utilities procurement

— Updates the ESG Committee on a quarterly basis
on progress against targets

— The primary communication channel for colleagues, cilents,
and partners to co-create solutions and enthuse
all to support delivery of Net Zero

Wider management functicns throughout the
arganisation alse have climate related roles
and responsibilities. For example, our health
and safety function supports the delivery of
our environmental strategy, with particular
focus on waste management and recyclng.
We will continue 10 embed climate related
roles and responsibilities throughout our
functions and operations during 2023,

The Board recognises that there are
significant opportuniues it the structurally
growing field of carbon reduction, which

will e complerentary and additive ta

the services already provided by Mears
Acquiring the innovative IRT platform

{as detailed on page 146 to 147y 15 an
impor:ant part of the Group's retrofit solution

and will enable Mears ta conduct stack
analysis modelling for carbon reduction
work, enabling cpportunities 1o be
progressed guickly, and helping identify anz
access grant funding support avallable. The
acqguisition has provided Mears with new
skills and capabilities in this area, bringing
new expertise in-house, supporting
pre-sales activity and helping to unlock

the Group's ability to deliver carbon

retrofit work, whicn has been “dentified

as a sign ficant markat

The Company complies with Disclosure 2.
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STRATEGY

Disclosure 3: Describe
the climate-related

risks and opportunities
the organisation has
identified over the short,
medium, and long term.

Climate risks are assessed as part of our
integrated risk management tramewaork

as detailed on pages 44 to 51 Whilst climate
related risks are not considered principal
risks given the likelihood of cccurrence

and severity of impact, the Board recognises
climate change and envitw e lal
responsibility as an emerging risk and
recognises that the Group is well placed to
benefit from new work opportunities that this
brings, qiven the Group’s strateqic focus on
housing, and the wellbeing of service users
within the home. The Board recognises the
importance that the Group identifies and
manages the risks associated with changes
in opvirgnmantal legislation relating fo
housing, transportation, and corporate
reporting requirements. The Board also
recognises a risk that the Group does not
maximise the opportunities presented

by energy efficiency in the affcrdable
housing seclor.

These climate related risks and
opportunities are categorised over the
following timescales: short term (within

12 manths, to retlect the potential tor
immediate impact), medium term (within

10 years) and tong term (10+ years). The
Group's strategy outlines the opportunities
identified in helping our customrers meet
their Net Zero carbon targets.

Climate related scenarios were not used to
inform the organisations strategy. In 2023,
the Group will be using varicus scenarios to
provide assurance that all climate change
uncertainties have been accounted (o, lo
minimise disruption to the business maving
forward. Where new risks and opportunities
are identified from these scenarios, these
will be captured and reported gnn the
next Annual Repaort.

OPPORTUNITIES

RISKS

Extreme weather events

Impacts feit universally — Mears,
customers, and subcontracting
partners affected. Damage to
assels and increased trave! risks
as a minimum

Hotter summer periods may impact
on colleagues, particularly those
engaged in front Iine oparations

Controis and mitigation

Time
horizon

Medium to
long term

Enhanced heaith and safety standards

and processes

Planned preventative maintenance
schedules aligned to seasonal changes
Awareness campaigns with seasonal alerts
Planned preventative maintenance
schedules aligned to seasonal changes
Business continuity pfans in place at Group
and local level, with particuiar emphasis on
the energy and IT supply risk, where bad
weather causes widespread downtimes

The UK skills shortage could
impact upon our plans for
upskilling workforce in low carbon
technologies and regulation

A Workforce Strategy Group consisting Short term
of senior employees 15 1n operation, to

address key matters asseciated with the

remit of data analysis action planning ang

implementation monitoring

Mears Learning is an internal training

department used to implement Learning

and Development strategy

There is an Executive backed culture of

retaining and developing the Group's talent

Investor confidence on climate
change management. A failure
by the Group to perform well in
respect of ESG and associated
chimate related regulatory
targets will have significant
financial implications and
impact Mears' reputatien

Governance framework in place, including Medium term
ESG Board and Net Zero Steering Group

Third party carbon verification

Increases in pricing of GHG
emissicns. Rising costs
to operating budget

Net Zero 2030 plan in place Medium term
Ongoing operational focus in mitigating

key risk areas

Changes in customer behaviours - Purchase of IRT in 2022 has enabled Mears  Medium to
due to climate change resulting to hetter support clients with their own plans, kong term
inlost opportunities, Potential e.g. the submission of 13 Socfal Housing
reductions in revenue and profit Decarbonisation bids in the last 12 months
It Mears cannot adapt to changing — Mears has established long-term contracts
clientrequirements in place that facilitate close working

with customers

__ Central business development team driving

a retrofit programme to reduce carbanin

our clients’ stock. New revenues already

secured in this space
Unsuccessful investment in new __ Close relationships built with key suppliers Medium to
technologies. New technologies to review new tachnalogies as they emerge.  langterm

which are later identified as
unsuitable or do not deliver
against sustainability objectives
could lead to reputational damaye

Ability tc rapidly switch products as necded
Process in place to consider small bolt-on
acquisitions, like the IRT acquisition in 2022

Changes in external perception
of Mears, negatively impacting
public opinion and behaviours

inability to meet third party
expectations may result in
reputationat damage and impact
revenyes and profitahiliry

Transitional,
medium term

Pathway to Net Zero plan in place
Governance framework embedded

Use of external expertise

ESG plan communication

Central communication team complemented
by external PR specialists to ensure we
message effectively

Time
Active steps horizon
Through instaliation of energy efficient . Mears is already working cn three contracts from the SHDF, and we expect to be successful immediate
heating systems, we can help customers inmore vig the second wave
t0 lower energy bills
Evolving our business to new .. The business has already begun the transition to Net Zero externaily through engagement Short to

technologies, green skills, and

with Government funding models and helping our clients by sharing our in-house expertise

medium term

additignal revenue — The acquisition of IRT has expanded our capability in the carbon space
__. Qur accredited training 1s already producing operatives with new green skills for the future

Use of lower emission sources of energy ... Through assessing our energy output via the transition to Net Zero we can ensure our
estates and fleet will be more efficient in the future, which will ultimately enhance the

Lisiness's sestdinatutne

and development/expansion of low
emission goods and services

Short te
medium term

Expansion of future markets . Reskilling our workforce In new technologies, enhanced capabilities via IRT and internal

Medium term

expertise mean we can help our clients with thelr transition to Net Zero

The Company complies with Disclosure 3.

There are possibilitics to extend our market in the future to other houscholds iIf appropriate,
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STRATEGIC REPORT

TCFD continued

Disclosure 4: Describe the
impact of ciimate-related
risks and opportunities

on the Company’s
businesses, strateay,

and financial planning.

‘Our Pathway to Net Zerg' details our
sustainabllity strategy. However, our
approach to climate risk is integrated across
our business and incorporated within our
five-year strategic plan, which clearly stated
the Board's aspiration to become leaders in
carbon reduction within social housing and
within our organisation. The five-year
strategic plan means that we are already able
to financially plan for an electric vehicle fleet,
to mitigate the effects of climate change

on our business and to enkance our client
offer to enable us to benefit from the
oppartunities of Net Zero.

The benefits of Net Zero are clear to Mears.
The retrofitting of social housing will become
a major growth area for Mears, and this
growth ambition is included within the
five-ycar strategic plan. Qur expertise intis
area makes us an integral port of the green
economy. We rave already secured our first
three energy efficiency projects as detailed
within the Chief Executive Officer’s review.

The nature of the business model provides
partial protection from negative financial
risk where existing contractual mechanisms
are in place. This will continue to change

in the medium term as customers cevelop
and embed mare stringent procurement
evaluation criterig and commaercial
contractual clauses in line with the
developing climate agenda. To monitor
this, the Group participates in relevant
industry body working groups and
technical adviso-y panels.

A further benefit will be 10 show investors
with an emphasis on ESG and the green
economy that Mears is an attractive
investment, and our experuse will present
a competitive advantage when bidding
for contracts,

Mears recognises the impact that chmate
change may have on its strategy, operations,
and financial planning and is taking action

tc address tne implications of climale related
risks on service delivery, physical assets.
supply chain, corporate reputation, and

the reg.latary enviromment

The Company complies with Disclosure 4,

40

Disclosure 5: Describe
the resilience of the
Company’s strategy,
taking into consideration
different climate-related
scenarios, including a
2°C or lower scenario.

As detailed within ‘Our Pathway to Net Zero'
on pages 42 to 43, we have undertaken initial
trajectory maodelling of our Scope 1and 2
emissions to 2030 to develop benchmark
scenarios to inform transition planning and
help moniter our progress towards ocur

Net Zerg target

The trajectories are glso aligned with the
goal of the Paris Agreement to limit global
warming to below 1.5°C by 2100. This will

be used as a benchmark to compare our
progress towards our Net Zero target.
Algnment with this trajectory is seen as

part of best practice when developing Net
Zero targets. The trajectory analysis will
change as the strategy evolves, actions are
implementad, and new actions are identifled
and where there is a material change 1o
factors applied in the methodology — this
will ensure ihat we have a model that reflects
our Fathway 10 Nel Zero that evolves over
time and is a practical ‘live’ tool 1o support
us to monitor progress agamst delivering
our goals.

The Group has not modelled a 2 degree C
or lower scenaric as that tme horizon falls
well beyond any Group planning period.
On this basis, tme Group coes not comply
with Disclosure 5.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Disclosure 6; Describe the
organisation’s processes
for identifying and assessing
climate-related risks.

Disclosure 7: Describe
how processes for managing
climate-related risks.

Disclosure 8: Describe
how processes for
identifying, assessing, and
managing climate-related
risks are integrated into
the organisation’s overali
risk management.

As detailed in the Risk Management section
on page 44, Mears has a structu-ed risk
management framework operated at a
business unit, function, and Group level.
The senior management team, su.pperied
by lhe Net Zero Steering Group, reviews
and identifies the key 1isks; climate related
risks are identified and considered as part
of that process. Climate related risks are
not considered inisolation, and the process
is integrated into the Group's overall risk
management process

The Board has carned out a robust
assessment of the principal risks, including
climate related risks, facing the Group,
including those that threaten the business
maodel, strategy, and future performance.
Risks are prioritised based on the likefihood
of occurrence and the severity of the impact
on the Group, This severity can be measured
using various criteria such as financial,
customer service, growth, regulatory
compiiance, and reputational criteria
Therefore, Mears measures more than
simply the financial impact of the risk.
These scores are used to escalate risks

and to drive the mitigation plans.

Climate change represents both nsk and
oppartunity for the Group, There is a nisk
that Mears does not identifly and manage
the risks assaciated with changesin
environmental legislation relating to housing,
transportation, and corporate repaorting
requirements. There is alsa arisk that the
Group does not maximise the opportunities
presented by energy efficiency in the
affardable housing sector.

The Company complies with Disclosures
6.7 and 8.

METRICS Af;il;TARGET:S”
Disclosure 9: Disclose
the metrics used by the
organisation to assess
climate-related risks
and opportunities in line
with its strategy and risk
management process.

The Board recognises the impartance of
continuing to monitor our climate related
targets, and further key performance
measures will be considered in due course.

The Group's carbon emissions data
is reported on page 41

The Group has set other climate related
metrcs and targets in our wider ESG plar,
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notably the Group monitors waste diverted
from landfill, as detailed on page 32, and
is working in partnership with our National
Waste partner to embed improvements

to achieve an improved Zero Waste

index score.

The Company complies with Disclosure 9.

Disclosure 10: Disclose
Scope 1, Scope 2

and, if appropriate,
Scope 3, greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions,
and related risks.

Mears Group's GHG emissions were
calculated for the 2021 calendar year and
included Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions and
selected Scope 3 emissions. Emissions for
this period were 42,111 tonnes CO;e in total
across Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions, of which
16,107 tonnes COze related to Scope 1

and 2 emissions.

Mears currently report on selected Scope 3
emissions sources. During 2023 Mears will
complete a Scope 3 screening assessment
to better Lnderstand the type and accuracy
of data that is available to support reparting.
The assessment will consider all Scope 3
categories (as outlined by the GHG Protocol)
ncluding upstream and downstream
transportation and waste which are currently
not included within our footprint. This will

support evelution of this strategy in future
to achieve Net Zero across Scope 3
emissions by 2045,

We will update our carbon footprint across
Scope 1, 2 and 3 if any material change

is identified As part of this strategy
development and delivery 10 ensure fuli
transparency. This will ensure we can
maximise our opportunities in reducing

our carban footprint and amplify our chance
of success in achieving Net Zero carbon
across Scope tand 2 by 2030 and across
Scope 3 by 2045,

This first phase of 'Our Pathway to Net Zero’
will focus on reducing our Scope 1and 2
emissians and the 2021 footprint will be
our baseline year to be used to inform
target setting and act as benchmark 1o
monitor progress against, The approach to
decarbonising our emissions sgurces will
differ based on the level of direct control
and ownership of each GHG emissions
source. As such, Mears will focus initial
decarbonisation efforts on GHG emissions
arising from activities within Mears’

direct cont-ol.

During 2023 Mears will complete a Scope 3
screening assessment to better understand
the lype and accuracy of data that is
available to support reporting. The
assessment will consider alt Scope 3
categories (as outlined by the GHG Protocol)
including upsiream and downstream
transportation, waste, and purchased goods
and services via our supply chain. This will
inform our understanding of Scope 3

emissions and our organisation boundary
and support evolution of this strategy in
future 1o achieve Net Zero across Scope 3
emissions by 2045,

The Company does not fully comply with
Disclosure 10, as Scope 3 emissions are only
partially collected.

Discliosure 11: Describe
the targets used by

the organisation to
manage climate-related
risks and opportunities
and performance
against targets.

‘Our Journey to Net Zero’ will take a
theme-based approach. By identifying
ditferent activity streams across the
business, our Net Zero vision is broken down
into manageable action areas which can be
carried out across all our operations,
enabling collaboration and accountability.
The summary of 'Our Pathway to Net Zerg'

is detailed on pages 427 to 43 and identifies
the five key themes that Mears has identified
as the green thread of our Pathway to

Net Zero ana includes a descriptian of

each therme and what success looks like

by 2030 to achieve 90% reduction GHG
emissions by 2030.

The Company complies with Disclosure 11

GHG emissions

The Group's carbon emissions data
for the year Is provided below

The data set out in these Lables represents
emissions and energy use for which Mears
Group PLC is responsible and is incorporated
by reference in the Directors’ Report. To
calculate our Group emissions, we have
used the main requirements of the GHG
Protocol Corporate Standard.

These figures have been generated from
independently provided reports of carbon
emissions or energy usage from a variaty of
sources and, where necessary, enerqy usage
has been converted into carbon emissions
using the UK Government GHG Conversion
Factors for Company Reporting.

This year, we have also calculated our
Scope 2 emissions using the market-based
methodelogy to recognise the purchasing
of low carbon energy.

Qur reporting follows the Greenhouse

Gas Protocol Carporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard, applying the 'Financial
Control” approach (organisational boundary).

Our policy is Lo restate carbon and energy
figures in consideration of changes in
methodologies, improvements in the

Scope Units 2022 2021
Scope1- UK Tonnes CO.e 14187 15,373
Scope 2 — UK lacation-based Tonnes COze 893 734
Scope 2 — UK market-based Tonnes COze 843 150
Scope Units 2022 2021
Intensity tonnes COze/Lm reveiug 15.71 18.34
Energy consumption MWh 64,675 68,883

accuracy, or discovery of errors in previcus
years' data. Emissions data has been
restated this year in respect of a change in
methodology along with scme minor
improvements in accuracy.

Mears Group has historically used a financial
control method of calculating our carbon
footprint. During the development of our
carbon strategy, it was determined that an
operational approach would be more
appropriate given the nature of Mears
Group’s business operations and ability of
Mears Group te directly control or influence
carbon reduclion activities. This enables
Mears Group to have more opportunities
over time at a local level to impact and
reduce our carbon footprint to meet our Net
Zero Carbon aspirations. The primary impact
of this change is to re-allocate emissions
arising from energy used in buldings outside

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

of our control but procured by the Group to
Scope 3 {from Scope 1 and 2).

Our gross carbon emissions have been
classified in the following way:

Scope 1- Direct emissions from: vehicle
use {owned and leased); healing fuels
used in buildings.

Scope 2 — Indirect emissions frecm: electricity
used in cur buildings. We report location-
based emissions (taking into account the

UK grid average).

Scope 3 — Indirect emissions fram energy
use in buildings outside of our contrai,
business travel by air and taxi; hotel stays;
water supply; and waste recycling and
disposal.

Out of Scope — Indirect emissions from:
bicfuel usage from alt divisions in line
with Defra reporting guidelines.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Our Pathway to Net Zero

QUR COMMITMENT

Mears is one of the UK's leading and most
trusted providers of specialist services

tce social housing, and Local and Central
Government. Our ambition 1s to become the
moest socially responsible business in the
public secter by 2025 and our Pathway to
Net Zero supports this aspiration.

‘Our Pathway te Net Zera’ supports the UK
Government's aim to achieve Net Zero by
2050 and sets out the step change we wilt
implement to achieve our vision to become:

_. Net Zero across Scope 1and 2
GHG emissions by 2030 {Phase 1)
Net Zero across Scope 3 GHG emissions
by 2045 (Phase 2)!

The assessment will cansider all Scope 3
categories (as outlined by the GHG Pratocol)
including upstream and downstream
transportation, waste, and purchased geods
and services via our supply chain. This will
inform our understanding of Scope 3
emissions and our organisation boundary
and support evelution of this strategy in
future to achieve Net Zero across Scope 3
emissions by 2045,

What does success look like? By 2030
Mears will have achieved the following:

Scope 1 and 2 emissions are eliminated
or reduced as much as possible with

a target of 90% reduction by 2030:
Residual emissions will be offset through
accredited schemes prioritising those

charging infrastructure at our offices and
colleagues’ homes. Sustainable travel
and transport policies and behaviours
are embedded across the organisation
and within our supply chain.

Sustainable procurement & suppiy
chaln: Mears uses 100% renewable
energy and has worked in partnership
with our supply chain partners to reduce
their carhon emissions across all services
that are delivered for Mears Group clients,
customers, and communities.,

Climate conscious service delivery:

Al Mears service areas have adaptea
and contributed to reducing our
arganisational carbon footprint and

can demanstrate positive sustainability
outcomes for clients, customers,
communities, and the climate.

that benefit the communities in whick
we serve,
Creating a Net Zero cuiture: An
embedded Net Zero culture that is a
‘green thread’ in all policies and practice
and demonstrated by our colleagues
through our service delivery.
Efficient buildings & estate planning:
A highly energy efficient co-porate
office estate characterised by low
cnergy consumption and renewabla
energy generation as standard
wherever possible,

. Green travel & transport: Transitioned a
minimum of 95% of our corporate fleet of
vehicles to electric and implemented

Our first phase will focus on of our

commitment 10 achieve Net Zero across

Scope 1and 2 GHG emissions {‘emissions'?)

by 2030. We have taken this phased

approach as Scope 1and 2 emissions are

in our direct control and are better

understood, which in turn enables us

to tackle them more effectively. _

Our Pathway to Net Zero will take a theme-
hased approach. By identifying different
activity streams across the business, our
Net Zero vision is broken down into
manageable action areas which can be
carried out by departments and service
areas across all of our operations, enabling
interdepartmentat collabaration and
accountability. The table below summarises
the frve key themes Mears Group has
icentified as the green thread of our Pathway
to Net Zero and includes a description of
each theme and what success 1coks ke by
2030 10 achieve 90% reduction GHG
emissions by 2030;

This approach alsc enables us to prepare the
groundwork of activity to inform Phase 2 1o
achigve Net Zero across Scope 3 emissions
by 2045, During 2023 Mears wiil complete

a Scope 3 screen'ng assessment 1o better
understand the type and accuracy of data
that is avallable tc support reporting.

Q)

e’
Contact
centre

{C0)
A2
—
Carbon
reduction

X
LRy

Refurbishment

Tenant welfare
and suppori

Responsive
repair

©

Void
management

Temporary

Property
management

. T faredto as ‘emissions’
Broishout s straiesny
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Key theme Context Expected outcome by 2030

N Creating a Net
g Zero culture

An embedded Net Zero culture that is & ‘green thread' in all
pelicies and practice and demonstrated by our colleagues and
partners through cur service delivery

Embedding a Net Z&re culture across Mears Group
with our colleagues, partners, residents, and suppliers
theough ensuring a 'green thread’ is at the hearl of all
activity undertaken

/:-\ Efficient buildings Reducing and remaving emissions from our éxisting A highly energy efficient corporate office estate characterised
: & estate planning owned and leased offices property portfolio through by low energy consurmption and renewable energy generation ﬂ
@ improving our approach to strategic estate planning as standard wherever possible §
and efficient use of our buiidings =
m
. Green travel Reducing and remaving ermissions arising from our Transitioned a minimum of 95% of our corperate fleet of vehicles @
k(@ & transport leased/owned fleet and supporting our staff to utilise to electric and imptemented charging infrastructure at our offices 0
sustainable travel options and colieagues’ homes. Sustainable travel and transport palicies ﬁ
and behaviours are embedded across the organisation and within ]
our supply ¢hain g
A, Sustainable Increasing our renewable energy provision and Mears uses 100% renewable energy and has worked in -
g, procurement working with our supply chain partners to identify partnership with our supply chain partners to support them
EL & supply chain® emissions hotspots to inform supplier engagement, to reduce thelr emissions across all services that are delivered
influence, and support to reduce emissions across for Mears Group clients, customers, and communities
tho canigbd W ddlndr
Climate censcious Delivering our services in a way that reduces All Mears services areas have adapted and contributed
service delivery the emissions across our operations whilst still to reducing our organisational carbon footprint and can
" delivering a quahty service and an excellent demonstrate positive sustainability outcomes for clients, 2
7 customer experience customers, communities, and the ¢limate b=t
T
3 Our Pathway to Net Zero will be ¢losely monitored ana reviewed and updated annually. Additional decarbonisation actions will be adeed as they are identified g
and expected outcomes refined to incorporate Scope 3 emissions in 2023724, T
4 The majority of Sustainable pracurement & supply chamn activity will fall under Scope 3 which will be informed by the screening assessment undartaken in 2023 10 support rz:
of our aspiration to achicve Not Zero across Scope 3 emissions by 2045, o
TRAJECTORY AMALYEIS - SCOPE Y Projected cutcome: Emissions reduced from . thisis the most ambitious scenario o
L0 3 EMISSIOMNST Business as Usual (Scenario 1) by 15.8% which has been modelled and is the i
We have undertaken initial trajectory (2,749 tCOse) leaving residual emissions of Mears aspiration, g
madelling of our Scope 1and 2 emissions 14,552 1COse). Key characteristics include: B
ta 2030 to develop benchmark scenarios Whilst we have set headline target 2
to Inform transition planning and help _ reductions achieved through efficiency milestones for reduction in Scope 1and 2 ™
maonitor our progress towards our Net Zero savings from driver training (fleet} and GHG emissions based on Scenario 3, we
target. Each scenario factors in the future deployment efficiency; have internally set interim milestones from
decarbonisation of the Nationa! Grid as well - Tfeductions achieved in the use of energy 202510 2030.
as our projections for future business growth. in our corporate offices; and
__ further reductions achieved through passive  Total emissions reduclion from Business
The following scenarios have been modelled decarbonisation of the National Grid. as Usual of 15,580 tonnes COze leave -
to present the emissiors reduction trajectory residual emissions that will be offset and/ §
for Scope 1and 2 emissions and estimated SCENARIO 3: COMBINED BEHAVIOUR or sequestered, estimated to be circa 1,721 ﬁ
potential Scope 1and 2 residual emissions CHANGE, DEPLOYMENT EFFICIENCY, tonnes COze in 2030. b
(those which cannot be practically reduced) B TRANMSITION, AND GAS AND e
which need to be offset to reach Net Zero TECHNGOLOGICAL REDUCTIONS Meaars has been aspirational in our ambition, ‘_’3
by 2030. {(BEST CAgE! and we recognise that achievement of our ’_3;
This scenario factors in emissions reductions goalis dependent on a range of factors that ;
SCENARIO 1: BUSINESS AS USUAL made from the transition of our vehicle fleet are outside of Mears’ direct control, including m
WORST CASEL to electric alternatives {target 95% transition availabte electric vehicle (EV) charging E
This scenario assumes our vehicle fleet will with an aspiration to achieve 100% transition) infrastructure for fleet EV transition and 1
use fossil fuels and no active measures and reducing gas consumption in our offices EV vehicles suitable for service delivery.
are taken to increase energy efficiency by 75% compared with 2021. The scenario Our strategy will evolve to ensure that our
or behavigur change to reduce emissions. also factors in reductions from behavioural aspirations remain realstic and achievable.
change and deployment efficiency. @
Projected outcome: Increase in emissions The trajectories are also aligned with the goal g
from 2021 baseline emissions (16,107 tCOze) Projected cutcome: Emissions reduced from of the Paris Agreement to limit global warming =
of 6.7% leaving residual emissions of 17,301 Business as Usual (Scenario 1) by 90% (15,580 1o below 1.5°C by 2100. According to the g
tCO.e by 2030). Key characteristics include: tCOse) leaving estimated residual emissions Science Based Targets intiative (SBTi) S
of 1,7211C0;e) Key characteristics include: companies that are aligned with this trajectory g
.~ no aclive decarbonisation have been reporting a 6.4% reduction in Eol
interventions implemented; _ reductions achieved through the GHG emissions per annum —which has been =z
__ reductions achieved through passive progressive electrification of our vehicle modelled in this trajectory. This will be used S
decarbonisation of the National Grid fleet. Scenario targets 100% of car fleet 1o 8s g benchmark ta compare cur progress Y
anly; and be transitioned by 2025 and 95% of van towards our Net Zero target. Alignment with E
__ vehicle fleet continues to use petrol/ fleet to be transitioned by 2028-2030; this trajectory is seen as part of best practice !
diesel to 2030. __ additional deployment efficiency savings when developing Net Zero targets. The ‘25

SCENARIO 2: BEHAVIOUR CHANGE
AMND GUF OYRENT EFFHIERNCY

This scenario assumes that all reductions
are made through efficiency savings from
reduced deployment of existing fossit fuel
fleet, driver awareness training {fleet), and
the more efficient use of energy in our
corporate offices.

have also been modelled when new vehicles
are introduced into the fleet {through
increased driver training requirements),
reductions achieved through
decarbonisation of the National Grid,
behavioural change, and techinological
changes m our offices {75% reduction in
gas consumption as we switch to renewable
sources/haat pump technolegies), and

trajectory analysis will change as the strategy
evolves, actions are implemented, and new
actions are identified and where there is a
material change tc factors applied in the
methodology ~ this will ensure that have a
model that reflects our Pathway to Net Zero
that evolves over time and is g practical

‘live’ tool to suppert us monitor progress
against delivering our goals.

5 The Trajectory Analysis s a tool 10 support Net Zero strategy planning and, while basea on informed estimates, modelling, and assumptions. it is subject to change as
the strategy Implementation progresses and our knowledge increases, All results to be treated as advisory. This Trajectory Analysis will be updated in 2023 and ongoing
where material change is iden:ified and ‘0 encompass Scope 3 emissions following materiality assessment and mapping exercise in 2023/24,
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Risk management

Mears’ strategic objectives can only be achieved by taking an
appropriate level of risk in accordance with our risk appetite.
Effective management of risks and opportunities is essential
to the delivery of the Group’s strategic objectives, whilst
protecting our employees and other key stakeholders.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

GOVERNANCE

Board

_. Setsthe tone ¢n risk management culture . Is responsible for principal risk identification
Maintains sound and effective risk management and ongoing monitering of the Company’s risk
and internal control systems exposure 1o ensure that material matters are

- Defines risk appetite managed in alignment with strategic objectives

Audit and Risk Committee (Non-Executive)

__ Reviews the effectiveness of the risk management process
Approves risk management policies and guidelines

Internal audit 3RD LINE OF DEFENCE

. Defines and moniters the risk management process and .. Prepares regular risk and internal control reports for
mitigation tools and actions approval by the Audit and Risk Committea and maintains

— Plans and executes assurance activities to ensure that the Risk Assurance Map
there are policies and procedures in place o support —. Performs risk analysis on growth projects, detailing the
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control system specific conditions and risks faced by a new project

Compliance Committee (Executive) 2ND LINE OF DEFENCE

— Develops and oversees implementation of risk management Supports the Audit and Risk Committee in evaluating the

strategies and makes recommendations to the Audit and Risk Group’s risk profile and internal controls implemented
Committee and senior management by management

— Supports the Audit and Risk Cormittee in monitoring ... The Chair of the Compliance Committee presents to
sustainability risks the Board twice 3 year, to prov de a detailed update

on the activities of the Commitiee

Business unit and central functions 1ST LINE OF DEFENCE

— Risk awareness embedded in day-to-day operations .. Implementation of risk mitigation programmes
— Riskidentification and assessment performed across and operational monitoring ¢f internal contrels
business operations on an everyday basis
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Risk governance and oversight

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has overall responsibility for
determining the nature and extent of risk

itis willing to accept within Lthe agreed
strategy and ensuring that risks are managed
effectively across the Group. Risk is a regular
agenda item at Board meetings and is closely
aligned to strateqy review. The Board also
reviews reparts on the effectiveness of the
systems and processes of risk management
and internal control.

THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee monitars
the Group's key risks Identified by the
risk assessment processes and reports
its findings to the Board. It also has
delegated responsibility for reviewing

in detail the effectiveress of the Group’s
system of internal control policies and
procedures for the identification,
assessmeant and reparting of risk.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

Qur internal audit plan is devised by
understanding the strategy, objeclives, and
risk profile of the Group and considering the
other forms of management and independent
assurance before agreeing what internal
audit work is reguired. This enables us to
ensure that our internal audit resources
target the key areas and Il alzso enables

us to be efficient by not duplicating other
assurance activities.

The Group has engaged KPMG as an
outsourced provider of internal audit
services. KPMG assists the internal Group
risk function to set the internal audit plan
This is a dynamic programme set on a
three-year time horizon and ensures
certain risks and themes are prioritised
and appropriate resources and skills
applied to those aress.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Commitiee has a very

active sub-committee, being the Compliance
Committee. | his retlects the signimcant focus

that the Group gives to dealing with health,
safety, and envircnmental risks. The extent
to which the full integration of health, safety,
and environmental risks is now embedded
in the governance structures of the Group
Is highlighted by the membaers of the
Compliance Committee, who include the
Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Health

and Safety Director, and internal Health

and Safety iegal adviser.

BUSINESS UNIT AND FUNCTIONAL

SIER OWHNERS

Mears has a structured risk management
framework operated at a8 business unit,
funciion and Group level. The senior
management team reviews and identifies
the key risks which may impact upon the
gchievement of the Group’s strategic goals
and will consider how these risks are
developing with changes in the operations,
markets, and the regulatory environment.

The nature of the risk is reviewed, including
the possible tniggering events anc the
aggregated impacts, before setting
appropriate mitigation strategies directed
at the causes and consequences of each
risk. The risk is assessed in relation to the
likelihood of occcurrence and the potential
impact of the risk upon the business, and
assessed against a matrix scoring system
which 1s then used to escalaie risks within
the Group as appropriate. The senlor
managemeant team has respansibility

for managing the Group’s key risks.

The Group has a functional risk register
anc there is a good understanding of the
risks that could impact the Group, and

their severity. The Graup has a positive risk
culture, with a clear tone at the top being
set by the senior management team. The
control environment is underpinned by a
detailed Scheme of Delegated Authority
that defines processes and procedures for
the approval process in respect of decision
making. This ensures that decisions within

the organisation are made by the appropriate

level of management.
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THREE LINES OF DEFENCE
- ASSURANCE PROVIDERS

Mears operates a 'three lines
of defence’ assurance model.

Qur first line of defence, our operational
management, have a responsibility to
manage day-to-day risk in their own
areas guided by Group policies,
procedures, and control framewoerks.

Cur second line of defence includes
our central support functions, which
develop and maintain the risk
management framework and engage
with management to identify, agree,
and update risk information on a regular
basis to review the effectiveness

of the mitigating actions and controls.

Our outsourced provider of internal

audit services provides our third [ine

of defence, providing independent
assurance on internal controls and risk
management processes. Further external
assurance is provided by our statutory
auditor, in respect of the financial
statements, and other external
specialists as required.
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Risk management continued

Risk management process

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The responsibility for risk identification,
analysis, evaluation, and mitigation

rests with the senior management team.
This team is also responsible for reporting
and monitoring key risks in accordance
with established processes under

the Group operational policies,

|dentified risks are documented in risk
registers showing: the risks that have
been identified; characteristics of the risks;
consequences of the risks; the basis for
determining the mitigation strategy; and

what reviews and monitoring are necessary.

The person(s) accountahle for assessing
and monitoring each risk is noted.

We continue to drive improvements in our
risk management process, We also review
our business model, core markets, and
business processes to ensure that we have
properly identified all risks. As part of this

Setting cur internal
audit priorities

review, climate related risks are considered
in both the Group and operational risk
registers, but their severity is not considered
to be significant. We continually review our
mitigating actions to ensure that they are
sufficient to minimise our residual risk. Key
financial and non-financial risks identified

by the business from the risk assessmeant
processes are collated and reviewed by the
Audit and Risk Committee and are regularly
reviewed to monitor the status and
progression of mitigation plans: the key risks
are reported to the Board cn a regular basis.

PRIMNCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Board has carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing

the Groun. incliding those that threaten

the business model, strategy, future
performance, solvency, and liguidity. Risks
have been identified as 'principal” based on
the likelihood of occurrence and the severity
of the impact on the Group.

The Group’s principal risks are identified on
the pages that follow, together with how we
mitidate those risks. Each nrincipal risk is
considered in the context of how it relales

to the achievement of the Group's sirategic
objectives. The risk discussion includes
assessment of aross risk and net risk. Gross
risk reflects the exposure and risk landscape
before considering the mitigations in place,
with net risk being the residual risk after
mitigations. The movement in gross risk from
the prior year for each principal risk has heen
assessed and is presented on the pages that
follow, Mitigations in place supperting the
management of the risk to a net risk position
are also described for each principal risk.

Step 1
Strategic priorities
Priorities: short/medium/
feng term

Step 6
Resource and skills
ldentity and deploy team

Step 5
Audit plan and approach
Develog an internal
audit plan

Step 2
Analysis of risk
Top down/botiom up
risk profiting

Step 3
Identitying prioritics

Step 4 .
Other assurance
Consider other assurance
Drocesseas
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Principal risk heat map: year end No._Risk
The Group’s risk register rates risks on a matrix scoring system based on their likelihood I Ralure to suceessiully deliver the Asylum

. . R . . . R Accommodatior and Suppaort Contract (AASCY
and impact, i.e. potential severity. This severity can be measured using life and limb, \nitial secommadation,

financlal, customer service, growth, regulatory compliance, and reputational critena. 2 Failure ta successiully deliver the AASC. Dispersal
Therefore, Mears measures more than simply the financial impact of the risk. These accommodation

scores are used to escalate risks and to drive the mitigation plans. 3 Uncenainty from pahlica changes and market
disruptions, in the short and long term, resulting in
changes to regulation and Government policies placing
pressure cn business revenue and overhead costs

4 Mo breach ol nilunmabion we dutu 3<Cunty,
inclading ranscmware atlacks

5 Fallure to manage the impact of a health and safety
incident, including Covid-19 related, leads to
reputational damage and/or hugh financial penalties

-] Fallure in gavernance, control, processes, systems, and
structure, including managing the new Mod contract
and in particular the impact on Housing Officers.

7 Failure to recover operations in a disaster or ensis
(business continuity)

8 Ensuring that the business nas the right people with
the right skills and effectively manages risks such
as succession planning and inflationary pressures,
the latter particutar'y in the context of shortages
and a highly competitive market for skilled laoour

1¥0d3H D193 LVHLS

Almost cerain

Likely

9 Serious damage to, or loss of, brand irtegrity,
including due to poor management of publicity
and external communications.

10 Serious failure to manage housing subcontractors

" Risk of perceived and actual discrimination |eading
to reputational damage and financial penaltics,

Likellhood of occurrence
Possibl

- Severe Gross risk
W High Net risk
L

Medium

Unlikely
IDNVHUIACD ILY¥HOIHOD

Low

Rare

B Read more

in the Corporate Governance section
B Read more

in the Report of the Audit and
Severity of impact Compliance Cammittees

Insignificant Minor Moderate Major Catastrophic

EMERGING RISKS

In addition to known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need

for mitigation as part of our existing risk management processes. Emerging risks are
events that present uncertainty. They may potentially impact us in the longer term but
there is currently insufficient information to understand and assess the likely scale or
impact, nr far the seninr management team ta set nut an apprapriate risk response,

In seme ¢ases, emerging risks are supersecled by othars, or cease to be relovant,

as the environment in which we operate changes and evalves.

SINIWILYLE TWIONYNIL

The Beard has considered the following areas and their risk to the Company:

Covid-19: Mentat Health and Wellbeing has declined during the Covid-19 pandemic. Any failure to successfully
Mental Health recover from the impacts of Covid-19 on employee wellbeing can increase the risk of staff absence,
and Wellbeing churn, and a reduction in workforce engagement.

ESG ESG prasents risks and opportunities for the Group. There is a risk that Mears does notidentify
and manage the risks associated with changes in environmental legislation relating to housing,
transportaticn, and corporate reporting reguirements. There is also a risk that the Group does not

maximise opportunities presented by ESG related changes in its business environment.

Legislative changes Changes to building and fire safety legislation that result in higher cost to comply with requirements
and increased scrutiny from regulators.

Read more
in the Corporate Governance section and in the
Repoirt of the Audit and Compliance Connnitiges
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Principal risks
and uncertainties

1 & 2 Damage to
Reputation

Eailure to successfully deliver the AASC.
Given the nature of the contract, the
failure to manage the reputational
impact of an incident or operational or
commercial issues remains a key risk,

Risk level and change in year

Damage to Financial
Viabllity

Political and market disruptions,
for example towards cutsourcing.

Risk level and change in year

Ky

Strategic priorities

To be recognised as the most
trusted large private provider
working with the public sector

To have the highest levels
of customer service in the
affordable housing sector
where we operate

) @3} <@

To embrace innovation that
drives nnsitive chanoe such as
. digital and carbon roduction

rd
e
C
.

s

To maintain and grow a resilient
business with long-term
partnerships, a strong balance
sheet and cash position,

atong with a committed,
engaged workforce

Risk level

@ sovere
. High
. Medium
i I

Change in year
@ Increase in risk exposure
@ Reduction in risk exposure

@) No change in risk exposure
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Strategic outcome

L 2SS

Strategic outcome

© @ Q)

KPIs associated with risk

. Works orders completed on time
% {manthiy)

— Right first time % (monthly}

—.. Customer satisfaction {monthily}

— Complaints (monthly)

Mitigations

© @& W

KPls associated with risk

. % ot surveyed clients and
politicians who regard Mears
as highly responsibte (annual)

— % of overall media coverage that
is positive {(monthly)

Mitigations

__ Business as Usual risk register is
mainfained for AASC which is
reported to Home Office on
a monthly basis and acts as
a basis for questioning Mears

— Mobilisation, transition and, delivery
ptanning led by senior management
team and close attention from
Group Executive

_ Weekly teams call including Chiet
Executive Otticer and Chiet Financial
Officer to ensure all senior team
merbers are aligned

__ Varioua projecta around T aystem
set-up, GDPR, HR and training

- There is reqular Beard level monitoring
nf the nolitical climate

. Regular one-te-one meetings between
CEO and Members of Parliament to
improve mutual understanding

— The business is diversified to become
a registered provider of social housing

—- Close working reiationships are
developed with Local Government
organisations
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4 Damage to Reputation

Major breach of information or data
security resulting in negative publicity
leading to loss of confidence in the
sector or financial penalties.

Risk level and change in year

5 Damage to Reputation

Failure to manage the impact of a health
and safety incident leads to reputational
damage and high financial penatties.

Risk level and change in year

Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

Failure in governance, control,
processes, systems, and structure
in the Registered Provider of Social
Housing key risk.

Risk level and change in year

Strategic outcome

Strategic outcome

Strategic outcome

@@ W

KPis associated with risk

@@ W

KPIs associated with risk

©@®©W

KPis assoclated with risk

Number of privacy complaints
Response time to data
subject requests

Mitigations

Accident trequency rates
Customer complaints
Excellent service rating

Mitigations

Properties with valid gas, electncal,
and Legicnella test certificate
(100% target)

Properties with up-to-date asbestos
survey and fire risk assessment
(1003 target)

lenant satistaction {monthly)

. Customer complaints

Mitigations

Information Security Team in place.
Meetings are attended by Information
Security Group and information asset
awners on a menthly basis. The asset
owners are held responsible for thelr
respective departments’ actions
Penetration testing is undertaken

by an external specialist company
Third party review and support for
training in terms of GDPR reguirements
On some of the Group’s most sensitive
contracts, the client conducts audits
that review physical access, security
of hard copies of files and iT

system security

Compliance with ISO 27001

The Group’s health and safety function
provides g second line of defence

and carries out regular branch audits
Monthly branch inspection of
performance against KPls with
business Improvement records

issued to manaqers and action
campletions being tracked

Accidents are reported within

24 hours. Investigations are performad
for every case and recommendations
are provided where applicable

Satety, Health, Environment,

and Quality Report submitted to
Compliance Committee covering key
areas (safety, health, environmental,
waste, quality, compliance, and trend
analysis on accident statistics)
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—.. Registered Providers have own

Board structure which includes

five Non-Executive Directors

and an Independent Chair.
Sub-Committee (Assurance and
Operations} meetings are held
which focus on key cantract detalls
The Registerad Providers have been
subject to audit by the Regulator of
Social Housing

Regular Committee meetings are
held on key areas: perfarmance
updates, customer service
performance, compliance {gas,

fire, electrical, and asbestos risk
assessments, and complaints update}

49

1HOA3H D1D3LVRLS

i
T
I
&£
Q
m.
-
wr
mf
I
nd
bl
=
m
2
-
i

GIGHIUTHS

HBOILFHEOANT o



STRATEGIC REPORT

Principal risks

and uncertainties

continued

Risk management process 7 Damage to Reputation

Fallure to recover operations in a
disaster or crisis (business continuity).

Risk level and Change in year

8 Ability to Resource

Reduction in the Group's ability
to attract and retain talent.

Risk level and Change in year

KEY

LIS

Strategic outcome

®C

Strategic outcome

Strategic priorities

g To be recognised as the most
@ trusted large private provider
v

working with the public sector

To have the highest levels
of customer service in the
affordable housing sector

ﬁ@ﬁ

where we operate

To embrace innovation that
EZC:)::E drives positive change such as

digital and carbon reduction

. To maintain and grow a resilient
“?))}| business with long-term
partnerships, a strong balance
sheet and cash position,
along with a committed,
engaged workforce

@@

KPIs associated with risk

®@

KPls associated with risk

—. The amount of time since each plan
was updated

Mitigations

. Staff turnover (monthly)

— Social value per employee (annual)

__ Self-delivery % (monthly)

—. % of apprentices completing their
course and obtaining work {annual}

— Great Place to Work score {(arnuat}

— % of the grade 5+ workfarce who are
womean (annual)

Mitigations

Risk Level

Change in year
@ increase in risk exposure
() Reduction ir risk exposure

(=) No change in risk exposure

50

— Acrisis management policy is in place
— A business continuity plan is in place
for each branch

. Information Security team in place.
Meetings are atiended by Information
Security Group {ISG) and information
asset owners on a monthly basis. The
assef awners are held responsible for
their respective departments’ actions

—- Fenetration testing 1s undertaken
by an external specialist company
Third pAarty review and support forr
training in terms of GDPR requirements

-— On some of the Group’s most sensitive
contracts, the client conducts audcits
that review physical access, security
of hard copies of files and IT
system security

_ Complianece with IS0 27001
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9 Damage to Reputation

Serious damage to or loss of brand
integrity due to poor management of
publicity and external communications.

Risk level and Change in year

1 O Damage to
Reputation
Serious failure to manage housing

sub-contractors,

Risk level and Change in year

1 Damage to Reputation

and Financial Viability
Risk of perceived and actual

discrimination leading to reputationat
damage and financial penalties.

Risk level and Change in year

L 1G]

Strategic outcome

O

Strategic outcome

LS

Strategic cutcome

© @ W

KPIs associated with risk

Ol

KPIs associated with risk

© W

KP!s associated with risk

_.. % of surveyed clients and
poeliticians who regard Mears
as highly responsible (annual)

__ % of overall media coverage
that is positive (monthly)
rustnmer satisfartinn (manthly)

. Complaints {monthly}

Mitigations

- Self-delivery % (monthly)

— Works orders completed on time %
{monthly)

— Right first time % (monthly)

_ Customer satisfaction (manthiy}
rmplaints (manthly)

Mitigations

— Engagement of external public
relations advisory

— All staff are required to follow
the social media paolicy

__ There is & dedicated Group
Head of Communications

— Whistleblowing policy and procedures
in place (for sgme potential adverse
publicity events)

. Staff are given clear directians as
1o how to deal with a press enquiry

— A critical control point (CCP) has
been developed which partly focuses
on Branch compiiance with the
Group's sub-contractor processes

__ Priorto sub-contractaor engagement;
rigorous interview process covering
health and safety and insurance

_ Mears Contract Management
{MCM) holds key sub-contractor
information and documentation

— Payment controls

. Postinspection checks and
monthly performance reviews
of accident statistics)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

—. % of apprentices completing their
course and obtaining work (annuai)

_. % of the grade 5+ workforce who
are women {annuall

Mitigations

—. Social Value Board with external
Board members

. Workforce Strategy Group, consisting
of senior empioyees, addresses key
matters associated with the remit of
data analysis, action planning and
implementation monitoring

... Investment in single HR database
(Warkday) which allows for
improved analysis.

— Gender pay gap is considered
as part of the people plan

— Remuneration Commiitee provides
governance at executive level

~~ Tradeswamen intc maintenance and
social mobitity initiatives in operation
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial review

This section provides further key information in respect of the financial
performance and financial position of the Group to the extent not already
covered in detail within the Chief Executive Officer’s review.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
L AFEs)

The Strategic Report includes both
statutory and adjusted performance
measures, the latter of which considered
useful to stakeholders in projecting a basis
for measuring the underlying performance
of the business and exclude items which
could distort the understanding of
performance in the year and between
perlods, and when comparing the financial
oulputs io those of our peers. The APMs
have been set considering the requirements
and views of the Group’s Investors and

debt funders among othear stakeholders,
The APMs and KPIs are gligned to the
Group's strategy and form the basis of the
performance measures for remuneration.

These APMs should not be considered as
a substitute for or supericr to International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
measures, and the Board has endeavoured
to report both statutory and alternative
measures with equal prominence
throughout the Strateg'c Repoit and
financial statements

The APMs used by the Group are detalled
below with an explanation as to why
management considers the APM to be
useful in helping users to have a better
understanding as to the Group’s underlying
performance. A reconciliation is also
provided to map each non-IFRS

measure to 118 IFRS equivalent.

The Group defines normalised results as
profit before the amortisatior of acquisition
intangibles and other items that are
infrequent or one-off in nature and that
management considers not to be part of
underlying trading. The normalised results
are further adjusted to reflect a full
corporation tax charge of 19%, which will
increase to 23.5% in 2023, The Directors
believe this aids consistency when
comparing to histerical results and provides
less incentive for the Group to participate
in schemes where the primary intertion

is toreduce tho tax charge.

A reconciliation between the statutory profit
measures and the normalised result for both
2022 and 2021is detailed below. In addition,
the Group alsc provides an APM which
reports results before the iImpact of lease
accounting under IFR5 16. Management

has provided this alternative measure at
the request of several shareholders and
market analysts to allow those stakeholders
10 properly assess the results of the Group
over time. In particular, the Directors use
the pre-IFRS 16 measure to generate the
Group’s headline operating margin; whilst
this generates a lower operating margin,

it reflects how the underlying cont-acts
have been tendered and is also more
alignec to cash generation

Far the purposes of assessing the Group’s
compliance with its banking covenants,
the Group utilises the ‘EBITDA pre-IFRS 16
and before non-underlying items’ which

15 defined within the Group's bank

facility agreement.

2022 2021
Continuing activities? Note £'000 [aelele]
Profit/{loss) before tax Statutory 34,8944 16,333
Amortisation of acquired intangibles Note 4/13 245 7654
Non-underlying items See below — 1627
Profit/loss before non-underlying items, amortisation of acquired intangible and tax {adjusted PBT) APM 35185 25,614
Remaval of IFRS 16 profit impact See pelow 2,20 2,876
Fnance costs (non-IFRS 16} Note & (1,268) 1148
Operating profit pre IFRS 16 before nen-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intangibles APM 36,122 29,638
Amnortisation of software ‘ntangibles Note 413 2,055 2123
Deoreciauon and ©ss 01 d'sposal (non-IFRS 16)° Note 14 8,023 5,884
EBITDA pre IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items APM 46,200 37,644
IFRS 16 profit imoact See celow (2.207 (2.876)
Finance costs (IFRS 16) Note & 78610 6,921
Deprec’at on and loss on disposal (IFRS 16)2 Note 15 43,259 43,386
EBITDA post IFRS 16 before non-underlying items and amaortisation of acquired intangibles APM 94,868 85,075
Amort'saton of software intang'h es Note 13 {2.055) {2,123)
Depreciat an and 10ss on disposal (IFRS 16)¢ Note 15 {43,259) (43,388)
Deoreciation avd 10ss on disposal (non-IFRS 16)? Note 14 (8,023) (5,884)
Operating profit post IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items APM 41,531 33,683

1 Operaung profit/loss) ana EBITDA measures include share of profits of associates

2 Inciudes profis on cisposal of £228.000 {2021 £27.000)

3 Includes loss ondispasal of £2,000 (2021, £272,000)
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The profit impact in respect of iFRS 16 is detailed below:

2022 2021

£°000 £000
Charge to income statement on a post-|FRS 16 basis (50,869) {50,307)
Charge to income statement on a pre-IFRS 16 basis (48,668) (47,431
Profit impact from the adoption of IFRS 16 {2,201) {2,876)

SN JRDERBIYING HEMS

Non-underlying items are items which are considered outside normal operations. They are material to the results of the Group through either
their size or nature. These items have been disciosed separately in the adjusted result above to provide a better understanding as to the

underlying performance of the Group. The Directors do not believe there are any items during 2022 which could be considered outside

normai operations.

2022 2021
£'000 [elale;
Repayment or waiver of furlough entitlement - 1.627

In the prior year, the Directors elected to voluntarily repayment and waiver of amounts paid and due under the Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme (‘furlough’). The Directors considered this votuntary repayment to be a non-trading item and, by its nature, unigue and non-recusring.
The size of this item is considered material and the Directors believe it would distort the readers’ understanding of the financial results of

the Group.

AMORTISATION OF ACQUISITION INTANGIBLES

2022 2021
£'000 £°000
Amortisation charge 245 7654

A charge for amaertisation of acquisition intangibles arase in the year of £0.2m (2021: £7.7m}). The charge within the comparative period
predominantly related to the MPS acquisition in 2018, resulting in intangible assets belng identified associated with the order book and
customer relationships. This MPS intangible was fully amortised during 2021. The Directors have consistently explained their rationale for
adjusting for this charge within the Group's alternative profit measure. Whilst the 2022 profit before tax (PBT} on an IFRS basis has increased
by 114%, the adjusted measure has increased by 37%, and the Directors believe the lower figure is morc reflective of the Group's performarce.

The Directors estimate that, in the absence of further acquisitions, the amortisation charge moving forwards will be circa £0.2m per annum.
On this basis, and in the absence of new significant acquisitions, the Directors anticipate that this APM adjustment will not be applied

from 2023,

BARMINGS PER BHARE (BRG]

A reconcihation between the statutory measure for profit for the year attributable to shareholders before and after adjustments for both basic

and diluted EPS is:

Diluted {continuing)

Diluted {discontinued)

Diluted {continuing
and discontinued)

2022 20214 2022 2021 2022 2021

p p P p p p

Earnings per share 2451 150 044 .99 2494 12.49
Effect of amortisation of acquisition Intangisles 022 677 - - 0.22 677
Effect of full tax charge adjustment {0.22) {1.21) {0.05) {0.32) {0.26) (153)
Effect of non-underlying items - 117 — — - 117
Noermalised earnings per share 24.51 18.23 0.39 0.67 24.90 18.90

Continuing Discontinued Continuing and discontinued

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

€000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

Profit attributable to shareholders 27.813 12,997 494 1122 28,307 1419
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 245 7654 - - 245 7654
Full tax adjustment {245} [1.365) {59) {367 (300) 1.726)
Exceptiona costs — 1,318 - - — 1318
Normalised earnings 27813 20,604 439 761 28,252 21,365
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial review continued

WET LAt 3he T
The Group exciudes the financial impact of IFRS 16 from its adjusted net debt measure. This adjusted net debt measure has been introduced
to align the net worrowing definition to the Group's vanking covenants, which are required to be stated beforc the impact of IFRS 16,

The Group utilises leases &s part of its day-1o-day business providing over 10,000 residential properties to vulnerable service users and key
workers. The Group does not recognise these lease obligations as traditional debt instruments given a significant proportion of these leases
have break provisions which allow the Group to cancel the associated lease obligation with minimal associated cost. A reconciliation between
the reported net cash/{debt) and the adjusted measure is detailed below:

2022 2021
Note £'000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents 98138 54,632
Cash deposis (repo-ted in snort-term financial assets) 1,963 -
Revolving credit facility — -
Adjusted net cash/{debt) AFPM 100,101 54,632
Lease iiabilities (current) Note 20 (44,376) (41,6001
Lease lighiites (non-current) Note 20 (181,045) {(175,250)
Total Statutory (125.320) (162,258)
DISCOMTINUED ACTIWITIES
2022 2021
£000 £'000
Expenditure {261) (160}
Increase in farr va.ue of cont.ngent considerat'on 803 1100
Profit for the year before tax on discontinued ope-at'ons 542 940
Tax on discontinued operations (48} 182
Profit far the year after tax on discontinued operations 494 1122

As detailed within the 2020 Annual Report, the Group completed disposals of both the Domiciliary Care and Planning Solutions businesses.
The consideration payable to the Company in respect of the Planning Soluticns business, ‘Terraquest’, was structured with a mix of cash
and contingent consideration, together with loan notes and a minority shareholding which gives the Group same cortinued participation

at a low level.

The final contingent consideration in respect of Terraguest was settled during 2022 at £7.33m versus the fair value carrnied in the prior year
of £6.50m. This additional profit has been recognised within discont'nued activities. A small amount of expenditure was incurred in respect
of these historical ousinesses, which is recognised in discontinued operations.

TAaXATION

Mears does not engage it artificial tax planning arrangements but takes advantage of available tax reliefs. The tax position In any transaction
is aligned with the commercial reality and any tax planning is consistent with the spirit as well as the letter of tax law. Mears has a low appetite
for risk and, when making decisions regarding tax, reputational and commercial as well as financial risks are considered. Given the Group’s
activities are largely involved in servicing public sector clients, the risk of reputational damage flowing from a tax compliance failure is higher
than in other sectors. This leads the Group to take a risk averse approach if there is an element of uncertainty regarding a particular treatment.

The Group ‘normalises’ its headline EPS measure to reflect a full tax charge. In so doing, the Board has removed from its primary performance
measure any potentially positive impact that could be achieved through reducing the Group's corparation tax charge.

TAXES PAID

Further detall in respect of the taxes paid during 2022 are detailed below:

Taxes borne Tax collected Total

&m £m £m

Coraoraton tax 57 57
VAT and nsurance pre mum tax 0.6 10.2 0.8
Const-uct on industry tax - 73 73
Income taxes 08 234 24.2
Natona insuraice 12.5 16.8 293
Total 19.5 1577 1771.2
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BALANCE SHEET

Overall, the Group reported an increase in net assets from £201.0m ioc £213.8m driven by retained profits generated n the year, net of
a reduction in the pension surplus. The key balance sheet categaries are reparted below together with a brief footnote Lo provide
further explanation:

LYO0d3Y JIDILYHLS

2022 2021 2022 2021
Nan current assets Note £m £m Current liabilities Naote &m £m
Gogdwll 1 121.9 1.9 Iradc poyables 7 {171.0) 1184.0)
intangible assets 2 75 66 Current lease liabilities 4 (44.4) (41.6)
Property, plant and equisment 3 202 207 Provisions 10 {8.8] 4.5)
Right of use assets 4 213.4 2049 (224.2) {2304)
Investments and lean notes 5 5.3 4.2 MNon-current liabilitics
Pension assets 6 268 506 Pensicn liabilities 5 37 7.0y

3951 A406.0 Deferred tax liab'lity 1 (4.9) 6.7 g
Current assete Non-current lease liabllities 4 (181.0) {175.3) E
Inventories 7 6.9 229 Other non-current labilities 12 {0.7} - §
Trade recevables 7 1283 148.3 Non-current provisions 13 (3.1 (3.8) Q
Corporaton tax asset 8 0.5 22 (192.8) (202.8) 2
Bank, cash and deoos'ts g 1001 546 Total liabilities {417.0) {432.9) E

2358 2280 i
Total assets 630.8 6339  Total net assets 2138 2010 z

m

1 Thisis goodwill generated from previous acquisitions, the cairying value is tested at least annually for impairmen?

2 Thisincludes software development costs of £5.0m (2021, £4 Om) which primarily relates to in-house developments to our key operational IT platforms. This was
increasec by the accuisizion of IRT which saw a new balance of £1m acquired and censolidaied; this is being wntten off over the estimated useful economic ife, which
is typically B years in respect of the Mears IT systemn development but 10 years in respect of the IRT asset This balance also includes acquisiion intangibles af £2.4m
(2021 £2.6m) relating 1o customer relationships icentified and valued on acguisitions and being amortised over the estimated useful economic Iife of 20 years.

3 Property, plant, and equipment s stated at histoncal cost of £47.4m (2021, £57.3m) less accumulated depreciation of £27.2m (2021 £36.6m), giving a net carrying value
of £20.2m (2021 £20 7m). Mcars histarically has a track recard of delivening ergamic growthin the core Housing activitios with a low requirement for capital cxpenditure,
When the Group secures a new contract, the Group will typically open an office in that locality delivening services to this single client, whiist Mears will typically lease the
site office, improvements are often required to ensure that the property is set up to deliver the required services, and | T infrastructure and equipment is also required,
and all this spend 1s typically capitalised.

4 Leasing properties for rental Lo tenants 1S an important part of the Mears’ Housing offering. As a result, Mears currently holds leases for over 10,000 residential property
leases and this number is increasing over ime, The way 1n which the Group manages and balances the cperational and financial risks asscciatec with its contractual
obligatons and leasing commitments is important The Group seeks to strike a balance between its operational requirements and the negative financial impact of IFRS 16.
Asignificant number of loases provide Mcars a one-way break option which typically provides the ability 1o oxit the lease, having given 30 days’ notice This provides the
Group ultimate flexibility if volumes reduce. Where the Group docs not have the right to break, lcases are typically matched to the underlying contract length which gives
comfort that an obligation will not remain dnce the requirement for that asset has passed. The Group has a high number of shart-term leases which, as a pract'cal
cxpedient within IFRS 16, are not required 1o be reflected on te balance sheet, but can result m a greater operational nsk if suitable properties are in shart supply.

In addition to the residential property leases, the Group holds over 3,500 other leases relating to vehicles anc offices

5 Thic predominantly relates to an investment sver which e Gioup has slgnificant influence but which it does not control This s categorised as an associate. Itis
presumed that the Group has significant influence where it has between 20% and 50% of the vating nights in the investee unless indicated otherwise; the carrying value
reflects the cost of each investment together with the Group's share of the profit generated by that entity since acguisition.

Loan notes are Iinked to the disposal of Terraquest in 2020. The Group received £3.36m in loan notes accruing an interest rate of 10% per annum, payable on redemption
This carrying value, inclusive of accrued interes:, has increased to €£4.1m.

& The Group participates in twe principal Group defined benefit pension schemes together with a further 15 individual defined benefit schemes where the Group has
received Admitted Body status in a Lecal Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). These are covered in greater detail befow

7 working capital balances include rade receivables, trade payables, and inventories; further explanation 1s provided within the working capital management section
that follows.

8 Al Group profits are chargeable to corporation tax at the headline rate of 19%, which increases to 25% in April 2023, The Gioup 1s required (0 make guarterly paymen:s,
meaning any creditor outstanding at the period end is relatively low, ang in the case of the fast two perod ends, the Group has been due a carporalion tax retund.

9 The Group has reported a cash nalance at the year end of £38 1m. Whilst the spot number at the balance sheet date drives a key metnc, of more impartance is the
Group's treasury performance over 365 days This s coverad in greater detail below In addition o the reported cash number, the Graup held treasury depasits of £2.0m.
However, given the deposits maturily was greater than three months, it1s not Included within the cash figures, bu: instead classed as a financal asset.

10 A provision is a hability of uaceriain Liming or amount. Provisians can be distinguished from other liabilties such as trade payables and accruals because there is
uncertainty about the uming or amount of the future expandizure required in settlement. The provision of £8.8m within current liabilities relates to a number of legal claims
where the Directors have made an assessent as to the likely loss Addiuonal detail is provided within note 22 to the financlal statements The provision of £3 1m within
non-curren: habilities relates to insurance losses which the Group chaoses to self-insure.

11 A deferred tax liability of £4.9m (2021: £6.7m) 1s recognised on temporary differences between the treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes Tax losses
generated ' previous years which are expected to be utilised against future prafits are recogrised as a deferred tax asset and a subsequent charge a‘ises as those
losses are utilised Deferred tax is also recngnised on short-term temporary timing differences, primarily relating te provisions These cifferences are expected la reversce
n the following year and anse because tax relief is only available when the costs arc incurred. Capital allowances represent tax relief on the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment and are spread over several years at rates set by legisiation Trese differ fram depreciation, which 1s an estimate of the use of anitem of praperty, plant,
and equipmant over its useful life. Deferred 1ax is recagnised on the difference between the remaining value of such an asset for tax purposes and 1ts carrying value
n the accounts.

12 Other payables include pravisions relating to the Group's insurance 1isks and a small number of contract related provisions which arise when the unavoidable costs
of meeurg contractual abligatiens exceed tha remuneration expected to be received.

SEIMZNILIYLIS TYIDNY NI
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial review continued

PENSIONS
The Group's defined benefit pension arrangement can be categorised three ways:

_. Two principal Group pension schemes, where the Group is fully at risk over the long term,

Five indemnified defined benefit schemes where the Group has received Admitted Body status iin an LGRS, but where the Group holds a
back-te-back indemnity under the associated customer contract which removes the Group's exposure to changes in pension centributions

and any future deficit nsk.

- 10 cther defined benefit schemes, the majority of which are LGPS, but where there is no indemnity in place. However, the risk attached
ta these schemes matches the time hanzon of the underlying contract; whilst not removing risk, it reduces the period aver which deficit

can arise, and therefcre the Group 's fully at risk over the medium term.

The two principal Group schemes enjoy a strong financial position and have done consistently over the last 10 years. Both schemes are
relatively mature, and most assets held are matched to the underlying obligations. It was pleasing to reach g position where both Group
schemes have reached a positicn where they can be considered largely self-sufficient. The Directors are really pleased with the performance
of the scheme managers and trustees who have managed this pension nsk s well over many years o reach the position reported today.

The Directors are comfortable with the position of the indemnified and other schemes. There is anly a single scheme reporting a deficit,
and In that instance the Group benefits fram an indemnity, The Group enjoys a significant surplus an many of other schemes, but these are

notrecognised as assets as there is uncertainty around the ability to recover a surplus.

The pension disclosure is split on the face of the balance sheet between non-current asseis and non-current liabnlities, In additon, the pension
guarantes assets are reported separately from their associated liabilities, which complies with accounting standards but is less easy for the

reader to understand how the individual components fit together.

2022 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2021

Group Indemnified Other Total Group  Indemmficd Qther Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £°000 £000 £°000 £'000

Total scheme assets 128,023 63,848 52,596 261,712 186,912 214,330 81,749 493,483
Total obligations (104,351 (50,995) (36748) (202,763) (159267 (198,337 (76,423) (435,089
Funded status 23,672 12,853 15,848 58,949 37651 15,443 5,326 58,394
Surpluses rotrecognised as assets - (15,989) {15,848) (38,413) - (28,418} 19.320) (37.738)
Penslon surplus/liability 23672 {3,136) - 20,536 37651 (12,975} {3,994) 20,656
Guarantee assel - 3,136 - 3136 - 12975 - 12,975
Net position 23,672 - - 23,672 37651 - (3,.994) 3363
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CASH FLOW AND WORKING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has delivered excellent operating cash flows over recent years with strong underlying EBITDA Lo operating cash conversion.
Mears has always fastarad a strong ‘cash culiure’, wherehy the Group's front line operations understand that invoicing and cash coliection are
intrinsically linked, and that a warks order is not complete until the monies are banked. This culture has underpinned strong cash performance
over many years. The reported cash conversicn has been enhanced further as the working capital absorbed within the Group's Development
aclivities has seen working capital reduced to below £2m {2021 £12m). However, without this enhancement, the Group would still have
delivered EBITDA to operating cash of more than 110%.

lUGd3ad JID3LVHLES

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Profit befare tax 34,844 16,333
Net finance costs 6,341 8,069
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 245 7654
Depreciation and amortisation 53,562 51,392 N
EBITDA 95,002 83,448 e
=
Other adjustments 376 {1,213) o
3
Change in inventories 15,891 12,944 p
i
Change in operating receivables 13,855 (2,244) o
]
Change in operating payables and provisions {9,760} (32,573) =
Operating cash flow 115,554 60,362 g
In
EBITDA to operating cash conversion 122% 72% (2;
m
The Group reported an adjusted net cash position at the year end of £100.1m (2021: £54.6m). Whilst it is pleasing to report a strong cash
position within the vear end balance sheet, of much greater significance is the performance over the 365-day penoed. Positively, the strong
year end performance is also mirrored in the average daily adjusted net cash for the year at £42.9m (2021 £0.4m}.
2022 201
£'000 000 -
Average daily adjusted net cash 42,880 400 z
4
Adjusted net cash at 31 December 100,101 54,632 o
z
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial review continued

The average month end trade receivable and trade payable balance reflects strong waorking capital management duning the period. The
significant reduction is largely due to the unwind of working capital from Development activities, which released around £10m during the
penod. The core Housing activities have historically absorbed a relatively low level of working capital when compared with the size of the
business and the profit generated. The business has benefitted from payments received on account; however, even if excluding this temporary
benefit, the adjusted measure would reflect strong performance.

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Receivables 153.7 181.5
Payables (1597} (1651
Net working capital {6.0) 16.5

BANKING AND FINANCIAL COVENANTS

The Group has & simple approach to its debt funding arrangements, holding a single revolving credit facility (RCF) which provides a total
commitment of £70m bui allows the Group to draw down monies as required, mirroring an overdraft facility. The Board is grateful for the
tremendous support that has been provided 1o the Group by its banking partners. A number of thase relatonships extend over decades.

The financial covenants included within the RCF, which are tested twice-yearly on 30 June and 31 December, are detailed below. Given the
Group traded on a net cash basis throughout 2022, and enjoyed an associated finance credit, there is significant headroom. Nevertheless,
the Direciors have completed a Viability Review and stress tested the Group’s resilience given several downside scenarios.

Covenant Formulae Covenant ratio
Leverage Consolidated net borrowing divided by Adjusted consolidated EBITDA 3.00x
Interesi cover Adjusted consolidated EBITDAT divided by Consoclidated net finance charges®* 3.50%

Adjusted EBLTDA on aralling 12-month basis, pre IFRS 16, and stated before non-underlying ntems anag share-based payments
Net finance charges comprise all commission, fees, and other finance charges payable in respect of financial indebtedness. This excludes income/tasts relating 16
Group pension ar-angements

A margin ratchet ranging from 1.75-2.75% is applied to drawdowns under the RCF, determined by the Group's leverage ratio at each quarter
end. This margin is payable in addition to the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SCNI1A) being the Bank of England risk-free rate for Sterling
markets. Given the strong liquidity and ¢ash performance, the Board's expectation would be for the margin payable duning 2023 to be at the
bottom end of the range.

ANDREW SMIiTH
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
28 April 2023
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Financial viability review

In accordance with C.2.2 of The UK Corporate  The resulting financial model assesses the ability of the Group to remain within financial @
Governance Code 2014, the Directors are covenants and liquidity headroom of existing committed facilities. The financial highlights g
requirec 1o assess the viability of the QFOUP in respect of the base case are not detailed within this report as they are consideren “
over the medium to longer term. A period commercially sensitive. g
of five years has been chosen as it reflects b
the average contract ‘9”9“’ fexcluding A range of scenarios that encompass the principal risks were applied to the base case and =
extensions) of the Group's contract estate. : . m
Whilst the Gronp holds contrarts which are set out in the tables below. These downside cases were prepared by management to k]
extend beyond this time herizon, a period illustrate the Impact of adverse changes in key vanables used within the base case torecast g
of greater than five years was considerad and projections. These downside cases were intended to illustrate a reasonable worst-case e
too long, given the inherent uncertainties scenario which could affect solvency or liguidity in 'severe but plausible’ scenarios.

of farecasting to distant time horizons. The analysis also considered a reverse stress test scenario to understand the reduction

required 1o cause a breach of interest cover covenant.
In making this statement, the Board has

considered its principal risks. The principal The Directors have considered three scenarios and the following sensitivities have been
risks are set cut on pages 47 1o 51and are applied to each downside case:
those which are considered to threaten the 3
Group's future performance, solvency, and Scentario Assumption Associated principal risk ]
. . , e R f T
LI)QU\dC\]tM R;;ksl'irel‘l%dergm?d as ‘principal d 1 Failure to re-secure any material -— Risk 1. Contract faillure %
thase On,t ef' he hoo ? occ;rr(esnce an Significant contracts on re-bid resulting in _. Risk 3: Palitical and ™
e, severity oft 'f: impact on the - rogp. deterioration i £213m of annual revenue lost market disruptions -
This assessment includes the availability eterioration in . ‘ o A
A ) ) Group’s biddin over review period __ Risk 8: Ability to resource @
and effectiveness of mitigating actions that P 9 Risk & D brand o]
Id realistically be taken to reduce the success on — Risk 9 Damage to bran =
cou Y f derlvi ik contract re-bids .- Risk 10: Failure to manage ‘;‘
impact or D;CU!(OHFG of the Lm, erlying risks. sUbcontractons z
In considering the likely effectiveness of ; i )
) — Risk 11: Discrimination P
such actions, the Board also takes com®ort - - - [ a
from the work of the Audit and Risk 2 Deficit between sales rate increases _ Risk 3: Political and i
Cammittee for monitoring and reviewing the Inflation/ compared with cost base resulting in rmarket disruptions
integrity and effectiveness of the Group’s employee/supply a8 _1,5% reduction in ?perat\ng margin. Risk 3: Abi!ity to resource
overall systems for risk management as chain disruption ~ ©iven the low margin nature of the Risk 10: Failure to manage
detailed on pages 44 to 46. business, a small increase in the cost subcontractors
base which is not recovered
These base case projections for viability In charge rate increases can ul
purposes have been made using cause significant margin dilution. E
o oz [ e ——— 4
prudent assumptions: 3 Cyber breach impacting uaon lead .. Risk 4: Breach in data security el
aperating systems causing an .. Risk 7: Business continuit; =
__ Forecast built up on a contract-by- Cyher perating sy . aa Y =
h additional 10 days’ revenue tied .
contract basis for the next twelve months ‘ i tal @
and extended for the following four years. o lfp,,m warking tapita - _ =
The forecast for 2023 is based upon i
revenues generated from existing SCENARIO g
customer relstionships, and a business This downside scenario assumes a negative outcome in respect of contract renewals. Given z
that is generating contract margins 1hat the average contract length of circa five years, several key contracts will come up for renewal 5

are in line with recent run rates.

__ The forecast assumes no new work is
secured. The base case assumes that
contracts are re-secured on re-tender,

over the viability review period. The Group has a good track record of securing work on
re-bid. However, for the purposes of this viability review, management has assumed a
significant detertoration in the Group’s performance in this area, possibly following a

hut reflects some revenue reduction significant event which has impacted negatively on the Group's reputation in the sector “
from existing cliants, when it is The Group has modetled a downside scenario where it fails to re-secure any material g
currently anticipated that there may contracts that come up for re-bid during the period 2023 to 2026. The impact upon o
be no further oppartunity upon expiry revenue of th's assumption is detailed below: g
of the current contract. ) o
The model also reflects the normalisation  Sentract Annualvalue £m Expiry date 5
of the AASC, with revenues reducinglto Cortract A £53m 2034° iy
a level closer to the original expectation. -
. The Board recognises that it is notimmune  Contract B £15m 2024~ z
to labour shortages, supply chain challenges, R a
and inflaticnary pressures, and has included Contract C £22m 2024 g
a contingency amounting to circa 1% on Contract D C54m 2024* -
Group costs {excluding direct labour) pe
within its base financial forecasts to reflect Contract £ £20m 2025 2
this uncertainty. o Contract F £10m 2025
The model assumes no significant
changes in working capital performance. Contract G £23m 2025
__ The model assumes small-scale propert
Property  Contract H £16m 2025

purchases to augment the delivery of
the AASC, Total annual value in 2026 £213m
. Future dividends continue in line with
current policy.
.. Nochanges to Group structure.

The 2024 contract expiries are all modelted as losses for enure financial year, albeit the contracts end
i1 Mareh 2024
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial viability review continued

Key financial autput, scenaric 1 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Leverage headroom £m 1774 1021 498 446 43.0

SCENARIO 2: INFLATION

This downside scenario assumes a negative oulcome in balancing customer price increases
with the Group’s cost base. The Group historically has a good track record of contralling costs
in a low margin environment; however, for the purposes of this viability review, the Directors
have modelied a downside scenaric where the Group experiences a 1.5% reduction in
operating margin for the entire review period. The impact upon revenue of this assumption

is detailed below:

Key inancial output. scenaric 2 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Leverage headroom £m 1285 147 993 1016 105.4

SCEMNARIO 3: CYBER BREACH

This scenario assumes a cyber breach which impacts negatively in respect of the Group’s
operational systems. In the case of this modelied scenario, the Directars have assumed

that this results in a significart deterioration in the cash collect-an measurements, being an
increase in the time period between the completion of works and the receipt of cash from the
Group's clients, (This scenario assumes a permanent deterioration in respect of the contract
asset collection period, increasing by 10 days. Whilst tc model a scenario where the Group
experiences a permanent deterioration in working capital is considered particularly
pessimistic, such a scenario 1s helpful to the Directors to further stress test the

viability review when taking a combinatian of downside scenarios.

Key financial cutput, scenaric 3 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Leverage headroom 156.6 145.9 131.0 1377 1461

SCEMNARIC 4 A COMBINATION CF BOTH SCENARIOS 1AND 2

The Directors also modelled the impact fram the occurrence of both downside scenaros 1and
2 occurnng concurrently, which is felt to be a plausible combination given operational failures
could lead to both margin dilution and attrition.

Key financial cutput, Scenario 4 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Leverage headroom £m 128.5 562.0 14.2 63 05

No mitigating actions were included within either scenario, which was considered
conservative but not entirely realistic. Mitigating actions available to management include
areduction in discretionary capital expenditure, changes to dividend policy, and more
robust working capital management aro.nd covenant test dates. In addition, upsides that
are available to the base case include generating an iTproved margin at a local contract
level over and above the curent -un rate and securing new contract awards.

In addition to the four scenarios, the Board tested the sensitivity of the business to increasing
the severity of the assumptlions detailed in each case, to measure the trigger points at which
the viability of the Group, In the absence of further mitigations, could be impacted.

Scenano 1assumes that all revenue is lost on re-bid and in isolation this would not impact
on the viability of the business. Were the Group 1o see existing contracts terminated before
their ime, this could iImpact upon covenants and funding levels, and could inevitably
impact upon viability

. Scenario 2 assumes a detenaration in operating margin. The Directors recognise that if
operating margins were to reduce by a further 3%, in addition to the modelled scenario,
tren 11is would impact upen the salvency and liquidity, 2and ultimately the viability,
of the Group.

60

— Scenario 3 shows a change In net cash/
(debt) by circa £8m for a change of five
days in the contract asset collection
period. Given the significant headroom
within the existing banking facilities. it is
not considered plausible that the
collection period could deteriorate to
such an extent as to result in exceeding
the available banking facilities.

The viability review also considered the
increasing risk that fines can be levied
upor companies for non-compliance in
areas such as health and safety and cata
protection. The fines applied are
discretionary based on the nature, gravity,
and culpability of the company but fines are
applied based upon a percentage of Group
revenue. In a low margin business such

as Mears, any single fine could have a
significant and proportionate impact upon
retained profits. Whilst such an event could
be damaging, it would not be expected to
ultimately impact on the long-term viaoility
of the Group. Both health and safety, anc IT
and data feature high on the G-oup's

risk register and we continually review

our mitigating actions to ensure that

we minim’se our residual risk,

The Group's existing debt facllities run to
December 2026. The future viabllity review
extends beyond this date and therefore
assumes that there will be enough appetite
from our existing or new funders to provide
the required level of funding on similar terms

The Directors recognise that there is
naturally uncertainty within any forecast and
this uncertainty increases as the projections
cover a five-year penod, The conclusion
atlzched to the viability ~eview was that
there was a reasconable expectation that
the Group will continue In operation and
would be able to continue to meet liabilities
as they fall due over the five-year period of
business planning

This Strategic Report was approved
by the Board or 28 Apit 2023

o AMILES
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
david.miles@mearsgroup.co.uk
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Non-financial Statement

Reporting requirement

Stakeholders -
(customers,
suppliers, etc)

Policies and standards which govern aur approach

Responsible Business Charter

Data protection

Responses to Social Housing White Paper,
Procurement Green Paper and the Decent
Homes Review

Scottish Business Fledge

IS0 44001 (collaboration in contract management)
Monitoring right first time, customer cemptaints,
customer saticfaclion

Additional information and risk management

Board activities — page 68

s.172 Statement - page 27

Awards and accreditations — page 4-5
Market drivers — page 18-12

Business model — page 20

Customer satisfaction — page 24
Stakeholder engagement — page 69

Environmental matters —

ESG approach
‘Our Path to Net Zero” document

. FTSE4Good membership

1S0 14001 {Environmental
Management System} certification

ESG reporting website
www.mearsgroup.co.uk/esg/esg

ESG approach - page 30

TCFD statement — page 38

Carbon emissions statement — page 41

‘Our Path to Net Zero’ — page 42
Ervironment and waste recycling — page 32

Employees

Whisttieblowing;

Family Friendly policy

Safeguarding

Equality, diversity, and inclusion

Approach to Labour Standards compliance
Launch of 8 socially responsible business plan
to attract and retain staff and go further on
our diversity and inclusion plans

2025 Strategy

. Health and safety

Red Thread approach
RoSPA Order of Distinction

Our people — page 12

Gender Pay Gap Report — page 31
Gaovernance Report — page 62
Remuneration Report — page 80
Awards and accreditations — page 4-5
Health and safety — page 25

Human rights —

Modern slavery and human trafficking;

. Preventing engagement of child labour

Whistleblowing paliry
Family Friendly policy

Modern Stavery Act — page 35
Corporate Governance — page 62

Anti—b”rribery
and corruption

Anti-bribery and corruption

Independent research into ethical procurement
sponsored by Mears

Responsible Business Charter

Governance — page 62
Report of the Audit and Risk Committee —
page 74

Social matters —

ESG approach

ESG Board

‘Our Path to Net Zero' document
Social Value UK Certificate Level 2
FTSE4Gcoed Index

Mears Scrutiny Board

Social Mobility Index

ESG approach — page 30

‘Our Path to Net Zero’ document — page 42
Awards and accreditations — page 4-5
Governance — page 62

Stakeholder engagement — page 69

Description of principal
risks and impact of
business activity

Risk management — page 44
Principal risks — page 47
Business model — page 20

Description of
businecss model

Business mode! — page 20

Non-financial KPls
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page 74

Strategic Report — page 1
Corporate Governance — page 62
Report of the Audit and Risk Commitiee —

o1

ADNVHHEIACD LY HOAHECD L¥0d3ad J193LVHILS

SLEMBWELVLS VIO Y NI

NOILTWHOAMN] HEGTOHIUTHS




CORPQRATE GOVERNANCE

Our corporate governance compliance statement

This section of the Annual
Report sets out how the Introduction to corporate governance
Company is governed. It
prOVides biographical and .. Chairman's introduction Page 63
service details about the
Board of Directors and

discusses the composition JEEENCREERETE o {eE s KTa VI
of the Board, how that

... Beard of Directors Page 64
haS been developed‘ Pries and razponshilitios Mage GG
and the Board evaluation _ Corporate governance framework Page 67

. . __ Key Board activities In 2022 Page 68
process entered into In Stakeholder engagement Page 69

2022, It discusses how
the Board assures itself as
to Company performance Composition, succession and evaluation
and sets out the key areas

. _ _. Board composition, development and evaluation Page 71
which were SUb}eCt to Report of the Nominations Committee Page 72
significant Board review
and discussion in 2022.
Finally, it sets out how Audit, risk and internal controls
the Board communicated
with shareholders and
key stakeholders.

-.. Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees Page 74

Remuneration

_ Report of the Remuneration Committee Page 80
. Report of the Directors Page 88
_. Statement of Directors’ responsibilities Page 100
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Chairman’s introduction

Mears’ strong corporate culture is key to

the Company's long-term sustainable success
and, accordingly, the promotion of this culture
is an important element of the debates that
take place at each Board meeting.

On behaif of the Board, | am pleased

to introduce the corporate governance
report for 2022. The overall purpose of this
reporlis to brief stakeholders on how the
Board undertakes its responsibilities for
the leadership of the Company and for

the promotion of its long-term sustainable
success. During 2022, the Board considers
that it was compliant with the principles

of good governance set outinthe UK
Corporate Governance Code 2018

{the ‘Code’).

MANAGEMENT AND BOARD SUCCESSION
A major preoccupation for the Board in 2022
was the selection of Lucas Critchley as the
Group’s prospective new CEO and the
senior management reorganisation which
will accompany both this change and the
relirement of Alan Long as an Executive
Director. Alan left the Board atthe end of
2022 and Lucas joined as an Executive
Director on 1 January 2023, It is intended
that _ucas will become CEO during the
course of this year and David Miles will

then retire from the Board,

As set out in my letter al the front of this
Annual Report, | have decided not to seek
re-election 1o the Board at the AGM

in 2023, Accordingly, one task for the
Board in 2022 was 1o select my successor,
After deliberation in the Nominations
Committee, without my participation, it was
decided 1o appoint our Senior Independent
Director, Chris Loughlin, to the role. More
detail can be found in the Report of the
Nominations Committee.

During 2022, the Board also considered
the role of the Employee Director as one
mechanism for ensuring that the ‘employee
voice’ is heard at the Board table. We
cancluded that 1t would be appropriate
to continue with such a posilion. Claire
Gibbard’s term in that role came to an
end in December 2022 and the Board
appointed Hema Nar to succeed her.
More details can be found in the Report
of the Nominations Committee.

PEOPLE AND CLHTURE

Mears' strong corporate culiure is key

to the Company's long-term sustainable
success and, accordingly, the promotion
of this culture is an important element of
the debates that take place at each Board
meeting. We consider that the wellbeing of
our workforce and our customers is critical
to the creation of long-term commercial
value for stakeholders and sharehoclders.

At each Board meeling, there 1s a discussion
of key workforce 1ssues, illuminated by staff
survey data, workforce diversity analysis,
staff training and development information,
and the report of the Employee Director.
During 2022, the Employee Director created
a new body, the Employee Forum, whose
purpose is to bring together colleagues
fram all areas of the business to discuss
common issues and make recommendations
for change to management and Board.

The first meeting of the Forum locked

at the ef‘ectiveness of the recruitment of
apprentices and the Company’s induction
programme. It also reviewed the results

of the Best Companias Survey.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

In a similar vein, each Beard meeting
examines data on customer complaints

and commendations. In addition, the Board
reviews the annual report of the Mears
Customer Scrutiny Beard, holding a
discussion with the chairman of that body,
Terrie Alafat. The Board also reviews the
social value activities of the Company’s
employees at each meeting and once a

year considers the report of the Company’s
ESG Board. That body consists of three
independent members with expertise in the
effective development of diversity and social
value and is chaired by an Exacutive Director.

In all of these ways, the Board seeks to
contribute to the Company's objective of
becoming the most socially responsible
business in the UK housing sector by 2025.

STRATEGY

Ouring the first quarter of 2022, the Board
re-examined the Group's five-year plan, first
created in 2021, We conciuded that Mears
should remain a specialist praovider of
housing services, largely to the public sector.
We will continue to strengthen our leadership
position, graw where profitable opportunities
exist, and develop our offer to improve the
environmental footprint of the UK's public
housing stock. We will use smaltl-scale M&A
as a tool to develop our capabilities where
that I1s the most effective mechanism to

do so. We are develoning our plans to

limit the environmantal impact which our
operations have on the planet and on our
local communities. We will be recognised

as a leading socially responsible company
and one of the UK's Best Large Companies
to Work For.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company, primarily through the
management team but also at Chairman
level, maintains a close dialogue with its
major shareholders. Each Baard meeting
recelves a report on investor relations issues,
with a discussion on changes and trends,
and there is a discussicn about anything of
impartance that has emerged. It is important
that all Board members understand the
main reasons why majar snareholders are
supporters of the Group and what their key
issues are so as to ensure that the voice of
the owners is also brought into beardroom
discussions and decision making.

AGM

I lock forward to meeting in person any
shareholders who wish to come to the
farthcoming Annual General Meeting.

K MURPHY

CHAIRMAN
28 April 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

KIERAN MURPHY DAVID J MILES - ANDREW LUCAS CRITCHLEY ANGELA
Chairman . Chief Executive Officer C M SMITH Chief Operating Officer LOCKWOOD
' Chief Financial Officer Non-Exe¢utive Director
Age Age Age Age Age
64 57 S0 a0 60
Tenure i o Tenur; ;;u;e Tenure Tenure
4 years | 26years (16 years 23 yeas (16 years 19 years {Joined the Board 1year

Skills and experience
K'eran 1s a very
experienced Non-
Executive Director

and Chairman. He spent
much of s executyve
career working in finance.
At Kleinwort Bensan, he
oulta ma-ket-leading
corporate finance advisory
tusinessin the bulding
and constraction ssctar
and became a membaor

of the bank’s Investment
Bank Management
Committee. More recently,
at Gleacher Shacklock,
Kieran extended n s
advisory work Into the
ousiness services sectar

Principal external
appointments
Acaxs SA,
University of Londan

Departing 2023

o4

or thc Board)

Skills and experience
David joincd Mears in
May *996 and, anor to

his appointment to the
Board in Janua-y 2007,
was Managing Cirector of
e Mears Social Housing
division Before joming
Mears, David held a senior
posit'on with the MITIE
Group. His background s
In glectneal engineenng.

Principal external
appointments
None

Retiring 2623

onthe Board)

Skills and experience
Andrew ‘o ned Mears
111999 and, prior to
his appointment to the

Board. was Chief Financ.al

Officer covenng the
Group's subsidiaries.
Andrew gaalified as a
Chartered Accountant
N 1994 and workec in
professional practce
zror tojoining Mears,

Principal external
appointments
Nane

on 1 January 2023)

Skills and experience
Lucas graduated with a BA
in Business and Commerce,
Joining tne Company as

a husiness apprentice in
2004. He has worked his
way up through ousiness
development and
operat'onal rales with'n

the Group to join the
Executive Board 'n

2023. He nas hands-on
experience of running
contracts tiroughout his
time at Mears, becoming
Qoerations Director in 2017
and Group Chief Qperating
Officer 1n 2021, Now inn's
19th year with Mears, Lucas
has been an~ounced as
the successor as Chief
Executive to Dav'd Miles
who will retire 1n 2023,

Principal external

appointments
None

Skills and experience
Angela has extens’ve
experience gained from
acareerm nousing
soanning 30 years.
Stacting her caree- at
Sunderand Council,
Ange.a then worked
for Home Hausing and
subsequently joned
Endeavour Hous ' ng
Association, firstly as
Housing Director and
then Managing Director
She joned North Star
in 2008, holding the
position of CEO.

Ange a nolds an MBA
and 1s a Fellow of the
Chartered [nsttute

of Housing

Principal external
appointments
CEQ of Na-th Star Hoeus ng.
Josepn Rowntree Housing
Trust, Nat'onal Heasing
Federation Board, NE
Adv'sory Board of BITC
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HEMA NAR

Employee Director

Age
46
Tenure

Anpeointed on 1 January
2023

CHRISTOPHER
LOUGHLIN
Non-Executive Director,
Senior Independent
Director, Remuneration
Committee Chair

DAME JULIA
UNWIN

Independent
Nan-Executive Director

¢

JIM CLARKE
Independent
Non-Executive
Director and Audit and
Risk Committee Chair

Age Age Age
70 66 53
Tenure Tenure Tenure
3 years 7 years 3 years

Skills and experience
Hema read Law at
university and has over 20
years' bid management
experience, predom’nantly
in the social nousing
sector. She has worked for
Mears since 2020 as a Bid
Manager in the central
business develapment
function as well as
previously from 2014-2018
and before that worked for
a Housing Association

Principal external
appointments
Naone
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Skills and experience
Chris 1s a very experienced
CEO. His last executive
role, prior to his retirement
‘n 2020, was Chief
Executive Officer of
Pennon Group plc, the
listed company which
owned South West Water
and the waste business
Vindor. He was previously
CEOQ of South West Water
and before that held

roles at Lloyds Reqister,
British Nuclear Fuels Plc
and Magnox.

Principal external
appointments
Portsmouth Water, Magnon,
Augean, Reall

Skills and experience
Julia is former Chief
Executive of the Jaseph
Rowntree Foundation
and the Joseph Rowntree
Housing Trust She has
significant experience

In the housing and care
sectors, having been a
member of the Housing
Corporation Board for

10 years and Charr of

the Refugee Council.
She was appaointed
Dame Commander of

the Order of the British
Empire in January 2020
far service to civil society.

Principal external
appointments
Yorkshire Water,

York St John Un'vers’ty,
Smart Data Foundry
{University of Edinburgh)

Skills and experience
Jimis a very experienced
comoany Chief Financial
Officer. He qua ified as a
Chartered Accountant in
1984. He has spent much of
his career in senior finance
roles In consumer-facing
industries, having been
Chief Financial Officer

at David Lloyd Leisure,

JD Wetherspoon

and Countrywide

Principal external
appointments
Neone

BEN WESTRAN

Company Secretary

Age
46

Tenure

19 years (B yoars as
Company Secratary)
Skills and experience
Ben is a Chartcred
Accountant and, priorto his
appointment as Company
Secrotary, was Group
Financiar Controller and
Diractor of a number of
the Group's subsichanes,
Ben joined the Group

in 2004, having

proviously woarked in
orofessional practice

Principal external
appointments
None
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Roles and responsibilities

Role Responsibilities include:

CHAIRMAN
Kieran Murphy

Promoting a culture of chaflenge, debate, openness, support, and mutual respoct
teadership of the Hoard, selling s agenda and ensunng ettective intormation tlow and
time management

Ensuring that Directors contribute effectively and aliocate sufficient time to the Company
Ensuring that the Board listens to the views of sharehalders, the workforce, customers,
and other stakeholders

Ensuring that the Board both menitors and demonstrates culture, values, and tehaviours
of the Group

Ensuring that the Board determines the nature and extent of risk and reward in strategy
execution Ensuring effective Board evaluation

SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
Chris Loughlin

INDEPEMDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Jim Clarke

Chris Loughlin
Dame Julia Unwin
Angela Lockwood

__ Leading the annual performance evaluation of the Chairman

. Providing a sounding board for the Chairman
. Available to shareholders as a channel for them to raise Board level issues

Promoting the highest standards of integrily, probity, and corporate governance

throughout the Group

. Canstructively challenging decisions propesed by the Executive Directars

Ersutiig slakeliolue views dre Jebawgd dind Lunsidered

Assisting in developing propasals on strategy

Contributing to the perfermance evaluation of the Chairman

Briefing the Board on decisions made and key issues from each Committee Chair

EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR
Hema Nar
(formerly Clare Gibbard)

Promoting the highest standards of integrity and probity

Assisting in developing proposals on strategy

Aosisting the Buaid wrecetve Tull, vpens, and hunest syl and wlews fion s ek fureu
on how strategic initiatives are being implemented

. Helping to provide the wider workforce with a better understanding of how the Board operates

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
David Miles

Managing the day-to-day running of the business in line with the strategy and objectives

set by the Board

Ensuring the Board is supplied with sutticient and appropriate information on a timely basis
Leading the business within the scope set by the Board

Developing strategy and setting objectives to meet the Group strategy approved by the Board
Managing the Group's operations to ensure they meet the risk appetite set by the Board

CHIEF FINAB-ICIAL OFFICER
Andrew Smith

Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives
Brnnging a commercial and tinancial perspective te the Board

- Leading the finance function and establishing streng control processes

WAy e feasiy A livities A cnebans 2owilohie cordn sk Appeme sen by the Beodnl
Supperting the Chief Executive Officer with investor relations
Leading the development cf talent within the finance function

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Lucas Critchley
{formerly Alan Long)

Suppoerting the Chief Executive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives
Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in managing external communications and
investor relations

Setting the Group social value policies and procedures

Leading the operational leadership and development function of the Group
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Corporate governance framework

BOARD ATTENDANCE

During the course of the year, there were
11 scheduled and 4 unscheduted Board
meetings with full attendance. There were
also 8 Audit and Risk Committee meelings,
& Remuneration Committee meatings and
4 Nominations Committec meetings,

and allendance s delolled inthe
respective reports.

INDEPENDENCE AND

COMPLIC TS GHIMTERESY

The Board reviews the independence of

its Non-Executive Directars as part of the
annual evaluation process. The Nominations
Committee also considers this as part of its
ongoing review of the Board composition.
The Board considered all Non-Executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board operates & policy to identify and
manage situations declared by Directors in
which they or their connected persons have,
or may have, an actual or potential conflict
of interest with the Company. No Directer
canflict situation currently exists or existed
at any time during the year.

INDEMNIFICATIONS OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with our Articles of
Association and to the extent permitted by
the laws of England and Wales, Directers are
granted an indemnity from the Company

in respect of liabilities incurred as a result

of their position in affice. However, aur
indemnity does not cover Directors or
officers in the event of being proven of
acting dishonestly or fraudulently.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE
The Board is the principal decision making
body of the Company. Certain matters, for
example relating to strategy, fimancial
structure, communications, and policy
approvals, are matters reserved for the
Board 1o decide. Autharity for other specific
matters is formally delegated by the Beard
to three Board Committees — Audit and Risk,
Remuneration, and Nominations — and to
executive management,

During the course of 2021, following an
independent appraisal of the effectiveness
of the Board, an exercise was undertaken
to review and update the documents which
set out the role of the Board, the Chairman,
and the CEQ/executive management and
to review the matters reserved for Board
approval. The full text of these documents
can be found on the Group website.

A summary of the roles of each element
of cur corporate governance regime is
set out opposite

THE BOARD

The key purpose of the Board is coltectively
1o lead the Company and to promote its
tong-term sustainable success, sa generating
value for shareholders and other
stakeholders, and contributing to wider
society. The principal respansibility of the
Chalrman is to lead the Board and 1o ensure
its effective operation.

The Board's key functions are:

a) leadership: establishing Company purpose
and values, strategy, financial structure,
adeguacy of human and financial
resources, and workforce policies;
oversight: of corporate practice
and behaviour, financial controis,
implementation of workforce policies,
risk and management performance,
and succession;
c) relationships: understanding views
of shareholders, o:her stakeholders,
and the workforce, and the means to
influence those views; and
d} decision making: to take effective
decisions on those matters reserved
to it, ensuring it has the appropriate
mix of skills and experience and the
infarmation, time, and resources to do 0

=z

The matters reservead for decision by the
Board are:

a) strategy and management: approval
of the strategic plan and annual budget,
any changes in the scope of activities,
and review af performance against plans;

by financial structure, capital allocation,
dividend policy, and listing;

c) approval of financial and other major
communications and resolutions for
general meetings;

d) approval of major contracts;

e} changes to the composition of the Board
and its committees and appointment of
the external auditor;

f} remuneration and other corporate
poiicies; and

g) risk appetite and review of strategic risk.

The Board's activities in 2022 are set out
on page 68. The compaosition of the Board
and the evaluation process undertaken
during the year is set out on page 71.

The Chairman’s review of 2022 is set out
on pages 6 to 7 of this Annual Report,

THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The key purpose of the Audit and Risk
Committee is to assist the Beard in its
funciion of oversight of risk, financial
controls and reporting The Committee:

a) oversees the development of the
Company's strategic risk register and
makes an assessment of the effectiveness
of the Company’s risk management;
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b) assesses the Company's financial
systems of control, accounting policies,
and key judgements, and compliance
with regulatory requirements;

¢) oversees the work of both the internal

and external auditars; and

reviews the Company’s policies on fraud,

bribery, whistleblowing, e1c.

ke

Areport of the Audit and Risk Committee’s
activities in 2022 is set out on pages 74 10 79,

THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Committee’s key function is to
determine the Remuneration Policy for
executive management and aversee the
appropriateness and effectiveness of
Group-wide remuneration policies. It:

a} determines the remuneration of
Executive Directors and the Chairman;

b) reviews and decides on awards under
all share incentive schemes;

c) reviews the application of pay and pension
policies across the Company; and

d} reviews Group-wide human
resources strategy.

The report of the business of the Remuneration
Committee in 2022 1s set out on pages 80 to 97,

THE NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

The Committee reviews the compaosition,
structure, and size of the Board and oversees
the process of recruitment to the Beard,

It also reviews executive management
succession plans. A report on its activities

in 2022 is set out on pages 72 and /3.

THE CHRIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT GENERALLY

The CEQ has responsibility for the day-to-
day operations ot the Group and authority tor
all decisions which are not reserved to the
Board or its Committees. The key role of the
CEQ is to:

a) ensure that the resources of the Company
are effectively directed to the execution
of the agreed strategy, that key
performance metrics are in place, and
that pragress against those metrics is
measured and reperied to the Board;
lead, inspire, and support Company
employees, through developing a high
performing management team and
effective Company-wide communication;
c) lead the Company’s relationships with
shareholders, customers, suppliers,
other stakehclders, and the wider
community; and

ensure that adequate processes are
inplace to manage risk.

=

[=3

The CEC's reportis set out on pages 10to 13
of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Key activities of the Board

ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD iN 2022

The Board met a total of 13 times in 2022,
of which 11 were planned meetings ana 2
were shorter ad hoc discussions convened
during the year to discuss particular
top'cs. All meetings were altended

by all the Directors.

In 2022, the Board cperated a mixed
ecosystem, holding some meetings 1n person
ang some virtually. The success of this
methodology was debated during the year,
Members agreed that, while it was
practicable to make effective decisions and
exercise effective aversight in the virtual
format, the quality of overall Board discussion
was typically better when we met in person,
a conclusion reinforced by the conclusions of
the Beard evaluation process. Members also
cancluded that a total of 13 meetings per
year was more than was necessary for the
effective operation of the Board. Accordingly,
for 2023, it has been decided 1o hold a 1018l
of eight planned meetings, of which six

Strategy and performance

Re-evaluation of the
Group's five-year strategy

Deep dives intc the
operations of the
hausing business, the
homelessness business,
and the care and facilities

Finance and risk

Review of the strategic
risk register, following
recommendations trom
internal audit and the
Audit and Risk Committee

Review and approval of
the Company’s insurance

would be in person. The remaining two
meetings, which will focus primarily

on the interim and preliminary results
announcements respectively, will be
neld virtually,

The Board agenda is set by the Chairman
with support from the Company Secretary.
Early in 2022, a plan was produced and
approved by the Board which sel out the
proposed discussion areas for each meeting.
Inevitably, the plan evolved and changed
during the year,

At every planned Board meeting, each of
the Executive Directors and the Employee
Director provides a report and a verbal
summary in relation 1o the activities for
whict they have respansibility. In addition,
the Board receives verbal updates from the
chairs of each ¢f the three Board committees
on activity which has occurred since the last
Board meeting.

People

and perfarmance

Review of workforce survey

data and trends

Deep dive reviews of
health and safety and
ather compliance issues

Finally, the Board recelves a verbal

report on any site visits undertaken by

the Chairman or other Non-Executive
Directors since the last Board meeting.

In this way, the Board is assured that at each
meeting it is provided with an up-to-date
understanding of strategic and sector
related developments, oparational 1ssues
and successes, major contract performance,
customer feedback, health and safety
performance, financial matters, investor
relations, workforce issues, successes and
awards, progress on new business wins,
public relations, and communications.

The table beiow sets out the other
substantive matters with which the
Board dealt during 2022:

Statutory and governance

Approval of the Company’s
Annual Report, AGM
documents and resolutions,
preliminary and interim
financial statements, and
ad hoc trading statements

Approval of certain

management operations

Review of the IT function
and key related i1ssues

Review of the report
of the Mears Customer
S¢rutiny Board

Review of the potentia!
for business growth from
the ‘green’ agenda

Review of other new
business, M&A, and
financing opportunities

programme, reflecting
Group risk appetite

Review of a valuation of

the Group prepared by the
Company's advisers and ot
stock market perspectives

Review of the Company’s
capital aliocation policy

Approval of the annual
budget for 2023

63

Review of the ESG strategy
and determination of
key targets

Roview of pay and the
Gender Pay Gap report,
following discussion at
Remuneration Commitiee

Deep dive on key workforce
policies and issues, incluging
in relation to disability in

the workforce

Review of issues arising from
proposed CEO succession

Approval of the appointment
of a new Executive Director
and Employee Director with

effect from 1 January 2023

Group policies, including
in relaticn to going concern
and viability assessment,
tax, and modern slavary

Approval of the dwidend
policy, and of proposed
dividend payments

Review of the results of the
Board evaluation exercise

Review of the Company's
plans to reduce its
environmental tootprint
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Stakeholder engagement

BOARD ENGAGEMENT

VHTH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Within the Strategic Report, we detail how
we engage with our key stakeholders, and
explain how each stakeholder group impacts
upon our business model and our ability

to deliver against our strategic priorities.

The Bodrd tecodnises that engagément

with key stakeholder groups strengthens

CLIENTS

our relationships and is an ongoing part

of the operational management of the
Group. This includes employec surveys,
assessments of customer satisfaction, and
ongoing conversations wilh regulators

and non-governmental organisations. The
Board receives regular updates from senior
management on insights and teedback trom
stakeholders, which allows the Board to
understand and consider the perspectives
of key stakeholders 'n decision making.

TENANTS AND
CUSTOMERS

The tabie below sets out the different
stakeholders with whom we engage
and how the Board monitors these
impaortant relaticnships.

COMMUNITIES

How the Board is kept informed

. Executive team has daily
contact with key clients

— Regular discussion of key
issues at each Board meeting

— Access to externat press and
news flow

COLLEAGUES

How the Board is kept informed

— Monthly customer performance
statistics, including satisfaction,
complaints, and compiliments

__ Executive Director attendance
at tenant panel meetings

— Customer Sciuliny Buard

SUPPLIERS

How the Board is kept informed
... Monthly social value measures
__ Sgcial Value Annual Report

SHAREHOLDERS AND

DEBT FUNDERS

How the Board is kept informed

_ Close monitoring of staff surveys
_ Monthly Peopte KPIs

.. Employee bDirector

How the Board is kept informed
.— Engagement with supply chain
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How the Board is kept informad

— Invester roadshows and
investor briefings

__ Sharehoider feedback
gathered bi-annually

.. Analyst research notes

— Regular diatogue with
shareholders and funding banks

_ Engagement with supply chain

69

FONYNUIACD LV HOLNOD LECL3H 1038 vHLE

BANBWALVIE TVIDRNY NI

HOILYWRHOANT HBO0T0HAYTHME




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Stakeholder engagement continued

2022 INVESTOR

RELATIONS PROGRAMME:

INVESTOR MEETINGS

Investor meetings are predominantly
attended by the Group CEO, CFO, and Head
of Investor Relations, although other Senior
Executives may attend. There is an active
programme of communication with existing
and potential shareholders, with ‘City Days’
scheduled on a monthly basis (cutside

of closed periods), which provides any
shareholder an opportunity for a meeting
with management, There is increased
dialogue following the publication of final
and interim results, which is facilitated
through a series of formal presentations,
and management allocates a full week at
those times to ensure all shareholders can
be accommodated. The Chairman is also
available for discussions with sharehaolders
as and when they so wish and a number of
such discussions took place during the year.

The Chair regularly engages with major
shareholders 1o canvass their views on
governance and performance against
strategy. Committee Chairs will engage
with sharehaolders where a particular
matter relates to their area of respansibility

ANMNUAL GENMZRAL MEETING

Shareholder participation at each AGM 15
usually encouraged. Full details of the 2023
AGM will be set out in the Notice of Meeting.
In normal circumstances, all shareholders
are invited to attend the Company’s AGM,
at which point they have the oppoertunity

to meet the Boarg and raise guestions
Shareholders who are unable to attend are
invited to email questions in advance to
company.secretary@mearsgroup.co.uk

ANNUAL REPORT AND OTHER
COMMURMICATIONS

The Board maintains regular contact through
the provision of the Annual Report, regular
Interim Reports, and regular trading updates.
This information can be found on the Group's
website (www.mearsgroup.co.uk).

CORPORATE WEBSITE

The Group website has a dedicated investor
section which provides an overview of
Mears, whilst also providing access to
historical Annual Reports and shareholder
presentations. The Group regularly receives
and responds to guestions raised by small
private shareholders through the investor
enquiry portal within the Group's website,

The Group also has regular dialogue with
its banking partners, During the year the
Group extended its £70m revolving
credit debt facility to December 2026
The Directors value the close relaticnship
with Barclays, HSBC and Citi Bank.

Holding at Holding at
Shareholders holding over March 2023 % March 2022
2% of issucd share capital IC % I1C
Fidelity Management & Research 10.0% 2.9%
LOYS AG 9.2% 51%
Premier Miton Investors 8.0% 8.2%
Shareholder Value Management 70% 10.3%
Heronbndge Investment Management 5.9% 55%
Artemis Investment Management 58% 10.2%
Milkwood Capital 4.5% 1.0%
Dimensional Fund Advisors 4.4% 43%
Huntnglon Management 4.1% 4.3%
Liontrust Asset Management 40% 7.8%
Columbia Threadneedie Investments 3.5% 5.3%
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JANUARY
__ Shareholder calls available
on request

FEBRUARY
— Non-holder investor roadshow
.- Chairman’s roadshow with

top sharehalders

MARCH

__ Preliminary results for FY2021
released faollowed by full
investor roadshow

APRIL
__ Close period

MAY
__ AGM and trading update foillowed
by calls with major shareholders

JUNE
. Investor Support
Services Conference

JULy
.. Close period

AUGUST

... Interim results for H1 Fy2022
released followed by full
investor roadshow

SEPTEMBER

~-. Ad hoc non-holder investor meetings

OCTOBER

—— Ad hac non-holder investor meetings

NOVEMBER

— Appaintment of Numis Securities and

Panmure Gordon as Joint Brokers

— Trading update followed by calls with

major shareholders

DECEMBER
- Trading update

__ Ad hoc non-hoider investor mestings

__ Remuneration Policy consultaticons
with major shareholdeérs



Board composition, development and evaluation

1. COMPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT

It is critical to the success of the Board that
it has the optimal mix of skills, knowledge,
experience, and diversity (0 produce an
informed debsate and s high quality of
decision making. Directors offer themselves
for re-glection annually. The Beard considars
that each of the Non-Executive Directors
applies their time and experience so as

to make an effective contribution to the
deliberations of the Board.

a) Independence

In accerdance with the Code, the Chairman
was independent at the time of hig
appeintment in January 2019. The othey
four Non-Executive Directors (Angela
Lockwood, Julia Unwin, Chris Loughlin,
and im Clarke) are all cansidered (o be
independent for the purposes of the Code.
The three Executive Directors and the
Employee Director (by virtue of her
employment in an executive rofe

within the Group) are not considered

to be independent.

The Company considers that it has been
in complance with the Code requiremeants
as to independence throughout 2022.

b}y Tenure

All Directors are subject to annual re-election
by shareholders at the AGM. The length

of service of each Director as at the end

of 2027 is sot out In their biographies

on pages 654 and 65,

¢) Skills and experience

The Nominations Committee regularily
assesses the skills and experience mix

of the Non-Executive Directors. The

Board requires a range of views, skills, and
experience in order to ensure that it can
effectively challenge management’s ideas
and delivery but also contribute positively
to Company strategy and corporate
development more generally. The balance
of t1ose skills and capabilities 1s kept under
review to ensure that the Board can supply
effective leadearship and that, in particular,
it has both extensive commercial private
sector experience and a good understanding
of the dynamics and processes which drive
the behaviour of its client base.

This assessment underpinned the decision
making behind the recruitment of a new
Non-Executive Director on 1 January 2022,

d} Diversity

As at the end of 2022, the Beard had nine
Directors, three of whom were female. Of
the Non-Executive Directors {(including the
Chairman}, three were male and two female.
There were no Directors from an ethnic
minority background in 2022 but this will
change in 2023 with the appointment of
Hema MNar as the new Employee Director.

Mears will continue to work to secure a
palanced Board to broaden the range

of perspectives and expertise around the
table, and ultimately benefit the services
and clients we seek to support. We will
follow the principles set outin the FTSE
Women Leaders Review, which aims to
increase opportunities for women at the
top of Britain's largest companies.

e} Induction

In view of the intended appointment of a
new Employee Director and a new Executive
Director, the Chairman and the Company
Secretary reviewed the Company's induction
programme. This now provides for &
comprehensive series of meetings with each
of the Directors and senior managers in the
Group, access to the Board and Committee
papers prepared and discussed over the
last 12 months, a programme of visits to
some of the Group's key operating locations,
and access to tallored external training

and education programmes,

f) Commitment

The Directors, Executive and Non-Executive,
are required to devote as much time as is
regsonably required to discharge their duties
effectively and the Board is satisfied that

the Directors do so. Attendance at Board

angd Committee meetings, which are each
comprised of all of the Non-Executive
Directors, continued at very high levels.
Directors wishing to take up additional
external appointments reguire the
permission of the Board, acting though

the Chairman,
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o) Processes

All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring
compliance with law and regulation and that
Directors are kepl abreast of changes in
relevant cerporate legislation. Directors,
collectively or individually, have access
though the Company Secretary to
appropriate external professional advice
should that be needed.

The Board operates a policy to identify and
manage situations declared by any Director
in which they or their connected parties
have, or may have, an actual or potential
conflict of interest with the business of the
Company. No such situation currently axists
or existed in 2022,

In accordance with the Articles of
Assaciation, and to the extent permitted by
law, Directors are granted an indemnity from
the Company in respect of liabilities incurred
as a result of their position in office. The
indemn 'ty dees nat cover Qirectors or
officers in the event of their behaving
fraudulently or dishonestly.

2. EVALUATION

During 2022, an updated evaluation of

the effectiveness of the Board and its
committees was undertaken. A description
of this process ard the outcomes is sel out
nthe Report of the Nominations Committee

/1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Nominations Committee

This report briefly
describes the key
issues debated by the
Committee in 2022.

Meeting attendance

K Murphy 757
C Loughlin 777
J Unwin 77
J Clarke 777
A Lockwood 777

72

INTRODUCTION

In terms cf Board membership, 2022

was a period of stability with na changes
throughout the year. The work of the
Committee focused on Executive and
Chairman succession planning, an update
on Board effecliveness and, towards the
end of the year, the selection of the new
Employee Director.

EXECUTIVE SUCCESSION

The major 1ask for the Commitiee in early
2022 was to decide on the successor o
David Miles as Group CEQ. Durng the early
part of the year, a number of conversations
were held with David and with the internal
candidate, Lucas Critchley. A thaorough
exarcise was undertaken, supported by a
professicnal recruitment firm, 1o assess the
internal candidale’s capabilities to assume
the role and his likely developmental needs,
In parallel, and supported by the same
external adviser, an exercise was undertaken
to understand the field of potential external
candidates for the role, On the basis of this
work, the Committee concluded that it would
be appropriate 1o nominate Lucas as the
intenced successor to David. Accordingly,
the Company anncunced in May 2022 that
David intended to work towards his ptanned
retirement from the Board and that he would
be succeeded in due course by Lucas.

K MURPHY

NOMINATICNS COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN

In the latter half of 2022, the Commiittee
discussed in delail with David and Lucas
the potential organisational conseguences
of this change and of the planned retirement
of Alan i ong atthe end of the year and the
impact which these changes might have

on the future roles of members of the senior
management team. On the basis of these
discussions, the Company announced in
December 2022 that Lucas would become
a Director of the Company with effect from
1TJanuary 2023 and would assume the

role of CEQ during the course of this year
Alan Long's retirement from the Board

was formally announced at the same time.

CHAIRMAN SUCCESSION

In autumn 2022, 1 indicated to Board
colieagues that, having essentially
completed the strategic reorganisation

of the Group, and with the CEQO succession
also settled, | proposed to stand down from
the Board with effect from the AGM in 2023
The Committee met, without my participation,
to consider the consequences of this
decision and to select my successor. Chris
Loughlin, the Senior independent Director,
indicated his willingness to se-ve in the role.
The Committee concluded that, giver Chris's
extensive Executive and Non-Executive
experience, his understanding of the
business, culture, and ethos of Mears, and
the desirability for a period of continuity
while Lucas assumed the role of Group
CEQO, it would be appropriate to ask Chris

to assume the leadership of the Board with
effect from the AGM. This was announced
in December 2022,

The major task for the
Committee in early 2022

was to decide on the successor
to David Miles as Group CEO.
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BOARD EFFECTIVENESS

As foreshadowed in last year's report, the
Board undertook a brief evaluation of the
changes which had been putin place over
the course of the period since the external
evaluation by Independent Audit in 2021,
This evaluation was also facilitated by
Independent Audit and the Board is
grateful for their contribution.

This exercise concluded that:

D

there was clarity on the

of the CEQO and Chair.

roles and respansibilities

EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR

Claire Gibbard's term as Employee Director
came to a conclusion at the end of 2022.
During the course of the year, consideration
was given to the effectiveness of this method
for ensuring that the ‘employee voice' was
represented at Board level. It was concluded
that the Company should appoint a new
Employee Directar ta succeed Claire.

A selection process was run to identify
candidates from within the Company and
three individuals were interviewed by the
Chairman and one of the Non-Executive

T
A

the Company had
continued to develop

positively and the executive
team ran day-to-day operations
well, a CEO succession process
had been put in place, and there
had been good debates both on
the consequences of that
succession and on
strategic questions;

C

the Board plan for 2023
provided for the majority
of meetings to be held
face to face; and
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effective discussions among

the Non-Executive Directors,
including with the new Non-

Executive Director, and there
was a developing programme

Directors. As a result of this process,

Hema Nar was appointed, with effect

from 1January 2023, as the Company's new
Employee Director. Hema has been a Mears
employee since 2020 and is a Bid Manager
in the Business Development function,

HNON-ERFCUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms and conditions of each of the
Non-Executive Directors are available for
inspection at the AGM and can be made
available t¢ shareholders by request to
the Company Secretary.

B

there were regular

of visits for Non-Executives
to parts of the operations
of the Group;

There remained scope for further
improvement in dialegue, in Non-Executive
Director engagement, and in providing
adequate support for the secretarial
function to facilitate that engagement.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees

This report briefly
describes the key
issues debated by the
Committees in 2022.

Meeting attendance

J Clarke 6/6
C Loughlin 4/6
J Unwin 6/6
A Lockwood &/6

This report sets out how the Committee has
fuifilled its responsibilities during the year
and in relation to financial reporting matters,
the significant 1ssues thal were considered,
and how they were addressed.

Ernst & Young LLP (EY} is in its third year

as external auditor, having been appointed
in 2020, The Senigr Statutory Auditer (SSA),
Paul Mapleston, indicated his intention to
retire fram EY and a replacement was found.
Due to an unanticipated absence, the new
S5A was not available to complete the audit
process and Nigel Meredith stepped in to
perform this role. However we have seen
good continuity acrass the audit team,

74

mearing we have retained much of the
learning and knowledge accumulated in the
previous two years. The Committee is keen
to see the change in SSA provide further
fresh challenge and dnive to deliver

an cfficient process.

The Committee has reviewed the significant
financial reporting matters and judgements
identified by the management team and EY
through the audit process, and the approach
to addressing these is detailed on pages 76
and 77 of this report.

The 2022 financial year was a period of
stability and strengthening; the areas within
the financial statements requiring significant
estimates and judgement are not new to the
management team or any of the Committee
members. These are covered In greater
detall below, but itis reassuring for the
Committee that the risk and uncertainties
associated with these key areas have
reduced over recent periods.

The Group's Compliance Committee, which
was set up in 2019 as a sub-committee to the
Audit and Risk Committee, has played a
pivotal role in recognising and mitigating the
most significant risk areas. The Group’s ethes
of ensuring the health, safety, and wellbeing of
our people and those we serve is the central
theme within their terms of reference. During
2022, the Committee worked closely with all
necessary stakeholders, both internal and
external, to ensure the Group's operational

teams are compliant and able to meet the
challenges of the new Building Safety Act
2022. The increasing activity seen within the
Group’s AASC and MoJ contracts have been,
and will remain, a significant area of focus for
the Committee, where dealing with two
extremely vulnerable service user groups
brings significant operational challenges.

The ever-increasing importance of data
sacurity is a key strategic consideration for
the Groap and in this regard, the Compliance
Committee's role has been widened to
encompass greater scrutiny of this essential
area. The Committee’s scrutiny of the
Group's data security function is proceeding
well. The Information Security Team has
initialed a new security strategy designed
to enhance controls, drive improved
compliance, and secure high level, external
accreditation of the governance process.

In relation to risk management and internal
controls, the Board and Audit and Risk
Committee are mindful of the importance of
continuing to improve both control and output
in this area. The co-sourcing between the
Internal Mears team and KPMG has delivered
an improved quality output and better value,
allowing KPMG to bring in specialists on an ad
hoc baslis rather than adding full-time
employment for what are mainly 'task and
finish’ projects. The overall lead for our
internal audit work continues 1o sit with KPMG,
although, during the year, we have seen a
planned change in personnel. This was

The ever-increasing importance
of data security is a key

JULARKE
AUDI ANLY RISK

COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN

strategic consideration for the
Group, and the Compiiance
Committee’s role has been
widened Lo encompass grealer
scritiny of this essential area.
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KPMG's Lhird year under this co-sourced
arrangement during which it has overseen an
initial three-year plan, The work carried out
during 2022, and the Committee’s priorities
for 2023, are detailed within this report,

The Committee is mindiul of the continued
roferm to the UK's audit and corporate
governance framework and recognises that
revisicns to the Cade, which are expected
to come Into force in 2024, will require the
Group te maintain a stronger basis for
evidencing the effectiveness of internal
control around the year end reporting
process The Committee has held discussions
with the Company’'s management and KFMG
to ensure that the Group will be ready to
comply with the additianal requirements,
and this 15 a key feature in the Groyp’s 2023
internal audit plan.

Our regular programme of meetings and
discussions, supported by our interactions
with the Company’s management and
external and internal auditors, and the
quality of the reports and information
provided to us, enable the Committee
members to effectively discharge their
duties and responsibilities.

HOW THE AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE OPERATES
The Committee provides independent review
and monitoring of the risk management and
control procedures within the Group. Each
Committee member is independent and has
broad commercial experience. im Clarke is

a Chartered Accauntant and has significant
recent and relevant financial experience,
maost recently at Countrywide as Group CFO.
Chris Loughlin has held several CEQ and
COO roles within large, guoted ertities and
brings broader, more operationally focused
commercial expertise. Julia Unwin has held
senior roles within the housing and care

Intornal audit

__ Reviewed and monitored progress against the __ Reviewed the basis of preparation of the financial statements as a going concern

2022 internal audit plan

Main activities of the Committee during the year

sectors which bring industry specific
expertise, whilst also currently engaged by
the Financial Reperting Council. The final
Committee member, Angela Lockwood, has
held senior roles within the housing sector
which bring industry specific expertise.

Duiny e yudr, lhe Committee held six
meetings. These meetings were also attended
by the Group Chief Executive Officer,

the Chief Financial Officer, and the Group
Chairman. The internal and external auditors
were invited to all meetings. The Company
Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee.

The Audit and Risk Committee Chalrman
meets with the external auditor and lead
internal suditor regularly throughout the year.

COMPLIAMCE COMMITTEE

In addition, the Audit and Risk Committeg
has a very active sub-committee, being the
Compliance Committee, This reflects the
significant focus that the Group gives 10
dealing with health, safety, and
environmemal risks. The Compliance
Committee is & sub-committee of the Audit
and Risk Committee and is chaired by Jasan
Burt, the Group Director of Health, Safety,
and Comphance, a former specialist health
and safety lawyer. He has an extensive
and detailed working knowledge

af the issues which can adversely

impact the efficiency of health, safety

and compliance governance systems, and
cause and drive regulatory prasecutions
and employers’ and public liability claims.

Fhoendal peshanamne

and the long-term viability review

The extent to which the full integration of
health, safety, and environmental risks is
now embedded in the governance structures
of the Group is highlighted by the members
of the Compliance Committee, who include
the Group's Chief Executive Officer, Health
and Safety Director and internal Health

and Satety legal adviser. Others are

called upon to attend as reguired.

The Committee’s terms of reference are
available on the Company's website and
on request from the Company Secretary,

The Committee reviewed and discussed
reperts from the CFO on the financial
statements and considered the key areas
of the financial statements that required
significant accounting judgements or where
there is estimation uncertainty. These are
explained in greater detail within the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.
The Audit and Risk Committee received
detailed reports from the CFO and the
axternal guditor on these areas and other
matters which they believed should be
drawn to the attention of the Committee.

The Committee discussed the range of
possible treatments both with management
and with the external auditor, confirming
that the judgements made by management
were robust and supportable. For all the
significant Issues detailed below, it was
concluded that the treatment adopted

was the most appropriate.

__ Reviewed the quality and effectivenass of the _.. Reviewed and discussed reports from the CFO on the financial statements
and considered the significant accounting judgements or where there is

outsourced arrangement

__ Reviewed the internal audit plan for 2023

Risk management
__ Received reports from the Chair of the
Curmnpliance Committee

— Reviewed and approved the Group's risk register
_ Reviewed and validaled he effectiveness of the

Group's system of internal controls

— Monitored fraud reporting and incidents
of whistleblowing

__ Owersight and mornitoring of the Group’s
compliance with the Bribery Act 2010

estimation uncertainty

Considered reports from the external auditor in respect of the suitability of the

accounting policies and the integrity of the financial reporting

Reviewed the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts and provided a recommendation

to the Board that, as a whole, they complied with the 2018 Code principle to be

and strategy

External auditor

fair, balanced, and understandable, and provide the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company's positien, performance, business model,

__ Agreed the audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2022
_. Reviewed the proposed audit plan for the 2022 statutory audit
__ Reviewed recommendations arising from the 2021 statutory audit

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

Significant

issue

Revenue
recognition

Revenue is recognised in accordance with [FRS 15 "Revenue from
Contracts with Customers’. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based,
five-step model to be applied 10 all sales contracts. It is based on the
transfer of control of goods and services to customers. The accounting
nolicy within note 2 to the consohdated financial statements sets out
the principal types of contracts and how the revenue 1s recognised

in accordance with IFRS 15,

Determining future contract profitability reguires estimates of future
revenues, costs to complete, stage of completion of certain contracts
and the recovery of work in progress, mobilisation costs, and contract
assets. Each contract is lreated on its merits and subject to a reguiar
review of the revenue and costis to complete that contract. The Group
utilises the appropriate expertise in determining these astimates and
has well-aestablished internal controls to assess and review the
expecled outcome.

Valuation of

Provisions are recognised in accordance with |1AS 37 'Provisions,

The Audit and Risk Committee addressed this
area of judgement I the following ways

_ Thie Cunmittes reviewed the key
judgemerts repotl prepared by
management, which provided a
detailed explanation in respect of
the vallauun of wibilled wurks did
e tecoynilivng ol revenues.,

— The Committee took comfort from the
contract management system which is
centrat In generating the valuation of
works (beth billed and unbilled) and
lhe irniteg ated process that follows to
ensure an accurate cut-off so that revenue
is approprigtely matched to cost

— EY carried out substantive lesling of
the amounts recoverable on contracts,
adopting a blend of risk-based and random
sampling approaches to testing, and
provided detailed feedback to the
Committee in this area.

_ The Committee reviewed the key

provisions Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ which requires a provision judgements report prepared by the
to be recognised when an entity has a present obligation resuiting fromt CFO, which provided a detailed
a past event and it is probabie that an outflow of resources emboedying explanation and commercial assessment
economic henefits will be required to settle the obligation. The amount in respect of each material provision.
required to be recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the The Cammittee was also provided access
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the to the internal legal team to ensure that
reporting period. IAS 37 alsc prescribes the disclosures required in the the Committee was receiving a balanced
notes to financial statements to enable users to understand the nature, view as to the strengths, weaknesses,
timing, and amount of the provision. and likely prospects.
__ EY provided additional challenge,
The events and circumstances requiring a provision will typically having reviewed the supporting
vary on a case-by-case basis and a flexible approach by the Committaa documentation and expert opinions in detail,
is needed to understand the unigue circumstances. in respect of the and provided detailed feedback to the
2022 year end, the most materiai and significant provisions relate to a Committee in this area.
contract termination which was proved to be unlawful on adjudication,
and an uninsured remedial works clalm in respect of a capital works
order delivered in 2012.
Lease IFRS 16 was adopted in 2019 and initially proved & ditticut standard _.. The Commiltes chdlleiiyed management in
accounting to imptement and one which has required significant changes to respect of the processes and controls that

the systems and day-to-day processes. Under IFRS 16, a lessee will
recognise its right to use a leased asset along with a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease payments. However, many

of the Group’s operating leases do not meet the definition of IFRS 16,
which means this areéa contains significant judgement and is considered
an area of risk.

Leasing properties for rental to tenants is a core business activity for
Mears. As a result, Mears currently holds arcund 10,000 residential
property leases and a further 3,500 office property and vehicle leases.
A lease should be accounted for under IFRS 16 only if Mears has the
right to direct its use which, through its decision making rights, can
affect the economic benefit derived from that asset. Around one halt
of the Group's residential leases meet the criteria for recognition on
the balance sheet. Those that do not meet the criterla are typically

due to them being short term in nature, aften driven Dy the existence
of a two-way break clause (a practical expedient offered under IFRS 16
allows those leases with a term of less than 12 months to be expensed).

To reduce the financial reparting risk, the Group has endeavoured to
standardise the form of leases; however, operational demands dictate
that many leases have wording to address the specific operational
need and to manage the associsted operational and financial risks.

were In place throughout the year to ensure
the completeness of the right of use asset
and lease obligations. The Committee
recognised this to be a higlht tisk area

given the complexities of [FR5 18,

— The Committee has reviewed the
assumptions ang key judgements
provided by management in respect
of lease identification.

— The Commitiee recognises that lease
accounting is very significant to Mears
and is 8 key area tor stakeholders to fully
understand. The Comipitlee encouraged
management to provide additional
disclosure Yo assist readers of the financial
statements.

— The completeness of the lease obtigation
is identified as a key audit area and EY
has provided further detail as to how this
matter was addressed during its audit work
on page 106.

/76
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Significant

issue

Uetermination
of the amount

The Audit and Risk Committee addressed this
area of judgement in the following ways

At di December 2U22, the Group reportéo‘ a net relirement benetit —
surplus of £3.1m, being the difference between the fair value of the

The Committee reviewed the key
assumptions proposed by management,

of the Group’s scheme assets less the presem value of the benefits expected to notably assumptions in respect of discount
retirement be paid to members of the schemes. This assessment requires an rate, RPI, CPI, and future salary increases,
benefit assumptwn to be made in respect of mortality rates and tuture intlation which are detailed in note 29 to the
opligatons rates which will résult in an increase in future benetits received by consolidated financial statements.
members. This also requires an appropriate discount rate to cakculate __ Given the technical nature of this area, the
the present value of these future obligations for the future paymants, Committee placed reliance upon the work
Where the Group has a contractual right to recover the costs of making of Aon, which is engaged to support
good any deficit pension scheme, the fair value of that asset has been managament in setting assumptions and
recognised and disciosed. ' consolidating information prepared by the
raspective scheme actuaneas in respect ot
each of the defined benefit pension schemes.
__ The accounting for defined benefit pension
schemes is also identified as a key audit
area and EY p'rovides further detail as to
how this matter was addressed during its
audit work on page 107,
Goodwill At 31 December 2022, the Greup reported goodwill with a carrying _ The key assumptions, and a discussion
impairment value of £121.9m. Each branch within the group is a cash-generating unit of how they are established, as well as the

{CGU), however goodwill contributes to cash inflows for multiple CGUs
and s therefore allocated to groups of CGUs for the purpose of
impairment testing. Under IAS 36, goodwill cannot be allocated to —
groups of CGUs larger than individual operating segments and
therefore goadwill has been assigned to groups of CGUs in respect of
Maintenance, Management and the continuing Care activities (referred
to as 'Housing with Care’). Determining whether goodwili is impaired
requires an estimate of the value in use of each of the groups of CGUs
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation
involves an estimate of the future cash flows ot the group of CGUs using
the current one-year budget, extrapolated for five years to December
2027, requiring a medium-term growth assumption and a general
terminal growth rate, and an assessment of an appropriate discount rate
to calculate present valuaes. The Commitiee took comfort from the fact
that there was significant headroom when reviewing any impa‘irment

in the prior year.

sensitivity analysis are described in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.
The Committee placed some comfort upon
the work of BDO LLP, which was engaged to
support management in setting the discount
rate, and which also provided support to
management to identify the acquisition
intangibtes following the acquisition of IRT
Survey Limited, as detailed in note 2810

the consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
The primary focus of the Compliance
Committee dunng 2022 was directed
towards the following areas:

Maonitoring and review of the Group's
policies in relation to health, safety, and
environmental (HSE} matiers.

.. Review of H5E nsks and risk assessments
on the Group risk register and mitigation
actions and controls related thereto,
including subcaontractor controls and
related procurement.

Providing an coperational focal point and
report for KPMG, the Group's independent
internal auditor,
Considering any other significant HSE
matters, including emerging risks and
unforeseen risks as they arose.

. Providing greater scrutiny on data securily
and enhancing the level of information
gvailable to the main Board.

The necessity to keep our peaple and
customers safe remained cne of the primary
concerns of the Compliance Committee
throughout 2022. The ever-changing
environment meant there were challenges

across our entire range of operations, most
notably in asylum support and care services.

The Group's ethos of ensuring the health,
safety, and wellbeing of our people and
those we serve is always at the heart of
everything we do. Pleasingly, the Group
received its 20th consecutive ROSPA Gold
Award and in so doing was also awarded
RoSPA's coveted Order of Distinction.

Following the recent implementation of
the Building Safety Act 2022, the Group

is working closely with all necessary
stakenolders, both internal and exiernal, to
ensure the Group's operational teams are
compliant and able to meet the challenges
this legislation poses. Building safety will
likely remain a rapidly developing area of
regulation for years to come and the Board
will ensure that the Group always remains
vigilant and agile.

The AASC was also a key area of focus as

1ts operational challenges were impacted by
the unprecedented increase in the number
of asylum seekers entering the country,
necessitating further reliance on hotel-based
accommodation. The Compliance Commitiee

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

provided support and guidance to the
relevant teams, linked to the procurement,
maintenance, and day-to-day running, and
implemented enhanced governance
protocols to ensure compliance with the
Group's internal procedures and wider
regulatory obligations.

The Compliance Committee also worked
closely with the team mobilising the Ministry
of Justice CAS 3 contract, to ensure robust
governance policies and procedures were
embedded into the contract delivery. In this
regard, the Group's knowledge, expertise,
and experience derived from managing the
AASC was excepticnally beneficial and
was a key element in the very successful
deployment of services during the latter
part of the year.

The Compliance Committee’s scrutiny of the
Group’s data security function commenced
as planned and is proceeding well, The
Infermation Security Team has initiated a
new security strategy designed to enhance
controls, drive improved compliance, and
secure high level, external accreditation

of the governance process.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

INTERNAL CONTROL

SANDRIBK MANAGENMEMT

The Board is responsible for establishing
the Group's ovarali risk appetite and ensuring
that the Group has in place an adequate
system of internal controls. However, in
accordance with the requirements of the
Financial Reporting Ceuncil's Guidance
on Risk Management, Internal Control and
Related Financial and Business Reporting,
the responsibility of monitoring and
reviewing the integrity and effectiveness
of the Group’'s sverall systems of internal
controls and risk management has been
delegated to the Committee.

The Committee also provides the Board with
the assurance that the risk management and
internal control systems, including strategic,
financial, operational, and compliance
controls, are sufficiently robust to mitigate
the principal and emerging risks that may
impact the Company.

The system of internal controls is designed
to manage rather than aliminate the risk

of fa'lure to achieve business objectives

and can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It includes all controls
including financial, operational, and
compliance controls and risk management
procedures. These include health and safety,
pecple, legal compliance, quality assurance,
insurance, security, and reputational,

social, ethical, and enviranmental risks.

The Group’s principal risk report captures
and assesses the principal risks facing

the Group. This forms part of the Group’s
framework for determining risk and risk
appetite. This document is updated regularly
and is considered at both Committee and
Board level throughout the year. Further
details are included within the Strategic
Report on pages 42 to 5l

The internal audit function carries aut work
across the Group, providing independent
assurance, advice, and insight 1o help the
organisation accomplish its objectives by
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach
to evaluating and improving the
effectiveness of risk management, contral,
and governance processes. In January 2023,
the Audit and Risk Committee agreed the
F¥23 audit plan 1o be undertaken by the
internal audit team. The audit plan coverage
is based on risk, strategic priorities, and
consideration of the strength of the control
environment. The internal audit furction
prepares audit reports and recommendations
following each audit, and appropriate
measures are then taken to ensure that all
recommendations are implemented.
Significant issues, If any, are raised at once.

The Board has reviewed these procedures
and considers them appropriate given the
nature of the Group’s operations. The
Committee 1 pleased with the additional
support provided by KPMG.

Residual

inherent

The Beard has adopted a Scheme of
Delegated Authority authority, with defined
financial and other authorisation limits and
setting procedures for approving capital and
investment expendilure. The Board also
approves detailed annual budgets. It
subseguently reviews performance against
targets set forth in these plans and budgets.

Throughout the year, the Greup's principal
risks have been regularly reviewed by
management to provide assurance on

the robusiness, integrity, and effectiveness
of the systems in place, including those
that could threaten its business madel,
operations, future performance, solvency,
and liquidity.

The Board alsc seeks to ensure that a sound
system of internal controls, based on the
Group's policies, standards, and procedures,
is in place in all material associate and joint
arrangement entities. Our systems of internal
controls and risk management are designed
to identify, mitigate, and manage rather than
eliminate business risk and can only ever
provide reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material financial
misstatement or fraud.

The system of internal controls encampasses
the culture, behaviours, organisation design,
palicies, standards, procedures, and systems
that, taken together, facilitate its effective
and efficient operation. These internal
controls are based on the ‘three lines of
defence’ principles as detailed on pages 44
and 45 of the Strategic Report.

Internal audit plan

Principal risk description FY20 Fy21 FY22 FY23

risk rating

risk rating

1& 2. Failure to successfully deliver the AASC

. Uncertainty from pelitical changes and market disruptions

3
4. Major breach of information or data security
5

. Failure to manage the impact of & health and safety incident,
including Cowvid-19 related, leads to reputational damage and/or
fugh financial penalties

6. Fallure in governance, control, processes, systems, and structure,
including managing the new MoJ contract and in particular the
impact an Housing Officers

7. Failure to recover operations on a disaster or crisis
{business cantinuily)

8. Ensuring that the business has the right people with the right
skills, particularly in the context of the shortages and & high
competitive market for skilled labour

9. Serious damage to or loss of brand integrity including to poor
management of the publicity and external communicatons

10. Serious failure to manage the housing subcontractors

1. Risk of perceived and actual discrimination leading
lo reputatianal damage and financial penaltiog

. Severe . High

Risk assessment key Medium

78

- Principal risk addressed in internal audit plan in year
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The Company's risk-based Internal audit
programme for 2022 was considered and
approved by the Committee in December
2021. This programme was developed further
during the year to consider the Company's
principal risks and to identify where they
primarily occur in the business; through
discussians with the Committee and senior
management; by recognising changes within
the Group and the external environment; and
with consideration to prier audit coverage. In
approving the 2023 audit pregramme, the
Committee considered the coverage of the
principal risks by the proposed audits, and

it was agreed that primary focus should be
on the following areas:

RISK MANAGEMENT

. Refresh of principal risks, mitigating
actions, and assurance review

_.. Fraud Risk register facilitation

CORE CONTROLS

_ Core contrals spot checks

_ Scheme of Delegated Authority

.— Preparation and planning required to
enhance the Group’s internal control
regime with the anticipated adoption
in 2024 of the UK's gudit and corporata
governance frameawork and revisions
to the Code

SPECIFIC RISK AREAS

_ Management of kay contracts, notably
AASC and Mol

__ Legal and compliance framework

__ Operational focus areas, including branch
spot visits togetner with business
continuity and subcontractor
management

.. Cyberrisks, IT systems, controls,
and security

There has been good sponsarship of internal
audit from the senior management team, and
it iIs pleasing to observe the positive tone at
the top in terms of openness to discussion

of issues, agreement of action plans, and

a commitment to doing the right thing.

From the core controls wark completed to
date, no high priority gaps were identified;
however, In a few areas there is a need to
ensure that processes are being followed
and for control activity to be formally
documented and evidenced. Thisis also
important within the wider regulatory context
where there are emerging requirements for
public interest entities to have a documented
contro!l framework and in due course an
articulated Audit and Assurance Policy.

There is a culture across the Group of
active monitoring by Executive and senior
managemeant. Our focus this year was

on management's oversight of branches,
Internal audits were carried oul on two key
contracts and a further three branch audits
were completed, and the themes identified
during those audits will be developed further.

The 2023 programme was considered and
approved by the Committee in January 2023
and performance against this plan will be
reported in next year's Annual Report.

The Company has in place internal control
and risk management systems in relation to
the Company’s finarcial reporting process
and the Group’s process for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that
are produced by the Group finance function,
which is respansible far the review and
compilation of reports and financiat results
from each of the operating subsidiaries in
accordance with the Group reporting
procedures. The consolidated financial
statements are supported by detaited
working papers. The Audit and Risk
Committee is responsible for overseeing
and monitoring these processes, which

are designed to ensure that the Company
camplies with relevant regulatory

reporting and filing requirements.

As at the end of the period covered by

this report, the Audit and Risk Commitiee,
with the participation of the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of the design
and operation of disclosure controls and
procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in
financial reports is recorded, processed,
summarised, and reported within specified
time periads.

We have conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of our risk management and
internal control systems in accordance with
the Code. Part of this review involves regular
review of our financial, operational, and
compliance controls, following which we
report hac«< to the Board on our work and
findings as described above. This allowed us
to provide positive assurance to the Board to
assist it in making the statements that our risk
management and internal control systems
are effective, as required by the Code.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditor engagement was
re-tendered in 2020, at which point EY was
appointed, replacing Grant Thorntan UK LLP,
which had been appointed since 1996.

Following the conclusion of the 2021 audit,
the Senior Statutory Auditor (554A), Paul
Maplestaon, indicated his intention 1o retire
from EY and a replacement was found. Due
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to an unanticipaied absence, the new SSA
was not available to complete the audit
process and Nigel Meredith stepped in to
perform this role. Positively, we have seen
good continuity across the audit team,
meaning we have retained much of the
learning and knowledge accumulated in the
previous two years. |he 55A 15 required 1o
rotate after a maximum of five years, meaning
that Nigel may continue in this role until the
year ending December 2026 being his last
possible financial year.

The Commtiitee expects that the next tender
date will be no later than 2030 in accordance
with the current regulation that requires a
tender every 10 years.

Annually, the Committee reviews the external
auditor’'s audit plan and reviews and
assesses information provided by it
confirming its independence and objeclivity
within the context of applicable regulatory
requirements and professional standards.

The Committee also reviews the auditor’'s
effectiveness, which involves assessment
of the auditor by the Committee and key
Executives: and confirmation that the guditor
meets minimum standards of qualification,
independence, expertise, effectiveness,
and communication. These assessments
are carried out prior to the Committee
recommending ta the Board that the
external auditor be proposed for
reappointment at the Company's AGM.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
AMD MON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Company has adopted a strnct poticy

of prohibiting the external auditor from
carrying out non-audit services, to safeguard
audit objectlvity and independence. The
Committee is responsible for approval of

all non-audit services provided by EY;
however, this is in exceptional circumstances
only. In siich an exceptional event, the Audit
and Risk Committee would approve such
work only where the Company would be
disadvantaged by engaging an alternative
provider, for instance where EY possesses a
detailed knowledge of the structure of the
business or an understanding of the markets
within which the Group operates. No
non-audit services were provided by EY
during 2022,

J CLARKE

AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE
COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
jim.clarke@mearsgroup.co.uk
28 April 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee

This report sets out
the key matters which
were addressed by the
Committee in 2022.

Meeting attendance

-- Acopy of the proposed Director’s
Remuneration Policy {the ‘Policy’), which
is subject to a binding shareholder vote at
the 2023 Annual General Meeting and, if
approved, will apply for three years and
replace the previous Policy which was
approved by shareholders in June 2020,

_. The Annual Report on Remuneration,

This is reflected in our financial results,

with revenue increasing by 9% to £959.6m.
Adjusted profit before tax (PBT) increased to
£35.2m and we ended the year with a net
cash balance of £98.1m having reported
EBITDA to operating cash conversion of over
100%. Excellent working capital
management, along with strategic disposals,

C Leughiin 3/3 which sets out details of (i) remuneration transformed the Group's financial position
earned by Directors and the link between and created the current position of balance
J Unwin 313 Company performance and pay in the sheet strength wihich Mears is determined
J Clarke 3/3 year ended 31 December 2022 and ta retain irto the future. The Board has
{ill haw we intend to imalement the proposed a final dividend of 7.25p per share,
K Murphy 33 Directors’ Remuneraticn Policy in 2023. bringing the total dividend for the year to
A Lockwood ol 10.50p per share

Dear shareholders

lam pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Repart for the year ended
31December 2022.

This report 1s made up of three parts:

. This Annual Statement, where | set
out details of the key decisions of
the Remuneration Committee and
tne business context within wnich
they were taken.

As well as the binding vote on the Palicy,
there will be the usual advisery shareholder
vote on the Annual Statement and the Annual
Report on Remuneration at the 2023 AGM.

BUSINESS CONTEXT

2022 was a very strong year for the

Group. The strong operational and financial
performance is further evidence that the
strateqic actions of recent years and our
resilient operating platform are defivering
positive results. The strengthening trading
performance is underpinned by the strategic
actlions of recent years and our market
leadership which positions the Group well
for sustainable growth over the medium term.

For the third successive year we secured our
place in the top 25 of the UK's Best Large
Companies to Work For in the UK, with our
2022 score higher than the previcls two
years. This has been further endarsed by
Mears being named by the Chartered
Institute of Housing, an ¢rganisation in which
almost all our clients have members, as the
Emplayer of the Year in 2022. Our staff and
therefore our employee propaosition is very
important to us and during the year, following
feedback from employees, we implemented
the following initiatives:

Improved holiday and sick pay for front
line operatives.

_ Building the workforce of tomorrow,
through investing in apprentices,
supporting the Kickstart programme,
and creating new entry level roles
to drive social mability.

The Committee is satisfied

that pay outcomes reflect the

performance of the business ,
during the year

C LOUGHLIN
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
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— Inbioducing flexible bevelils and
enabling a better balance between
home and office warking.

__ Continuing our investment in staff,
thraugh bespoke training such as our
Emerge development programme,
for staff looking to progress to senior
management positions.

— We remain one of the very few listed
companies with an Empioyee Drreclor
on the main Board.

.. Externally appeinted Social and Diversity
impact Board and accredited by the
Housing Diversity Network, including
growing the number of women in
management positions and reducing
the gender pay gap.

_— Providing comprehensive mental health
and wellbeing support, especially given
the difficult situations many of cur staff
face on a day-to-day basis.

INCENTIVE OUTCOMES FOR 2022
Annual bonus

As set out in the business context section
above, the Group delivered a very strong
operational and financial performance
during the year.

The 2022 annual bonus was based 40%
on Group adjusted profit befora tax, 30%
on average dally net debt/cash, and 30%

on strategic objectives relaling 1o customers,

employees, and the generation of social
value. These targets were set early in the
year and were not adjusted at any point
thereafter. The achievements against the
targets were as follows:

Profit befole lax {40%)

__ The Group delivered adjusted prott
before tax of £35.2m, which was above
the maximum target of £29.3m. We
benefitted from strong revenue growth
{up 9% over the prior year largely which

included increased volumes within the
AASC) and delivered a modest increase
in operating margins. This reflects the
positive steps taken by the Group over
the previous two years, actions which
have at times resulted in a reduction

in revenues but improved profitability.
As aresult, this clemaent of the bonus
will pay outin full.

Average daily net debt/cash (30%)

.- The daily average net cash position over
the course of the year was £42.9m which
was significantly ahead of the maximum
target of £17.5m. The outperformance was
largeily down to excellent working capital
management, The position was further
improved by the working capital absorbed
within the Group's Development activities
failing to below £2m (2021: £12m);
however, without this enhancement, the
Group would still have delivered above
target. Therefore, this part of the bonus
was also fully met.

Employee engagement, customer

satisfaction, and social value generated (30%:)

— Our employee engagement criterion was
measured by reference to the
independent scoring awarded by the
UK’s Best Large Companies to Wark For.
This was achieved, at scoring which
implied further improvement versus
previous years.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

_. The customer satisfaction criterion based
on NPS and our scare of 87.6% was
between the threshold and maximum
targets. Further detail is given in the
strategy and KPI outcomes on
pages 22 o 25,

_ The economic and social value generated
for the communities in which we serve
is measured as social value created per
Mears employee. For 2022, we generated
value of £16,900 per employee, which
was above the maximum stretch target
of £3,000 which itself required 7.5%
growth on the prior year.

Overall, the strong performance over the
year resulted in a fermulaic bonus outcome
of 96.2% of the maximum. In line with our
Policy, 67% of the bonus will be paid in
cash, with the balance deferred in shares
for a periad of three years.

The Remuneration Committee believes this
outcome is appropriate and fully reflects the
strong financial and operating performance
of the Group during the year.

LTIP cutcome

There were no long-term incentive plan {(LTIP)
awards capable of vesting for performance
ending at 31 December 2022 or shortly after.
The first awards granted during the year
under the LTIP adopted as part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy approved

at the 2020 AGM were made in June 2021
and these will vest subject to performance

in June 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION

FOLCY REVinWy

During 2022, the Remuneration Committee
undertook a thorough review of the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy in advance
of the Policy renewal at the 2023 AGM

The Committee concluded that the overall
structure of remuneration worked effectively
and that ne increases to the bonus or LTIP
grant levels were necessary. Therefore there
have been minimal changes to the Pelicy
with the exception of aligning executive
pension arrangements to the workforce rate
and inclusion of market standard in-
employment and post-employmerit
shareholding guidelines. Mears operates
many different pensicn plans and the
workforce rate of 6% has been based on
the Committee's assessment of the current
weighted average workforce contribution

in percentage of salary terms. We hape
shareholders will be supportive of our

new Policy.

BOARD CHANGES

After 17 years at Mears, Alan Long stepped
off the Board on 31 December 2022, Alan
remains an employee of the Group and still
plays an important role in supporting the
Executive team. Having worked the fuli 2022
financial year, he will receive an annual
bonus for 2022 performance as set out
above. Alan holds unvested deferred bonus
which will be retained and may continue

to vest at their normal vesting dates. Alan's
unvested LTIP awards will be retained and
may continue to vest at their normal vesting
dates, with vesting subject to performance
and a pro rata reduction to reflect his period
of employment, To the extent that awards
vest, dividend equivalents will be payable
and a further two-year holding period will
apoly. Alan will not receive an LTIP award

in 2023.

David Miles indicated during 2022 that
after 26 years at Mears he wished to
transition towards retirement from the

role of CEQ. David remsins as CEO and a
further announcement of David's retirement
from this role will be set out in due course.

On the same date, we announced that Lucas
Critchley had been selected to work alongside
David and assume the role of CEO at a future
date. Lucas subisequently joined the Mears
Board on 1 January 2023 and will move to
become CEQ upon David's retirement as
CEQ. Lucas's base salary upon joining the
Board has been set at £221,000 and itis
expected that his salary will be increased
when he takes on the CEO role during 2023,
Detalls of his CEOQ salary will be determined
at the time he takes on the role and will be

reported in next year's Remuneration Repart.

Kieran Murphy has notified the Board that
he dees notintend to stand for re-election
at the 2023 AGM. Following his departure,

I was appointed by the Board to fiil the rale of
Chairman. A new Chair of the Remuneration
Committee will be appointed shortly and

I 'wish them well in their rcle,
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TUEAR AN DAY REVIEVW

At a time when unemployment is low and
where competition for resources labour is
high, it has never been more important for
Mears to continue its commitment to being
a great place to work for our staff. Mears

is committed to fine tuning our employee
brand proposition, emphasising more clearly
the benefits of working for Mears. We will
continue our progressive approach of
enhancing packages to enhance retention.

Given the significant cost of living pressures
being encountered by our staff, we were very
focused on directing much of the increase

to the lowest paid. We brought forward our
annual pay review from 1 April to 1 January
2023 and this resulted In a £2,000 increase
to basic pay for ail our employees {except
where certain employees’ pay is linked to
national or local agreements). For our front
line care workers the Group applied an
interim ircrease in October 2022 and from

1 April 2023 the headline pay rate within the
Supperted Living business will increase from
¢11.00 to £12.00 per hour and within the Extra
Care business from £9.90 to £11.00 per hour.
We have also improved hohdays, sick pay,
and other family friendly oenefits across

the Group.

APPLYING THE POLICY IN 2022

Base salaries

The Committee has agreed that the
Executive team will not receive an
inflationary increase from 1 April 2023
given the focus an increasing pay for

the towest paid in the Group. As detalled
within last year's Remuneration Report,

the Committee carried out a review of base
salary positicning, recognising the proposed
Board changes and the rebalancing of
workloads and responsibilities across the
senior management team. Andrew Smith's
salary was increased to £300,000 in light
of the additional responsibilities taken

on as the Board plans for the David Miles
stepping down during 2023. This includes
management responsibility for IT and
Systems; Legal; Health, Safety and
Compliance together with Commercial.

Annuat bonus 2023

As part of the Policy review work,

the Committee constdered the most
appropriate measures and weightings
for the 2023 annual bonus plan.

The Committee has decided that PBT

shouid contnue to apply to 40% of the
bonus and that a8 mew measure, operating
profit margin, should have a 10% weighting.
As the Groun 15 now in 8 healthy cash
positive pasition, average daily net debt/cash
will ne replaced oy a cash conversion metric
which will account for 20% of the total bonus.
This ensures a focus remains on effective
working capital management and continues
our focus on cash generation. The remaining
30% will continue to be based on customer
satisfaction (10%), employee engagement

measured by UK's Best Large Companies to
Work For score (10%}, and the generation of
social value (10%), In addition, the Committee
will consider whether any adjustment is
required to the bonus outcome in the event
of a health and safety issue during the year.
The specific targets for each of these
measures have also been setto reflectthe
achievements in 2022 and forecasts for
2023, The actual targets for 2023 and
performance outcomes will be reported
retrospectively in next year's report.

LTiP 2023

The third set of awards under the LTIP
scheme adopted as part of the Remuneration
Policy approved at the 2020 AGM will be
maae in 2023 at alevel of 100% of salary to
each of the Executive Directors, The 2023
LTIP will consist of two measures, being EPS
growth relating to targets for FY2025 and
total shareholder return (TSR) measured
relative to the FTSE SmallCap (excluding
investment trusts, financial services, and
natural resource companies). The Committee
will consider return on capital employed
(ROCE) performance in assessing the
outcome for the EPS component and the
Committee has the ability 1o reduce the
vesting outcome if performance 1s
inconsistent with the performance of the
business or individual during the three-year
performance périod.

Pansion

With effect from 1 January 2023, pension
contributions for the current Executive
Directors were reduced from 15% of salary to
6% of salary, being the Commitiee’s estimate
of the weighted average pension contrnbution
across the Group. The contribution level for
any new Executive Director hires (including
Lucas Critchley) will be aligned with the
workforce rate immediately on joining.

CONCLUSION

The strengthening trading performance is
evidence that the strategic actions of recent
years and Mears’ resilient operating platform
and market leadership are delivering results
and position the Group well for sustainable
growth over the medium term.

I believe the Committee has considered
carefully the pay outcomes for the year to
ensure there is an appropriate link between
reward, financial and strategic delivery, and
stakeholders’ interests. | hope you find the
report informative and will be supportive of
the two pay resolutions which will be tabled
atthe 2023 AGM.

if you have any questions on this report or
any remuneration matters more generally,
please get in touch with me direct, orvia
the Company Secretary, Ben Westran

C LOUGHLIN
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
28 April 2023
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report sets out the Directors’ Remuneration
Policy (the "Policy’} which, subject to
shareholder approval at the 2023 AGM, shall
take binding effect from the date of that
meeting and shall be in place for the next
three-year period unless a new Policy is
preacnten toshareboldsos Delwe Hion,
Subject to approval by shareholders, all
payments to Directors during the Policy
period will be consistent with the approved
Policy. This FPolicy takes into account the
provisions of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code {the 'Code’y and other
good practice guidelines from institutional
sharehoiders and shareholder bodies.

In developing our Policy, we have been
careful to take full account of the provisions
of the Code and it will continue to be a key
touchstone for the Committee. In summary,
with regard to how we have scught to comply
with the six factors outlined in Provision 40

of the Code, we believe the following are
waorthy of particular note:

.. Clarity — the Policy is well understood
by our Directors and has been clearly
articulated to shareholders and proxy
voting agencies.

REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE

.— Simplicity — the remuneration structure
is simple and transparent and we have
purposefully avoided any complex
structures which have the potentiai
to deliver unintended outcomes.

- Risk - our Policy and apprecach to
target setting seek to discourage any
Inopproprate nsk-taking. A balanved
scorecard of financial and non-financial
objectives applies to the annual bonus
scheme and the targets are appropriateiy
stretching, to mitigate the risk of
inapprepriate actions being taken.

Malus and clawback provisions apply.

_ Predictability — Executives’ incentive
arrangements are subject to individual
participation caps. An indication of the
range of values in packages is provided
in the llustration of policy scenario charts.
Deferred bonus and LTIP awards provide
alignment with the share price and their
values will depend on share price at the
time of vesting.

__ Proportionatlity — there is a clear link
between individual awards, delivery of
strategy, and our long-term performance.

__ Alignment te culture — pay and policies
cascade down the grganisation and are
fully aligned to Mears' culture.

Summary of the key changes from the
previous policy

The key differences between the Policy
approved by shareholders in 2020 and the
proposed 2023 Policy are as follows:

__ Achange to the in-employment
shareholding guidelne with ail current
and future Executive Directors expected
to buitd up a minimum shareholding to the
value of 200% of salary,

... Introduction of a post-cessation
shareholding guideline reqguiring
Executives to hold the lower of shares
held and 200% of salary for a period of
two years after ceasing to be a Director.
In the proposed Policy, Non-Execulives
are encouraged ta build a shareholding
in the business over time.

__ Achange to the normal base salary
review implementation date from 1 April to
1January (to align with all employees).

_ A change to the pension policy to align all
Executive Directors {current and future
recruits} with the workforce percentage
conirnibution rate in place at the time. The
previous policy was to provide a 15% of
salary contribution for current Executive
Directors and a workforce sligned
contribution for new Executive Directors.

The following table summarises the main elements of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy for 2023 onwards, along with the key
features of each element and their purpose and linkage to our strategy. The Policy for the Chairman and Nen-Executive Directors is set

aut on page 88.

Objective and link to strategy  Operation

Maximum oppeortunity

Performance measures and assessment

Base salary
The purpese of the base
salary is to;

.. help recruit and retain
individuals of the necessary
calibre to execute the
business strategy;

— reflect the individual's
experience, role and
contribution within the
Group; and

- ensure fair reward for
‘doing the job,

Salarics will be eligible for increases duting
the three-year period that the Remuneration
Poucy operates, The Committee reviews
base salaries annually with any change
typically effective from 1 January.

The Committee will retain the discretion

to increase an individual's salary wherg

there is a significant difference between
current levels and a market competitive rate.
When determining base salaries and whether
to increase leve s the Committee will take the
following into consideration:

Tne Commitiee is guided
by the general increase
for the broader employee
population but may decide
to award a lower increase
for Executive Directors or
indeed exceed this to
recognise, for exampie, an

or responsibility of the roe
and/orto take into account

—- the oerformance of the individual
Executive Director;

_. tnendividual Executive Directar's
experience and responsibilities:

. the impact on fixed costs of any increase,

__ pay and conditions taroughout

the Group; and

__ the economic environment.

When setting the salary levels for the
Executive Directors, 10 addit'on to

the factors summansed above, salary levels
paid by companies of a similar size and
comalexity to Mears are taken into account.

increase in the scale, scope,

relevant market movements.

Not applicable.

Mears Group PLC Annua! Report and Accounts 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Objective and link to strategy

QOperation

Maximum epportunity

Performance measures and assessment

Pension

To provide a framework to
save for retiement that 1s

apgropriately compétitive.

The Company may contribute directly 'nto an
occcupationat pension scheme {an Executive
Drector's perscnal pensicn) or pay a salary
supplement in lieu of pension. If appropriate,
a salary sacnifice arrangement can acply
Only the base salary s pensicnanie

Fram 1 January 2023,
Executive Directers'
contribution rates will

be aligned with the
woerkforce centrioation rate.
The current estimate of the
workforce rate 1s 6% of base
salary looking at current
contrbution rates across
the business, The average
wor«foce rate may ¢ange
over the life of the policy

Not applicable.

Annual bonus

To reward and incentivise the
achievement of anqual targets
I'nked to the delivery of the
Company's strategic priorities
for the year,

Bonuas measJres and targets are reviewed
annually, and any payoutis determined by
the Committee after the end of the financial
year, based on performance against targets
set ‘or the period.

Up to 87% of any bonus that becomes
sayable s paid in cash with tne remainder
deferred into shares for three years
Deferred bonus share awards typically
vest subject to cont nued employment only

Individuals may be anle to receive
adividend equivalent paymem on
deferred bonus shares at the ime of
vesung equal to the value of dividends
which would have accrued during the
vesting penod. The divicend equivalent
payment may assdme the reinvestment
of dvidends on a cumulative basis.,

In the event that there was (1) a material
misstatement of the Company’s results,

iy a miscalculation or an assessment of any
pe-formance conditions that was based

on incorrect information ymisconduct

on behalf of ar individual: {iv) the occurrence
of an insalvency or administration cvent,

{v) reputational damage; or (v se"ious health
and safety events, malus and/o- clawback
orov'sions may apply for tnree years from
the date of payment of any bonus or the
grant of any deferred benus share award,

Maximum ponJs potential
15 capped at 100% of salary
for Executive Directars.

Bonus performance measu-es are set anndally
and will be predominantly based on challenging
financial targets set 10 line with the Group's
strategic priorities and tailored to each
i~dividual role as appropriate; for example,
targets relating to adjusted earnings

For a minority cf the bonus, strategic, ESG,

ar operational objectives may operate

The Committee has tne discretion to vary tne
performance measures used from year to year
depending on the strateqic prigrities at tne
start of each year Details of the performance
neasures for the relevant financial year

wil be pravided in the Annug! Report on
Remunerat’on and actual targets wil

be disclosed retrospectively

For f'nancial targets, and whe-e pract'caale 1N
-espect of operational or strategic ta-gets,
bonrus starts to accrue once the th-eshold ta-get
1s met {up to 20% payan'e) nsing on a g-aduated
scale 1o 100% for stretch performance

The Committee may adjust bonds outcomes,
based on the application of the bonus formula
set at the start of the relevant year, 1f it
cans.ders the quantum to o inconsistent with
the oerfo-mance of the Company. business, o~
ind'vidual during the year. For the avaidance
of doubtthis can be ta zero and bonuses

may not exceed the maximu™ |evels detalled
above, Ay use of such discret.on would be
detalled in the Annual Report on Remuneration

Benefits

To prov'de benefits that are
valued by the recipient and are
apn-oprately competitive.

The Executive Drectors may receive benefts
including a Company-provided car or an
allowance inhed, life assurance, and private
medical insurance. Other additianal benefts
may be provided where appraonate

Benefits in xind are not pensionatre.

Beneftvalues va-y year

on year depending on
aremiums and the maximum
potentia’ valué s the cost of
these provisions,

Not applicabe.
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Ohjective and link to strategy

QOperation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures and assessment

Long-term incentive plan
Its purpose is to incentivise
and reward the defrvery

of strategic priorities and
sustained performance

over the longer tarm.

To provide greater alignment
with shareholders' interests.

The LTIP prov'des for awards of free shares
fi.c either conditional shares or nil o neminal
cost options) aormally on an annual basis
which are eligile to vest after three

years subject 10 continued service

and the achievamant of challenging
petformance condinons.

Vested awards are subject to a two-year
post-vesting holding period. In exceptional
circumstances such as due to regulatory or
legal reasons, vested awards may also be
settled in cash.

Dividend eguivalent payments may be
made on vested LTIP awards and may
assume the reinvestment of dividends,
on a cumulative basis.

In the event that there was (i) a8 material
misstaternent of the Company’s results;
{11} @ miscalcuiation or an assessment of
any performance conditions based on
incorrect inforration, {iil) misconduct on
behalf of an individual; {iv) the occurrence
af an insclvency or administ-ation event;
(v} reputational damage; or {vi) serious
health and safety events, malus and/or
clawback provisions may apply for three
years from an award becoming eligible
to vest.

tn any financial year,
performance shares with
aface value of up to 100%
of salary {or 150% of salary
on an excepticnal bas's,
such as in recruitment
cazes) may be grantsd

to an Executive Director,

The actual grant level
will take into account the
share price performance
of the Group.

The Committee may set such performance
conditions as it considers appropriate reflecting
the medium-term priorities of the Group The
choice of measures and thelr weightings wil.

be determined prior ta each grant.

Up 1o 25% of awaras will vest tor tnreshold
perfarmance with full vesting taking place
for equalling, or exceeding, the maximum
performance targets. No awards vest for
performance below threshold. A graduated
vesting scale operates between threshald
and maximum performance levels.

The Committee may adjust LTIP vesting
cutcomes, based on the result of testing

the performance condition, if it considers

the quasntum te be incensistent w.th the
performance of the Company, business, or
individual during the three-year performance
period. For the avoidance of doubt this can be
to zero, Any use of such discretion would be
detailed i1 the Annual Report on Remuneration.

All-employee share plans
Encourages employees lo own
shares in order to increase
alignment over the longer term.

Allemployees are eligibie te participate in
the Company's Share Incentive Plan (S1P)
and Sharesave plan (Save As You Earn).
Underthe terms of the Sharesave plan, al
empoyees can apply for three or five-year
apuens to acquire the Company's shares
priced at a discount of up to 20%.

Ungdertne terms of the SIP, the Company
can choose to affer free shares, partnership
shares, matching shares {ug to two for one
on any partnership shares purchased),
and/or dividend shares

In additien, the Company operates a
discretionary unapproved share plan

and a Campany Share Option Plan {CS0OP)
Ne awards to Executive Directors are
proposed under these plans

Under the SIP, Sharesave
plan and CSOP, the
maximurm amount s equal
to the HMRC limits set
from time to time.

Not apphcahle.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

SHAREHOLDING GUIDELINES

The shareholding guideline secures a
long-term locked-in alignment between
the Executive Directors and shareholders,
ensuring that they build up and maintain a
minimum level of shareholding throughout
their employment with the Company. The
in-employment shareholding guideline for
Executive Directors is 200% of base salary.

The sharehalding requirement will operate
in the following manner:

_ Shares unconditionally owned by the
Executive Directar will count towards
the reguirement.

Unvested deferred bonus shares or
vested LTIP shares which are subject
to a holding pericd may count towards
the guideline on a net of tax basis.

.- All vested deferred bonus and LTIP
awards must be retained until the
guideline has been achieved, unless
the Committee believes that there are
exceptional circumstances.

Executive Directars are normally required
to hold shares at a level equal to the lower
of their sharcholding at cessation and 200%
of salary for two years after ceasing to be

a Director, For this purpose, an Executive
Director's shareholding shall exclude shares
purchased with own funds and any shares
acquired from share plan awards made
before the approval of this Policy (2023},

REASONS FOR SELECTING

FEAETRA ANOY TAASRES

The annual bonus measures are selected to
provide direct alignment with the short-term
operational targets of the Company. Care

is taken to ensure that the short-term
performance measures are always
supportive of the long-term objectives.

The LTIP performance measures will be
selected 10 ensure that the Executives are
encouraged in, and appropriately rewarded
far, delivering against the Company’s key
long-term strategic goals so as 1o ensure a
clear and transparent alignment of interests
between Executives and shareholders and
the generation of long-term sustainable
returns. The performance metrics that are
used for annual bonus and long-term
incentive pians are a sub-set of the

Group's KPIs.

86

The Committee wishes to ensure that
the annual bonus performance measures
selected provide a holistic assessment
of overall corporate performance and fie
into the nan-financial objeclives that

the Company embraces throughout

the organisation.

Adjusted Group profit before taxis a

key metric for the Group and ensures
management is focused on delivering
sustained profits. Alongside this, cash flow
continues to be important as management
focuses on achieving the optimal capital
structure and managing working capital.

The strategic measures will be primarily
focused on customers and employees,

3s two of our most impeortant stakenholder
groups. The Group firmly believes that
customer and employee satisfaction are
drivers of long-term performance and
productivity, They both contribute to the
retention of existing contracts as well as
hefping to win new contracts with new and
innovative operating models. The creation
of social value suppaorts our aim of investing
in local communities which has been
fundamental to Mears for over 25 years.
Other ESG related measures may feature
as the Group develops and evolves its
sustainability agenda.

Targets are calibrated ¢ reflect the
Commitiee's assessment of good o
exceptional performance and take into
account internal budgets and the current
economic environment.

CIFFERENCES IN REMUNERATION
DONLALY T s DRAPTOv RDE

The Company sets terms and conditions

for employees which reflect the different
legislative and labour market conditions

that operate in each of our jurisdictions.

We will always meet or exceed national
minimum standards for terms and conditions
of employment in each of cur business areas.
Pay arrangements in our businesses also
reflect local performance with personal
increases based on achievement, individually
assessed. Mears believes in the value of
continuous improvemnent, both for the
individual and for the Company.

In general, all employees recelve base salary,
benefits, and pension, and are eligible to
participate in the Company’s all-employee
share plans. Bonus plans are set for

senior management, aligning the senior
management team 1o deliver value

for the Group

COMMITTEE DISCRETIONS

The Committee will operate the conclusion

ta the existing equity incentive plan, ang the
new annual bonus and LTIP according to their
relevant plan rules. The Committee retains
discretion, consistent with market practice,

In a number of regards to the operation and
administration of these plans. These include,
but are not limited to, the following:

. Theindividuals participating in the plans.

- The timing of grant of an award.

_ The size of an award and/or payment.

—. The determination of vesting.

Discretion required when dealing with
a change of control (e.g. the timing of
testing performance targets), M&A,

of restructuring of the Greoup.
Determination of the treatment of good
and bad leavers based on the rules

of the plan and the apprapriate
treamment chosen,

— Adjustments required In certain ‘corporate
action’ circumstances (e.q. rights Issues,
carporate restructuring events, and
special dividends).

. The annual review of the choice of
performance measures and weightings
for the annual bonus and LTIP.

— The ability to adjust incentive outcomes,
based on the results of testing the
performance conditions, if the Committee
considers the quantum 10 be inconsistent
with the performance of the Company,
business, or individual.

The Committee also retains the ability to
adjust the targets, and/or set different
measures and alter weightings for the annual
bonus plan and to adjust targets for the LTIP
if events occur (e.g. materal divestment of a
Group business) which cause it to determineg
that the conditions are no longer appropriate
and the amendment is required so that the
conditions achieve their original purpose
and are not materially less difficult to satisfy.

These discretions, which in certain
circumstances can be operated in both

an upward and a downward manne-, are
consistent with market practice and are
deemed necessary for the proper and farr
operation of the schemes Iin order to achieve
thelr ariginal purpose, Itis the Committee’s
policy, however, that there should be no
element of reward for poor performance
and any upward discretion will only be
applied in exceptional circumstances,
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ILLUSTRATIONS OF APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY
The Company’s Remuneration Policy results in a significant proportion of remuneration received by Executive Directors being dependent

on Company performance. The compaosition and total value of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages for minimum, on-target and
maximum performance scanarios, along with a maximum performance scenario with a share price growth assumption included, are set out

in the graph below,

CEG
David Miles salary 2023 (£'000)

Minimum
438
Target
433 202 20%
Maximum
438 404 C i 404

Maximum with share price growth

0 300 600 900
M Fixed

# Annual banus

M Long-term incentive

% Share price growth

1,200 1,500

ASSUMPTIONS:

— Minimum performance includes only
fixed pay (base salary from 1 April 2023,
the value of 2022 benefits as per the
single figure of remuneration table or
based on an estimate, and a 6% salary
pension contribution).

... On-target performance includes fixed
pay and assumes an annual bonus payout
of 50% of maximum and 25% vesting of
2 100% of salary grant of LTIP awards.

_ Maximum perfarmance includes fixed
pay and assumes full bnus and 100%
LTIP vesting.

_ Maximum performance with share
price growth as per maximum but
with 50% share price growth assumed
on LTIP awards.

APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT
REMUNERATION

When setting the remuneration package

for a new Executive Director, the Committee
will apply the same principles and implement
the policy as set outin the Remuneration
Policy table.

Base salary will be set at 8 level appropriate
to the role and the experience of the
Executive Direclor being appointed. In
certain cases, this may Include setting a
salary below the market rate but with an
agreement on future increases up to the
market rate, in line with increased
experience and/or responsibilities,

subject to good performance, whara

itis considered appropriate,

Pension provision, in percentage of salary
terms, will be aligned to the general
workforce level prevailing at the time

of appointment.

CFO
Andrew Smith salary 2023 {£’000)

Minimum
328
Target
328 1507
Maximum
328 300 2001

Maximum with share price growth

Executive Director
Lucas Critchley salary 2023 (£'000)

Minimum
244
Target
244 H 55
Maximum
244 221 w237
Maximum with share price growth

L L L L L 2 o
[¢] 200 400 600 800 1000 1,200

M Fixed
W Annual bonus

B Long-term incentive
B2 Share price growth

The maximum level of vanabie remuneration
which may be granted (excluding buyout
awards as referred to below) is an annual
bonus of 100% of salary and an LTIP award
of 100% of salary or 150% of salary in
exceptional circumstances such as
recruitment (as per the limits in the

Policy table).

In relation to external appoimtments, the
Committee may offer compensation that

it considers appropriate to take account

of awards and benefits that will or may be
forfeited on resignation from a previous
position. Such compensation would reflect
the performance requirements, timing, and
such other specific matters as the Commitiee
considers relevant. This may take the form
of cash and/or share awards. The policy is
that the maximum payment under any such
arrangements {(which may be in addition

to the normal variable remuneratian) should
be no more than the Committee considers
is required to provide reasonable
compensation to the incoming

Executive Director.

|f the Executive Director will be required to
relocate in order to take up the position, it

is the Company's palicy to allow reasonable
relocation, travel, and subsistence payments.
Any such payments wili be at the discretion
of the Commitiee.

In the case of an existing employee who

is promoted to the paosition of Executive
Director, the Policy set out shove would
apply from the date of promotion but there
waould be no retrospective application of the
Palicy in relation to existing incentive awards
or remuneration arrangements,

Accordingly, prevailing elements of the
remuneration package for an existing
employee would be honoured and form

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

L L N " L
Q 200 400 500 800
M Fixed

B Annual bonus

¥ Long-term incentive
2 Share price growth

part of the ongoing remuneration of the
employee. These would be disclosed to
shareholders in the following year's Apnual
Report on Remuneration.

Naon-Executive Director appointments

will be through letters of appointment.
Non-Executive Directors’ base fees,
including those of the Chairman, will be

set at a competitive market leved, reflecting
experience, responsibility, and time
cammitment, Additional fees are payable for
the chairmanship of one of the major Board
committees and for undertaking the role

of Senior Independent Director.

SERVICE CONTRACTS AND

SAYMENT BN LOSS OF OFFIE
Executive Directors’ service contracts are
terminable by the Company and by the
Director by giving no more than

12 months’ notice.

If an Executive Director's employment is

to be terminated, the Committee’s policy

in raspect of the contract of employment,

in the absence of a breach of the service
agreement by the Executive Director, is to
agree atermination payment based on the
value of base salary and benefits that would
have sccrued to the Executive Director
during the contractual notice period. The
policy is that, as is considered appropriate
at the time, the departing Executive Director
may work, or be placed on garden leave, for
all or part of their notice peried, or receive a
payment in lieu of notice in accordance with
the service agreement.

The Committee will also seek to apply the
principle of mitigation where possible so
as to reduce any termination payment to
a leaving Executive Direc:or, having had
regard o the circumstances.

a7/
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

In addition, the Committee may also

make payments in relation to any statutory
entitiements, to settle any claim against the
Company (e.g. In relation to breach of
statutory employment rights or wrengful
dismissal} or make a modest provision in
respect of legal costs or outplacement fees.

Wwith regard to annual bonus for a departing
Executive Director, if employment ends by
reason of redundancy, retirement with the
agreement of the Company, ill health,
disability, or death, or any other reason

as determined by the Commitiee (1.e. the
individual is a 'good leaver’), the Executive
Director may be cansidered for a pro-rated
honus payment. If the terminatian is for any
other reason, any entitlement to bonus would
narmally lapse. Under any circumstance, it is
the Committee’s policy to ensure that any

Any bonus payment will normally be delayed
until the performance conditions have been
determined for the relevant period and be
subject to a pro-rata reduction for the portion
of the relevant bonus year that the individual
was employed.

With regard to deferred share bonus awards,
these will normally lapse on cessation of
employment other than where an Executive
Director is a ‘'good leaver’ (as detailed
above), with awards then usually vesting

on the normal vesting date.

In relation tc awards granted under the
Company’s LTIP, in certain prescribed
circumstances, such as death, injury or
disability, redundancy, transfer or sale of
the employing company, retirement with
the Company’s agreement, or other

If treated as a good leaver, awards will

be eligible to vest subject to perfarmance
conditions, which will be measured over

the anginal performance period [unless the
Committee elected to test performance to
the date of cessation of employment), and
be subject to 8 pro-rata reduction {unless
the Com-ittee considered it inappropriate to
do so) to reflect the proportion of the vesting
period actually served. Awards will typically
vest on their normal vesting date and the
post-vesting nolding period will normally
continue to apply untii the second
anniversary of vesting {for both unvested
and vested awards at the time of cessation).

S AP ANy BOR FNES TR
lERUICRFET S

The Board as a whole is responsible for
setting the remuneration of the Non-

bonus payment reflects the departing
Executive Director’s performance and
behaviour towards the Company.

status may be applied

circumstances at the discretion of the
Committee (reflecting the circumstances
thas prevaill at the time), ‘good leaver’

The table beiow sets out the key elements of the Policy for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors.

Objective and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Executive Directors, other than the Chair,
whose remuneration 1s determined by the
Committee and recommended to the Board.

Performance measures
and assessment

To provide compensation
that attracts individuals

with appropriate knowledge
and experience

Fee levels are reviewed periodically taking
into account independent advice and the time
commitment required of Non-Executive Directors.

The fees paid to the Chair and the fees of the other
Non-Executive Directors aim to be competitive with
other isted companies which the Committee (in the
case of the Chairman) and the Board (in respect of
the Non-Executive Directors) consider to be of
equivalent size and complexity.

Non-Executive Directors receive a base fee and
additional responsibilty fees such as, for example,
for undertaking the role of Senior Independent
Director or for membership and/or chairmanship
of certain Committees.

In exceptional circumstances, If there is a tempaorary
yet material increase in the time commitment for
Non-Executive Directors, the Board may pay extra
fees on a pro-rata basis to recognise the additional
workload involved

The Chair receives a singie fee and does not
receive any additional fees for membersh'p
and/or chairmanship of Committees.

Non-Executives (excluding employee directors)
are encouraged to build a meaningful shareholding
in Mears Group.

Any increase in Non-
Executive Director base fees
or additional responsibility
fees may be above the level
awarded to other employees,
givern that they may only be
reviewed periodically and
may need to reflect any
changes to time commitments
or responsibilities.

The Company will pay
reasonable expenses incurred
by Non-Executive Directors,

Non-Executive
Director fees are not
performance related

Non-Executive
Directors donot
receive any variable
remuneration element.
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REMURMEZONTION FRAMEWOLES - AT A GLANOE
The following section sets out our remuneration framework, a summary of how our Policy was applied in 2022 in the context of our
husiness performance, and from page 95 details of how the Committee intends to implement the Policy in 2023,

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNERATION

The Committee believes it is important that, for Executive Directors and senior management, a significant proportion of the remuneration
package should be performance related, and the performance conditions applying to incentive arrangements should support the delivery
ot the Lompany’s strategy. 1he tollowing table sets out how the annual bonus scheme and LIP reflect the Group's strategic priorities:

Deepening Growing and
our client improving
our business

LG43 OI1DJLVELE

Continue
to innovate

Developing
our pecople

Increasing quality

relationships leadership

IONYNUIAOD FLVHOLUOD

How we have measured progress against these objectives

— Exceptional health and safety performance, with the Group being
awarded its 19th consecutive RoSPA Gold Award and retaining its
place an RoSPA’s Order of Merit

— Improvementin Group operating profit margins

How are our strategic objectives linked to our incentive plan

— Continue to unwind the Group’s Housing Development activities
with a positive impact to net debt
__ Top 25 UK's Best Large Caompanies to Work Far

Annual bonus (capped at 100% of salary; 67% paid in cash, 33% deferred shares)
Adjuste'd profi? Cash conversion thstomfer Employee Social value
and profit margin (20%) satisfaction engagement (10%)
(50%) (10%) (10%) ’

LTIP (capped at 100% of salary with three-year performance targets)

Total shareholder
return

Mears Group PLC Annual Repert and Accounts 2022

Earnings per
share
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

CeURER FHON [ P OGNV A B B0E 2l
Executive Directors have an abligation

te inform the Board, specifically the
Remuneration Committee, of any
Non-Executive positions held or being
contemplated and of the associated
remuneration package. The Remuneration
Committee will consider the merits of any
such external appamtment on a case-by-
case basis anad will carefuily consider the
work and time commitment involved and
the potential benefit to the Group. Whether
the remuneration for any such external
appointment is retained by the Executive
or passed over to the Group will also be
considered on a case-by-case hasis.

CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT
CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE (N THE
SROUP N OBV OIS T oy
In setting the Remuneration Pelicy for
Executive Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into account Group

and pusiness unit performance, including
both financial performance and safety
improvements in the year. The Remuneration
Committee also monitors pay trends and
workforce conditions across the Group and

takes this into account when formulating the
policy for Executive Directors. The salary
increase for the general workforce is a key
reference point used by the Committee to
inform its decisions on salary increases for
Senior Executives.

The Committee has not expressly sought the
views of employees and no remuneration
comparison measurements were used when
drawing up the Directors' Remuneration
Policy. Through the Board, however, the
Committee is updated as to employee

views on remuneraticn gererally.

CONSIDERATION OF

SAARFLHOCDER VWS

The Committee is committed to an ongoing
dialogue with shareholders and seeks
shareholder views when any significant
changes are being made to remuneration
arrangements. We remain sensitive to

the views of shareholders and consult
shareholders regarding any material
changes to the Pol'cy ar to how it is being
implemented. The 2023 Policy Is largely
the same as the previous one, for which

a comprehensive shareholaer cansultation
exercise was underiaken,

The Company will continue to monitor
shareholder comments and retain an
open dialogue as necessary,

ANNUAL REPORT
ON REMUNERATION

This sectien of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report contains details of how the
Company's Directors’ Remuneration Policy
was implemented during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 and how the new
Policy, which is subject to shareholder
approval at the 2023 AGM, will be
implemented for the 2023 financial year.

SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF
REVMURERATION (A ED

Executive Directors

The remuneration of Executive Directors
showing the breakdown between elements
and comparative figures is set out below.
Figures provided have been calculated In
accordance with the regulations.

Fixed pay

Executive Director Taxable ond benefits Annual Long-term Variable pay Total
{£'000) Year Salary' benefits' Pension? sub-total konus?  incentives?® sub-totaf remuneration

2022 404 10 61 475 388 - 388 863
D J Miles

2021 400 25 60 485 353 - 353 838

2022 269 1 40 320 258 - 258 578
A C M Smith

2021 267 " 40 318 235 - 235 553

2022 221 10 33 264 212 - 212 476
Along

2021 218 1 33 262 193 — 193 455

W

Benelits included a Company-provided car or an allowance in lieu, life assurance, and private mecical insurance

Execuuve Directors received a ¢ash allowance in lieu of pension. The pension contnbutien has been reduced to 6% of salary from 1 January 2023

Full deails of the annual bonus putcomes are set out in the section below, No discrelion was used in determining the bonus autcome

There were no long-term incentives granted with performance pericds enaing on 31 December 2022 or shorily after The vesting outcome of the 2021 LTIP awards

will be reported in ~extyear s directors' remunerat o~ report
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The performance measures and targets for the annual bonus for the year ended 31 December 2022 are detailed below.

The annual bonus measures chosen for 2022 were dependent upon the achievement of a number of objectives detailed below; 70% of the
annual bonus was linked to financial measures with the remaining 30% based on strategic objectives relating to customer satisfaction,
employae engagement, and monetary social value generated. The actual performance achieved in respect of the annual bonus for 2022

is also summarised below agains: each target.

Actual

Weighting Threshold Maximum performance Bonus cutcome
Measure (% of salary) {20% payable) (100% payable) for 2022  {% of maximum)
Adjusted Group PBT' 40% £26.7m £291m £35.2m 100%
Average daily net debt/cash? 30% £7.5m £17.5m £42.9m 100%

net debt net cash

Customer satisfaction? 10% 85% S0% B76% 61.6%
Employee engagement; UK's Best Large
Companies score (January 2022)* 10% 671 676 709.4 100%
Creation of social value® 10% £2.794 £3,000 £16,900 100%
Total 96.2%

1

2

3

a
5

Adusted Group PBT 15 stated before the amart'sahion of acguisiion intangibles and non-underlying items. Itis 2ssessed on all activities comprising a PET an continuing
activines of £34.9m adiusted for amortisation of acquisition intangibles of £G.2m.

Average daily net debt/cash is derived from 365-tay average bank statement balance, The ouicome for the year was a positive cash average dailly cash position

of £42.9m,

Customer satisfaction is based on pefcentage of customers that rate Mears' service at 7 out of 10 or above, with methodology signed off by the independem

Customer Scrutiny Board.

The employee engagement measure 15 set against the overall score awarded to the Group by the UK's Best Large Compames to Work For awaros

Social value is independently assessed utilising a social value measurement tool and is expressed as an amount generated per employee,

Adjusted Group PBT for the year of £35.2m was ahead of the maximum target set by the Committee and benefitted from higher Group
revenues and operating margin. This reflects the positive steps taken by the Group over the previous two years, actions which have at
times resulted in a reduction in revenues but improved profitability. Average daily cash over the period was £42.9m which was also above
the maximum target set. This cash performance was largely due to strong working capital management during the period with the year-end
cash balance at £98.1m. The position was fu-ther improved by the working capital absarbed within the Groun’s Development activities
failing to below £2m (2021: £12m}, however, without this enhancement, the Group would still have delivered above target.

The non-financial measures were based on customer satisfaction, employee engagement, and creation of social value. The customer
satisfaction score of 87.6% was between threshold and maximum, employee engagement was 709.4, and the Group delivered £16,900
of social value per employee which was above the maximum target of £3,000. Overall, performance against the non-financiat measures
resulted in a payout of 26.2% out of 30%.

The annual bonus outcome resuited in an overall bonus of 96.2% of maximum. The aggregate bonus entitlement across the three Executive
Directors was £858,000 and is included within the single total figure of remuneratton. Twao thirds of this entitlement is paid in cash and
one third of the bonus will be deferred in shares for a period of three years.

The Committee believes this high outcome is a fair reflection of the strategic actions of recent years and Mears' resilient cperating platform
and market leadership. No discretion was used in determining the bonus cutcome,

LTI VERTING (AUDITEL:
There were no LTIP awards granted in 2020 and therefore no LTIP awards are capable of vesting in 2023 based on performance to
31 December 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

b EREOUTIVE il Daddies BUMELT FES e
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparstive figures is shown below. Figures
provided have been calculated in accordance with the regulations.

Salary/ Taxable Fixed pay Total
Chairman and Non-Executive Director (£'000) Year fees? benefits sub-total remuneration
K Murphy 2022 161 - 161 161
K Murphy 2021 160 — 160 160
J Unwin 2022 66 - 66 &5
J Unwin 2021 63 - 63 63
J Clarke 2022 786 - 76 76
J Clarke 2021 68 — 68 68
C Loughlin 2022 76 - 76 76
C Loughlin 202 70 - 70 70
A Lockwood' 2022 66 - 66 566
A Lockwood' 2021 - - - -
G Davies’ 2022 - - - -
G Davies? 2021 38 — 38 38
R {rwin’ 2022 - - - -
R frwin? 2021 43 — 43 43
C Gibbard?® 2022 56 2 58 58
C Gibbard? 2021 56 - 56 56

1 Alockwooc jomed the Board in January 2022
2 GDavies and R trwin steppec down from the Boare in June 2021,
3 C Gibbarc steppec down from the Board on 31 December 2022 Her remuneration for 2022 incluced a £2,300 car benefit

Variations between the figures above and the approved fee rates relate to the part-year impact for changes in the Committee membership.

SHARE AWARDS MADE DURING THE YEAR
The following LTIF awards were granted on 11 April 2022:

Face value Number Threshold vesting Maximum vesting End of
Director as % of salary Face value' of shares {% of face value) {% of face value) performance periad
D I Miles 100% £404.044 199,692 25% 100% 31 December 2024
A C M 5mith 100% £269,932 133,409 25% 100% 31 December 2024
A lLong 100% £221144 109,296 25% 100% 31 December 2024

1 Theface value of the awards1s basec on a share price of 202.3p, being the three-day average share price directly prior to the grant of the aware,

The awards have been granted in the form of nominat cost options and will nermally become exercisable on 11 April 2025, Awards may become
exercisable subject to the achievement of relative TSR (50%;) and EPS (50%) performance conditions.

Description Weighting Calculation Targets

Total shareholder return 50% Relative TSR versus the constituents of the FTSE SmallCap Threshold: Median (25% vests)
{excluding investment trusts. financial services, and natural Maximum: Upper Quartile
resources companies) measured over a three-year {100% vests)

performance period.

Earnings 50% Adjusted EPS target relating to the 2024 financial year. None  Threshold: 21p (25% vests)
per share of this part of the award will vest if 2023 EPS s less than 21p; Maximum: 24p {(100% vests)

25% shall vest for EPS of 21p, increasing to full vesting for 24p

or higher. The Committee will consider ROCE performance

over the performance period and may reduce the EPS vesting

outcome if the Committee 1s not satisfied that the levet of EPS

vesting is Justified on acceunt of the Group’s ROCE over the

perfarmance period.
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In addition, the Committee retains discretion to reduce the overall LTIP vesting level if it considers that the underlying business perfoarmance
of the Company does not justify vesting {taking into consideration a range of factors, including, for example, ROCE performance). If the
Committee is not satisfied that the formulaic vesting outcome is aligned with underlying Group performance, then it may reduce

(potentially to zeroj the vesting outcome,

Awards granted to Executive Directors are additionally subject to a two-year holding penod following the vesting date.

I he tollowing deferred bonus share awards were granted during the year in respect ot bonus earned tor pertormance relating to the
2021 financial year:

Number of deferred

Director Date of grant shares granted’ Vesting date
D J Miles 1 April 2022 57,762 11 April 2025
A CM Smith 11 April 2022 38,513 11 April 2025
AlLong 11 April 2022 31,51 11 April 2025

1 The face value of the awards 15 based on a share price of 202.3p, being the three-day average share price directly prior to the grant of the award.
Awards were granted in the form of nominal cost options and will vest subject to continved employment,

STATEMENT O DIRECTORY SHAREHOLDING AND SHARE (NTIRESTE (ALTHTFO)
Directors’ share interests as at 31 December 2022 are set out below:

Number of Options Options subject  Unvested Total

beneficially vested but to performance deferred bonus Interests held
Director awned shares not exercised conditions awards at year end Shareholding guideline met?
D J Miles 336768 - 413,568 90,007 840,344 199% of salary; guldeline not met
A CM Smith 270,000 - 276,012 60,012 606,024 214% of salary, guideline not met
ALong 92,957 — 225,97 45101 368,029 13% of salary,; guideline not met

There were no changes to the holdings set out above from the period 31 December 2022 to the date this report has been signed off.
No Non-Executive Director holds an interest in shares.

The current Executive Directors each have a shareholding requirement of 400% of salary under the Policy approved by shareholders in 2020,
Under the proposed Pollcy which is being put forward for sharenolder approval at the 2023 AGM, the shareholding guideline for all Executive
Diractors (current and new) will be 200% of salary.

As at 31 December 2022, based on beneficially owned shares and deferred bonus awards (on a net of tax basis), D J Miles, A CM Smith
and A Long had shareholdings equal to 199%, 214%, and 113% respectively of their base salaries (based an a share price of £2.08).

SHAREHOLDER DILUTION

In accordance with the Investment Association’s guidelines, the Company can issue a maximum of 10% of its issued share capital in a rolling
10-year period to employees under all its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the Company can issue 5% to satisfy awards under discretionary
ar Executive plans. The Company operates all its share plans within these guidelines.

FESFORMAMOE GRAPH AR TATLE (UNAUHMTED,

The graph below shows the Group's performance, measured by TSR, compared with the constituents of the FTSE All-Share Index and the
FTSE All-Share Support Services Index over the past 10 years. The Company is a constituent of both indices and these peer groups are
considered to provide relevant comparisons,

Total shareholder return
400

300

L

100

Jan 2012 Jan 2013 Jan 2014 Jan 2015 Jan 2016 Jan 2017 Jan 2018 Jan 2019 Jan 2020 Jan 2021 Jan2022 Jan 2023
— Mears ~ - FTSE Al-Share Suoport Services Index —— FTSE Al-5hare Index Source Thomson Reuters
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The table below shows the Chief Executive Officer's remuneration package over the past 10 years, together with incentive payout/vesting
as compared to the maximum opportunity.

Single figure of tatal remuneration Bonus payout Long-term incentive vesting
Year Name {£'000) {as % maximum opportunity) {as % maximum anpartunity)
2022 2 J Miles 363 96% -
2021 D J Miles 838 88% -
2020 D J Miles 600 47% -
2019 L J Miles 469 - -
2018 D J Miles 455 - -
2017 Dt Miles 443 - -
2016 D J Miles 436 - -
2015 D JMiles 436 - 20%
2014 D J Miles M2 - 35%
2013 D J Miles 825 - 100%
SERIESTAGE £ ANGR I S EMUNT A e 07 B PP N L B R A R T S N N A N S AP WY v Thelad

The table below compares the percentage change in the remuneration of the Directors with that of the wider employee population for the last
three years.

Remunrneration

Salary/fee? Benefits Annual bonus

2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
D J Miles 0.4% 2.0% 2.0% 160%} (4% - 10% 187% -
ACMSmith 0.6% 2.0% 2.0% - 22% - 10% 187% -
Along 07% 2.0% 2.0% - 127%}) - 10% 187% -
K Murphy 1.0% - - - — - - - —
J Unwin 2.5% - - - - - - - -
C Loughlin 21% - - - - - - - -
J Clarke 2.1% - - — — — — — —
A Lockwoaod' - - - - - - - - -
G Davies® - - - - - - - - -
R Irwin? - - - - - - - - -
C Gibbard? 38% 2.0% 2.0% - - - - - -
All employees’ salaries 37% 2.0% 2.0% - - - - - -

1 Alockwood joined the Bearc in January 2022,

G Davies and R Irwin stepped down from the Board in June 2021 and ALong and C Gibbard stepped off the Board on 31 December 2022

3 Percentage change in Non-Execuuve Direcior fees is agjusied to exclude the valuntary elecuon in 2020 to take a 20% reduction in fees between April and
Octaber 2020 tareflect the challenges faced by the business from the Cowd-19 pandemic The percentage change reflects any change in e~tilemen: as compared
with the actuzal remuneration received

4 The 2022 salary/fee increase matches the general warkforce increase of 4% but capped at £1,600 for any incividual

hJ

LA OYEE PAY #ATID e RODITED

The table below sets out the ratic between the total pay of the CEO and the total pay of the employees at the 25th, 50th (median}, and 75th
percentiles of the workforce.

Year Method 25th percentile Median 75th percentile
2022 B 38.21 2011 19.2:1
20 B 297 27.81 2211
2020 B 231 211 191

The 25th, 50th {(median), and 75th percentile ranked individuals have been dentified using the gender pay gap survey data for 2022, 1.e.

as allowed for under method B of the UK renort ng reguirements This was deemed to be the mast teasonable and practical approach to
dentifying the relevant individuals for t~e purposes of this disclosure. The day by reference to which t~e 25th, 50th imedian), and 75th
sercentile employees ware determired was € Apnl 2022, The CEO pay figure 15 the total remuneration figure as set gut In the single figure
rable on page 90 and equivalert figu-es [on a full-time equivalent tasis| nave been calculated for the relevant 25tn, 50th (median), and 75th
oarcentile emgloyees, The Remuneration Committee 1S comfortasle that the resulting calculaticns are representative of pay levels at the
respective quartiles.
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The total pay and benefits figures used to calculate the ratios for each of the 25th percentile, 50th {median), and 75th percentile employees
are £22,617, £42,833, and £44,840 respectively. The salary element for each of these figures are £18,314, £39,708, and £40,396 respectively.

BELATIVE IMPORTAMNOL OF 920y ON Pay ditialind fE
The table below sets cut the relative importance of spend on pay in the financial year and previous financial year compared with other
disbursements from profit.

LMCdIH S1893lvdls

2022 2021 H
SIGHITICENE AISTHBULIOHS [V [NSIV]Y) chdliye
Total spend on employee pay 180,540 191,281 -
Profit distributed by way of dividend* 1,651 8,865 31.4%
Qperating profit before non-underlying items (continuing activities) 41,53 33.686 23.3%

* Profitdistibuted by way of dividend includes propesed final dividend of 7.25p per share in 2022 and 5 50p per sharein 2021,

DETAILS OF SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT 8

Date of contract/letter Notice period by Company -4

Director of appointment or Director T

o]

Executive 2

3

b J Miles June 2008 Twelve months m

1]

A CM Smith June 2008 Twelve months 2

H Nar January 2023 One month i

z

L Critchley January 2023 Tweive months ;

Chairman/Non-Executive {m')
K Murphy January 2018 Six months
G Davies October 2015 Six months
J Unwin January 2016 Six manths

JClarke July 2019 Six months -

C Loughlin September 2019 Six manths 2

A Lockwood January 2022 Six maonihs %

=

r

FAYRIENTS 10 PUST QIRECIORS AND PAYMEN TS r D 1088 OF OSFIOE I T k) ’»_:

There wera no payments for foss of office or to past Directors during the year. b

After 17 years of service, Alan Long stepped off the Board on 31 December 2022, Alan remains an employee of the Group and still plays g

an impaortant role in supporting the Executive team. Having worked the full 2022 financial year, he will receive an annual bonus for 2022 g

performance. Alan holds unvested deferred bonus which will be retained and may continue to vest at their normal vesting dates. Alan's Z}:

unvested LTIP awards will be retained and may continue to vest at their normal vesting dates, with vesting subject to performance and a pro
rata reduction to reflect his pericd of employment. To the extent that awards vest, dividend equivalents will be payable and a further two-year
holding period will apply. Alan will not receive an LTIP award in 2023,

STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN THE 2023 FINANCIAL YEAR
Executive Directors

Base salary

The salary entitlements for the forthcoming year are set out below:

2023 2022 %
Executive Dirgctor £'000 £'000 change
D J Miles 404,044 404,044 -
ACM Smith 300,000 269,932 M.1%
L Critchley 221,000 - -

HOILYWHOAR! H30TCHIHYHS

The Committee has agreed that the Executive team will not receive an inflationary increase from 1 April 2023 given the focus on increasing
nay for the lowest paid In the Group. As detailed within last year's Remuneration Report, the Committee carried out a review of base salary
positioning, recognising the proposed Board changes and the rebalancing of workloads and responsibilities across the senicr management
team. Andrew Smith's salary was increased to £300.000 in light of the additional responsibilities taken on as the Board plans for David Miles
stepping down during 2023. Lucas Critchley's base salary has been set a1 £221,000 to reflect his appointment as a new Executive Director,
It 15 expected that h's salary will be increased when he takes on the role of CEQ during 2023 and his salary as CEO will be reported in next
year's report,

This includes management responsibility for IT and Systems; Legal; Health, Safety and Compliance together with Commercial.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Pension
Details of pension contributions for the year commencing 1 January 2023 are set out below:

Executive Director Pension
D J Miles 6%
A C M Smith 6%
L Critchley 6%

Executive Directors’ pension contribution rates have been reduced from 15% to 6% of base salary from 1 January 2023, There are a number
of pension schemes in aperation al Mears and a 6% of salary pension contribution is the current estimate of the average workforce pension
contribution rate. As a new Director appointed to the Board, Lucas Critchley’s pension contribution has been set at 6% of base salary.

Annual bonus 2023
The maximum bonus potential will be 100% of salary and will be dependent upon the following performance measures:

. Profit before tax (40%)
Cperating profit margin {10%)
. Cash conversion {20%)
Strategic objectives (30%]} relating to customer satisfaction (10%), employee engagement (10%), and monetary sccial value generated (10%).

The above metrics include operating profit margin for the first time with a weighting of 10%. Margin improvement is a key management goal
for 2023. Reflecting the Group's progress in moving from a net debt to a net cash position over the last two years and to ensure we maintain
a strong ‘cash culture’, the cash measure has been set as underlying EBITDA to operating cash canversion. This helps the Group's front line
operations understand that invoicing and cash collection are intrinsically linked and that a works order is not completed until the monies
are banked.

The strategic objectives, which will be built around the Group's strategy for customer success and supported by our independently chaired
Customer Scrutiny Board, reflect the Group’s commitment to serving our clients and customers; to further developing our social value offer
to add value in the communit'es we serve; and to securing high levels of positive employee engagement through net promoter scares and
validaton by external accreditation.

In addition, health and safety will apply as a discretionary underpin and, before any bonus becomes payable, the Committee will consider
health and safety performance over the year and will have the power to reduce the bonus outcome If standards are below expectations.

Any bonus payable will be delivered in a mix of cash [67%) and deferred share awards (33%) which will vest after three years from grant,
LTIP for 2023

Itis intended that awards will be made 81 100% of salary to each of the Executive Directors. The measures will remain EPS and TSR and targets
will be as follows:

Description Weighting Calcwiation Targets
Total shareholder return . 50% Relative TSR larget against the constituents of the FTSE Threshold: Median (25% vests}
SmallCap [excluding investment trusts, financial services, Maximum: Upper Quartile
and natural resources companies) measured cver a {100% vests)
three-year performance period.
Earnings per share 50% Adjusted EPS target relating to the 2025 financial year, Threshold: 25p (25% vests)
i e the third year of the three-year performance period. Maximum: 28p (100% vests)

The Committee will consider ROCE performance over
the performance period and may reduce the =PS vesting
outcome if the Committee 1s not satisfied that the level of
EPS vesting is justified on account of the Group’s ROCE
over the cerformance ceriod.

The Remuneration Committee believes the use of TSR and EPS provides an appropriate balance between focusing on share price recovery
and delivering financial returns.

Vesting will be on a pro-rata basis between the threshold and maximum vesting figures. In addition, the Committee retains discretion to
reduce the overall LTIP vesting level it cons'ders that the underlying business performance of the Comoany does not justify vesting (taking
Into consideration a range of factors, including, for example, RGCE performance). If the Commitiee is not satisfied that the fermulaic vesting
outcome is aligned with underlying Group performance then it may reduce (potentially to zero) the vesting cutcome.

Any shares which vest from this award will be subject to a two-year past-vesting hclding period.
Non-Executive Directors

The following table sets out the fee rates for the Non-Executive Directors {(which effective from 1 April of each year, and for the following
12 months):
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2023 2022 %
£'000 £'000 change
Chairman fee £161,500 £161,600 -
Base fee £51,600 £51,600 —
Committee Chairman fee £15,000 £15,000 -
Commillee membershp lee £H,Uuu EASRVIVY] —

C Loughlin will become Chair of the Board when K Murphy steps off the Board at the 2023 AGM. C Loughlin’s fee has been set at the same
as his predecessor’s fee.

The NED fees will remain unchanged for 2023 in hne with the Group's focus on enhancing the earnings of lower-paid employees.

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE AND ACTIVITIES

The Committee determines the total individual remuneration packages of each Executive Director of the Group and certain other senior
employees (and any exit terms) and recommends to the Board the framework and broad pelicies of the Group in relation to Senior Executive
remuneration. The Committee determines the targets for all of the Group's performance related remuneration and exercises the Board's powers
in relation to all of the Group's share and incentive plans. The terms of reference of the Committee are available on the Company’s website.

There is a formal and transparent procedure for develaping policy on Executive remuneration and for determining the remuneration
of individua! Directaors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible far:

... determining and agreeing with the Board the broad Remuneration Pohcy for:
__ the Chairman, the Executive Directors, and senior management, and
__ the Executive Directors' remuneration and other benefits and terms of employment, including performance related bonuses and share
options; and
__ approving the service agreements of each Executive Director, including termination arrangements,

No Director is involved in determining his/her own remuneration.
During the year the Committee addressed the following main topics:

Undertook a review of Directors’ remuneration which culminated in the preparation of a revised Remuneration Policy which will be put to

shareholders for approval at the 2023 AGM.

... Reviewed the pension contributions of the Executive Directors to align the contributions 1o the workforce level by 1 January 2023.

__ Revigwed guidance from investor bodies and institutional shareholders,

. Assessed whether our remuneration framework is appropriately aligned with our culture and values, and motivales our leaders to achieve
the Group's strategic objectives.

_ Reviewed and approved the remuneration packages for our joining and departing Executive Directors.

. Finalised the annual bonus payments for the 2021 financial year to the Executive Directors.

. Determined the measures, weightings, and targets for the 2022 annuat bonus plan and for the 2022 grant of long-term incentive awards

under the LTIP.

COMPOSITION OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The members of the Committee during the year were Chris Loughlin (Chair), Julia Unwin, Jim Clarke, and Kieran Murphy.

SUPPORT TO THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

By invitation of the Committee, meetings are also attended by the Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committee) and the HR
Director, who are consulted on matters discussed by the Committee, unless those matters relate to their own remuneration. The Committee

is authorised to take such internal and external advice as it cons'ders appropriate in connaction with carrying out 1ts duties, including the
appeointment of its own external remuneration advisers. During the year, the Committee was assisted in its work by FIT Remuneration
Consultants LLP. FIT was appointed in 20192 following a tender process and has provided advice in 2022 in relation to general remuneration
matters and the review of the Remuneration Policy. Fees paid to FIT in relation to advice to the Committee in 2022 were £20,612 {excluding
VAT}. FIT did not provide any other services to the Campany. FIT is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and, as such, voluntarily
operates under the Code of Conduct in relation to executive remuneration cansulting in the UK. The Committee is satisfied that the advice

it received from FIT Is objective and independent.

STATEMENT OF VOTING AT GENERAL MEETING
The table below shows the voting outcome in respect of the remuneration related resolutions at the 2022 AGM.

Votes
item Vates for % Vates against % withheld
To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report 84,282,609 92 3% 5,989,739 77% 10,034

The Committee was pleased with the high level of support provided by shareholders at the 2022 AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Directors

The Directors present
their report together
with the consolidated
financial statements
for the year ended

31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are
the provision of a range of outsourced
services to the public and private sectors.
The principal activity of the Company is
to act as a holding company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is required to set out a fair
review of the business of the Group during
the reporting period. The Information that
fulfils this requirement can be found in the
Strategic Report, Chief Executive QOfficer's
review and Financial review. The results

of the Group can be found within the
Consolidated Income Statement. information
required to be disclosed in respect of
emissions and future developments s
included within the Strategic Report.

DIVIDEND

An interim dividend In respect of 2022 of
3.25p per share was paid to shareholders
in October 2022, The Directars recommend
a final dividend of 7.25p per share for
paymentin June 2023. This has not been
included within the consolidated financial
statements as no obligation existed at

31 December 2022,

CORPCRATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Group's corporate governance
are set out on pages 62 to 100.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We focus on a range of key indicators to
assess our performance. Qur performance
indicators are both financial and non-financial
and ensure that the Group targets its
resgurces around its customers, employees,
operations, and finance. Collectively they
form an integral part of the way that we
manage the business to deliver our strategic
goals. Our primary performance indicators
are detailed on pages 24 and 25.

DIRECTORS

The present membership of the Board
15 set out with the biograchical detail
on pages 64 and 65.

In ine with current practice, all of the
Directors will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM in
June 2023. Any perscn appointed by the
Directors must retire at the next AGM but wil|
be eligible for re-election at that meeting.
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The beneficial interests of the Directors in
the shares of the Company at 31 December
2022 are detailed within the Remuneration
Report on page 93.

The process governing the appomntment and
reptacement of Directors is detailed within
the Report of the Nominations Committee.

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES

TR O7RE T 17

The Company’s Articles of Association can
be amended anly by a special resciuticn of
the members, requiring a majority of not less
than 75% of such members voting in person

or by proxy.

SHARE CAPITAL AUTHORISATIONS
The 2022 AGM held in May 2022 authorised:

- the Directors 10 allot shares within defined
limits. The Companies Act 2006 requires
directors to seek this authority and,
following changes to Financial Services
Authority (FSA) rules and institutional
guidelines, the authority was limited to
one third of the issued share capital, a
total of £369,845 plus an additional one
third of issued share capital of £36%,606
that can only be used for arights 1ssue
ar similar fundraising;

. the Directors to issue shares for cash on a
non-pre-emptive basis. This authority was
limited to 5% of the issued share capital
of £9b,476 and is reguired to facilitate
technical matters such as dealing with
fractional entitlements or possibly
a sail placing;

_ the convening of general meetings
(other than an AGM) on 14 days’ notice.
Section 307A of the Companies Act 2006
provides that listed companies must hold
general meetings {other than annual
general meetings) on 21 days’ notice
unless the members of that company
£3ss 3 special resolution agreeing to a
shorter notice period which cannot be
any less than 14 clear days. ltis therefgre
necessary for the Company to pass this
resolution aflowing the Company to
continue to hold general meetings
{other than annual general meetings)
on not less than 14 clear days' notice; and

_ authority to purchase up to 10% of
the issued ordinary share capital of
the Company. The resclution specified
a maximum number of snares of
11,095,377, and also placed a minimum
and maximum price at which they may
be bought, based upon mar«et pricing
althe tme o the transaction

Further details of these authorisations are
available in the notes to the 2022 Notice of
AGM. Shareholders are also referred to the
2023 Notice of AGM, which contains similar
provisions in respect of the Company’s
equity share capnal.

AGM

The 2023 AGM will be held in June 2023.

A formal Notice of Meeting and Form of
Proxy will be issued in advance. The ordinary
business to be conducted will include the
reappointment of all Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Risk is an accepted part of doing business.
The Group’s financial risk management is
based on sound economic chjectives and
good corporate practice. The Beard has
overall responsibility for risk management
and internal controls within the context of
achieving the Group's chjectives, OQur
process for identifying and managing risks
15 set oLt in more detail within the carporate
governance statement. The key nsks and
mitigating factors are set out on pages 46
to B1. Details of financial risk management
and exposure to price risk, credit nsk, and
Liquidity risk are given in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONTRACTS OF SIGN!IFICANCE

The Group is party 1o significant contracts,
The Directors do not consider that any one
of those contracts is essential in its own rigkt
to the continuation of the Group's activities,
As detalled within the Strategic Report on
pages 59 and 60, the Directors completed
a long-term assessmenl of the Group's
financial viability and the loss of a number
of key contracts was modelicd as one
possible downside scenario, but the

Group remained viable in such an event.

PAYMENT POLICY

The Company acts purely as a holding
company and as such is non-trading.
Accordingly, no payment policy has been
defined. However, the policy for Group
trading companies 1s to set the terms of
payment with suppliers when entering
into a transact on and to ensure suopliers
are aware of these terms. Group trade
creditors during the year amcunted to 34
days {2021 33 days) of average supplies
for the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group is financed through both equity
share capital and debt. Detalls of changes
to the Company’s sha-e capital are given

in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company has a single class
of shares — ordinary 1p shares — with no nght
to any fixed income and with each share
carrying the right to one vole at the general
meetings of the Company. Under the
Company's Articles of Association, holders
of crdinary shares are entitled to participate
in any dividends pro-rata te their holding.
The Board may propose and pay interim
dividends and recommend a final dividend
for approval by the shareholders at the AGM
A fimal dividend may be declared by the
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shareholders in a general meeting by
ordinary resoluticn but such dividend
cannol exceed the amount recommended
by the Beard.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREROLDINGS

As at 31 March 2023 the Campany has been
notified of, or is aware of, the shareholders
holding 2% or mare of the issued share
capital of the Company. These shareholders
are detailed on page 70.

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

Applications for empioyment by disabled
persons are always fully considered, bearing
in mind the aplitudes of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff
becoming disabled, every effort is made to
ensure that their employment with the Group
continues and that appropriate training is
arranged. It is the policy of the Group that
the training, career development, and
promotion of disabled persons should,

as far as possible, be identical to that

of other employees.

GHG EMISSIONS

The Group's carbon emissions data for the
year is provided within the Task Force

on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
on pages 38 to 41.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

AR COMEELLUTATIORN

The Group has received recognition under
the ‘Investors in People’ award. The Group
continues to involve its staff in the future
development of the business. Infermation is
provided to employees through a daily news
email, a quarterly newsletter posted out to
all staff, the Group website, and the intranet
to ensure that employees are kept well
informed of the performance and
ohjectives of the Group.

CREST

CREST is the computensed system for

the settfement of share dealings on the
London Stock Exchange. CREST reduces
the amount of documentation required
and also makes the trading of shares faster
and more secure. CREST enables shares
to be held in an electronic form instead of
the traditional share certificates. CREST is
voluntary and shareholders can keep their
share certificates if they wish. This may be
preferable for shareholders whao do not
trade in shares on a frequent basis.

GOING CONCERM

The Directors do not consider going concern
10 be a critical accounting judgement.

In reaching this determination, the

Directors have takan account of:

— excellent trading delivered during 2022;

_ astrongly posilive daily net cash position
throughout 2022,

.. astrong order book, which provides
excellent visibility of future sales; and

— the Group's budget for 2023 forecasting
conttnued strong financial performance.

Notwithstanding the UK econcmic backdrop,
the Board approved a budget for 2023 which
reflects margin and profit growth compared
to the prior year. The Group is well
positioned, underpinned by the non-
discretionary nature of the Group's activities
and public sector client group. The Board
recognises that it is not immune to labour
shortages, supply chain challenges, and
inflationary pressures, and has included a
contingency amounting to circa 1% on Greup
costs (excluding direct labour} within its base
financial foracasts to reflect this uncertainty.
The Board has communicated its capital
allocation policy to stakeholders, and a

key pillar of this policy s ta maintain a net
cash position on a daily basis. It s from

this position of strength that the Board
completes this goirg concern assessment.

In making its going concern assessment,

the Directors are required to consider as to
whether there is a reasconable expectation
that the Group and Company have adequate
resources to continue in cperational
existence for at least 12 months following the
signing of these financial statements. Tne
Board has adopted a going concern period
for this purpose up to 30 June 2024, This
assessment considers whether the Group
will be able to maintain adeguate liguidity
teadroom above the level of its borrowing
facilities and to operate within the financial
covenants applicable to those facilities
which will be measured on 30 June 2023,

31 December 2023 and 30 June 2024. On

31 December 2022, the Group held £70m

of committed borrowing facilities, maturing
in December 2026. The principal borrowing
facilities are subject to covenants as detailed
within the Financial review section of the
Strategic Report. The Strategic Report also
details the principal risks and uncertainties
and how the Group manages its risks,
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The Group reported a net cash position

of £398.1m on 31 December 2022, but the
Directors believe that the average daily net
cash, which averaged £42.9m during 2022,
provides stakeholders a better indication
of the underlying position and is 8 betler
indicator of the Group’s liquidity. The Group
has modelled its cash tlow outlook tor the
period to 30 June 2024 and the forecasts
indicate significant liquidity headroom will be
maintained above the Group’s borrowing
facilities and that financial covenants will be
met throughout the peried, including the
covenant tests on 30 June 2023,

31 December 2023 and 30 June 2024,

In making its assessment of going concern,
the Board has confirmed that there have
been no post bslance sheet changes which
have a material impact on the business

or affect liquidity.

The Group has carried out stress tests
against the base case to determine the
performance leveis that would result in

a breach of covenants or a reduction of
headroom against its borrowing facilities

to £nil. The Directors carried out reverse
stress testing, increasing the severity of the
assumptions to measure the trigger points
at which the going concern of the Group
could be impacted. After making these
assessments, the Directors cansider any
scenarioc or combination of scenarios

which could causs the businessto be no
longer a going concern to be implausible.
The Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and its subsidiaries

have adequate resources to continue

in operational existence until 30 June 2024,
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the Annual
Report and Accounts,

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP offers itself for
reappointment as auditor in accordance with
Section 489 of the Compantes Act 2006.

By order of the Board
B WESTRAN
COMPANY SECRETARY

benwestran@mearsgroup.co.uk
28 April 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directers are required to prepare the
financial statements for the Company and the
Group at the end of each financial year in
accordance with all applicable laws and
regulations. Under company law the
Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
and profit or loss of the Group and the
Campany for that period. In preparing

these financial statements, the Directors

are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies

and apply them consistently,

. make judgements and accounting
eslimates that are reasonable;
state whether the consalidated financial
statements have been prepared in
accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards (IFRS) and in
conformity with the Companies Act 2006;

. state for the Company financial
statements whether United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law,
including Financial Reporting Standard 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS
107), have been followed; and

. prepare the financial statements on
the going concern bas's unless itis
inappropriate to presume that the
Company and the Group will continue
in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring
that the Group keeps proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy the financial position of the Group
and the Company to enable them 10 ensure
that the financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006 and, as regarcs
the consclidated firanciai statements, [FRS.
The Directors are also responsible for the
system of internal cantrols, for safeguarding
the assets of the Group and the Company,
and taking reasonable steps to prevent

and detect raLd and other irregalarities.
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Under applicable law and regulations, the
Directors are also responsible for preparing
a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Repart and
corperate governance statement that
comply with that law and thase regulations.

The Directors confirm that:

-. so far as each Director is aware there
15 na relevant audit iInformation of which
the Company's auditar is unaware; and
the Directors have taken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as Directors
in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the auditar is aware
of that information

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included an the
Company’s website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation n other jurisdictions

The Board confirms that to the best
of its knowledge:

the financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable set of
accounting standards, give a true and falr
view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position, and profit or loss of the Group
and the undertakings included in the
consehdatian taken as a whoie; and

the Annual Report includes a fair review
of the development and performance

of the business and the positon of the
Group and the undertakings included

in the consalidat on taken as a whote,
together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties that they face.

The Directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report in accordance with
applicable law and regulations. The Board
considers the Annual Report and Accounts,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced, and
understandable and that it provides the
information necessary for shareholders

10 assess the Group’s performance,
business madel, and strateqgy

Cn behslf of the Board

ACMSMITH

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
andrew.smith@mearsgroup.co.uk
28 April 2023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC

OPINION
In our opinion:

__ Mears Group plc's group financial statements and parent company financial stalements {the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view
of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

__ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards,

__ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepled Accounting
Fractice; and

_- thefinancial staterments have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

We have audited the financial statements of Mears Group plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries {the 'Group’) for the year ended
31 December 2022 which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended Balance sheet as at 31 December 2022

Consclidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended Statement of changes in eguity for the year then ended
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022 Related notes 110 16 to the financial statements including

a summary of significant accounting policies

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

Related notes 1to 32 to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies

The financial reporting framework that has been apphed in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted
international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” {United Kingdem

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicabile law. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accerdance with these requirements.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were net provided to the Group or the parent company and we remain
independent of the Group and the parent cempany in conducting the audit.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the geing concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is appropriate. Qur evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group and parent company’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

— testing the clerical accuracy of the model used to prepare the Group's going concern assessment.

assessing the reasonableness of the cashflow forecast by analysing management's historical forecasting accuracy. We evaluated the key

assumptions underpinning the Group's forecasts by proposing alternatives and chaflenging management’s position.

considering whether the Group's forecasts in the going concern assessment were consistent with other forecasts used by the Group in its

accounting estimates, including goedwill impairment.

— challenging, based on our own independent analysis, whether the severe downside cases prepared by management could lead either to a
loss of liquidity or a covenant breach and whether these scenarios were plausible. Our assessment included consideration of the impact
and likelihood of management's scenarios as follows, including a combination of them:

_.. a cyber breach scenario which results in additional irrecoverable costs te the business
__ aninability to secure new work and a lack of success on contract rebids
__ an inability to recover additional inflationary costs

. considering the mitigating actions that management could undertake in a severe but plausible downside scenario and challenging ther

feasibility.

Considering, independently, a “reverse stress-lest” scenario that would lead to efther a loss of liguidity or a covenant breach. Our reverse

stress-test scenario utilised management's scenarios and additionally assumed increased costs due to inflation that could not be passed on

to customers.

We also confirmed the cash position at 31 December 2022 by agreeing 1o confirmations received directly from the bank, as well as

avallability of debt facilities and considered their underlying terms, including covenants, by examination of executed documentation
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Our key observations arising from the procedures are that at 31 December 2022 the Group has £88m cash and undrawn facilities amounting
to £70m which expire in December 2026. Management have prepared a basc casc forecast, a range of severe-downside cases and a
reverse stress test. Management have concluded that the conditions that would need to exist to result in a loss of liguidity or covenant
breach arg remote.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating 1o events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period to 30 June 2024,

In relation to the Group and parent company’s reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing
material to add or draw attention ta in relation to the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the Directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect 1o going concern are descrnbed in the relevant sections of this report
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to lhe Group's ability lo continue as
a going concern.

OVERVIEW OF QUR AUDIT APPROACH

Audit scope —— We performed an audit of the completie financial information of 3 components and audit procedures on specific
balances for a further 10 components
__ The components where we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted for 99% of Profit before tax,
100% of Revenue and 100% of Total assels.
Key audit matters — Management override via topside adjustments posted to accruals and provisions through the P12 financial
statement close process and consolidation process
__ Appropriateness of lease accounting under IFR5 16
— Valuation of the Group and parent’s defined benefit pension abligation and valuation of hard to value
scheme assets
— Appropriateness of revenue recogniticn including contract accounting, contract assets, and contract accruals
Materiality __ Overall Group materiality of £1.7m which represents 5% of profit before tax from continuing operations.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
We apply the concept of matenality in planning and performing the audit, In evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the audit and
in forming our audit opinion

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of the users of the financiat statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of cur audit procedures.
We determined materality for the Group to be £1.7 million (2021: £1.1 millicn), which is 5% (2021: 5%) of prefit befare tax from continuing
operations (2021: narmalised profit before tax from continuing operations). We believe that profit before tax provides the most relevant
performance measure to the stakeholders of the group. Materiality in 2021 was based on our judgement of normalised earnings of the group
from continuing operations due to the partial impact of Covid-19.

We determined materiality for the parent company to be £1.7 million {2021, £1.1 million), which is capped to Group maternality being 0.9% of total
assets (2021: 1% of net assels) being a refiection of what we considered to be important to the users of the financial statements

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and adjusted our final materiality to reflect the final profit before tax for 2022,

Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It s set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately low level the
probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall cantrol environment, our Judgement was that
performance matenality was 50% {2021 50%) of our planning matenahty, namely £850,000 (2021: £550,000). We have set performance
materiality at this percentage due to audit differences identified in the prior year.

Audit work at companent locations for the purpose of obtaming audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is undertaken
based on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance materiality set for each component is based an the relative scale
and risk of the component to the group as a whole, and aur assessment cf the risk of misstatement at that camponent. In the current year,

the range of pcerformance matenality allocated to components was £55,000 1o £637,500 (2021: £55,000 to £412,500).

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them alt uncorrected audit ditferences in excess of £85,000 (2021 £55,000}, which
is set at 5% of planning matenality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on gualitative grounds.
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We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiglity discussed above, and in light of other
relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND GROUP AUDITS

Tailoring the scope

Qur assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allacation of performance matenality determine our audit scope for

each company within the Group  Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the caensolidated financial statcments We take into

areounl sige, sk profite, the organisation of the Group and ettectiveness ol group-wide controls, changes in the business environment, the
potential impact of climate change and other factors such as recent nternal audit results when assessing the level of work to be performed
at each component.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate guantitative coverage of
significant accounts in the financial statements, of the 18 reporting components of the Group, we selected 12 components covering entities
within the UK and 1 component based in Channel Islands, which represent the principal business units within the Group.

Of the 13 compaonents selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of 3 components (“full scope components”) which
were selected based on their size or risk characteristics. For the remaining 10 components ("specific scope companents”™), we performed audit
procedures on specific accounts within that component that we considered had the potential for the greatest impact on the significant
accounts in the financial statements either because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile.

The reporting components where we performed audit procedures accounted for 99% (2021: 100%) of the Group’s Profit before tax, 100%
(2021:100%) of the Group's Revenue and 100% (2021 100%) of the Group’s Total assets. Far the current year, the full scope components
contributed 78% (2021: 79%) of the Group's Profit before tax, 82% (2021: 79%) of the Group’s Revenue and 82% (2021: 82%) of the Group's Total
assets. The specific scope components contributed 21% (2021: 21%) of the Group's Profit before tax, 18% (2021: 20%) of the Group’s Revenue
and 18% (2021: 18%) of the Group's Total assets. The audit scope of these components may not have included testing of all significant accounts
of the component, but will have contributed to the coverage of significant accounts tested for the Group.

Of the remaining 5 components that together represent 1% of the Group’s Profit before tax, none are individually greater than 1% of the Group’s
profit before tax. For these components, we performed othar procedures, including analytical review, testing of consolidation journals and
intercompany eliminations to respond to any potential risks of material misstatement to the Group financial statements.

The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit teams.

Profit hefore tax Revenue Total assets

& 78% Full scope @ 82% Full scope & 82% Full scope

components components components
® 2% Saeatoeore ® S spegg sone ® %3y oo
@& 1% Other & 0% Other 4 0% Other
procedures procedures procedures
Changes from the prior year
The total coverage from full and specific scope components was at similar levels to the prior year.
2022 2024
Full scope 3 3
Specific scope 10 <t
Remaining components 5 4
Total components 18 15

The increase in components compared to the prior year reflects 3 newly incorporated / acquired components in 2022, 1 added to specific
scope and 2 to remaining components. Further, 1 specific scope componentin 2021 has moved to remaining components in 2022 and 2
remaining components in 2021 has moved to specific scope in 2022,

Involvement with component teams
All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audit team.

Climate change

Stakeholders are increasingly interested in how climate change will impact Mears Group plc. The Group has determined that the most
significant future impacts from ¢limate change on its operations will be from the desire to achieve net zero status by 2050. This is explained on
pages 38-411n the Task Farce for Climate related Financial Disclosures and on page 47 in the principal risks and uncertainties. They have aiso
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

explained their climate commitments on pages 42 to 43, All of these disclosures form part of the "Other infermation,” rather than the audined
financial statements. Cur procedures on these unaudited disclosures consisted solely of considering whether they are materially inconsistent
with the financial statements, or our knowledge cbhtamned in the course of the audit, or otherwise appear to be materially misstated, in line with
our responsibiliies on "Other information”,

In planning and perfarming our audit we assessed the potential impacts of climate change on the group's business and any consequentai
material impact on its financial statements.

The Group has explained in Note 1 how they have reflected the impact of climate change in their financial statements Significant judgements
and estimates relating to climate change are included in note 1.

Cur audit effort in consigering the impact of climate change on the financial statements was focused on evaluating management’s assessment
of the impact of climate risk, physicat and transition, their climate commitments the effects of material climate risks and the significant
Judgements and estimates disclased in note 1and whether these have been appropriately reflected. As part of this evaluation, we performed
our own risk assessment to determine the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements from climate change which needed to be
considered in our audit.

We also chalienged the Directors’ considerations of climate change risks in their assessment of going concern and viability and associated
disclosures, Where considerations of climate change were relevant to our assessment of going concern, these are described above.

Based on our work we have not identified the impact of climate change on the financial statements to be a key audit matter or to 1impact a key
audit matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These
matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in aur
cpinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters,

Risk

Qur response to the risk

Key observations
camritunicated to the
Audit Committee

Management override via topside
adjustments pested to accruals and
provisions through the P12 financial
statements close process and
consolidation process

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
{poge 76); Accounting policies

in Note 1of the Consolidated
Financial Statements {page 117)

There is a level of complexity within
the business which necessitates high
volumes of journal entries at the year
end, and lop-stde adjustments in
preparing the consolidated financial
statements. This increases the risk that
management will post an erronecus
Jjournel that will materially affect the
financial statements.

There are also a number of provisions
and accruals at year end that are based
on management estimation.

We performed audit procedures over this risk area centrally, covering both
full and specific scope components.

We walked through the financizl statement close and consolidation
processes to 855e5s the design and implementation of key controls.

We independently verified the results and balances of the consolidated
entities by agreeing the results and balances included in the consaolidation
directly to the trial balances for all full and specific scope components,

We obtained an understanding of all material year-end financial statement
close and consolidation journal entries posted, and speciically tested a
sample of the journals to supporting evidence.

We have further tested journal entries throughout the audit process using
our data analytics general ledger analyser tocls to identify and investigate
unusual items having considered criteria that we believed indicated a
higher likelihcod of material misstatement.

Wae identified 3 journal source types that in our judgement may be more
susceptible to management override. We assessed that size was an
important factor in relation to the risk of management override and tested
all journals in these source types over £85,000 affecting accruals and
provisions in the month of December 2022, as we assessed that there was
greater risk of management override close to the year-end date.

We also tested the same journal source types to the same threshold in
January 2023 to understand if there were any unusual amendments which
should have been reflected in the 2022 financial statements.

We understood the nature and appropriateness of material round sum
amounts in accruals and provisions at the year-end. We also ensured we
understood the reason for significant movements in provisions and accruals
from the prior year and chellenged management where there had been no
movement. Our work included corroborating the year-end accruals and
provisions to supporting information, looking back at prior years to assess
management’s ability to estimate, and challenging the most significant
assumptions.

As described in note 22 to of the consclidated financial statements, during
the year a claim for losses was raised by a former customer of the Group
(*Claimant”) after a ruling was made by an adjudicator in favour of the
Claimant in respect of a claim for breach of contract. The Birectors of the
Group dispute a number of estimates and assumptions underlying the value
of the claim and subsequent to the year end, the matter has been taken to
adjudication by the Claimant with a claim value of £9.3m. A response was
filed by the Group in its defence and the timeline for a decision 15 expected
on 2 May 2023.

The Directors have considered a range of possible outcomes and have
provided a sum of £5.7m, which they believe represents the best estimate
of the likely outcome.

We have obtained a reconciliation between the customer’s ¢laim amounting
to £9.3m and the carrying value of the provisions of £5.7m. We have
Invalved our forensics specialists to support the audit team In challenging
the reconciting items, reviewing the contract and the customer's expert
report. We have challenged management’s assessment and calculated our
estimated range for the provision. We have then assessed the adequacy of
disclosures made in respect of this matter.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engagement team.

We conclude that based
on the audit procedures
performed, the
vear-end journal entries
and top-side
consolidation
adjustments relating to
Judgemental provisions
{including the provision
for losses raised by the
Claimant) and accruals
are gppropriate.

Cur procedures did not
identify any instances of
management overrice.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Risk

Key observations
communicated to the

Our response ta the risk Audit Committee

Appropriateness of lease accounting
under IFRS 16: Right of use ("ROU7)
assetsin Group £213.4m (2021
£204.9m)}, parent company 2022
£21.8m (2021 £21.4m);

Lease liabiiities in Group £225.4m
{2021 £216.9m), parent company
2022 £22.0m (2021 £21.7m).

Refer to the Audit Commitlee Reporl
{poge 76); Accounting policies (page
121); and Note 15 and Note 20 of the
Consafidated Financial Statements
(pages 131 and 138 respectively)

The accounting of IFRS 16 is complex
and requires a number of estimates
and judgements. The most significant
estimate is the discount rate
(Incremental Borrowing Rate, 'IBR') to
apply to each lease. Key judgements
are made when assessing whether
leasing arrangements fall within the
scope of IFRS 16, and in determining
the appropriate lease term at the
inception of the lease where leased
assets are subject to extension or
termination options. Further, the Group
has a high volume of leases, some of
which are complex in nature, and the
Group uses a combination of manual
bespoke excel modelling templates,
and an off the shelf software package
ta derive the RCOU asset and lease
lability values.

Due to the significant financial
statement impact of IFRS 16, the high
level of estimation and judgement
required in determining the appraopriate
accounting treatment, and the manual
modelling of the impact on some lease
categories, we identified IFRS 16 as a
significant risk.

We performed audit procedures over this risk area which covered 100% of
the risk amount,

Based on our audit

we conclude the
key estimates

and judgments
underpinning the
IFRS 16 ROUL assets
and lease liabil'ties
are appropriate, ang

Our precedures included:

Assessing management's process:
We gained an understanding through a walkthrough of the process and
controls management have in place over the completeness of IFRS 16.

Key estimate:

We have assessed the appropriateness of the IBR by reviewing
management's methodolagy. With the support of our Corporate Treasury
specialists, we reperformed the calculations and challenged their validity by
comparing to observable market rates.

notes 15 and 20 are
in accordance with
the requirements
Key judgments: of IFRS 16, Leases.
We challenged the key judgements and assumptions used by management

in relation to, assessing whether leasing arrangements fall within the scope

of IFRS 16, and In determining the appropriate fease term at the inception of

the lease where leased assels are subject te extension or termination

options. We made inquiries of management, and selected a sample of

leases, inspecting the arrangement terms and reaching an independent

opinion on the IFRS 16 accounting treatment.

Tests of detail:

We assessed the completeness of the population of leases by selecting a
sample of lease payments made during the year, and post year end through
to 31 January 2023, from the appropriate income statement general ledger
codes which included all lease payments made during the year. We
obtained and inspected a copy of the underlying supporting evidence and
independently assessed whether management’s lease identification basis
is aligned with IFRS 16, by either tracing the asset through to the correct
ROU model, or ensuring it was not included within any ROU models, if IFRS
16 recognilion crileria were not met. We selected a sample of vendor
payments to obtain an understanding of the nature of transactions by
analysing the vendor accounts, and where necessary obtaining underlying
supporting evidence to identify transactions which might indicate
completeneass issues.

For a sample of leases, we assessed the measurement/valuation of the
underlying lease data by checking the key inputs used in the models to the
original contract or other supporting data, and recalculating the ROU asset
and corresponding lease liability.

We interrogated the integrity and mechanical accuracy of the bespoke
excel modelling templates used to derive the IFRS 16 Journals for vehicles,
residential property used directly in the business, and some of the
residential property sub-leased to customers. We did this through the
apphcation of our EY Al Spreadsheet analyser which highlights, amongst
other things, complex sheets, hardcoded items, inconsistencres in the
logical design, unexpecied formula changes, and by searching the models
for potential duplicate assets.

The integrity and mechanical accuracy of the software package used to
derive the {FRS 16 journals for office and residential fixed leases was
validated by independently calculating the cash flows for a sample of
leases and comparing the output to the output from the software package

We considered the adequacy of IFRS16 disclosures, including sensitivity of
the lease liabilities to the key assumptions.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
group engagement team with assistance from our valuation specialists.
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Risk

Qur response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Valuation of the group and parent
company's defined benefit

iy pension obligation:
Group: net surplng £20 5m,
{2021: £20.2m); Parent
company: net surplus £0.3m,
{2021; £1,8m), and

Valuation of hard to
value scheme assets:
Group: £203.8m,
{2021: £419.3m), parent
company: £12,4m,
{2021: £19.7m)

=

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
(page 77); Accounting policies (page
148); and Note 29 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (DGge 148),

The Group operctes @ number of
defined benefit pension schemes
{‘Group schemes’} and is gn admitted
body of other defined benefit local
government pension schemes (‘LGPS’).

Subjective valuation using complex
actuarial assumptions:

A gross defined benefit pension
liability of £202.8m was held at

31 December 2022 (2021 £434.9m) n
respect of all defined benefit pension
schemes. Small changes in the
assumpticns and estimates used to
value the group’s and parent
company’s pension ebligation {before
deducting scheme assets) would have
a significant effect on the carrying
value of those pension obligations,

The effect of these matters is that,

as part of our risk assessment, we
determined that the group’s and parent
company's pension obligation have a
high degree of estimation uncertainty,
with a potential range of reasonable
cutcomes greater than qur materiality
for the financial statements as a whole.
The financial statements {note 29}
disclose the estimation uncertainty
identified by the group and

parent company.

Valuation of defined benpefit

pension assets:

The fair value of the defined pension
scheme assets in aggregate as at

31 December 2022 was £261.7m
(2021: £492.9m). Judgement is applied
in valuing the more compiex fevel 2
and level 3 group schemes® assets,
while the LGPS assets are estimated by
rolling forward the published asset
position from the previous year using
market index returns over the period.

We performed audit procedures over this risk area centrally, which covered
100% of the risk amount.

QOur procedures included:

Assessing management’s process:

We have understood management's process and methodology for
calculating the pension hability for each scheme, including discussions with
management’s externat actuaries, walkihrough of the processes,
understanding the key inputs and the design and implementation of key
controls. We performed a fully substantive audit approach rather than
testing the operating effectiveness of key controls.

Assessing management’s experts:

We have assessed the independence, objectivity and competence of the
group's exiernal actuaries. | his included understanding the scope of
services being provided and considering the appropriateness of the
gualifications of the external actuary.

Benchmarking assumptions:

With the support of our pension actuarial specialists, we assessed and
challenged the appropriateness of the assumptions adopted by the
Directors by comparing them to the expectations of our pension actuarial
specialists which they had derived from broader market data.

Assessing source data:

We tested a sample of the membership data used by the actuanes to the
group's records. We directly confirmed the existence and valuation of
pension scheme assets with asset managers and custodians for the group
Schemes and analysed the movements on assets for LGPS. With the
support of our valuation and actuarial specialists we independently
challenged the vealuation of hard to value scheme assets by performing
detailed testing on a sample of level 2 and level 3 group scheme’s assets
and the LGPS assets. We identified market indices that most accurately
reflect the expected performance of the fund (based on the underlying
investment/asset portfolio of the fund) for 2022. Using the suitable/relevant

market index, we set an expectation of the performance of the fund in order

to determine the expeclted value of the fund as at 31 December 2022 We
then compared the expected value of the fund as at 31 December 2022 to
the value per the investment manager at year end to determine whether
this met cur expectations.

We considered the adequacy of IAS 19 disclosures, including sensitivity
of the abligation to the key assumptions.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by
the group engagement team with assistance from our actuariai and
valuation specialists.

Mears Group PLC Annuai Report and Accounts 2022

The two group
Schemes and the LGPS
all have different
scheme Hability
durations. However,
the financial
assumptions have
been set consistently
across the group
schemes and LGPS
based on a weighted
average duration

of all schemes. All
assumptions used in the
assessment of scheme
liabilities fell within an
acceptable range.

Qur testing of the
Group scheme hard

to value assets did not
identify any matenal
misstatements which
required adjustment to
the financial statements.

We are satisfied with
the adequacy of

disclosure within the
financiafl statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Risk

Key observations
communicated to the

Our résponse to the risk Audit Committee

Appropriateness of revenue
recognition including contract
accounting, contract assets ang
contract accruals:

Group revenue: £959.6m,
(2021: £878.4m)

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
{poge 76) Accounting policies (poge
18): and Note 2 of the Consolidated
Financioi Statements (page 118)

Mears has 4 different patterns of
revenue each with its own revenue
accounting policy. Determining the
amount of revenue 1o be recognised
requires management to make
significant judgements and estimates
in the application of IFRS 15, including
the stage of completion of certain
contracts and the recoverability of
contract assets and completeness

of contract liabilities.

There is considered to be a risk of
material error and management
override in making this assessment,
which makes this a significant nisk
to the audit.
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We performed audit procedures aver this risk area which cavered 100%
of the risk amount,

For the yearto

31 December 2022,
we canclude that
based on the audit
procedures performed,
revenue transacticns
have been recognised
appropnately. Our
procedures did not
identify instances

of inappropriate
management override
in the recognition

of revenue across !
the group

We performed walkthroughs of the revenue recognition process for all
material patterns of revenue to assess the design and implementation
of key controls.

We used data analysis tools on 100% of revenue transactions in the year
to test the correlation between revenue, trade debtors and cash receipts
to verify the occurrence of evenue, We performed test of details on
non-correlating entries by obtaining underlying supporting evidence
and explanations far the correlation difference for 4 sample of revenue
transactions to ensure that revenue had been appropriately recognised.

We obtained the schedule of contract assets and liabilites, and selected

a sample of contraets using the lower range of our testirg threshold to
include an element of unpredictability. We investigated the recoverability
of contract assets balances oy reference to post balance sheet cash
collection, obtained the evidence from the wark certified by the customers
or group's, internal or independent quantity surveyor.

We are satisfied with
the adequacy of
disclosure within the

. R financial statements.
For revenue recogmsed, but not certified by the customers or Group's,

internal or independent quantity surveyor, we inquired of the reason for
non-certification and challenged the recognition of contract essets and
related revenue.

We challenged the estimated contract cost to complete including obtaining
evidence to support our independent conclusions where relevant. For
example, we verified the cost to complete by verifying the work orders
Issued to sub-contractors and challenging the management’s estimation

of overhead costs,

We held meetings with the in-house fegal counsel and reviewed the boarg
meeting minutes to identify and assess the impact of any ongoing disputes
in relation to the recoverability of the contract asset balances, and
challenged the management on the recoverability of such contract assets
where they had been recegnised.

For a sample of contracts, where the forecasted margin is negative,
we challenged management on ihe appropriateness of the'r onerous
contracts provision.

For a sample of customers, we obtained direct confirmations to verify their
contract trade terms with Mears.

We have abtained the schedule of contract liabilities and performed a
recalculation of income recognised during the year and deferred at the year
end. We obtained supporling evidence for a sample of transactions and
ensured that the revenue has been recognised in accordance with IFRS 15,

We selected a sample of revenue transactions recorded before and
sfter year end to verify that the revenue had been recorded in the
appropriate period.

we selected a sample of credit notes issued after year-end and cbtained
documentation to verify that revenue adjustments at year end hiad been
recorded appropriately.

Disclosure:
We assessed the adequacy of group's disclosures in accordance with the
requiremenis of IFRS 15.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
group engagement team.
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In the prior year, ow oudilot’s report included a key audit matter in relaticn to the intended disposal of Haydon Mechanical & Electrical LLC. In
the current year, we have not considered this to be a key audit matter as based on the audit procedures performed in the prior year. We
concluded that whilst Mears has the right to control Haydon UAE, there are barriers preventing contrel, and as a result the entity has not been
consolidated. We also concluded that Mears’ exposure to any further hability 1s remote. There is no change m our conclusion in relation to this
matter based on the updated procedures performed in the current year,

OTHER INFORMATION

The other informatien comprisens the information included in Lhe gnnual report set out on pages 1to 164, ncluding the Strategic Report, set
out on pages 1 to 81, Corporate Governance, set out on pages 62 to 100, and Shareholder infarmation, set out en pages 163 to 164, other
than the financial statements and our aucitor’s repor thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information contained within

the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except 1o the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report,
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is 1o read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially missiated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent malerial misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in
the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration repart to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006.

In cur opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course cf the audit;

_ the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements; and
__ the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and its environment cbtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us (o report to you if,
N ouUr opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us, or

the parent company financial statements and Lthe part of the Directors” Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting recards and returns; or

— certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

__ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

We have reviewed the Directors’ Statement in relation 1o going concen, longer-term viability and that part of the Corporate Governance
Statement relating to the Group and parent company's compliance with the provisions of the UK Cerporate Governance Code specified for our
review by the Listing Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance
Statemeni is materially consistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained during the audit:

__ Directors’ statement with regards 1o the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material uncertainties
identified set out on page 99;
__ Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the company's prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period
s appropriate set out on page 59 1o 65,
__ Director’s statement on whether it has a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meets its liabilities
as they fall due over the period of their assessment set out on page 9%,
Directors’ statement on far, balanced and understandable set out on page 75,
__ Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 44 to 57;
_. The section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set out
on page 75; and:
__ The section describing the work of the audit committee set out on page 7410 79,

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully In the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set cut ot page 100, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such intarnal control as the Directars determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group and parent company's ability to conunue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directors ither intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no reahstic alternative but 10 do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are 10 obtan reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from matenat misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
butis not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance wilh I1ISAs (UK) will always detecl a material misstatement when it exists,
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably

be expected to influence the economic decisizns of users taken ¢n the basis of these financial statements.
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Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibiiities, outhned above, 1o detect irregularilies, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a matenal misstatement due to fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud is detailed below.

However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of frand rests with hnth thnse charged with govarpance of tho comgany
and management.

LEOL3IHE 31931vHLs

__ We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and parent company and
determined that the most significant are those that relate to the reporting framework (IFRS, FR5101 and the Companies Act 2006, the
Financial Reporting Council (FRC) and the UK Corporate Governance Code) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK.

— We understood how Mears Group plc is complying with those framewaorks by reading internal policies and assessing the entity level controi
environment, including the level of oversight of those charged with governance. We made enguiries of the Chair of the Audit Committee,
the Group's legal counsel and internal sudit, of any known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and
regulations. We corroborated cur enquiries through review of correspondence with regulatory bodies. We designed our audit procedures
to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulations identified in the paragraph above. In light of the identified matters which required
further consideration we utilised the experience of our specialists to determine that our response was appropriate.

— We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's financial statements to matenal misstatement, including how fraud might occur by considering
the programs and controls that the Group and parent company has established to address risks identified by the entity, or that otherwise
prevent, deter and detect fraud. We looked at how senior management monitor those programs and controls, evaluating conditiens in the
context of incentive and/or pressure to commit fraud, considering the opportunity to commit fraud and the potential rationalisation of the
fraudulent act.

... Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulations. Our procedures
involved making enquirtes of the Group Finance Director, the Company Secretary, the Chair of the Audit Committee, and other members of
senior management including the Group Director of Health Safety & Compliance, Group HR Director. As well as attendance and enquiry at
meetings, our procedures involved a review of minutes of board meetings, internal audit reperts, and other commitiee minutes to identify
any non-compliance with laws and regulations. We planned our audit procedures to identify risks of management override, tested higher
risk journal entries and performed audit precedures to address the potential for management bias, particularly over areas involving
significant estimation. Further detail of our approach to address the identified risks of management override are set out in the key audit
matters secticn of our report.

AONYMNUIAGD 2LV HOL4HOD

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website
at https fwww.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's repaort.

OTHER MATTERS WE ARE REQUIRED TO ADDRESS
__ Foliowing the recemmendation fram the audit commitiee we were appointed by the parent company on 9 September 2020 to audit the
financial statements of the Group and parent company for the year ending 31 December 2020 and subsequent financial periods.,

Tre period of 1otal uninterrupled engagement including previous renewals and reappointments is 3 years, covering the yaars ending
31 December 2020 to 31 December 2022,

SINFWILVIS TVIONYNIL

. The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.

USE GF OUR REPCRT

This report is made solely to the parent company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken sa that we might state to the parent company’s members those matters we are reguired to slate to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the parent company and the parent company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report. or for the opinions we

have formed.

NIGEL MEREDITH (SENIOR STATUTORY AURITOR)

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, STATUTORY AUDITOR
BIRMINGHAM

28 APRIL 2023

HOILYHEOAN] HIGNOHIHYHS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £°000 £'000

Continuing operatlons
Sales revenue 2 959,613 878420
Cost of sales (763,927) (697,933)
Gross profit 195,686 180,487
Administrative expenses ) (155,259) (156,940)
Operating profit 4 40,427 23,547
Share of profits of assaciates 16 858 855
Finance income 2,033 835
Finance cosis B {8,374} 18,904,
Profit for the year before tax 34,944 16,333
Tax expense B (6,441) (3192)
Profit for the year from continding operations 28,503 13141
Discontinued operations
Profit from discontinued operations 542 240
Tax (charge)/credit on discontinued operaticns (48) 182
Profit for the year after tax from discontinued cperations 494 1122
Profit for the year from continuing and discontinued operations 28,997 14263
Attributable to:
Owners of Mears Group PLC 28,307 14119
Non-controlling interest 690 144
Profit for the year 28,997 14,263
Earnings per share — from centinuing operations
Basic " 25.07p Nn72p
Diluted 11 24.51p 11.50p
Earnings per share — from centinuing and discontinued operations
Basic " 25.51p 1273p
Diluted 7 24.94p 12.4%p

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021 4
Note £'000 £'000 >
Profit for the year 28,997 14,263 m
Other comprehensive income: 2
Which will be subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss: EY]
Cash flow hedges: E
— gains arising in the year - 1,023 ;{é
__ reclassification to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss - {85} h
Decrease in deferred tax asset in respect of cash flow hedges 25 - (178}
Which will not be subsequently reciassified ta the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:
Actuarial (loss)gain on defined henefit pension schemes 29 (2,041) 50,721
Pension guarantee asset movements in respect of actuarial gain 29 {6,754) (13,018}
Increase/{decrease) in deferred tax in respect of defined benefit pension schemes 25 2,449 (8,809) o
Other comprehensive income for the year (7,346) 32,654 g
Total comprehensive income for the year 21,651 46,917 g
=
Attributable to: 3
Owners of Mears Group PLC 20,961 46,773 )
Non-centrotling interest 690 144 3
Total comprehensive income for the year 21,651 46,917 %
5
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of Mears Group PLC arises from: ﬁ
Continuing cperations 20,467 45 651 "
Discontinued operations A9A 1122
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of Mears Group PLC 20,961 46,773

The accompanying accounting pelicies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2024
Note £'000 £'000
Assets
Non-current
Goodwill 12 121,868 18,873
Intangible assets 13 7,452 6,610
Froperty, plant and eguipment 14 20,388 20,712
Right of use assets 15 213,432 204,949
Investments 16 1,271 713
Loan notes and other non-cuirent receivables 24 4,073 3476
Pension and other employee benefits 29 23,672 37651
Pensicn guarantee assets N 2% 3,136 12,975
395,092 405,959
Current
Inventaries 17 6,879 22,869
Trade and other receivables 18 128,334 148,305
Current tax assets 459 2,54
Short-term financial assets 24 1,963 -
Cash and cash equivalents 24 98,138 54,632
235773 227960
Total assets 630,865 533,919
Equity
Equity attributakle to the sharehoiders of Mears Group PLC
Called up share capital 26 1,10 1109
Share premium account 82,351 82,265
Share-based payment reserve 1,801 1,313
Merger reserve 7.971 79N
Retained earnings 19,100 107578
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC 212,333 200,236
Non-controliing interest - 1,492 802
Total equity N 213,825 201,038
Liabilities
Non-current
Pension and other employee benefits 29 3136 16,995
Deferred tax liabilities 25 4,898 65,676
Lease habllities 20 181,045 175,290
Other non-current liabilities 21 682 -
Non-current provisions 23 3,110 3,800
192,871 202761
Current
Trade and other payables 19 174,013 184,047
Lease lisblities 20 44,376 41,600
Provisions 22 8,780 4,473
Current liabilities 224169 230420
Total liabilities 417,040 432,881
Total equity and liabilities 630,865 633919

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and were signed on s behalf on 28 April 2023

D J MILES ACMSMITH
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
Company numbel: 03232863

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 201

Note £'000 £000
Operating activities
Result for the year befare tax 34,944 16,333
Adjustments 27 60,524 65,902
Change in inventaries 15,991 12,944
Change in trade and other receivables 13,855 (2,244)
Change in trade, olher payables and provisions (9,760) 132,573)
Cash inflow from operating activities of continuing aperations before taxation 15,554 60,362
Taxes paid {4128) {3752)
Net cash inflow from operating activities of continuing operations 11,426 56,810
Net cash {outflow)/inflow from operating activities of discontinued operations 2] {494) 59
Net cash inflow from operating activities 110,932 56,669
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (8,052) 17.587)
Additions to other intang ble assets (1,364) (1182)
Proceeds from dispasals of property, plant and equipment - 46
Expenditure on acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 28 (2,928) -
Loans repaid by related parties - 500
Distributions from associates i[S) 300 1108
Amounts placed on short-term deposil in excess of three months 24 {1,963) -
Interest received 764 413
Net cash outflow fraom investing activities of continuing operations (13,243) (6.702)
Net cash inflow from investing activities of discontinued operations g 7333 500
Net cash outflow from investing activities (5,910) 16,202)
Financing activities
Proceeds from share issue 87 40
MNet cash movement in revolving credit facility - 140,000)
Loans provided 1o other entities (non-controlled) {225)
Repayment of loan acquired with subsidiary 28 (37 -
Discharge of lease liabilities {43169) {40,258)
Interest paid (8.,425) 13.844)
Dividends paid — Mears Group shareholders 10 (9,692) (2,773)
Net cash autflow from financing activities of continuing operations {61,461) (91,835)
Net cash outflow from financing activities of discontinued operations S (55) (220)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (61,516) {92,055)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 54,632 96,220
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 43,506 (41,588)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 28,138 54,632
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share-
Share based Non-

Share premium payment Hedging Merger Retained controlling Total

capital account reserve reserve reserve earnings interest equity

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
A1 January 2021 1109 82,225 1,312 {760) 7,971 63,536 658 156,051
Net result for the year - - — — - 1419 144 14,263
Other comprehensive
income __ - — - 760 — 31,894 — 32,654
a;’c;mprehensive
income for the year — - — 760 - 46,013 144 46,917
Deferred tax on share-
based payments - - - - - 228 - 228
Issue of shares - 40 - - - - - 40
Share options — value of
employee services - - 575 - - - - 575
Share options — exercised
or lapsed - — (574) - — 574 — -
Dividends - — - — — (2,773) - (2,773}
At1 January 2022 1109 82,265 1,313 - 7971 107578 802 201,038
Net result for the year - - - - — 28,307 690 28,997
Other comprehensive
income N — - - — - (7.346) - (7.346)
Total comprehensive
Income for the year - — - — — __‘7_20,961 690 21,651
Deferred tax on share-
based payments - — - - — 142 - 142
Issue of shares 1 86 - - - - - 87
Share options — value of
employes services - - 599 — - - - 589
Share options — exercised
or lapsed - — (m) - - m - -
Divigends - - - - — {9.692) - (9,692)
At 31 December 2022 1110 82,351 1,801 - 7,971 119,100 1,492 213,825

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements — Group
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting policies are detailed in thelr respective notes, whera relevant. Policies that are not specific to a particular note are detailed below.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Caompanies Act 2006 and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial statements
are prepared under the historicat cost convention as modified by the revaluation of centingent consideration, derivative financial instruments

£'000),

and share-based payments. They are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand {£'000

The accounting policies remain unchanged from the previous year except for the modification of a number of standards with effect from
1 January 2022. The adoption of these amendments had no material effect on the Group's financial statements,

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) reguires the use of estimates and
judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amounts, actual results
may ultimately differ from those estimates. The most significant jJudgements and estimates made by management in these financial statements
are set out in the accounting policies to which they relate.

Government and societal responses to climate change are still developing and are interdependent upon each other, and consequently
financial statements cannot capture all possible future outcomes as these are not yet known. There were no material impacts of climate
change in determining asset and liability valuations and the timing of future cash flows to be incorporated into these financial statements.

Mears Group PLC is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales (registration number 03232863). Its registered office and principal place
of business is 1390 Montpellier Court, Gloucester Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH. Mears Group PLC's shares are listed on the
Main Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Basis of consclidation

The Consclidated Balance Sheetincludes the assels and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries and is made up to 31 December 2022
Entities for which the Group has the ability to exercise control over financial and operating policies are accounted for as subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the activities that affect the Company’s returns and
exposure or rights to variable retumns from the entity. Interests acquired in entities are censolidated from the effective date of acquisition and
interests sold are consolidated up to the date of disposal.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances between Group enterprises, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated on consolidation; no profit is taken on sales between Group companies.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Non-
controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the non-controliing
sharehalders' share of changes in equity since the datle of the combinaticn. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controfling interest having a deficit balance.

A joint venture is 8 joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control have the rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
Associates are entities over which the Group does not have control, but has significant influence. Investments in joint ventures and
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under this methad, the Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss; the cost of the nvestment in a given joint venture or associate, together
with the Group's share of that entity’s post-acquisition changes to shareholders’ funds, is included in investments within the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

Going concern

The Directors consider thal, as at the date of appraving the financial statements, there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and
Company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the period until 30 June 2024. When making the assessment,
management censiders whether the Group will be able to maintain adeguate liquidity headroom above the level of its borrowing facilities and
10 operate within the financial covenants applicable to those facilities, which will be measured at 30 June 2023, 31 December 2023 and

30 June 2024. At 31 December 2022, the Group had £70m of committed borrowing facilities, maturing in December 2026; however, no amount
was drawn on the facility. The principal borrowing facilities are subject to covenants, as detailed with the Financial review section of the
Strategic Report on page 53. The Principal Risks and Uncertainties section of the Strategic Report on page 48 also details the principal risks
and uncertainties and how the Group manages its risks. The Group has modelled its cash flow cutlook for the period to 30 June 2024 and the
forecasts indicate significant liguidity headroom will be maintained above the Group's borrowing facilities and that financial covenants will be
met throughout the period, including the covenant tests at 30 June 2023, 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2024,

The Group has carried out stress lests against the base case to determine the performance levels that would result in a breach of covenants or
a reduction of headroom against its borrowing facilities to £nil. The Directors have modelled a number of downside scenarios. Further detailis
provided in the Going Concern section of the Report of the Directors on page 89, After making these assessments, the Directors consider any
scenario or combination of scenarios that could cause the business to be no longer a going concern to be implausible. The Directors have a
reasonable expeclation that the Company and its subsidiaries have adequate resources o continue In operational existence for the period to
30 June 2024, Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.
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FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Fair value

The Group measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, including its interest rate swaps, cantingent consideration
and assels in the Group's defined benefit pension schemes.

Trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and cther loans are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently held at
amortised cost. Other assets are measured at fair value when they are assessed for impairment or on classification as held for sale.

Fair value is the price that would be received ta sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The Group uses valuation technigues that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs using the following
valuation hierarchy, ordered from highest to lowest pricrity:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in aclive markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs, typically derived from the Group's own information with any necessary adjustments lo eliminate factors specific
ta the Group.

For assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in
the hierarchy by assessing the lowest level input that Is significant to the most recent measurement.

Details of the particular valuation techniques used by the Group are provided in the retevant notes for each type of asset or liability measured
at fair value.

Use of judgements and estimates

The preparaticn of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and
expenditure during the reported period. The estimates and associated judgements are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying
vaiues of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying jJudgements are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisicns to accounting estimates are recognised in the pericd
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future pericds if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

In the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, key estimates and judgements have been made by management concerning provisions
necessary for certain liabilities, estimates used in forecasts used to assess future profitability, the discount rates used and other judgements when
recognising right of use assets for lease accounting, the timing of revenue recognition, the recoverability of contract assets and work in progress,
actuarial estimates in respect of defined benefit pension schemes, the fair value of acquired intangibles and other similar evaluations. Actual amounts
could giffer from those estimates. Further details of key estimates and judgements are provided in the appropriate notes.

New standards and interpretations not yet applied

IFRS 17 'Insurance Contracts’ is a new standard effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023. In addition, a number
of standards have been modified with effect for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023. These include 1AS 1'Presentation
of Financial Statements’ and I1AS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’. None of these amendments are
expected to have a material effect on the Group's financial statements,

2. REVENUE

Accounting policy

Revenue is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based,
five-step model to be applied to all sales contracts. 1t is based on the transfer of control of goods and services to customers. The detail below
sets gut the principal types of contract and how the revenue is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15,

Repair and maintenance contracts
For contracts in this categary, the custamer raises orders on demand, for example to carry out responsive repairs. Revenue 1s derived from
a mixture of lump-sum peradic payments and task-based payments desending on the terms of the individual contract.

Where a lump-sum payment is in place 1t may cover the administrative element of the contract or may cover the majority of the tasks undertaken
within that contract with exclusions to this being charged in addition to the lump-sum charge. For the works covered by the lump-sum payment,
the performance obligation is being available to deliver the gaods and services in the scope of the contract, not the performance of the individual
works orders themselves. Revenue i1s recognised on a straight-line basis as performance obligations are being met over time.

For works orders not covered by a lump-sum payment, each works order represents a distinct performance obligauon and, as the customer
cantrols the asset being enhanced through the works, the performance abligation is satisfied over time. Each works order can be broken down
into one or more distinct tasks which are either complete or not complete. The stage of completion of the works order is assessed by looking
at which tasks are complete. The transaction price for partly completed works orders is recognised as cost plus expected margin. The
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transaction price for completed works orders is the invoice value, which is typically determined by a pricing schedule referred to as a Schedute
of Rates that provides a transaction price for each particular task.

Some contracts may include an element of variable revenue based on certain key performance indicators (KP1s). These are recegnised either
at a point in time or aver time, depending on the nature of the KPI and the contractual agreement in which it is contained. Where there is
uncertainty In the measurement of variable consideration, at both the start of the contract and subsequently, management will consider the
facts and circumstances of the contract in determining either the maost likely amount of variable consideration when the outcome 18 binary, or
the expected value based on a range of possible considerations. Included within this assessment will be the extent 1o which there is a high
probability that a significant reversal in variabla consideration revenues will not occur once the uncertainty is subsequently resolved. This
assessment will include consideralion of the following factors: the total amount of the variable consideration; the proportion of consideration
susceptible to judgements of customers or third parties, for example KPIs; the length of time expected before resolution of the uncertainty; and
the Group's previous experience of simiar contracts.

Property income
Where the Group is acting as principal, lessor operating lease revenue is recognised in revenue on a straight-line basis over the tenancy.

Where the Group is providing a management service, Mears recognises revenue as an agent (the net management fee) on a straight-line basis.
Where significant initial costs are reguired to make good the housing to perform Housing Management activities, the costs directly attributable
to the initial upgrade will be recognised as costs incurred to fulfil a contract and held within current assets, to the extent that it is determined
that costs are recoverable,

Where the Group is providing an accommodation and support service, revenue is recognised at a point in time for each night that the
accommaodation is occupied.

Some contracts may include an element of variable revenue based on certain KPIs. This is recegnised on the same basis as above.

Where the Group enters into arrangements with customers for the provision of housing, an assessment 1s made as to whether this income is
recognised under IFRS 15 or IFRS 16. The contract between the Group and the customer is deemed to contain a lease where the contract
conveys the right to contral an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for censideration. In this instance, the rental income is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. All such sub-leased residential property leases are classified as operating leases.
Revenue in respect of sub-leased residential property is disclosed separately.

Care services

The standalone selling prices for providing care are overtly stated in the contract, and the method of application of the rate of charge is on
a unit of time basis, usually expressed as a rate per visit. Revenue will be recognised in respect of this single performance obligation, by
reference to the chargeable rate and time for completed care visits in the period.

From time G time, care contracts with customers inciude a fixed fee per perod for performing a consistent scope of care services. For these
contract types, the revenue recognition is consistent with lump-sum payments included in repair and maintenance contracts, as described above.

Mobilisation

Across all revenue types, where a contract includes 8 mobilisation element, consideration is initially given to whether the mabilisation element
contains any discrete performance obligations. If this is the case, an element of the total contract price is allocated to those performance
abligations and recognised either at a point in time or over time, depending on the nature of the performance obligation. Mobilisation income
is included in the revenue category to which the contract relates.

Where amounts are received for mobilisation elements that are not performance obligations, these amounts are allocaied to the performance
obligations in the contract to which they relate.

No revenue was recognised during 2021 or 2022 in respect of mobilisation performance obligations.

Contracting projects

For contracting projects, the contract states the scope and specification of the construction works to be carried out, for a fixed price. Mears

is continuously satisfying this single performance obligation as cost is incurred, determining progress against the performance chligation on
either an input or an output basis. The customer controls the site or output as the work is being performed on it and therefore revenue is
recognised over time where there is an enforceable nght to payment for works completed to date and the work completed does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group. An assessment is made of costs incurred to date and the costs reguired 1o complete the project. If a
project is not deemed to be profitable, the unavoidable costs of fulfilling the contract are provided farimmediately. This category also includes
construction contracts where an end customer has not yet been identified and the revenue is recognised at the point of sale of the property,
rather than over time.

Other

From time to time, the Group receives revenue that does not fall within any of the categaries above but is not individually significant enough to
require a specific policy. In these cases, the revenue is considered separately and recognised In accordance with IFRS 15,
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Contract recoverability

Determining future contract profitability requires estimates of future revenues and costs to complete. in making these assessments there is a
degree of inherent uncertainty. The Group utilises the appropriate expertise in determining these estimates and has well-established internal
controls to assess and review the expected outcome,

2. REVENUE CONTINUED

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

Revenue recognition

The estimation technigues used for revenue and profit recognition in respect of contracting and variable consideration contracts require
judgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain contracts and the recovery of work in progress, mobilisation costs and
contract assets. Each contract is treated on its merits and subject to s regular review of the revenue and costs to complete that contract.

The Group’s revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recognition 1s as follows:

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Repairs and maintenance 451,063 421,647
Contracting 83,463 101,599
Property income 376,296 240,641
Care services 19,544 19,446
Other 345 295
930,11 843,628
Lease income 28,902 34,792
959,613 878,420

Atotal of £24.3m of revenue was recognised in respect of the balance of contract liabilities at the start of the year (2021: £13.2m)
Repalrs and maintenance and care service revenue is typically invoiced between one and 30 days from completion of the performance
cbligation Contracting revenue is typically invoiced based an the stage of completion of the overall contract. Property income is typically

invoiced monthly in advance. Payment terms for revenue invoiced are typically 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice.

A maturity analysis of future minimum {essor income as at 31 December is shown in the tabie below:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Less than 1 year 3,245 7535
Between 1 and 2 years 1,537 2,365
Between 2 and 3 years 1,531 2,080
Between 3 and 4 years 1,531 1750
Between 4 and 5 years 1150 1,544
Over 5 years 393 812
9,387 16,066

3. SEGMENT REPORTING

Accounting policy

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group's operating segments based on the format that the Group reports to its chief
operating decision maker for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing performance.

The Group considers that the chief operating decision maker comprises the Executive Directors of the business
During the year, the Directors revisited the Group’s segmental reporting, resulting in a change in the disclosure with respect to reportable
segments. As there has been no change during the year in the financia! information reported to the chief operating decision maker, the change

has been accounted for as a correction of the prior year, in accordance with 1AS 8, paragraph 49, and the prior year comparative figures have
been amended accordingly
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The Executive Directors manage the group as a single Housing business, but information provided to the Board and historically to
stakeholders has inciuded a spht between Maintenance, Management and Development. Therefore, the Directors have concluded that
providing segmental information along the same lines would be helpful to the users of the financial statements.

2022 2021
Maintenance Management Development Total Maintenance Management Development Total
£°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue 535,336 405,/ 76 18,501 959,613 572377 280,422 25621 878420
Profit/(loss) before tax
and amortisation of
acquisition intangibles 12,022 24,281 (1,114) 35,189 12,118 12,554 {1,285) 23,987
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (245) {7,654}
Profit before tax 34,244 16,333
Tax expense (6,441) (3192}
Profit/{loss) for the year 28,503 13041

The revenues in respect of the Housing with Care element of the business are included within Maintenance as these services do not
include the provision of a property. In the Chief Executive Officer’s review in the 2021 Annual Report, these figures were included in the
‘Management-led’ line.

All revenue and all non-current assets arise within the United Kingdom. All of the revenue reported is external to the Group. The Group's
largest single customer relationship is in respect of the Asylum Accommodation and Support Contract (AASC) with the Home Office, included
within the Management segment. At the time that this cantract was won, the Group expected to report annual revenues of around £120m,
which would, under normal conditions, amount to around 15% of Group revenues. The AASC has experlenced elevated volumes as a result of a
backlog linked to the challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a result, this customer relationship accounted for over 30% of Group revenues
in 2022 and this elevated position has continued into 2023. In the longer term, this contract is expected to reduce back to a normal level. No
other customer comprises more than 10% of reported revenue.

For the purposes of the disaggregation of revenue in note 2, all Property income and Lease income is included within the Management
segment and the Development segment contains only Contracting Revenue. All other revenue is inciuded within the Maintenance segment.

4. OPERATING COSTS
Operating costs, relating to continuing activities, inciude the following:

2022 2021

£'000 2000
Share-based payments 599 575
Depreciation 51,508 49,029
Amortisation of acquisition intangibies 245 7654
Amortisation of other intangibles 2,05% 2123
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 273
Profit on disposal of right of use assels {227) 27)

A current year charge of £5.7m has been incurred in respect of a matter referred to adjudication ruling in favour of a former client for breach of
cantract (see rate 22).

Fees payable for audit and non-audi services during the year were as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £'0a0
In respect of continuing activities:
Fees payable to the auditor for the audit of the Group's financial statements 416 150
Other fees payahle to the auditer in respect of:
— auditing of accounts of subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation 500 600
_ additional fees in respect of the prior year audil 65 273
Total auditor's remuneration 981 1,023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements - Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021
£'000 £000
Interest charge on overdrafts and loans (625) {1,408)
Interest charge on hedged items - 1310}
Interest on lease obligations {7,617) 6.252)
Other interest . (58] 3
Finance costs on bank lcans, overdrafts and leases {8,200) (8,673)
Interest charge on defined benefil pension obligation (74) (231
Total finance costs 7 {8,374) (8,304
interest income resulting from short-term bank depaosits 870 1
Interest income resulting from defined beneafit pension asset 769 106
income from settlement of hedge instruments - 395
Other interest income ) 394 333
Finance income 2,033 835
Netfinance charge (6,341) {8,069}
Gains and losses on hedged items recognised In other comprehensive Income
Gains/losses) arising in the year - 1023
Reclassification to the Cansclidated Statement of Prafit or Loss - ) (85)
Changes in mark-to-market of interest rate swaps - 938
6. EMPLOYEES
Staff costs during the year were as follows:
2022 2021
£'000 2000
Wages and salanes 165,348 166,304
Social security costs 16,795 16,425
Other pension costs 8.797 8,552
190,940 191,281
The average number of employees of the Group dunng the year was:
2022 2021
Site workers 2,482 2,873
Caraers 558 G64
Office and management ; 1,950 1860
4,990 5,397

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting policy
All share-based payment arrangements are recognised In the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 2,

The Group operaies equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services received in exchange for the
grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the falr value
{excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) of the share options awarded. Their value is determined at the date of grant and
is not subsequently remeasured unless the conditions on which the award was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant 1s
calculated using the Monte Caric option pricing model and the cost 15 recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Adjustments
are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period. For Save As You Earn (SAYE) plans, employees are required to
contrbute towards the plan. This non-vesting condition 1s taken into account in calculating the fair value of the option at the grant date

All share-based remuneration is ulumately recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. For equity-settied
share-based payments there is a corresponding credi to the share-based payment reserve,

Upon exarcise of share ophions, the proceeds received net of any directly attnbutable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares
issued are allocated to share capital, with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2022 the Group maitained three (2021: three) active share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration,

1 2 2 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



Detalls of the share options outstanding and movement during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number exercise price Number exercise price
Q00 p ‘000 [°]
Outstanding ol 1 Junuary 4,827 T b, 24l 131
Granted 442 1 544 1
Forfeited or lapsed (643) 108 (265) 177
Exercised (74) 16 (44) a2
Outstanding at 31 December 4,552 29 4,827 10

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 199p. At 31 December 2022, 0.7m
options had vested and were still exercisable at prices between 1p and 429p. These options had a weighted average exercise price of 245p
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.3 years,

The fair values of opticns granted were determined using the Monte Carle aption pricing model. Significant inputs into the calculation include the
market price at the date of grant, the exercise price and share price volatility. Furthermore, the calculation incorporates an estimate of the future
dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate. The share price volatility was determined from the daily log normal distributions of the Company
share price over a period commensurate with the expected life as calculated back from the date of grant. The risk-free interest rate utilised the
zero-coupon bond yield derived from UK Government bonds as at the date of calculation for a life commensurate with the expected life.
Adjustments are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures duning the vesting period due to fallure to satisfy service conditions.

There were 0.44m options granted during the year and 0.64m options that lapsed during the year. The market price at 31 December 2022 was
208p and the range during 2022 was 182p to 224p.

All share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options.

The Group recognised the following expenses related to share-based payments:

2022 2021
£'000 £000

Giving rise to share-based payment reserve:
_ SAYE 165 245
_ CSOP - 133
— LTIP 434 147
599 575

The Group is currently running three active schemes, detalled below:

Share save plan {(Save As You Earn)

Options are avallable to all employees. Options are granted for a period of three years. Options are exercisable at a price based on the quoted
market price of the Company's shares at the time of invitation, discounted by up to 20%. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves Mears
Group before the options vest, which impacts on the number of options expected to vest. If an employee stops saving but continues in
employment, this is lreated as a cancellation, which results in an acceleration of the share-based payment charge.

Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)

The Campany operates a discretionary unapproved share plan and & CSOP. Options are exercisable at a price below market value at the date
of grant and often at nomenal value. The vesting period is three years. If the options remain unexercised after a peried of 10 years from the date
of grant, the cptions expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves Mears Group before the options vest. No awards (o Executive
Directors are proposed under these plans.

Long-term incentive ptan

The LTIP provides for awards of free shares (i.e. either conditional shares or nil or nominal cost options) normally on an annual basis which are
eligible to vest after three years subject to continued service and the achievement of challenging performance conditions. The first award
under this scheme was made during 2021. Options are granted under this scheme to key senior management subject to performance
conditions as detailed on page 92 of the Remuneration Report.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. TAX EXPENSE
Accounting pelicy

Current tax assets and/or llabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities that are unpaid at the balance sheet date.
They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the accounting periods Lo which they relate, based on the taxable

profit for the year.

Where an item of income or expense is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, any related tax generated is recognised as
a component of tax expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. Where an item is recognised directly to equity or presented within

lhe Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, any related tax generated is treated similarly.

Deferred taxation is the tax expected to be repayable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet

hability method.

Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognised on all taxable temporary differences in full with no discounting. Deferred taxation assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utllised. However, deferred tax is not provided on the Initial recognition of goodwill, nor on the initial recognition of an asset or lability, unless

the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or acceunting profit.

Deferred taxation is calculated using the tax rates and laws that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is setiled or the asset

is realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The carrying value of deferred taxation assets is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
against which taxable temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is charged or credited lo either the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income ar equity to the extent that it relates to items charged or credited. Deferred tax

relating to items charged or credited directly to equity is also credited or charged to equity.

Tax recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
United Kingdom corporation tax 6,449 2407
Adjustment in respect of previous periods (675) (450)
Total current tax charge recognised in Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss 5,774 1,957
Deferred taxation charge:
— on defined benefit pension obligations (41) 154
_ onshare-based payments 27 -
__ on capital allowances 65 806
— on amortisation of acquisition intangibles {65) (1.372)
__ on short-term temporary timing differences 149 (45)
__ on corporate tax losses 264 1,003
__ other timing differences 18 (50}
__ statutory rate changes - 742
Adjustment in respect of previous periods 250 3)
Total deferred taxation recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 667 1.235
Total tax charge recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on continuing operations 6,441 3192
Total tax charge/{credit) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on discontinued operations 48 (182)
Total tax charge recognised in Consalidated Statement of Profit or Loss 6,489 3,010
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The charge for the year can be reconciled to the result for the year as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
Profit for the year on continuing operations before tax 34,944 16,333
Profit for the year on discontinued operations before tax ] 542 940
Result for the year before tax ) 35,486 17.273
Result for the year muitiplied by standard rate of corporation tax In the United Kingdom for the period of 12.0%
(2021:19.0%) 6,742 3,282
Effect of:
. expenses not deductible for tax purposes 362 112
__ income not subject to tax (264) -
. taximpact of employee share schemes 129 102
__ tax losses not previously recognised in deferred tax - (593)
__ impact of statutory rate changes - 742
— adjustment inespect ol prior periods (480) (635)
Actual tsx charge 6,489 3,010

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the treatment of items for both tax and accounting purposes. Deferred tax on
the amortisation of acquisition intangibles is a temporary difference and arises because no tax relief is due on this kind of amortisaticon.

Tax losses generated in previous years which are expected to be ulilised against future profits are recognised as a deferred tax asset and
a subsequent charge arises as those losses are utilised. No deferred tax assetis recognised in respect of losses of £25.5m (2021 £25 bm)
across several entities in the Group as it is not expected that they will be eligible to be utilised against profits in the future.

Deferred tax is also recognised on short-term temporary timing differences, primarily relating to provisions. These differences are expected to
reverse in the folowing year and arise because tax relief is only available when the costs are incurred.

Capital allowances represent tax relief on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and are spread over several years at rates set by
legislation. These differ from depreciation, which is an estimate of the use of an item of property, plant and equipment over its useful life. Deferred
tax is recognised on the difference between the remaining value of such an asset for tax purposes and its carrying valug in the accounts.

The UK Budgat 2021 announcements on 3 March 2021 inciuded measures to supporl economic recavery as a result of the ongoing Covid-12
pandemic. These included an Increase to the UK's main corporation tax rate to 25%, which 1s due to be effective from 1 April 2023, These
changes were substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and hence have been reflected in the measurement of deferred tax balances
at the period end, to the extent those balances are expected to impact on current tax after 1 April 2023.

The following tax has been charged to other comprehensive income or equity during the year:

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Deferred tax (credit)/charge recognised in other comprehensive income
_ on defined benefit pension obligations (2,449) 8,809
__ on cash flow hedges - 178
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge recagnised in other comprehensive income (2,449) 8,987
Defetred tax recognised directly in equity
Deferred tax credit
__ on share-based payments {142) (228)
Total deferred tax recognised in eguity {142) (228)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES

During 2020, the Greup completed the disposal of its Domiciliary Care business and disposed of its Planning Solutions business.

A small amount of expenditure was incurred in respect of the Domiciliary Care business during 2022, primarily in respect of costs for a number
of legsed properties that were not included in the sele and whose leases came o an end in March 2022, These transactions are recognised in

discontinued operations.

In addition, the consideration for the disposal of the Planning Solutions business included a contingent element that was received during 2022,

The amount received of £7.3m exceeded the fair value carmed at 31 December 2021 and the resuftant profit in 2022 of £0.8m has been

recognised in discontinued operations, along with a small amount of costs associated with agreeing the final value.

The results of the operations which have been included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

2022 2021

£°000 £°000
Revenue and profits
Sales revenue - 57
Cost of sales - (53)
Administrative expenses (261 (181
Increase in fair value of contingent consideration 203 1100
fnnaﬂce cosis 7 - (3)
Profit for the year before tax on discontinued operations 542 340
Tax on discontinued operations (48) 182
Profil for the year after tax on discontinued operations 494 1122

The results of all disposed businesses prior to their disposal are presented within discontinued cash flows in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement,

The results of the operations which have been included 1n the Consclidated Cash Flow Slatement are as follows:

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Operating actlvities
Result for the year before tax 542 340
Net finance costs - 3
Share-based payments - -
Depreciation and amortisation - —
Net profit an disposal of investments - -
Fair value movement (803) 1100}
Change in operating receivables - -
Change in operating payables {233) 34
Net cash outflow from operating activities before taxation (494) (123}
Taxes repaid - 182
Net cash {outflow)/inflow from operating activities {494) 59
Investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 7,333 500
Net cash inflow from investing activities . 7333 500
Financing activities
Discharge of lease liabilities (55} (217)
Interest paid - 3}
Net cash outflow from financing activilies (55) (220)
Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents 6,784 338
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10. DIVIDENDS

Acceunting policy

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in 'Current financial liabilities’ when the dividends are approved in
a general meeting prior to the balance sheet date.

The following dividends were paid on ordinary shares in the year:

2022 201

£°000 £°000

Final 2021 dividend of 5.5p (2021: final 2020 dividend of Op} per share 6,092 -
Interim 2022 dividend of 3.25p (2021; interim 2021 dividend of 2.5p) per share 3,600 2773
9,692 2773

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 7.25p per share. This has not been included within the consolidated financial statements as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2022,

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Continuing Discontinued Continuing and discontinued

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

P P P ) P P

Earnings per share 25.07 n.72 0.44 101 25.51 1273
Diluted earnings per share 24.51 .50 0.43 0.98 24.94 12.49

Far the purpose of calculating earnings per share (EPS), earnings have been calculated as follows:

Continuing Discontinued Continuing and discontinued

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

=4 1% P % p P2

Profit for the year 28,503 1310 494 1122 28,997 14,263
Attributable to non-contralling interests (690) {144y - - {690) (144}
Earnings 27,813 12,957 494 1122 28,307 14119

The calculation of EPS is based on a weighted average of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The diluted EPS is based on a weighted
average of ordinary shares calculated in accordance with IAS 33 ‘Earnings per Share’, which assumes that all dilutive options will be exercised. 1AS
33 defines dilutive options as those whose exercise would decrease earnings per share or increase loss per share from continuing operations.

2022 2021

Millions Millions

Weighted average number of shares in issue: 110.96 10.83
_.. Dilutive effect of share options 2.62 213
Weighted average number of shares for calculating diluted earnings per share 113.48 13.06

12. GOODWILL

Accounting policy

Gaodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents any excess of the cost of the acguired entity aver the Group’s interest in the fair
value of the entity's identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, and is capitalised as a separate item. Goodwill is recognised as an intangible asset.

Under the business combinations exemption of IFRS 1, goodwill previously writien off directly to reserves under UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (GAAP} is not recycled to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on calculating a gain or loss on disposal.

Impairment

For the purposés of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows:
CGUs. Goodwill is allocated to those CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent
the lowest level with'n the Greup at which management monitors the related cash flows.

Goodwill or CGUs that include goodwill and those intangible assets not yet availsble for use are tested for impairment at least annually.

Al other individual assets or CGUs are tested for impalrment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverahble.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. GOODWILL CONTINUED

Impairment continued

An impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the amount by which the asset's or CGU's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value
inuse based on ar internal discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment lasses recognised for CGUs, to which goodwill has been allocated,
are credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment Joss is charged pro-rata to the other assets in the CGU.

With the exceptlion of goodwill, all asscts are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may

nc longer exist.

Goodwill
arising ort Purchased
consolidation goodwill Total
£°000 £'000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
A1 January 2021 and 1 January 2022 114,831 4,042 18,873
Acquisition of subsidiary ) 2,995 - 2,995
At 31 December 2022 17,826 4,042 121,868
Accumulated impairment losses
A11 January 2023, at 1 January 2022 and at 31 December 2022 ) - — -
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 ) 117,826 4,042 121,868
At 31 December 2021 114,831 4,042 18,873

Goodwill on conselidation anses on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on purchase of a company.

Purchased goodwill arises on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on the purchase of the trade and
assets of a business by the Group.

Goodwill is not amortised but s reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwill may
be impaired. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs according to the level at which management monitors
that goodwill. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses,

The CGU groupings to which goodwill is allocated cannot be targer than the operating segments of the business. Following the review of the
Group’s segmental disclosures, the Directars reassessed the CGU groupings for goodwill, resulting in the previous Housing grouping being
split hetween Maintenance and Management. The revised calculations showed that no impairment 1s required at either 31 December 2022
or 31 December 2021,

The carrying value of goodwill is allocated to the following groups of CGUs:

Goodwill
arising on Purchased
consolidation qoodwill Total

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Maintenance 65,290 62,295 4,042 4,042 69,332 66,337
Management 33,447 33,447 - - 33,447 33,447
P_ﬁousmg with Care 19,089 19,089 - . - 19,089 19,089
117,826 14,831 4,042 4,042 121,868 118,873

The Group's cash inflows are largely independent at the individual branch level and each branch is therefore considered a CGU. However, the
goodwill of the Group contributes to the cash inflows of muitiple CGUs. It 1s therefore allocated to groups of CGUs and monitored for internal
management purposes primarily at the cperating segment level, The goodwill of Housing with Care Is separately monitored and therefore
allocated to a separate group of CGUs to which it relates.,

An asset1s imparred if the carrying value exceeds the CGU's recoverable amount, which is based on value in use. At 31 December 2022
impairment reviews were performed by comparing the carrying value with the value in use for the groups of CGUs to which goodwill has
been allccated.
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The value in use for each group of CGUs is cakulated from the Board-approved one-year budgeted cash flows and extrapolated cash flows for
the next four years discounted at a post-tax discount rate of over a five-year period with a terminal value. The impairment reviews incorporaled
a terminal growth assumption, which is conservative when compared with the UK long-term growth rate and the underlying demographics,
which will be positive for the Group's core markets.

The estimated growth rates are based on knowledge of the relevant sector and market and represent management's base level expectations
for future growth. Changes to revenue and direct costs are based on past experience and expectation of future changes within the markets

Ll e CGUs. All ©3Us Have the same gecess Lo the Group’s reasury function and borrowing airangements to finance their operations,

Management considers that reasonably possible changes in these assumptions would not cause a CGU's carrying amount 1o exceed its
recoverable amount,

The rates used were as follows:

Volume Terminal

Post-tax Pre-tax growth rate grewth

discount rate discount rate {years 1-5) rate

Maintenance H25% 14.43% £.U0% 1./0%
Management N.25% 13.38% 2.00% 1.70%
Housing with Care 1.25% 14.55% 3.00% 1.80%

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting policy

In accordance with IFRS 3 (Revised) 'Business Combinations', an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is deemed to have a cost
to the Group of its fair vaiue at the acquisition date. The fair value of the intangible asset reflects market expectations about the probability that
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the Group. Where an intangible asset might be separable, but only together
with a related tangible or intangible asset, the group of assets is recognised as a single asset separately from goodwill where the individual
fair values of the assets in the group are not reliably measurable. Where the individual fair values of the complementary assets are reliably
measurable, the Group recognises them as a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives. Intangible assets are
amortised over the useful economic lile of those assets.

Development costs incurred on software development are capitalised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

__ Completion of the software module is technically feasible so that it will be available for use.

__ The Group intends to complete the development of the module and use it.

__ The software will be used in generating prabable future economic benefits.

__ There are adequate technical, financial and other rescurces to complete the development and to use the software.
__ The expenditure attributable 1o the software during its develepment ¢an be measured reliably.

Development costs not meeting the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred. Careful judgement by management is applied when
deciding whether the recognition requirements for development costs nave been met. This is necessary as the economic success of any
development is uncertain and may be subject to future technical problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are based on the information
avaitable at each balance sheet date. In addition, all internal activities related to the research and development of new software are continually
maonitored by management.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly atiributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the
asset to be capable of operating in the manner Intended by management. Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on
software development.

Amortisation commences upon completion of the esset and is shown within ather administrative expenses. Until the asset is available for
use on completion of the project. the assets are subject to impairmant testing only. Development expenditure is amortised over the period

expected (0 benefit.

The identifiable intangible assets and associated periods of amortisation are as follows:

Order book . over the period of the order book, typically three years

Client relationships .. over the period expected to benefit, typically five years

Supplier relationships — over the period expected to benefit, typically two years
Development expenditure __ over the useful life of the resulting software, typically five to len years
Software — 25% p.a., reducing balance
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED
Accounting policy continued
The useful economic lives of Intangible assets are reviewed annually and amended if appropriate.

Acquisition intangibles

Total
Client Qrder Suppiier acquisition Development Total
relationships book relationships intangibles expenditure Saoftware intangibles

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Gross carrying amount
At 1January 2021 65,987 17770 2172 85,929 19,960 - 105,88%
Additions - - - - 1182 - 1182
At 1 January 2022 65,587 17770 2172 85,929 21142 - 107,071
Reclassificaticn - - - - - 6,087 6,087
Additions - - - - 1,080 274 1364
Acquired with subsidiary - - - - 7 - 117
Disposals (61,097 {17.770) (2172) {81,039) - 8y (81124)
At 31 December 2022 4,890 - - 4,890 23,349 6,276 34,515
Amortisation
At 1 January 2021 59782 14105 1739 75,626 15,058 - 90,684
Provided in the year . 3,556 3,665 433 7,604 2123 - 9777
AUl January 2022 63,338 17770 2172 83,280 17181 - 100,461
Reclassification - - - - — 5,426 5426
Provided In the year 245 — - 245 1,849 206 2,300
Eliminated on disposal (61,097) (17770} (2.172) (81,039) - (85) (81124)
At 31 December 2022 ] 2,486 - - 2,486 19,030 5,547 27063
Carrying amount )
At 31 December 2022 2,404 - - 2,404 4,319 728 7452
At 31 December 2021 2,649 — — 2,645 3,961 — 6,610

Development expenditure is an internally developed intangible asset and relates largely to the development of the Group's Housing job
management system. During the year, the Group acquired a subsidiary, IRT Surveys Limited, which itself had internally developed software
for the purpose of assessing residential properties for decarbomisation retrofits. More details of this acguisition can be faund in note 28

Development expenditure is amortised over its useful economic life of either five or ten years, depending on the resulting software.
The weighted average remaining econamic life of the assetis 3.9 years (2021 3.1 years).

Curing the year, a reclassification was made for purchased software that had histornically been recognised in “Fixtures, fittings and eguipment’
in Property, Plant and Equipment. This software is now recognised in ‘Software’ above. The net book valye of the software reclassified
was £0.7m.

During the year, intangible assets that had been fully amortised In either the current or a pror period were reviewed and, where appropriate,
disposed of, resulting in a reduction in gross casrying amount and accumulated amortisation,

All amortisation is included within other administrative expenses.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting policy

ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, net of depreciation. Historical cost inciudes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropr ate, orly when itis probable t~at future economic berefits associated with the item will flow into the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Freeheld land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets s ¢alculated to write down the cost less estimated residual value over their
estimated useful econamic lives. The rates generally applicable are:

Freehold buildings —_ 2% p.a, straightline

Leasehold improvements — over the period of the lease, straight line
Plart and machinery —_ 20% p.a, straight line

Equipment _ 20% p.a. straight line

Fixtures and fittings _ 50% p.a., straight line

Motor vehicles — 25%p.a., reducing balance
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During the period, the Group reviewed its estimation of the useful economic lives of plant and machinery, and eguipment. As a result of this
review, the rates of depreciation generally applicable for these categorias were changed to 20% straight line from 25% reducing balance.
The current year impact of this change i1 estimate of £2.1m was recognised as an expense during the year in ‘Administrative expenses’.

Residual values are reviewed annually and updated if appropriate. The carrying value is reviewed for impairment in the period if events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying value is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the assel’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within "Administrative
expenses' in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Identifying whether there are indicators of impairment in respect of property, plant and equipment involves some judgement and 8 good
understanding of the drivers of value behind the asset. At each reporting perod an assessment is performed in order to determine whether
there are any such indicatars, which involves considering the performance at both a contract and business level, and any significant changes
to the markets in which we operate. This is not considered to be a critical judgement or an area of significant uncertainty.

Fixtures, Assets
Freehold Leasehold Plant and fittings and Maotor under
property improvements machinery equipment vehicies  construction Total
€000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2021 426 19170 2,049 35,647 984 5,839 64.615
Additicns 1™ 5,225 9 2.051 - 216 7602
Disposals - - (500 (8,343} - - (8,843)
Transfer to inventories — - - — - (6,055) {6,055)
At1January 2022 1,027 24395 1,558 29,355 984 - 57,319
Reclassification - - - 16,087) - - (6,087
Additions 1,635 4508 - 1,988 - - 8131
Acquired with subsidiary — - - 10 19 - 29
Disposals — (2} {1166} (10,386) {488) — 112,042)
At 31 Decemher 2022 2,662 28,901 392 14,880 515 — 47,350
Depreciation
At 1 January 2021 68 5,888 1551 28,042 966 1,500 41,015
Provided in the year 30 3,241 na 2222 5 - 5,616
Eliminated on disposals - — (428} (8.098) - - (8.524)
Transfer to inventories — — — - — (1,500 (1.500)
AL January 2022 938 12,129 1,243 2266 a7 - 36,607
Reclassification - — - (5,426) — — (5,426)
Provided in the year 17 3,914 227 3,856 7 - 8,021
Eliminated on disposals - {2) {1166} (10,384) 488) - (12,040
At 31 December 2022 15 16,041 304 10,212 480 - 2762
Carrying amaunt
At 31 December 2022 2,547 12,860 88 4,668 25 — 20,188
At 31 December 2021 929 12,266 315 7189 13 - 20712

During the year, a reclassification was made for purchased software that had historically been recognised in Fixtures, fittings and equipment.
This software Is now recognised in ‘Software’ in ‘Intangible assets”. The net book value of the software reclassified was £0.7m.

15, RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Accounting policy

Where an asset is subject to a lease, the Group recognises a right of use asset and a lease liabllity on the balance sheet. The right of use asset
is measured at cost, which matches the initial measurement of the fease liability and any costs expected at the end of the lease, and then
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The fease liability is measured at the present value of the feture lease payments discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments include fixed payments, variable payments based on an index and payments arlsing from ophons ressonably certain to

be exercised.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising
arnght of use asset and a lease Hiakility, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense i profit or loss on a straight-line basls

over the lease term.

On the statement of financial position, right of use assets and lease liabilities are presented separately.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

15. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS CONTINUED

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The Group holds more than 15,000 leases across its portfolio of residential properties, offices and vehicles. Whilst the Group endeavours ta
standardise the form of leases, operational demands dictate that many leases have specific wording 1o address particular operational needs
and also 1o manage the associated operational and financial risks. As such, each lease requires individual assessment and the Group is
required to make key jJudgements which include:

__ the identification of a lease;

— assessing the right to direct the use ¢f the underlying asset;

__ determining the lease term; and

__ an assessment as to the level of future lease payments, including fixed and variable payments.

The most typical challenges enceountered and which form the key jJudgements are:

— where the lease contains a one-way no-fault break in Mears” favour, the Group measures the obligation based on the Group's best estimate
of its future intentions;

__ where the lessor has a right of substitution meaning that the lessor can swap one property for another without Mears' appraval,

— where Mears does not in practice have the right 1o cortrel the use of the asset and the key decision making rights are retained by the supplier;

__ where a wider agreement for a supply of services includes a lease component which meets the definition of a lease under IFRS16; and

__ the assessment of the fixed lease payments where the lease obligation to the landlord is based on a pass-through arrangement in which
Mears only makes lease payments to the owner to the extent that the property is occupied and to the extent that rents are received from
the tenant,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Additions and remeasurements to right of use assets in respect of lease agreements are equivaient to the present vafue {or change in present
valug) of the relevant lease obligation. Unless there is an interest rate implicit in the lease itself, the Group’s Incremental Borrawing Rate (IBR) is
used to calculate the present value of future lease payments. Estimation is reguired in dernving an appropriate IBR. The Directors believe that the
best approximation for IBR is the currently applicabie margin from the grid contained within the Group’s rolling credit facility (RCF) agreement,
added to an appropriate base rate. The Group's RCF is linked to SONIA, so thatis considered the most apprapriate base rate 1o use.

The sensitivity of the lease liability to the assumptions used in these estimations is indicated in note 20.

Investment property

Included within right of use assets are certaln properties classified as investment properties in accordance with IAS 40. These properties are
held primarily in order to earn rentals. The Group has chosen to apply the cost model to all investment property and therefore measurement
i5inhine with IFRS 16 as described in the Leased assets sccounting policy.

Properties that generate rentals but are primarily neld for the provision of social benefits are not considered to meet the definition
of investment property.

Assets that are sub-leased Assets that are used directly within
to customers the business
Investment Residential Residential Motor
property property property Offices vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
At1January 2021 27528 112,039 75,307 1,076 37806 263,856
Additions* 417 5824 29,646 1,262 12,895 50,044
Disposals - (4,674} (1,487) {90} (19.761) [26,832)
At 1 January 2022 27,945 13,189 103,466 1428 31,040 287,068
Additiens® 2193 3438 38,441 608 8,008 52,688
Disposals - {3,019} (5,921 (1.529) {1,491} (1.860)
At 31 December 2022 30,138 113,608 135,986 10,507 37,557 327,796
Depreciation
At 1 January 2021 3.030 17151 19,612 4,568 14,454 63,815
Provided in the year 1,553 8,609 21,589 1741 9,921 43,413
Elimnated on disposals - (4140) {795) {910} (19,264) (25.109)
At 1 January 2022 4,583 21620 40,406 5,399 101M 8219
Provided in the year 1,615 7428 25422 1789 7222 43,486
Eliminated on disposals - (2,901 (5,516) 1.529) (1,295) (11,241
At 31 December 2022 6,198 26,147 60,312 5,669 16,038 114,364
Carrying amount
At 21 December 2022 23,940 87461 75.674 4,838 21,519 213,432
At 31 December 2021 23,362 91,562 63,060 5,029 20,929 204,949

Adcizions incluces both new underlying assets ana remeasurement of the night of use asset for changes in the lease terms
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Investment property included above represents properties held by the Group primarlly to earn rentals, rather than for use in the Group’s other
activities. The amout included in lease income in note 2 in respect of these properties is £2.3m (2021 £1.7m). Direct cperating expenses
arising from investment property that generated renta! income during the period was £3.6m (2021: £3.3m). The carrying value of the right of
use asset in respect of investment property is considered to be approximately equal to its fair value.

16. INVESTMENTS

Accounting policy

Investments include those over which the Group has signiticant influence but which it does not control. These are categorised as associates.
Itis presumed that the Group has significant influcnce where it has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights in the investee unless Indicated
otherwise. The Group also holds investments in joint ventures where the Group and other parties have joint control over their activities.

The basis by which associates and joint ventures are consolidated in the Group financial statements is through the equity method, as outlined
in the basis of consolidation.

In addition to associates and joint ventures, the Group holds investments in entities over which it does not exert significant influence, These
are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.

Other

Assactates  investments Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2021 el 65 966
Share of profit 855 - 865
Distributions received (1108) - (1,108)
At 1 January 2022 643 65 713
Share of profit 858 - 858
Distributions received (300) - (300}
At 31 December 2022 1,206 &5 1,271

Other investments represents the Group’s 6.16% holding in Mason Topco Limited, which is mandatorily held at fair value through profit or loss.
There have been no changes in the fair value of the investment during the year (2021 none).

Associates
Set out below is the investment in an associate as at 31 December 2022, which in management’s apinion Is significant to the Group:

Carrying value

Nature of Proportion Country of 2022 20
relationship heid registration £'000 £'000
Pyramid Plus South LLP Associate 30% England and Wales 1,206 648

Pyramid Plus South LLP is a repairs and maintenance service provider that is central to one of the Group’s contracts. The Group’s client for the
contract holds the remaining 70% interest in the entity,

During the year, the Group received distributions of £0.3m (2021: £1.1m) from Pyramid Plus South LLP. Summarised financial information for
Pyramid Plus South LLP for the year is shown below:

2022 2021

£'000 £°000
Revenue and profits
Revenue 21,600 19,866
Expenses {18,738) 117.017)
Profit for the year 2,862 2,849
Other comprehensive income - —
Total comprehensive income 2,862 2,849
Share of profit at 30% 858 855
Net assets
Non-current assets - —
Current assets 7795 6,498
Current liabilities (3,763) {4,291
Non-current llabilities - —
Total assets less total liabilities 4,032 2,207

Cash and cash equivaients of £2.5m (2021 £1.8m) were included in current assets above.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

16. INVESTMENTS CONTINUED
The subsidiary undertakings within the Group at 31 December 2022 are shown below:

Praoportion held Country of registration Nature of business

3c Asset Management Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Careforce Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Helcim Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Helcim Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
IRT Energy Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
IRT Surveys Limited 100% Scolland Housing technology provider
Let to Birmingham Limited 100% England and Wales  Housing management services
Manchester Working Limited 80% England and Wales Housing services
Mears Energy Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Estates Limited 100% England and Wales Grounds maintenance
Mears Extra Care Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Mears Facility Management Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Home Improvement Limited 100% England and Wales Housing services
Mears Homecare Limited 100% England and Wales Prowvision of care
Mears Hemes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Management Limited 100% England and Wales  Housing management services
Mears Housing Management (Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Portfolio (Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediale holding company
Mears Housing Portfolic 4 Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Insurance Company Limited 99.9%% Guernsey Insurance services
Mears Learning Limited 90% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Limited 100% England and Wales Housing services
Mears New Homes Limited 100% England and Wales House building
Mears Property Company Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Property Company 2 Limited 100% Scotland Property acquisition
Mears Scotland (Housing) Limited 100% Scotiand Dormant
Mears Scotland (Services} Limited 66.67% Scotland Dormant
Mears Scotland LLP 66.67% Scotland Housing services
Mears Social Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Supported Living Limited 100% Scotland Provision of care
Mears Wales Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
MHM Property Services Limited 100% Engtand and Wales Maintenance services
Morrison Facilities Services Limited 100% Scotland Maintenance services
MPM Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
MPS Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Housing services
O&T Develepments Limited 100% England and Wales  Housing management services
Omega Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Plexus UK (First Project) Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Scion Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Scion Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Scion Technicat Services Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Tando Homes Limited 100% England and Wales  Housing management services
Tando Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales  Housing management services

All subsidiary undertakings prepare accounts to 31 December.
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The Group includes the following three subsidiaries with non-controlling interests: Manchester Working Limited, Mears Learning Limited and ol
Mears Scotland LLP. The table below sets out selected financial information in respect of those subsidiaries: ﬁ
2022 2021 5
£'000 £'000 Iy
Revenue and profits 3
Revenue 62,061 54447 %
Expenses and laxaticn . (61.764) (54,539} 351
Profit for the year 1,297 (92}
Other comprehensive expense - -
Total comprehensive income 1,297 (G2}
Profit/{loss) for the year allocated to non-controlling interests 690 144
Total comprehensive expense allacated to non-controlling interests - —
Net assets a
Non-current assets o3 178 g
Current assets 19,643 14,985 g
Current liabitities (13,074) (10,339) ﬁ
Non-current liabilities (1,963} (1,393) a
Total assets less total liabilities 4,699 3.431 g
Equity shareholders’ funds 3,207 2,629 <
Non-controliing interests 1,492 802 g
Total equity 4,699 3,431 2
o
The following UK subsidiaries will lake advantage of the audit exemption set out within Section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the year "
ended 31 Becember 2022:
Registration
number
IRT Surveys Limited 5C227199 -
Let to Birmingham Limited 08757503 =
Mears Estates Limited 03720903 z
Mears Extra Care Limited 03689426 2
Mears Homecare Limited 02744787 ,’Z
Mears Home Improvement Limited 03716517 -mq
Mears Housing Management Limiled 03662604 E
Mears Housing Management (Holdings) Limited 04726480 E
Mears Housing Portfolio {(Holdings) Limited 10908305 5
Mears Housing Portfolio 4 Limited 10952906 @
Mears New Homes Limited 08780839
Mears Property Company Limited 14425736
Mears Property Company 2 Limited SC750308 "
Mears Supported Living Limited SC662805 §
MHM Property Services Limited 07448134 ;—:
Morrison Facilities Services Limited SC120550 g
MPM Housing Limited (03528320 o
MPS Housing Limited 1655167 a
O&T Developments Limited 05692853 s
Scion Group Limited 03905442 g
Scion Technical Services Limited 03671450 §
Tando Homes Limited 09260353 ﬁ
Tando Property Services Limited 07405761 o
F3
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements - Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

17. INVENTORIES
Accounting policy
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is the actual purchase price of materials

Work in progress is included in inventories after deducting any foreseeable losses and payments on account not matched with revenue. Work
in progress represents costs incurred on new build residential construction projects where the eventual sale will be of the completed property.
Work in progress is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost comprises materials, direct labour and any subcontracted work
thal has been incurred in bringing the inventaries and work in progress to their present location and condition.

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Materials and consumables 1,329 1,650
Work in progress o 5,550 21,219
6,879 22,869

The Group consumed inventaries totalling £93.9m during the year (2021: £167.3m). No 1tems are being carried at fair value less costs
to sell (2021 Snil).

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Accounting policy

Trade recelvables represent amounts due from customers in respect of invoices raised. They are initially measured at their transaction price
and subsequently remeasured at amortised cost.

Retention assets represent amounts hetd by customers for a period following payment of invaices, to cover any patential defects in the work,
Retention assets are included in trade receivables and are therefore initially measured at their transaction price.

Contract assets represent revenue recognised in excess of the total of payments on account and amounts invoiced.

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimation technigues used for revenue in respect of contracting require jJudgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain
cantracts and the recovery of cantract assets. Each contract is treated on its merits and subject to a reqular review of the revenue and costs to
compiete that contract. Contract assets represent revenue recognised in excess of the total of payments on account and amounts invoiced.

However, due to the estimation uncertainty acress numeraus contracts each with different characteristics, it 1s not practical 1o provide a
quantitative analysis of the aggregated judgements that are applied, and management does not believe that disclosing a potential range
of outcomes on a consolidated basis would provide meaningful information to a reacer of the accounts.

2022 2021

£'000 £000
Current assets
Trade receivables 21,483 28,571
Contract assets 84,797 97,680
Contract fulfilment costs 1,283 1,242
Prepayments and accrued income 13,257 9,277
Contingent consideration - 6,531
Other debtors 7.514 5,004
Total trade and other receivables 128,334 148,305

Included in trade recevables is £4.3m (2021 £4.9m) in respect of retention payments due in more than ane year.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 1o 60 days and do not bear any effeclive interest rate. All trade receivables and accrued income
are subject to credit risk exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk 1n relation to trade receivables and accrued income at the balance sheet date is the fair value of trade
receivables and accrued income. The Group's customers are primarily a mix of Local and Central Government and Housing Assaciations where
credit risk is minimal, The Group's customer base is large and unrelated and, accordingly, the Group dees not have a significant concentration
of credit risk with any one counterparty.

The amounts presented in the balance sheet in relation to the Group’s trade receivables and accrued income halances are presented net

of loss allowsances, The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to Iifetime expecied credit losses using both quantitative and
gualitative information and analysis based on the Group's historical experience, and forward-locking information
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The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

2022 2021

Gross Expected Carrying Gross Expected Carrying

amount due credit loss value antount due credit loss value

£'000 €000 £'000 £'000 €000 £'000

Not past due 18,661 (e8es) 17,675 27,641 (1110} 26,531
Less than three months past due 3,051 (504) 2,847 2,063 (429) 1,634
Mare than three maonths past due 1,946 (685) 1,261 5,873 (5.467) 406
Total trade receivables 23,658 (2175) 21,483 35,577 (7,006) 28,571

For expected credit losses with large organisations, such as Government bodies or Housing Associations, expecled credit losses are
calculated on an indvidual basis, taking account of all the relevant factors applicable to the amount outstanding. The Group has no history
of defaults with these types of customers, so expectead credit osses refate to specific disputed balances.

For individual tenant customers, expected credit losses are calculated based on the Group's historical experience of default by applying a
percentage based on the age of the customer's balance. During 2022, the Directors took the decision to write off debts of £3.0m in respect
of historical ex-tenants where the prospect of recovery is limited. These debts had already been fully provided over a number of years,

so there was no impact o1 the carrying value of trade receivables as a result of this decision.

The movement in expected credit loss during the period is shown below:

2022 20214

£'000 £000
As at1January 7,006 8,165
Changes in ameunts provided 1,208 g6
Amounts utilised {6,039) 11,355}
As at 31 December 2175 7,006
The movement in contract assets dunng the period is shown below:

2022 2021

£'000 £ 000
Ag at 1 January 97,680 88,594
Recagnised on completion of perfermance obligations 906,415 843,628
Invoiced during the year {919,298) {834,542}
As at 31 December 84,797 97,680

Included in other debtors is an amount of £2.9m {2021: £2.9m) recoverable from the Group's fronting insurers. An equal and opposite amount
is alsu included wilhin other deditors.,

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

£000 £'000

Tracte payables 55,854 69,555
Accruals 60,278 51,343
Social security and other taxes 26,343 29724
Contract liabilities 23,672 27843
Other creditors 4,866 5,682
171,013 184,047

Due to the short duration of trade payables, management considers the carrying amounts recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet to be
a reasonable approximation of thedr fair value.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

19, TRADE AND OTHER PAYAELES CONTINUED
The movement in contract ligbilities during the period Is shown below:

2022 2021
£'000 £:000
As gt 1January 27,843 25330
Revenue recognised in respect of contract liabilities (24,296) (13.97)
Payments received in advance of performance abligations being completed 20,125 15,710
As at 31 December 23,672 27,843

Contract liabilities relate to payments received from the customer on the contract, and/or amounts invoiced to the customer in advance of the
Group performing its obligaticns on contracts where revenue 1s recognised either over time or at a point in time. These amounts are expected
to be recognised within revenue within one year of the balance sheet date.

Included in other creditors is an amount of £2.9m (2021: £2.9m} payable to the Group’s fronting insurers. An equal and opposite amount is slso
included within other debtors refiecting the subsequent reimbursement due to the Group's Insurance captive

20. LEASE LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities are separately preésented on the face of the Consclidated Statement of Financial Position as shown below;

2022 2021

£'000 €000

Current 44,376 N,600
Nen-current . 181,045 175,290
225,421 216,890

The Group had not committed to any leases which had not commenced at 31 December 2022, The majority of the Group's property leases
contain variable lease payments that vary annually either by reference to an index, such as the Consumer Prices Index (CPJ}, or based on
market conditians each year. The potential impact of this vanation depends on future events and therefore cannot be guantified, but the Group
would typically expect commensurate adjusiments to income derived from these properties.

A smaller number of property leases contain termination or extension options. Management has assessed whether it 1s reasonably certain that
the longer term will apply. In some cases, a portfolio of leases with similar lease terms is considered together and, where a rolling notice period
is available to the Group, an average expected lease life may be appled.

The Group has elected not to recognise a lease lrability for short-term leases and leases of low value. Payments made under such leases are
expensed on a straight-line basis. Certain leases incorporate variable lease payments that are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16. The expense relating to payments not included in the measuremeant of the lease lability is as follows:

2022 2021
£'000 €000
Short-term feases 46,683 46,780
Low vaiue leases 1,096 879
Varigble lease payments 1,236 1,550

The portfalio of short-term leases 1o which the Group is committed at the end of the reporting period is not dissimilar to the portfolio to which
the above disclosure relates.

Other disclosures relating (o lease liabilities are provided in the table below:

2022 2021

Note £'000 €000

Depreciation of right of use assets during the year 15 43,486 43,413
Additions during the year 15 52,688 50,044
Carrying vaiue atthe year end 15 213,432 204,949
Interest on lease liabilittes during the year — continuing activities 5 7617 65,952
Total cash outflow in respect of leasas dunng the year 27 50,827 47399

The Group's lease liabilities are subject to changes in certain key assumptions in estimating the IBRs used to calculate the Labilives. The IBRs
used during the year ranged from 2.79% to 6.90%. The impact of an increase in all IBRs applied durning 2022 by 0.5% 15 a £0.4m reduction in
the lease Hability and a £0.9m reduction in profit before tax.
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21. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Cther non-current liabilities of £0.7m (2021; £nil) consist of deferred and contingent consideration due in more than one year, as described in
note 24,

22, PROVISIONS

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

By definition, provisions require estimates to be made of future cutcomes and the eventual outflow may differ significantly from the amount
iecognised di lhe end of the year. The Directors have estimated provisions based on all relevant information available to them. For individually
material provisions further information has been provided on the maximum likely outflow, in addition to the best estimate.

A summary of the movement in provisions during the year 1s shown below:

Onerous

contract Property Legal
pravisions provisions provisions Total
£'000 £°000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2022 1400 730 2,343 4,473
Frovlded during the year 1400 380 8,419 10,179
Utilised during the year (2,800} (255) (2,817) (5,872}
At 31 December 2022 - B35 7,945 8,780

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group identified a small number of maintenance contracts where the estimate of unavoidable costs
of meeting contractual cbligations exceeded the remuneration expected to be received. These were calegorised as onerous contracts of
£1.4m at 1 January 2022, The contracts all terminated during the course of 2022 and there 1s no remaining onerous contract provision.

Property provisions have been recognised during the year in respect of the expected costs of reinstating several office praperties 1o their
original condition.

At1 January 2022, legal provisions of £2.3m related (o various subcontractor and employee related legal claims which were largely settled
during the year. One of the subcontractor claims increased during the year and is still unresolved, with a provision of £1.5m at 31 December
2022. This is expected to be utilised within one year.

During the year. the Group took legal advice in respect of one particularly challenging client relationship and, believing that the client was acting
in breach of contract, served a notice of termination. This matter was subseguently referred to adjudication and the outcome of that process has
ruled In favour of the former client. The consequence of this is that the former client can rely upon the adjudicator’s decision to bring a claim for
damages. The Group has received an initial indication of damages from the claimant of £9.3m; however, the claimant has refused to provide
sufficient detail to suppaort this figure, and the Directors dispute a number of estimates and assumptions which underpin the value. The Directors
have carrnied out their own assessment, mindful of the limilation of the infarmation provided. The Directors have censidered a range of possible
autcomes and have provided a sum of £5.7m, which they believe represents the best estimate of the likely outcome.

23. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Accounting policy

The Group self-insures certain fleet and liability risks. A provision for claims incurred but not received is recognised in respect of these
potential claims. The value of this provision Is estimated based on past experience of claims.

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Non-current provisions 3110 3,800

Nen-current provisions represent self-insured claims incurred but for which the final cost has nol been agreed. £2.0m of the provision was
utilised during the year and £1.3m of additional amounts were provided. The timing of the utilisation of the provision is uncertain as it depends
upon the timing of insurance claims against the Group. However, the majority of the carrying value is expected to be utilised in more than one
year and, as such, the provision is constdered to be non-current.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued |
For the year ended 31 December 2022

24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

The Group uses a limited number of financial instruments comprising cash and liquid resources, borrowings, interest rate swaps and various
items such as trade receivables and trade payables that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to finarce the Group's operations, The Graup seeks to finance its operations through a combination of retained earnings and borrowings and
investing surplus cash on deposit. The Group uses financial instruments to manage the interest rate risks arising from its operations and
sources of finance but has no interests in the trade of financial instruments.

Financial assets and liabilines are recogrised in the Consclidated Balance Sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. The principal financial assets and liabiities of the Group are as follows:

Financial assets
Investments in unlisted equities that do not convey control or significant influence over the underlying entity are recognised at fair value. They
are subsequently remeasured at fair vaiue with any changes being recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Contingent consideration is held by the Group In order to collect the associated cash flows but until the amount s determined, these are not
solely payments of prinCipal and interest and therefore these assets are measured both initially and subsequently at fair value, with any
changes being recognised in the Consohdated Stalement of Profit or Loss.

Loan notes and ather non-current debtors are held by the Group in order to collect the assaciated cash flows and not for trading. They are
therefore initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. i

Financial assets generated from goods or services transferred to customers are presented as either trade receivables or contract assets. Al of
the Group's trade receivables are short-term in nature, with payments typically due within 60 days of the works being performed, The Group's
contracts with its customers therefore contain no significant financing compaonent,

Mears recogrises a loss allowarice far expected credit losses on financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
‘simplified appreach’. Individually significant balances are reviewed separately for impairment based on the credit terms agreed with the
customer. Other balances are grouped into credit risk categories and reviewed in aggregate.

Trade receivables and cash at bank and in hand are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted

in an active markel. Trade receivables are inltially recorded at fall value net of lransaction costs, being invo'ced value less any provisional
estimate for imparment should this be necessary due to a loss event. Trade receivables are subsequently remeasured at invoiced value, less
an updated provision for impairment. Any change in their value through impairment or reversal of impairment is recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss

Cash and cash equivaients include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits available with no notice or less than three months' notice from
inception that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafis are presented as current liabilities to the extent that there
is no right of offset with cash balances. The Group considers its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of its cash management.

Following initial recognition, financial assets are subsequently remeasured al amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities
The Group's financial liabilies are trade payables, lease liabilities, deferred and contingent consideration ang other creditors. They are

included in the Consohdated Balance Sheet line items ‘Trade and other payables’, 'Lease liabilities' and ‘Other non-current liabilities'.

Altinterest related charges are recognised as an expense in ‘Finance costs’ in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss with the exception
of those that are directly attributable to the construction of a qualifying asset, which are capitalised as part of that asset.

Bank and other barrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs. Gains and losses ansing on the repurchase, settlement
or canceliation of liabilities are recognised respectively in ‘Finance income’ and 'Finance costs’ Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense
inthe period in which they are incurred with the exception of those which are directly attributable to the construction of a qualifying asset,
which are capitalised as part of that asset.

Trade paysbles on normal terms are not interest beanng and are stated at their farr value or initial recegnition and subsequently at amortised cost.
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Categaries af finaneial instruments 2
2022 2021 =
£'000 £'000 s
Non-current assets 2
Fair value (level 3) [
Investments — other investments ) 65 65 @
Amortised cost 2
Lodin toles dhd other non-current debtors 4,073 3.476 '5
Current assets
Falr value (level 3) N
Contingent consideration - 6.531
Amortised cost
Trade receivables 21,483 28,571
Other debtors 7514 5,004 I3
Short-term financial assets 1,963 - g
Cash at bank and in hand : 98,138 54,632 S
129,098 88207 »
Non-current liabilities m
Fair value (level 3) 2
Contingent consideration ) (438} = -
z
Amortised cost ;
Lease liabilities (181,045) (175,250) Q
Deferred consideration {244) -
(181,289) {175,290)
Current liabilities
Amortised cost
Trade payables (55,854) (69,5565) i
Lease liahilities (44,376) {4M,600) §
Other creditors (4,614) (5,582} g
Deferred consideration {252) - B
{105,096) 6737
{153,587 (193748) >
m
The amount recognised as an allowance far expected credit losses on trade receivables during 2022 was £1.2m (2021: £0.2m). E
z
wn

The IFRS 13 hierarchy level categorisation relates to the extent the fair value can be determined by reference to comparable market values.
The ciassifications range from level 1, where instruments are quoted on an active market, through to level 3, where the assumptions used
to arrive at farr value do not have comparable market data.

The fair values of investments in unlisted equily nstruments are determined by reference to an assessment of the fair value of the entity
1o which they relate, This is typically based on a multiple of earnings of the underlying business.

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

Fair value information
The fair value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities approximates to the book value as disclosed above.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Financial risk management

The Group’s activilies expose It to a variety of financial risks: market risk {including interest rate risk and price risk); credit risk; and hiquidity risk.
The main risks faced by the Group relate to the availability of funds 1o meet business needs and the risk of credit default by customers, The
Greup's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried cut under policies and guidelines approved Dy the Board of Direciors.

Borrowing facilities

The Group's borrowing facilities are drawn on as required to manage its cash needs. Banking facilities are reviewed regularly and extended
and replaced in advance of therr expiry.

The Group had total borrowing facilities of £73.0m with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC and Citi, of which £nil was utilised at 31 December 2022,
The facilities comprise a committed four-year £60.0m revolving credit facility and unsecured overdraft facifities of £13.0m.

Details of the Group's banking covenants are provided on page 58.

Interest rate risk management

The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings from major banking institutions at floating rates

of interes* based on SONIA

The Group’s policy is to accept a degree of Interest rate risk, provided the effects of the various potential changes in rates remain within
certain prescrined parameters,

At 31 December 2022 the Group had minimal exposure to movements in interest rates as it had no drawn borrowings.

Liquidity risk management
The Group seeks to manage liguidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is avallable to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets
safely and profitably,

Management maniiors rolling forecasts of the Group's liguidity reserve ([comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash
equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. This is generally carmed out at a loca! level in the operating companies of the Group in
accordance with the practice and limits set by the Group. These limits vary by location and take into account the liquidity and nature of the
market in which the entity operates.

The guantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group is regularly reviewed and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels.
For short-term warking capital purposes, the Group utilises bank overdrafts as required. These facilities are reqularly reviewed and are

renegotiated ahead of their expiry date,

The table below shows the undiscounted maturity profile of the Group's financial habilities:

Within 1year 1-2 years 2-Syears Quer5years Total
£'000 £000 £'000 €000 £'000

2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 55,354 - - - 55,854
Lease liabilities 47,320 37,821 68,502 116,218 269,861
Cther creditors 4,614 - - - 4,614
Deferred and contingent consideration 260 B6O - - 1120
2021 )
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 69,555 - - - 69,555
Lease lLabifities 42302 30,769 63,829 123,394 260,364
Other creditors 5,682 - - - 5,682

Credit risk management
The Group's credit risk 1s primanly attributabie to its trade receivables, contract assets and work In progress,

Trade receivables gre normally due within 30 to 60 days. Trade ang other receivables included in the Consolidated Balance Shee? are stated
net of an expected credit loss provision which has been estimated by managemen: following a rewiew of individual receivable accounts. There
is no Group-wide rate of provision and provision made for debts that are overdue is basad on prior default experience and known factors at
the balance sheet date. Receivables are written off against the expected credit loss provision wher management considers that the debt is no
longer recoverable
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Housing customers are typically Local and Central Government and Housing Associations. The nature of these customers means that credit
risk is minimal. Other trade receivables contain ng specific concentration of credit risk as the amounts recognised represent a large number
of receivables from various customers.

The Group continually monitors the position of major customers and incorporates this information inte its credit risk controls. External credit
ratings are obtained where appropriate.

Delails ul the ayeiny ul iade iecelvables dig shiuwnin ivie 13,

Loan notes receivable

The loan notes included within non-current assets were received as part of the disposal of the Terraquest Group. They are repayable in
December 2028 and accrue interest at 10% per annum. Their carrying value including accumulated interest at 31 December 2022 was £3.8m
(2021 3.5m).

Short-term financial assets

Short-term financial assets are fixed-term depasits with financial institutions with a maturity of more than three months at inception. Similar
deposits with a maturity of three months or less at inceptions are presented within ‘Cash and cash equivalents’. All short-term financial assets
have a maturity at inception of 12 months or less and are held for the purpose of generating returns.

Deferred and contingent consideration receivable
The table below shows the movements in deferred and contingent consideration receivabie:

Deferred Contingent Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 500 5,431 5,931
Movement in fair value of contingent consideration - 1,100 1,100
Received during the year (500} - 1500)
AL Jsnuary 2022 - 5,531 6,531
Movement in fair value of contingent consideration - 802 802
Received during the year - (7,333) {7,333)
At 31 December 2022 - - -
Deferred and contingent consideration payable
The table below shows the movements in deferred and contingent consideration payable:
Deferred Contingent Total
£°000 £000 000
At1Jdanuary 2021 and 1 January 2022 - - -
Fair value of deferred and contingent consideration on acquisition of IRT Surveys Limited 496 438 934
At 31 December 2022 496 4328 934

Deferred consideration payable is initially measured at fair value by discounting the contractual amount due using & discount rate based
on the assessed cost of debt for the Group. It is subseguently measured at amortised cost,

Contingent consideration payable is measured at farr value based on the Director's expectation of the amount that will be payable. The factors
determining the amount payable are detailed in note 28. This figure is then discounted at a rate in line with the weighted average cost of
capital of the Group. The value of contingent consideration could vary by up to £0.4m based on the factors detailed in note 28.

Capital management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

__ to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
far other stakeholders;

__ to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk; and

__ to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of

changes in economic canditions and the risk charactesistics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders. return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or seifl assets to reduce debt.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

25. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences under the liability method.

Deferred tax relates to the following:

Censolidated Consolidated Statement of
Balance shaet Profit or Loss Other movements

At 31 At 31

Oecember December
2022 2021 2022 2021 022 202
£'000 2’000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %'000
Pension schemes (5,800) (8,315) 66 (1,003) 2,449 (8,809}
Share-based payments 704 588 {26) e 142 228
Cash-flow hedges — - - - - (178)
Tax losses - 249 (249) (1.030) - -
Provisions - 149 {149) 73 - -
Acquisition intangibles (601) (662) 61 1,213 - -
Capital aliowances 317 647 {330) 1676) - -
Leases 625 668 (43) 107 - -
Fair value of software development (143) - 3 ) — (146) —
{4,898) 6.676) (667) (1,237) 2,445 18,759}

Other movements are recognised in the Consaolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income In respect of pension schemes and in the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity in respect of share-based payments. Deferred tax on the fair value of software development
was recognised directly in the balance sheet on the acquisition of IRT Surveys Limited, as described in note 28

In accordance with IFRS 2 *Share-based Payment’, the Group has recognised an expense for the consumption of employee services received
as consideration for share options granted A tax deduction will not arise untl the options are exercised. The tax deduction in future periods is
dependent on the Company’s share price at the date of exercise. The estimated future tax deduction is based on the options” intrinsic value at
the balance sheet date.

The cumulative amount credited to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss is limited to the tax effect of the associated cumulative
share-based paymant expense. The excess has been credited directly to equity. This is presented in the Consoiidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income.,

In addition to those recognised, unused tax losses tatalling £25.5m (2021 £25.5m) have not been recognised as management does not
consider that it is probable that they will be recovered

Intangible assets acquired as part of & business combination are capitalised at fair value at the date of the acquisition and amortised over their
useful economic lives. The UK tax regime calculates tax using the individual financial statements of the members of the Group and not the
consolidated accounts. Hence, the tax base of acquisition intangible assets arising on consolidation 1s £nil. Furthermaore, no UK tax relief s
available on the majority of acquisition intangibles within individual entities, so the tax base of these assels s alsc £nil. The estimated tax effect
of this £nil tax base is accounted for as a deferred tax liability which is released over the period of amortisation of the associated acquisition
intangible asset.

26. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Classes of reserves
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premiym represents the difference between the nominal vaiue of shares issued and the total consideration received

Share-based payment reserve represents employee remuneration which is credited to the share-based payment reserve until the related
share options are exercised. Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

The merger reserve relates Lo the difference between the nominal value and total consideration in respect of acguisitions, where the Company
was entitted tc the merger relief offered by the Companies Act 2006,
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Share capital v
2022 2021 2
£'000 £000 =
Allotted, called up and fully paid 25,
At1January 110,926,510 (2021: 110,881,897} ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 1109 &
Isswe of 74,379 (2021: 44,613} shares on exercise of share options 1 - -
At 31 December 111,000,889 (2021: 110,926,510} ardinary sharers of 1p each 1,110 1109 @
i
During the year 74,379 (2021: 44,613) ordinary 1p shares were 1ssued in respect of share options exercised,
27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The following non-operating cash flow adjustments have been made to the result for the year before tax:
2022 2021
£'000 £000 o
Depreciation 51,508 49,024 2
(Profiifluss un disposal of assels {(224) 245 g
Amortisation 2,299 9777 g
Share-based payments 599 575 -
IAS 18 pension movement 859 1933} g
Share of profits of associates (858) {855) i
Finance income (2,033) (835) 2
Finance cost 8,374 8,904 ;
Total 60,524 65,902 2
Movements in financing liabilities during the year are as follows:
Revolving Lease
credit facility liabilities Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 -
At 1 January 2021 39,363 209,071 248,424 z
Inception of new leases® - 50.044 50,044 z
Termination of leases - (1,750} (1.750) g
Interest 966 5,955 7521 r
Arrangement fees 647 - 647 bt
Cash outflows including in respect of interest {40,966) (47,430) (88,396) 5
At 1 January 2022 _ - 216.890 216,890 §
Inception of new leases” - 52,688 52,688 E
Termination of leases - (247} (347} “
Interest 424 7617 8.0
Arrangement fees 20 - 20
Cash outflows including in respect of interest {(625) (50.827) (51,452)
At 31 December 2022 - 225421 225,421

Including modifications ta cxising leases resulting in a change in lease habilities

Cash cutflows in respect of tease liabilities include £7.6m (2021 £6.9m) in respect of interest paid and £43.2m (2021: £40.3m) in respect of
discharge of the underlying lease liabilities. In 2021, an additional £0.2m was included in cash cutflows from financing activities of discentinued
operations, It respect of lease liabiiities.

HOILYWEOAN] JE010HIdTHE

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 145



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

23. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Accounting policy

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition method involves the recognition at fair value of all
identifiable assets and Habilities, including contingent liabihties of the subsidiary at the acquisition date, regardless of whether or not they were
recorded in the financial statements of the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are
included In the Conscolidated Balance Sheet at their fair values, which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement in accordance
with the Group accounting palicies. Goodwill is stated after separating out identifiable intangible assets. Goodwili represents the excess of
acquisition cost over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assels of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.

Where applicable, the consideration for an acquisition includes any assets or liabilities arising from a contingent consideration arrangemient,
measured at farr value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in such fair values as well as any other changes in the assets and liabilities
acquired, are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they result from additional infermation oblained up to one year from the acquisition
date about facts and circumstances that existed at the acguisition date. All other subsequent changes in the farr value of contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability are recognised in accordance with IFRS @ in the Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

For transactions with non-contrelling parties that do not result in a change of control, the difference between the fair value of the consideration
paid and the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted is recognised in equity.

Any business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 were accounted for in accordance with the standards in place at the time, which differ in the
following respects: transaction costs directly atiributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs; contingent consideration was
recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was
determinable; and subseguent adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill.

Critical judgements and key scurces of estimation uncertainty

The aliocation of the purchase consideration between gocdwill and the fair value of the acquired intangibfe assets involves judgement and
estimation in respect of certain key assumptions that underpin the value of the software development intangible. In particular, the useful Iife
of the underlying software resulting from the development expend.ture is a k&y Input into the valuation. If the valuation of the intangible
assets was changed, this would result in a complementary change in the amount of goodwill recognised.

On 12 August 2022 the Group acquired the entire issued share capitat of IRT Surveys Limited {IRT). IRT provides a range of data-led services
focused on addressing fuel poverty, decarbonisation and energy efficiency. IRT has developed a proprietary technology platform (DREam)
that has becn engineered to assess the energy performance of housing portfolios and provide solutions for the most efficient way (o
caomplete retrofits.

The acquisition was undertaken in order to enhance the Group’s offering in 1ts Housing segment, particularly with respect 1o future
decarbonisation projects that will be increasingly important to clients in reaching their Net Zero targets.

The total consideration for the transaction was up to £4.3m made up of £3.2m cash paid on the acquisition date plus up to £1.1m of

consideration payable over the course of two years and partly contingent on the performance of IRT in that time. The Directors have
assessed the fair value of this contingent consideration as £C.9m based on the presentvalue of the expected consideration to be paic.
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The effect of the acquisition of IRT I1s disclosed below:

£°000
Assets
Non-current
Intangible assets 117
Property nlant and eqnipmeant 2
Current
Trade and cther receivables 213
Cash and cash equivalents® 224
Total assets 1,583
Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables (332)
Lease liabilities 3
Non-current
Lease liabilities ]
Total liabilities 1346)
Net assets acquired at fair value 1,237
Deferred tax recognised in respect of fair value adjustments (t46)
1,09
Goodwill 2,995
4,086
Satisfied by:
— cash 3152
__ fair value of deferred cansideration 496
_ fair value of contingent consideration 438
4,086

*  Cash and cash eguivalents includes £0.05m in respect ol the exercise price of share opuons held by employees ot IRT and exercised immediately prior to acauisition.

The only significant fair value adjustment to the carrying value of IRT assets and liablities was for the intangible asset in respect of software
development, which was increased by £0.6m from the carrying value. The Group engaged a third party expert in order to determine the fair
value of this asset, using the excess earnings method. The fair value adjustment will be amortised over 10 years, in line with the undertying
development expenditure. Due to the relatively short period between the acquisition and the year end, the initial accounting for the acquisition
remains provisional. However, the Directors do not anticipate significant movements in the values recognrised above in the remaining
measurement pariod.

The valuation of the software development intangible is primarily sensitive ta changes in the estimated useful life of the software. This
estimated useful life was arrived at through discussions with the developers of the obsolescence rate of the software, taking into account
historical information and expected future developments. Reducing the estimated useful life of the software by two years would resultin a
£0.3m reduction in its fair value,

The Directors consider that the value assigned to goodwill represents the benefits arising from the enhanced offering now available to the
Group's existing and future clients. This synergy would not necessarily be available to typical market participants and therefore results in a
higher proportion of gaodwill arising from this acguisition.

Deferred consideration of £0.5m s payable in two instalments, both one year and two years after acquisition. Contingent consideration is
payable two years after acquisition with an undiscounted range of £nil to £0.6m based upon the increase in the number of properties serviced
by the DREam platform ovér the course of the two years.

The fair value of ‘Trade and other receivables’ at acquisition was as disclased in the table above. The gross centractual amounts receivabte
were £0.3m, and £0.1m was not expected to be collected as at the date of acquisition. There has been n¢ change in the Group's assessment

of the recoverability of those amounts since acquisition.

In the period ended 31 December 2022, the acquisition contributed revenue of £0.2m and an operating loss of £0.1m. Costs relating to the acquisition
of £0.1m have been expensad in the year and are recognised In ‘Administrative expenses’ in the Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, had the acquisitions taken place on 1January 2022, the combined Group full year revenue is estimated
at £960.0m and the combined Group profit for the year before taxation is estimaled at £34.9m.

Included within ‘“Trade and other payables’ in the table above is £0.04m of bank loans which were repaid following acquisition.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued !
For the year ended 31 December 2022

29. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates bath defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes as follows:

Defined contribution pensions i
A defined contribution plan is @ pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to an independent entty. The Group has no legal
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed contnbution.

The contributions recognised in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities and assets may be recognised if
underpayment or prepayment has occurred and are included in current liabilities or current assets as they are normally of a short-term nature,

The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Defined benefit pensions
The Group contributes 10 defined benefit schemes which require contributions fo be made to separalely administered funds.

A defined benefit plan s a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent an one or mare factors such as age, years of service and salary. The legal obligations for any benefits from this kind of pension
plan remain with the Group, even If plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside.

Scheme habilities are measured using the projected unit funding method, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet
date. Assets are measured at market value. In accardance with IFRIC 14, the asset that is recognised is restricted to the amount by which the
IAS 19 service cost is expected, aver the lifetime of the scheme, 10 exceed funding contributions payable in respect of accruing benefits.

Where the Group has a contractual obligation to make good any deficit in its share of a Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS} but also has
the right 10 recover the Costs of making good any deficit from the Group's client, the fair value of that guaraniee asset has been recognised and
disclosed. Movements in the guarantee asset are taken 1o the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and to the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income to match the movement in pension assets and habilities,

The Group recognises the pension Kability and guarantee assets separately on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheet,

Actuarial gains and losses are taken to the Consolidated Staterment of Comprehensive Income as incurred. For this purpose, actuarial gains
and losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuanal assumptions and experience adjustments arising because of differences between
the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actuslly occurred.

Other movements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, including the current service
cost, any past service cost and the effect of curtallments or setttements. The net interest cost is also charged to the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss. The amount charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss in respect of these plans is included within operaling costs.

When the Group ceases its participation in & defined benefit pension scheme, the difference between the carrying value of the scheme as
calculated on an IAS 19 basis and any deficit payment or surplus receipt due are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit of Loss
as a settlement.

The Group's contributions to the scheme are paid in accordance with the rules of the scheme and the recommendations of the scheme actuary.

Defined benefit assets

Scheme assets for LGPS have been estimated by rolling forward the published asset position from the previous year using market index
returns over the period. This is considered to provide a good estimate of the fair value of the scheme assets and the values will be updated
to actuals @achtime a triennial valuation takes place.

Defined benefit ligbilities
A number of key estimates have been made, which are given below, and which are largely dependent on factors outside the control of the Group:

— inflation rates;

— martahty;

_ discount rate; and

— salary and pension in¢reases.

Details of the particular estimates used are included in this note. Sensitivity analysis for these key estimates is included below.

Where the Group has a contractual obligaiion to make good any deficit in its share of an LGPS but also has the rnight to recover the costs of
making good any deficit from the Group’s client, the fair value of that asset has been recognised and disclosed. The right to recover costs is
Iimited to exclude situations where the Group causes the scheme (o Incur service costs in excess of those which would have been Incurred
were the members employed within Lacal Government. Management has made judgements in respect of whether any of the deficit is as a
result of such situations.
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The right te recover costs is also limited Lo situations where the cap on employer contributions o be suffered by the Group is not set so as to
contribute to reducing the deficitin the scheme, Management, in conjunction with the scheme actuaries, has made judgements in respect of
the predicted future service cost and contributions to the scheme to reflect this in the fair value of the asset recognised.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The net positicn on defined benefit pension schemes is a key source of estimation unceriainty. Given the importance of this area and to
ensure appropriate ostimales are made based on the maost relevant information available, management has continued to engage with third
party artvisers in assessing each of tho underlying assumptions. The diswuunl rale is derlved from the refurn on corporate bond yields, and
whilst this is largely ohservable, any change in discount rates in the future could have a material impact on the carrying value of the defined
benefit obhgation Similarly, inflation rates and mortafity assumptions impact the defined benefit obligation as they are used to model future
salary increases and the duration of pension payments. Whilst current assumptions use projected future inflation rates and the most up to
date information available cn expected mortality, if these estimates change, the defined benefit obligation could alsc change matenally in
future periods.

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Group personal pension scheme for the benefit of certain employees. The Group contributes
to personal pension schemes of certain Dicectors and senior emplayees. The Group operates a stakeholder pension plan available to all
employees. During the year, the Group contributed £4.41n (2021, £4.0m) 10 these schemes.

Defined benefit schemes
The Group participated in 17 (2021: 23) principal defined benefit schemes on behalf of a number of employees which require contributions to
be made 1o separately administered funds.

These pension schemes are operated on behalf of Mears Group PLC, Mears Limited, Morrison Facilities Services Limited and their subsidiary
undertakings. The assets of the schemes are administered by trustees in funds independent from the assets of the Group.

The Group schemes are no longer open to new members and have no particular concentration of investments, so expose the Group only to
typical risks associated with defined benefit pension schemes including the risk that investments underperform compared with movemenis in
the scheme habilities.

In certain cases, the Group will participate under Admitted Body status in the LGPS. The Group will contribute for a finite period until the end of
the particular contract. The Group is required ta pay regular contributions as detailed in the scheme’s schedule of contributions. In some cases,
these contributions are capped and any excess can be recovered from the body from which the employees originally transferred. Where the
Group has a contractual right 1o recover the costs of making good any deficit in the scheme from the Group's client, the fair value of that asset
has been recognised as a separate pension guarantee asset. Certain judgements around the value of this asset have been made and are
discussed in the judgements and estimates disclosure within the accounting policies.

The disclosures in respect of the two (2021: two) Group defined benefit schemes and the 15 (2021: 22) other defined benefit schemes in this
note have been aggregated. Detalls of movements in pension guarantee assets are presented in a separate table.

Costs and liabilities of the schemes are based on actuarial valuations. The latest full actuarial valuations for the schemes were updated to
31 December 2022 by qualified independent actuaries using the projected unit funding method.

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £'000
Rate of increase of salaries 3.00% 3.00%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment - based on CP{ with a cap of 5% 2,855% 2.55%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment - based on RPI with a cap of 5% 2.80% 2.90%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on CPI with a cap of 3% 2.05% 215%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RPiwith a cap of 3% 2.20% 2.35%
Discount rate 4.75% 2.00%
Retail prices inflation 3.00% 3.00%
Consumer prices inflation 2.60% 2.60%
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old male® 21.5 years 215 years
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old female” 241 years 241 years

* This assumption Is set on a scheme-by-scheme basis, taking into account the demographics of the relevant members. The figures disclosed
are an avarage across all schemes.,
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

29. PENSIONS CONTINUED
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major categories of plan assets are:

2022 2021
Group Qther Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total

£'000 £:000 £'000 £000 £'000 2000
Quoted assets
Equities - 53,914 59,914 - 139,695 139.695%
Bonds 103,829 21,380 125,209 109157 52,509 171,666
Property 4193 957 5150 5,075 22,893 27968
Pooled investment vehicles
Multi-asset funds 17,417 1,068 18,485 75,002 4,085 79,087
Alternative asset funds 4,783 78 4,861 9,840 226 10,066
Return seeking funds 2,035 746 2,781 2035 333 2,368
Other assets
Equities - 14,447 14,447 - 14,133 14133
Bonds - 4,004 4,004 - 3170 3170
Property - 10374 10,174 - 4,275 4275
Denvatives 1,822 291 2113 1979 331 2,310
Cash and other 6,153 20,639 26,792 4,470 44,921 49391
Investment liabilities
Darlvatives (12,209) (9) (12,218) (10,646} - 10,646)
Group’s estimated asset share 128,023 133,689 261,712 196 912 286,571 493,483
Present value of fumc_!ed scheme liabilities {104,351) {98,412) (202,763) (159,261 (275,828) (435,089)
Funded status 23,672 35,277 58,949 37651 20,743 58,394
Scheme surpluses not recognised as assets - (28,413) (38,413) - 137738) (37.738)
Pension asset/{hability) 23,672 (3,136) 20,536 37651 {16,995) 20,656
Pension guarantee assets - 3136 3136 — 12,975 12,975
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss are as follows:

2022 2021
Group Other Group Gther
schemes schemes Totat schemaes schemes Totat

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £ 000 £'000
Current service cost 1,705 3,553 5.258 2154 4,277 6,431
Settiement and curtailment - {242) (242) - (687) {&687)
Administration costs 409 - 409 545 - 545
Total operating charge 214 3,31 5,425 2,699 3,550 6,229
Net interest (769) (464} {1,233) {69 282 213
Effects of limitation of recognisable surplus related to
net interest - 643 643 - 152 152
Total charged to the rasult for the year 1,345 3,490 4,835 2,630 4,024 6,654
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Cumillative actuarial gaing and losses recognised In othe

comprehensive income (OCI) are as follows:

2022 2021
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schames schemes Total
£'000 £'000 £:000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Return on plan assets in excess of that recorded in
net interest {70,326) (25,802) (96,128} 12,093 1,691 23,784
Actuarial gain arising fram changes in
demographic assumptions 8 {(34) (26) 292 1,001 1,293
Actuarial gain arising fram changes in
financial assumptions 58,597 86,474 145,071 17.044 31,648 48,692
Actuarial (loss)/gain arising from liability experience (2,994} (737) (3.731) 4,364 8,032 12,396
Effects of imitation of recognisable surpius related to
OCI movements - (48,227) (48,227) — 126,444) (25,444}
Total gains and losses recognised in OCI (14,715) 11,674 (3.041) 33,793 25928 5971
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2022 2021
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
€000 £000 €000 €000 000 £'000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 159,261 275,828 435,089 181,184 320,86 501,370
Current service cost 1,705 3,553 5,258 2154 4,277 6,431
Interest on obligations 3144 4,094 7,238 213 3,808 6,221
Plan participants’ contributions 210 470 680 236 540 776
Benefits paid {4,358) (6.407) (10,765) (5.026} (6,348) 11,374}
Contract transfer - {92,419) (92,419) - (2.212) {2,212}
Settlements - (1,004) (1,004) - (3.742} (3742}
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
demographic assumptions (8) 34 26 {(292) 1,001 (1,293}
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
financial assumptions (58,597) (86,474) {145,071) (17.044) {31,648) (48,692}
Actuarial (foss)/gain arising from liability experience 2,994 737 3,731 (4,364) 18.032} (12,396}
Present value of obligations at 31 December 104,351 98,412 202,763 159,267 275,828 435,089
Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:
2022 2021
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
£'000 €£'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 196,912 296,571 493,482 185,438 288,491 473,927
Expected returnt on plan assets 3,913 4,558 8,471 2,482 31526 5,008
Employer's contributions 2,081 1,432 3,513 2,236 3,279 5.515
Plan participants’ contributions 210 470 680 236 540 776
Benefits paid {4,358) (6,407} {10,765) {5,026) (6,348} n,374)
Scheme administration costs {409) - (409) (545) - (545)
Contract transfer - {136,371} (136,371) - (1,553) {1553)
Settlements - (762) (762) ~ {3,055) {3.055)
Return on plan assets above that recorded in
net interest (70,326) (25,802} {96,128) 12,063 1,61 23,784
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 128,023 133,689 261,712 196,912 296,571 493 483
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2022

29. PENSIONS CONTINUED
Changes in the fair vajue of guarantee assets are as follows:

2022 2021
£'000 £000
Fair value of guarantee assets at 1January 12,975 3070%
Transferred in on scheme entry 525 5710
Transferred out on scheme exit {4,768) (6,369)
Recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Guarantee asset movement in respect of service cost 1,053 1707
Guarantee asset movement in respect of net interest 105 240
Recognised in other comprehensive income
Guarantee asset movement in respect of actuariallosses =~~~ = ) 5 (6,754) (19,018}
Fair value of guarantee assets at 31 December 3.136 12,975

Funding arrangements are agreed for each of the Group’s defined benefit pension schiemes with their respective trustees. The employer's

contributions expecied to be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2023 amount to £3.5m.

Each of the schemes manages risks through a variety of methods and strategies to limit downside in falls In eqguity markets, movement in

inflation and movement in interest rates.

The Group's defined benefit obligation is sensitive 1o changes n certain key assumptions The sensitivity analysis below, prepared using the
same methods and assumptions used above, shows how a reasonably possible increase or decrease 1n a particular assumphion, in isolation,

results In an increase or decrease in the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at 31 December 2022,

2022 2021

£'000 £°000

Rate of inflation -- decrease/increase by 0.1% {2,435) 2,435
Rate of increase in salarles — decrease/increase by 01% {(723) 723
Discount rate — decrease/increase by 0.1% 3,013 {3,013}
Life expectancy — decrease/increase by 1year (6,533) 6,533

30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capital commitments at 31 December 2022 or at 31 December 2021,

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has guaranieed that it will complete certain Group contracts that it has commenced. At 31 December 2022 these guarantees

amounted to £13.1m (2021 £15.7m).

The Group had no other contingent liabilities at 31 December 2022 or at 31 December 2021,

1 5 2 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Identity of related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with 1ts pension schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directars.

Pension schemes
Details of contributions to pension schemes are set out in note 29.

Subcidiarics

The Group has a central treasury arrangement in which all subsidiaries participate. Management does not consider it meaningful to set out
detalls of transfers made in respect of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor does it consider it meaningful to set out details of
interest or dividend payments made within the Group.

LEced3id 2i231vHLE

Transactions with key management personnel
The Group has identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC.

Key management personnel held the following percentage of voting shares in Mears Group PLC: g
k)
2022 2021 9
5 o
% % et
Directors 0.5 08 i
mn
]
Key management persannel’s compensation is as follows: f:?
il
2022 2021 §
£'000 €000 b
®
Salaries including social security costs 1714 1,659 n
Contributions lo defined contribution pension schemes 134 134 "

Share-based payments 434 146

2,282 1,939

Further details of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed within the Remuneration Report.

n
Dividends totalling £0.06m {2021: £0.02m} were paid to Directors during the year. §
2
Transactions with other related parties g
During the year the Group provided maintenance services to Pyramid Plus South LLP, an entity in which the Graup is @ 30% member, -
totalling £10.2m (2021: £10.2m). Pyramid Plus South LLP also made recharges of certain staff costs to the Group tatallirg £0.2m (2021: £0.2m). hit
At 31 December 2022, £1.0m (2021 £1.0m) was due to the Group in respect of these transactions. 1_"
m
=
m
z
-
w
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Parent Company balance sheet

As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £'000
Non-current assets
Right of use assets 6 21,828 21417
Investments 7 139,398 139,398
Loan notes il 3,848 3476
Pension and other employee benefits 1% 304 1.920
165,378 166,21
Current assets
Debtors 8 19,625 45,933
Cash at bank and in hand 9,407 649
28,932 46,582
Creditors: amounts falling due within ene year 9 (50,123) (71,216)
Net current liabilities (21,191) (24,634)
Total assets less current liabilities 144 187 14,577
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 10 {14110} (15,492)
R 130,077 126,085
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 12 1,110 1109
Share premium account 82,351 82,265
Share-based payment reserve 1,801 1313
Profit and loss account 44,815 41,398
Shareholders’ funds 430,077 126,085

The Parent Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own profit and loss account
in these financial statements. The Group profit far the year includes a profit of £14 27 (2021: loss of £'5.2m) whick 1s recognised within the

financial statements of the Company.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2023,

D J MILES ACMSMITH
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
Company number: 03232863

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Parent Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Share- i’:

Share based g

Share premium payment Hedging Retained Total ;;!

capital account reserve reserve earnings equity P

£'000 £'000 £000 €000 £000 £'000 &

At 1 January 2021 1,109 82,225 1,312 (760) 54,675 138,561 =

Net result for the year - - - - 15,229 (15,22% g

Other comprehensive income — — — 760 4151 4,911 i
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 760 11,078} (10,318}
Issue of shares - 40 — - - 40
Share options -~ vaiue of employee services - - 75 - - 575
Share options — exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (574) - 574 -
Dividends - - — - (2,773) 12,773}

At1January 2022 1109 82265 1313 - 41,398 126,085 o

Net result for the year - - - - 14,239 14,239 %

Other comprehensive income - - - - (1,241) 1,241 2

Total comprehensive income for the year - - — - 12,998 12,998 3

issue of shares 1 86 — - - 87 -

Share options — value of employee services - - 599 - - 599 g

Share options — exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (111) - m - s

Dividends - - — - 19,692} (2.692) ;

At 31 December 2022 1110 82,351 1,801 - 44,815 130,077 ;

o

i

The accompanying sccounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Company
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting policies are detailed In their respective notes, where relevant. Policies that are not specific 1o a particular note are detailed below.

Statement of compliance
Mears Group PLC is a public limited company incerporated in England and Wales. Its registered office is 1390 Montpellier Court, Gloucester
Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 44H.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with apphcable United Kingdom accounting standards, including FRS 101 and the
Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the modification to a fair value basis
for certain financial instruments specified in the accounting policies below. The financial statements are presented in Sterling.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. Further details of the considerations made by management when
making this assessment are provided in note 1to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption In Section 408 of the Companies Act 20086 from disclosing its individual profit and loss account,

The Company has taken advantage of the reduced disclosures for subsidiaries and the ultimate parent provided for in FRS 101 and has
therefore not provided a cash flow statement or certain disciosures in respect of share-based payments.

The principal accounting policies of the Company are set out below. These policies have been applied consistently 1o ali the years presented,
unless atherwise stated.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised on all uming differences where the transactions or events that give the Company an obligation to pay more tax in
the future, or a right to pay less tax in the future, have occurred by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is more
likely than not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax is measured using rates of tax and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Critical judgements in applying the Company's accouniing policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in the Group’s
accounting policies.

2. RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
This result for the year is stated after charging auditor's remuneration of £200,000 (2021: £150,000) relating to audit services.

3. DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
Employee benefits expense;

2022 2021
£'000 £000
Wages and salaries 13,234 13,283
Social security costs 1,763 1,510
Other pension costs V 669 512
15,666 15,305
A Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant of £nil {2020: £0.6m) was recognised as other income
The average number of employees of the Company duning the year was:
2022 2021
Management 293 287
Remuneration in respect of Drectors was as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £'000
Emoluments 1,429 1427
Pension contribuiions to personal pension schemes 134 134
Gains on exercise of options - -
1,563 1,561

During the year contributions were paid 10 personal pension schemes for four Directors (2021: four).

No Directors exercised share options during 2022 or 2021.
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4. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATICN
Accounting policy
All share-based payment arrangements that were granted after 7 November 2002 are recognised in the financial statements.

The Group operates equily-settied share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services received in exchange for the
grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of the
share options awarded. Their value is determined at the date of grant and is not subsequently remeasured unless the conditions on which the
award was yianled aig inodiflied. The falr value at the date of the grant 1s Calculaled using Lhe Monte Carlo option pricing model and the cost
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Adjustments are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the
vesting period.

Share-based remuneration in respect of employees of the Company 15 ultimately recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account.

Far equity-setiled share-based payments there is a corresponding ¢redit to the share-based payment reserve; for cash-settled share-based
payments the Company recognises a liability at the balance sheet date. The Company operates share-based remuneration plans for employees
of subsidiaries using the Company’'s equity instruments. The fair value of the compensation given in respect of these share-based compensation
plans less payments received from subsidiaries in respect of those share-based payments is recognised as a capital contribution.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal vaiue of the shares
issued, are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2022 the Group maintained three share-based payment schemes for emplayee remuneration. The details of each scheme
are included within note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

All share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options.

5. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends were paid on ordinary shares in the year:
2022 2021
£'00¢ £'00C
Final 2021 dividend of 5.5p (2021: final 2020 dwidend of Op) per share 6,092 -
Interim 2022 dividend of 3.25p (2021 interim 2021 dividend of 2.5p) per share 3,600 2773
9,692 2,773

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 7.25p per share. This has not been included within the consolidated financial statements as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2022.

6. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Accounting policy

Where an asset 1s subject to a lease, the Company recognises a right of use asset and & lease liability on the balance sheet. The right of use
asset is measured at cost, which matches the inittal measurement of the lease hability and any costs expected at the end of the lease, and then
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments include fixed payments, variable payments based on an index and payments arising from cptions reasonably certain to
be exercised.

The Company has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low value assets using the practical expedients. instead of

recognising a nght of use asset and a lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
an a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS CONTINUED
On the statement of financial position, right of use assets and lease liabilities are presented separately.

Motor
Offices vehicles Total
€009 £'000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2021 1165 37806 39015
Additions™ (10) 12,896 12,886
Disposals (31 {19761) (19.842)
ALt January 2022 1.018 31,041 32,059
Additions® - 8,007 8,007
Disposals = 1.492) (1,492}
At 31 December 2022 1,018 37,556 38,574
Depreciation
At1 January 2021 475 19,454 19,869
Provided in year 197 9,921 10,118
Eliminated on disposals i {81 {19.264) {19,345)
At1 January 2022 531 0 10,642
Provided in the year 177 7222 7,399
Eliminated on disposals ~ — (1,295} (1,295)
At 31 December 2022 708 16,038 16,746
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 ) 310 21,518 21,828
At 31 December 2021 487 20,930 21417

Addiions includes both new underlying assels and remeasurement of the nght of use asset for changes i the lease lerms

7. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Accounting pelicy

Investments in equity shares which are not pubhcly traded and where fair value cannot be measured rehably are measured at deemed cost
less impairmeant. Dividends on equity securities are recognised in inceme when receivable,

Investment
in subsidiary
undertakings

£'000

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 139,398
Detalls of the subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

8. DEBTORS

2022 2021

£'000 000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 18,234 38,528

Other receivables 1,291 7405

19,525 45933

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable on demand. Fxpected credit losses are assessed on an individual basis, taking into
account all the relevant factors in respect of the counterparty.

9. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Trade creditars 3,655 12,855
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 36,954 49455
Accruals 049 1727
Corporation tax 577 346
Lease obligations 7926 6720
Qther payables 62 13
50,123 71,216

1 5 8 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounis 2022



10. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

l.ease ¢bligations 14,034 15,012
Deferred tax 76 480
14,110 15,492

11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Company becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. The principat financial assets and liakilities of the Company are as follows:

Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivabtles, amounts due to Group companies and cash and cash equivalents, are initially
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at the present
value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

At the end of each reporting period financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If an asset
Is impaired the impairment loss 15 the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at
the asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised In profit or {oss.

Financial assets are derecognised when {a} the contractueal rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled:; {b) substantially all the
risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party; or (¢} despite having retained some significant rsks and
rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to ancther party which has the practical ahility to unilaterally sell the asset 1o
an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bark deposits available with no notice or less than three months’ notice from
inception that are subject to an Insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdraflts are presented as current liabilities to the extent that there
is no right of offset with cash balances.

Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, inciuding trade and other payables, and amounts payable 1o Group companies that are classified as debt, are initially
recognised al transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the
present value of the future receipts discounted at @ market rate of interest.

Bank borrowings are non-basic financial labilities and are initially recognised &t fair value, béing the present value of future payments
discounted at a market rate of interest. Bank borrowings are remeasured at fair valua.

Financial liabilities are derecagnised when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged or cancelled
ar expires.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offsel and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settie on a net basis or 1o realise the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly.

The Company has the following financal instruments:

2022 2021
€'000 £000
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost:
__ Loan notes 3,848 3,476
__ Amounts owed by Group undertakings 18,234 38,528
__ Other receivables 1,291 7,405
Financial llabiltes that are measured at amortised cost:
__ Trade creditors {3,655) (12,855)
__ Lease obligations (21,960) (21732)
__ Amounts owed to Group undertakings (36,954) (49,455)
__ Other payables (62) 13}
{39,258) 134,746)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
The Company would pay a margin over and above SONIA an bank borrowings had it utitised its facility. The margin is based on the ratio of
Group consolidated net borrowings to Group consolidated adjusted EBITDA and could have varied between 1.75% and 2.75% during the year,

The Company seeks to manage liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity 15 available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assels
safely and protitably.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group and Company's hquidity reserve (comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and
cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. The gquantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group and Company is regularly
reviewed and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels. For short-term working capital purposes, the Group and Company utilise
bank overdrafts as required. These facilities are regularly reviewed and are renegotiated ahead of their expiry date.

Loan notes
Loan notes are held as a result of the sale of the Company’s holding in TerraQuest Solutions Limited during 2020. The notes are repayable on

the earlier of the onward sale of that business or in 2028, They attract interest at 10% per annum, payable on settlement of the loan notes

12. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

2022 2021
£'000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At1 January 110,926,510 (2021: 110,881,897) ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 1109
lssue of 74,379 (2021 44,613) shares on exercise of share options e 1 R
At 31 December 111,000,889 (2021 110,926,510} ordinary shares of 1p each 1110 1,109

Duning the year 74,379 (2021 44 613) ordinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share oplions exercised.

Classes of reserves
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have beenssued.

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued and the tolal consideration received.

Share-based payment reserve represents employee remuneration which is credited 1o the share-based payment reserve until the related
share aptions are exercised. Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

13. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 2022 or at 31 December 2021,

14, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has guaranteed that it will complete certain Group contracts thatits subsidiaries have commenced. At 31 December 2022 these
guarantees amounted 1o £13.1m (2021: £15.7m).

The Company had no other contingent liabilities at 31 December 2022 or at 31 December 2021,

15. PENSIONS

Accaounting poficy

Defined contribution pension scheme

The pensian costs charged against profits are the contributians payable to individuat policies in respect of the accounting period.

Defined benefit pensions
The Company contributes to defined benefit schemes which require contiibutions to be made to separately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan is a pensiwen plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. The legal obligations for any benefits from this kind of pension
plan remain with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside.

Scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit funding method, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet
date. Assels are measured at market value. The asset that is recognised is restricted to the amount by which the service cost is expected, over
the Iifetime of the scheme, 10 exceed funding contnbutions payable in respect of accruing benefits.

Actuarial gains and losses are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. For this purpose, actuarial gains
and losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments arising because of differences between
the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred.

Other mavements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the profit and loss account, inclyding the current service cost, any past service
cost and the effect of curtailments or settlements. The interest costs less the expectad return on assets are also charged to the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss, The amount charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss in respect of these plans is Included within
operating €osis.
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The Company's Contributions to the schemes are paid in accordance with the rules of the schemes and the recommendations of the acluary.

Defined contribution schemes
The Company contributes to the personal pension schemes of certain employees.

Defined benefit scheme
The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme for the benefit of certain employees cof its subsidiary companies. The assels of the
schemes are adminislered by trustees in a fund independent from the assets of the Company

LHOA328 2ID3LVHLE

Cosls and liabilities of the scheme are based on actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuations were reviewed and updated to 31 December
2022 by a qualified independent actuary using the projected unit funding method.

The principal acluarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2022 2021
£°000 £'000 -
Rate of increase of salaries 3.00% 3.00% 2
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based an RP! with a cap of 5% 2.80% 2.90% g
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RPI with a cap of 3% 2.55% 2.35% ?;
Discount rate 4.75% 2.00% ;-f
Retail prices inflation 3.00% 3.00% g
Consumer prices inflation 2.60% 2.60% g
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old male 20.9 years 21.0 years ;;
Life expeclancy for a 65-year-old female 23.7 years 23.9 years %
o
-

The amounts reccgnised in the Parent Company Balance Sheet and major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are
as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £'0o0
Quoted assets -
Bonds 6,263 3378 Z
Property 872 853 %
Other assets »
Multi-asset funds B3 16,272 ;
Alternative asset funds 1,284 2,205 ;
Return seeking funcs 320 335 -
Derivatives G688 564 §
Cash and other 1135 1,25 z
Investment liabilities @

Derivatives (2,829) (34)

Group's estimated asset share 15,874 24,824
Present value of funded scheme liabilities {15,570) {22.904) @
Funded status 304 1920 z
Related deferred tax jiability {76) (480) -
Pension asset 228 1,440 g
o
The amounts recagnised in the profit and loss account are as follows: p
2022 2021 z
£'000 £°000 g
Current service cost - 8 A
Administration costs 146 167 ;
Total operating charge 146 175 2

Net interest (38) 37

Total charged to the result for the year 108 212
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

15. PENSIONS CONTINUED

2022 202

£'050 £000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 22,904 25,866
Current service cost - 8
Interest on obligations 453 345
Plan participants’ contributions - 2
Benefiis paid {503) (535)
Actuarial gain arising from changes It demographic assumptions {198} (402}
Actuarial gain arising from changes in financial assumptions {7,888} {2,420
Actusarial 10ss arising from liability experience o . _®BO2 40
Present value of oblhgations at 31 December 15,570 22,904
Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Fair vatue of plan assets at 1 January 24,824 23,050
Expected return on plan assets 491 308
Employer’s contributions 146 231
Plan participants’ contributions - 2
Benefits paid (503) {535)
Adminisiration costs {146) 67
Return on plan assets sbove that recorded in net interest o (8,938) 1935
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 15,874 24,824
The movements in the net pension liability and the amount recognised In the Parent Company Balance Sheet are as follows:

2022 2023

£'000 £'000
Deficit in schemes at 1 January 1,920 (2.818)
Current service cost - (8
Adminfstration costs (146} (167}
Contributions 146 23
Cther finance cast 38 (37)
Actuarnial gain anising from changes in demographic assumplions 198 402
Actuarial gain ansing from changes in financial assumptions 7,888 2,420
Actuarial loss arising from liability experience (802) (40}
Return on plan assets above that recorged in net interest {8,538} 1,835
Deficit in schemes at 31 December 304 1,920

No employer's contributions are expected to be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2023

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Identity of related parties

The Group has a related party relationship with its pension schemes, 11s subsidiaries and its Directors,

Pension schemes

Details of contributions to pension schemes are set cut In note 15,

Subsidiaries

The Group has a central treasury arrangement in which all subsidiaries participate. Management does not consider it meaningful 1o set out
details of transfers macde in respect of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor does it consider 1 meaningful to set out details

af intetest ar divided payments made withia the Group.

Transactions with key management persennel

The Group has identified key management personrel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC. Detalis of transactions are disclosed in note 32

to the consclidated finandial siatements
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Five-year record (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS [CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue 959,613 878,420 805,817 881,457 771,861
Gross profit 195,686 180,487 156,287 208,109 134,928
Operating profit before acquisition intangible amartisation and
exceptional costs 40,672 33,683 5,528 40,229 39,093
Excoptinnal jtems - 1.627} {2,279 {2.018) {5.657)
Operating profit/{loss) including share of profits of associates 41,285 24,402 {6,276} 28,089 29,698
Profit/{loss) for the year before tax 34,944 16,333 (15,218} 20,253 27377
Profit/{loss) before taxation before acquisition intangible amortisation
and exceptional costs 35,189 25,614 13.414) 32,393 36772
Earnings per share
Basic 25.07p N72Zp (10.66)p 1572p 2191p
Diluted 24.51p 11.50p (10.66)p 15.64p 2178p
Normalised 24.51p 18.23p (2.29p 2374p 2770p
Dividends per share 10.50p 8.0p 0.0p 3.65p 12.40p
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

2022 2021 2020 209 2018

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Non-current assets 395,092 405,959 408,369 409,151 304,549
Current assets 235773 227,960 267720 284,230 244,372
Current liabilities (224169) (230,120} 1255,318) (326,329 1222,909)
Non-current liabilities (192,871) {202,761} (264,720} {248,715) (115,632)
Total equity 213,825 201,038 156,051 118,337 210,280
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 98,138 54,632 56,867 (50,986) (65,204)
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Shareholder and corporate information

REGISTERED OFFICE
13920 Montpeliier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockwaorth

Gloucester GL3 4aH

Tel: 01452 634600
WWw.mearsgroup,co.uk

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER
03232863

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ben Westran

1390 Montpellier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel: 01452 634600

BANKERS

Barclays Bank PLC

Wales and South West
Corporate Banking

4th Floor, Bridgewater House
Caunterstip

Finzels Reach

Bristol BS16BX

Tel: 0800 285 1152

HSBC Bank PLC

West & Wales

Corporate Banking Centre
3 Rivergate

Temple Quay

Bristo! BS1 GER

Tel: 0845 583 9796

INTERNET

Citi Bank pic

25-33 Canada Square
Canary Wharf

London E14 5LB

Tel: 020 7500 5000

SOLICITORS
Travers Smith

10 Snow Hill
Londen EC1A 2AL
Tel: 020 7295 3000

AUDITOR

Ermst & Young LLP
The Paragon
Counterslip
Bristol BS1 6BX
Tel 0117 981 2050

REGISTRAR

Neville Registrars Limited
Neville House

Steelpark Road
Halesowen

West Midlands B62 8HD
Tel: 0121585 1131

JOINT CORPORATE BROKERS
Numis Securities Limited

45 Gresham Street

London EC2V 7BF

Tel: 020 7260 1000

Panmure Gordon (UK) Limited
40 Gracechurch St,
London EC3V OBT
Tel: 020 7418 89200

The Group operates a website, which can be found at www.mearsgroup.co.uk. This site Is regularly updated to provide information about the
Group. In particular, all of the Group's press releases and annecuncements can be found on the site.

REGISTRAR

Any engquiries concerning your shareholding should be addressed to the Company’s registrar. The registrar should be neotified promptly of any

change in a shareholder's address or other details.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Requests for further copies of the Annual Report and Accounts, of other investor relations enguines, should be addressed 10 the registered office,
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